COW'S MILK FAT AND CHILD GROWTH, DEVELOPMENT AND NUTRITION

by Shelley Marie Vanderhout

A thesis submitted in conformity with the requirements

for the degree of Doctorate of Philosophy

Department of Nutritional Sciences

University of Toronto

© Copyright by Shelley Marie Vanderhout 2020



ProQuest Number: 28148926

All rights reserved

INFORMATION TO ALL USERS The quality of this reproduction is dependent on the quality of the copy submitted.

In the unlikely event that the author did not send a complete manuscript and there are missing pages, these will be noted. Also, if material had to be removed, a note will indicate the deletion.



ProQuest 28148926

Published by ProQuest LLC (2020). Copyright of the Dissertation is held by the Author.

All Rights Reserved. This work is protected against unauthorized copying under Title 17, United States Code Microform Edition © ProQuest LLC.

> ProQuest LLC 789 East Eisenhower Parkway P.O. Box 1346 Ann Arbor, MI 48106 - 1346



Cow's milk fat and child growth, development and nutrition

Shelley M. Vanderhout Doctorate of Philosophy Department of Nutritional Sciences University of Toronto

2020

ABSTRACT

Background: Health Canada and the Canadian Paediatric Society suggest that children over age 2 years transition from whole (3.25%) to reduced fat (0.1-2%) milk in effort to lower dietary fat intake and reduce the risk of overweight and obesity. However, observational studies have demonstrated that higher milk fat intake is associated with lower child adiposity. The optimal milk fat for child growth, development and nutrition is unknown.

Objectives: 1) Determine the relationship between milk fat and child adiposity among existing literature, 2) Understand parent and physician perspectives about milk fat for children, 3) Evaluate the relationship between milk fat and child zBMI among children aged 9 months-8 years in the TARGet Kids! cohort, and 4) Design and launch a randomized controlled trial (RCT) to determine the effect of recommendations for whole vs. reduced fat milk on zBMI among children aged 2-4 years.

Methods: 1) A systematic review and meta-analysis was conducted, 2) A qualitative study which sought to understand current practice, attitudes and preferences about milk fat for children aged 2-5 years, 3) A prospective cohort study was conducted using linear mixed effects models, and 4) A RCT protocol (Cow's Milk Fat Obesity pRevention Trial or CoMFORT) was developed to be embedded in TARGet Kids!.



www.manaraa.com

Results: Among 20,897 children aged 9 months-18 years, those who consumed whole milk had 0.61 (95% CI 0.52-0.72, p< 0.0001) the odds of overweight or obesity compared to reduced (0.1-2%) fat milk. Parents provide, and physicians recommend different cow's milks for children, and hold mixed interpretations of the role of milk fat in children's diets. Within TARGet Kids!, children (N= 7467) aged 9 months-8 years who consumed whole milk had 0.84 the odds of overweight (95% CI 0.77 to 0.91, p< 0.0001) and 0.82 the odds of obesity (95% CI 0.68 to 1.00, p= 0.047) compared reduced fat milk. The CoMFORT trial was launched in February 2020 and has recruited 8 participants to date.

Conclusion: Evidence supports that children who consume whole milk have lower risk of overweight or obesity. This information will guide future research and recommendations and policies for children's nutrition.



ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

My experience of completing a PhD began with a mistake in my application where I forgot to delete a joke I had included, stating "I look forward to becoming a science guru." Whether the admissions committee didn't notice, didn't care, or found this to be the substance of a U of T doctoral student I'll never know, but in any case, I thank them for their oversight.

I will always hold a sincere appreciation for Jonathon Maguire's leadership. If there is one thing about his mentorship that has benefited me most, it is that he has consistently been my number one fan. Though this sometimes seemed excessive in relation to many meager achievements, its overall positive effect in times of challenge as well as success is unquantifiable. This indispensable aspect of his mentorship certainly sustained my momentum and stamina throughout my degree. Jonathon also went out of his way to include me in experiences that stretched me, exposed me to new settings and people, and provided rich learning experiences a typical PhD student would not have. He encouraged me to take risks and carefully push boundaries. He truly invested in me, in light of my incessant emails, questions, and drafts of work requiring attentive revisions. Thank you, Jonathon.

I thank my committee members Kevin Thorpe, Catherine Birken, and Deborah O'Connor for their expertise and guidance throughout my degree. They are all role models to me in their unique skillsets and achievements, and also supported me enthusiastically through my difficulties and accomplishments. I thank Charles Keown-Stoneman for his kind patience, creativity and statistical expertise. To Clara Juando-Prats, thank you for whole-heartedly and patiently leading me through qualitative research. I appreciate the time and energy of Naz Torabi, Peter Juni and Bruno da Costa as they expertly contributed to my systematic review. I am also thankful for the support of Dalah Mason and Chris Allen as they were essential to set up the PACT and



www.manaraa.com

iv

CoMFORT trial. I thank all TARGet Kids! families, research assistants and physicians for their participation to make this research possible. I also thank the members of the PACT, especially Shannon Weir who is an indispensable leader and champion of patient-oriented research.

I am grateful for Mary Aglipay for being an intelligent, genuine, supportive, and reliable friend and colleague. I would be quite uninformed about most aspects of life (and work, I suppose) if it weren't for her companionship. I am so lucky to have met Mary and had the opportunity to work alongside her. To my lab members Laura, Izabela, Erika, Curtis, and Grace, thank you for your support and listening ear to my stories. I especially thank Jessica Omand for her leadership, kindness, honesty and friendship.

Finally, I thank Matthew Curran for his undying support and faith in my work and career path. Thank you for being more optimistic about my future than me and reminding me how to be considerate and kind in everything I do. I also thank my family and friends for their interest and encouragement to me throughout this degree. Though I already have a number one fan, it's nice to have back-up fans just in case I do become a guru.



Table of Contents

ACKNOWLEDGMENTSiv				
LIST OF TABLES				
LIST OF FIGURES				
LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS				
STUDENT CONTRIBUTIONS xv				
CHAPTER 1: INTRODUCTION				
CHAPTER 2: LITERATURE REVIEW				
2.1 Cow's milk				
2.1.1 History				
2.1.2 Canadian guidelines for milk and dairy consumption				
2.1.3 International guidelines for milk consumption				
2.1.4 Cow's milk consumption in children9				
2.1.5 Predictors of cow's milk consumption in children 11				
2.1.5.1 Nutrient composition of cow's milk				
2.1.5.1.1 Lactose				
2.1.5.1.2 Protein				
2.1.5.1.3 Fat				
2.1.5.1.3.1 Saturated fatty acids				
2.1.5.1.3.2 Other fatty acids				
2.1.5.1.4 Biomarkers of dairy fat intake				
2.1.5.1.5 Vitamins and minerals				
2.1.6 Effects of cow's milk consumption during childhood				
2.1.6.1 Bone health and height				
2.1.6.2 Cognitive development				
2.1.6.3 Cardiometabolic health				
2.2 Nutritional requirements and recommended intakes for children				
2.2.1 Infancy (<1 year of age)				
2.2.2 Childhood (1-18 years of age)				
2.2.3 Fat guidelines				
2.3 Childhood adiposity				
2.3.1 Childhood overweight and obesity in Canada				



2.3.2 Dietary fat and child adiposity	46
2.3.3 Evidence for dietary obesity prevention strategies in children	47
2.4 Evidence on the relationship between cow's milk and adiposity	49
2.4.1 Possible mechanisms for the relationship between cow's milk and adiposity	52
2.5 Cow's milk fat and adiposity	56
2.5.1 In children	56
2.5.2 In adults	58
2.5.3 Hypothesized biological mechanisms	61
2.5.3.1 Satiety	61
2.5.3.2 Growth rate	62
2.5.3.3 Sugar Sweetened Beverages	63
2.5.3.4 Dairy fatty acids	66
2.5.3.5 Vitamin D	66
2.5.3.6 Reverse causality	68
2.6 Patient oriented research	70
2.7 Trials within Cohorts (TwiCs)	73
2.8 Comparative effectiveness research	78
2.9 Modified consent in clinical trials	79
2.10 Summary of literature review	81
CHAPTER 3: COW'S MILK FAT AND CHILDHOOD OVERWEIGHT: A	02
3 1 ADSTDACT	05
3.2 INTRODUCTION	05
3.3 METHODS	85
3 / PESHI TS	85 80
3 5 DISCUSSION	02
3.6 CONCLUSION	92
CHAPTER 4. A OUAL ITATIVE STUDY TO UNDERSTAND PARENT AND))
PHYSICIAN PERSPECTIVES ABOUT COW'S MILK FAT FOR CHILDREN	. 113
4.1 ABSTRACT	. 113
4.2 BACKGROUND	.114
4.3 METHODS	. 115
4.4 RESULTS	. 117



4.5 DISCUSSION				
4.6 SIGNIFICANCE				
CHAPTER 5: COW'S MILK FAT AND CHILD ADIPOSITY: A PROSPECTIVE COHORT STUDY				
5.1 ABSTRACT				
5.2 INTRODUCTION				
5.3 METHODS				
5.4 RESULTS				
5.5 DISCUSSION				
CHAPTER 6: COW'S MILK FAT OBESITY PREVENTION TRIAL (COMFORT): A PRIMARY CARE EMBEDDED RANDOMIZED CONTROLLED TRIAL TO				
DETERMINE THE EFFECT OF COW'S MILK FAT ON CHILD ADIPOSITY				
6.1 ABSTRACT				
6.2 BACKGROUND				
6.3 OBJECTIVES				
6.4 STUDY DESIGN AND METHODS				
6.5 IMPACT				
CHAPTER 7: OVERALL DISCUSSION				
7.1 Summary of principal findings in this thesis				
7.2 Clinical and public health importance of study results				
7.3 Strengths and limitations				
7.3.1 Study-specific strengths				
7.3.2 Overall strengths				
7.3.3 Study-specific limitations				
7.3.4 Overall limitations				
7.4 Implications for clinical and public health practice				
7.5 Future research directions				
7.5.1 Patient engagement				
7.6 Concluding remarks				
CHAPTER 8: APPENDIX				
8.1 WHO BMI-For-Age Curves & Canadian BMI Growth Curves				
8.2 Supplementary Material for Cow's Milk Fat and Child Overweight: A Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis				



8.3 Supplementary Material for A Qualitative Study to Understand Paren	nt and Physician
Perspectives About Cow's Milk for Children	195
8.4 Supplementary Material for Cow's Milk Fat Obesity pRevention Tria	l (CoMFORT): A
primary care embedded randomized controlled trial to determine the effe	ect of cow's milk
fat on child adiposity	
CHAPTER 9: REFERENCES	





LIST OF TABLES

Table 1. Nutrition facts tables for (left to right) skim, 1%, 2%, and whole milks. ⁸⁷
Table 2. Common fatty acids found in a sample of Swedish cow's milk. ¹³¹ 17
Table 3. Health Canada micronutrient recommendations for a 1-3 year old child and provision
from 2 cups of cow's milk. ^{205,206}
Table 4. Health Canada recommended Dietary Reference Intakes for children 1-18 years of age
for macronutrients. ²⁰⁶
Table 5. zBMI cut-offs for children aged 2-19 years (WHO)
Table 6 . Limitations of current RCT designs and advantages of TwiCs designs
Table 7 . Data Summary Table for Milk Fat and Child Overweight: A Meta-Analysis 97
Table 8. Risk of Bias - Newcastle Ottawa Scale ⁵⁵⁸ for Nonrandomized Studies
Table 9. Questionnaire responses about cow's milk fat of parents of children aged 2-5 years who
drink cow's milk (n=50) and physicians (n=15) participating in the TARGet Kids! research
network
Table 10. Participant characteristics (N= 7467) at baseline
Table 11. The relationship between cow's milk fat intake and child zBMI. 141
Table 12. The relationship between cow's milk fat intake and odds of overweight (excluding
obesity) and obesity relative to normal weight (-2< zBMI \leq 1), adjusted for clinically
relevant covariates.*



LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 1. Systematic Review Study Selection Process
Figure 2. Crude odds ratio of overweight/obesity comparing children consuming whole milk vs.
reduced fat milk111
Figure 3. Dose-response relationship between cow's milk fat and odds of overweight or obesity.
Figure 4. Participant flow diagram
Figure 5. The relationship between cow's milk fat and zBMI in children aged 9 months – 8
years, adjusted for clinically relevant covariates
Figure 6. Odds of overweight (excluding obesity; $1 < zBMI \le 2$) and obesity ($zBMI > 2$) among
children who consumed different cow's milk fat, adjusted for clinically relevant covariates.
Figure 7. Trial flow diagram



LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS

25(OH)D	25-hydroxyvitamin D				
AAP	American Academy of Pediatrics				
AI	Adequate Intake				
ALA	Alpha-Linolenic Acid				
AMDR	Acceptable Macronutrient Distribution Range				
aOR	Adjusted Odds Ratio				
BMI	Body Mass Index				
CCHS	Canadian Community Health Survey				
CCK	Cholecystokinin				
CDC	Centers for Disease Control				
CER	Comparative Effectiveness Research				
CFG	Canada's Food Guide				
CHD	Coronary Heart Disease				
CHMS	Canadian Health Measures Survey				
CI	Confidence Interval				
CINAHL	Cumulative Index to Nursing and Allied Health Literature				
CLA	Conjugated Linoleic Acid				
CoMFORT	Cow's Milk Fat Obesity pRevention Trial				
CPS	Canadian Pediatric Society				
CRP	C-Reactive Protein				
CrI	Credible Interval				
DHA	Docosahexaenoic Acid				
DRI	Dietary Reference Intake				
EAR	Estimated Average Requirement				
EMBASE	Excerpta Medica Database				
FE	Fixed Effects				
FFQ	Food Frequency Questionnaire				
GI	Glycemic Index				
GIP	Glucose-dependent Insulinotropic Peptide				
GLP-1	Glucagon-Like Peptide-1				
GRADE	Grading of Recommendations Assessment, Development and Evaluation				
HDL	High-Density Lipoprotein				
HEI	Healthy Eating Index				
HOMA-IR	Homeostatic Model Assessment of Insulin Resistance				
HR	Hazard Ratio				
ICT	Innovative Clinical Trial				
IL-1β	Interleukin-1 Beta				
IL-6	Interleukin-6				



	IP-TFA	Industrially-Produced Trans Fatty Acid		
	IOM	Institute of Medicine		
	IOTF	International Obesity Task Force		
	IU	International Units		
	LA	Linoleic Acid		
	LDL	Low-Density Lipoprotein		
	MeSH	Medical Subject Heading		
NHANES National Health and Nutritional Examin		National Health and Nutritional Examination Survey		
	nmol/L	Nanomols per litre		
	NOS	Newcastle Ottawa Scale		
	NR	Not Reported		
	OB	Obesity		
	OW	Overweight		
	OR	Odds Ratio		
	OW/OB	Overweight or Obesity		
	PREMs	Patient-Reported Experience Measures		
	PTH	Parathyroid Hormone		
	PUFA	Polyunsaturated Fatty Acid		
	RE	Random Effects		
	RCT	Randomized Controlled Trial		
	RDA	Recommended Dietary Allowance		
	RP-TFA	Ruminant-Produced Trans Fatty Acid		
	RR	Risk Ratio		
	SES	Socio-Economic Status		
	SFA	Saturated Fatty Acid		
SPOR Strategy for Patient Orient		Strategy for Patient Oriented Research		
SSB Sugar-swee		Sugar-sweetened Beverage		
	TARGet Kids	The Applied Research Group for Kids		
	TNF-alpha	Tumor Necrosis Factor-alpha		
	TwiCs	Trials within Cohorts		
	UL	Tolerable Upper Level		
	WC	Waist Circumference		
	WHO	World Health Organization		
	WIC	Women, Infants and Children		
	zBMI	Body Mass Index z-score		



STUDENT CONTRIBUTIONS

- Wrote thesis including 4 peer reviewed manuscripts; co-authored 4 additional manuscripts: 2 about patient oriented research in TARGet Kids!, 1 validation paper about beverage consumption measurement in TARGet Kids!, 1 letter to the editor
- Received A+ in all courses taken
- Developed protocol for systematic review and meta-analysis, screened and selected studies, analyzed and described results of included studies
- Developed questionnaire and interview scripts for qualitative study, collected data through online questionnaires and in-person interviews, transcribed and analyzed transcripts
- Designed prospective cohort study, conducted statistical analysis
- Assisted with conceptualization, protocol development and grant applications for CoMFORT, SOY/SMILE, NuRISH, PACT, HiCARE, COVID-19 in Children and Families
- Secured REB approval for CoMFORT and qualitative study
- Trained research assistants for CoMFORT protocol
- Obtained buy-in from TARGet Kids! physicians for CoMFORT
- Launched CoMFORT in TARGet Kids! clinics and coordinated REDCap logistics
- Developed PACT including operationalizing and facilitating meetings, liaising with members
- Gave 1000 presentations
- Awarded 1st place at St. Michael's Hospital Elevator Pitch Competition for *Cow's milk fat: which is best for children?*
- Awarded People's Choice Award at the University of Toronto 3-Minute Thesis Competition for *Cow's milk fat: which is best for children?*
- Attended and presented research at Canadian Pediatric Society, Pediatric Academic Societies, SPOR Summit, TwiCs Symposium conferences
- Mentored peer lab members Erika Gibson, Laura Elliott, Izabela Soczynska, Curtis D'Hollander, Sepi Mortazavi, Queenie Zhang
- Starred in CIHR Talks video
- TAed for Basic Human Nutrition, Nutrition Literacy and Chronic Disease
- Guest lectured for NFS284 Basic Human Nutrition: Lipids Metabolism
- Took McMaster Health Forum Patient-Oriented Research Masterclass



CHAPTER 1: INTRODUCTION

Childhood obesity has increased fivefold in the past 40 years with nearly 1 in 3 Canadian children now living with overweight or obesity.¹ Children who are overweight or obese are at increased risk for a variety of cardiometabolic and mental health complications, such as type 2 diabetes, anxiety and depression.² Cow's milk has long been a childhood dietary staple, and an inexpensive and convenient source of protein, carbohydrate, fat and micronutrients such as vitamin D and calcium. Since 1992, Health Canada, the National Institutes of Health, the Canadian Paediatric Society (CPS) and the American Academy of Pediatrics (AAP) have recommended that children 2 years of age and older consume reduced fat milk (2% or 1% fat) to limit dietary fat and prevent childhood obesity.³ However, this recommendation is consensusbased and has a low GRADE (Grading of Recommendations Assessment, Development and Evaluation) level of evidence to support it. Observational data from my Master's thesis⁴ and other evidence⁵⁻¹¹ has suggested that consuming reduced fat milk during early childhood is associated with childhood overweight and obesity. Although the biological mechanism underlying this relationship remains unclear, a growing body of evidence has challenged the assumption that dietary fat contributes to excess adiposity in children.¹²⁻¹⁴ Further, dietary fat from whole cow's milk may have other benefits such promoting vitamin D absorption leading to higher vitamin D stores.⁴ According to the American Academy of Family Physicians, "although the use of lower-fat milk is probably safe in the second year of life and is effective in reducing total fat intake, the evidence has yet to show its overall benefit."¹⁵ It is unclear whether switching from whole milk to reduced fat milk at age 2 years is appropriate or beneficial.

To our knowledge, no clinical trials have evaluated the relationship between cow's milk fat and childhood adiposity. Several observational studies have identified a paradoxical relationship



between higher milk fat consumption and lower childhood overweight and obesity. My crosssectional study in 2016 involving 2745 *TARGet Kids!* children aged 1-5 years indicated that children who consumed whole (3.25% fat) milk had a lower body mass index z-score (zBMI), an age- and sex-adjusted measure of child adiposity, relative to children who consumed 1% milk (0.72 units lower zBMI).¹⁶ Other large studies of children have reported similar findings. A study involving 852 children from Boston found that higher intake of whole milk at 2 years of age was associated with lower BMI at 3 years (0.09 unit lower zBMI per daily serving, 95% CI -0.16 to -0.01).¹⁷ A study of 1467 Italian children age 3-11 years found that whole cow's milk was associated with lower zBMI while reduced fat milk was not.¹⁸ A longitudinal study of 10,700 American children from the Early Childhood Longitudinal Survey Birth Cohort found that children who consumed reduced fat milk (vs. whole milk) at 2 years of age had increased odds of being overweight or obese (OR=1.57, 95% CI 1.03 to 2.42) at 4 years of age.¹⁹

One theory underlying the relationship between cow's milk fat and excess adiposity is the displacement of calories from less healthy foods such as sugar sweetened beverages (SSBs).²⁰ Whole milk may induce satiety through the release of hormones such as cholecystokinin, reducing desire for other foods.²¹ Alternatively, fatty acids found in cow's milk such as transpalmitoleic acid and conjugated linoleic acid may be metabolically protective. Higher circulating levels of trans-palmitoleic acid have been associated with lower adiposity, insulin resistance, triglycerides, and incidence of type 2 diabetes, and positively associated with HDL cholesterol in several large adult cohort studies.²²⁻²⁶ Randomized controlled trial (RCT) evidence suggests that conjugated linoleic acid supplementation for overweight and obese children is effective in reducing body fat.²⁷ Vitamin D, which is lower among children who consume reduced fat milk as well as children with higher adiposity, may also play a role.²⁸⁻³⁶ Low circulating vitamin D may



www.manaraa.com

impair lipolysis,³⁷ beta cell function and glucose sensitivity.³⁸ Though parents may choose milk with a fat content to counter-balance the adiposity of their child (i.e. higher fat milk for a leaner child and vice versa), little evidence exists to support this relationship.³⁹

Given that nearly all children in North America consume cow's milk daily, determining which milk fat optimizes children's growth, development and micronutrient status is urgently needed. The purpose of this doctoral thesis was to create high quality evidence about the relationship between cow's milk fat and excess adiposity in childhood. Using a step-wise approach, four studies have been included in this thesis: 1) A systematic review and metaanalysis which synthesized the available evidence on cow's milk fat and child adiposity; 2) A qualitative study to understand parent and clinician perceptions and attitudes about cow's milk fat for children; 3) A prospective cohort study to evaluate the longitudinal relationship between cow's milk fat and child adiposity from age 9 months to 8 years of age; and 4) A protocol for a randomized controlled trial called CoMFORT (Cow's Milk Fat Obesity pRevention Trial) evaluating the effect of recommendations for whole vs. reduced fat cow's milk between ages 2-4 years on child zBMI at age 4 years. Collectively, the first three projects provided the justification and informed the design of the CoMFORT study. Overall, this research adds to the body of evidence that describes the relationship between dietary intake of cow's milk fat and overweight or obesity in early childhood.

The literature review (Chapter 2) is divided into four sections: cow's milk, childhood adiposity, the relationship between cow's milk and child health, and patient-oriented research methods. Chapters 3, 4, and 5 expand on the following studies: 1) *Whole vs. reduced fat cow's milk and child overweight: a systematic review and meta-analysis*; 2) *Qualitative study to understand parent and physician perspectives about cow's milk fat for children*; and 3) *Cow's*



www.manaraa.com

milk fat and child adiposity: A prospective cohort study. Finally, the clinical trial protocol which has been informed by this work is included in Chapter 6: *Cow's Milk Fat Obesity pRevention Trial (CoMFORT): A primary care embedded randomized controlled trial to determine the effect of cow's milk fat on child adiposity*. A general review and discussion of the thesis results can be found in Chapter 7.



CHAPTER 2: LITERATURE REVIEW

2.1 Cow's milk

2.1.1 History

Cow's milk has been consumed by humans for 10,000 years, originating in present-day Europe and Africa.⁴⁰ It is generally understood that the introduction of dairy farming and cow's milk production for European and African diets led to an increase in the human ability to sustain lactase production beyond infancy. Lactase is an enzyme that breaks down lactose, which is a carbohydrate found in cow's milk.⁴⁰ Most humans possess lactase in their gastrointestinal tract at birth to aid in the digestion of breastmilk, which also contains lactose.⁴¹ It is assumed that continued stimulation to produce lactase by the introduction of cow's milk into the diet caused a shift in human biology called lactase persistence.⁴² Lactase persistence allows the body to produce lactase and tolerate milk throughout the life course, rather than only during breastfeeding. Today, lactase persistence is still rooted in European and African regions, but is present in about one third of all humans.⁴² Some regions in Asia do not share the agricultural history of dairy farming, and therefore lactase persistence is less frequent.⁴³ Nonetheless, cow's milk is consumed by people of a variety of ages, ethnicities and from varying geographic locations around the world.⁴¹

While it is unclear why cow's milk became integrated into human farming practices, diets, and digestive abilities,⁴⁴ it is speculated that the effects of breastmilk on infant nutrition were desirable beyond weaning from the breast.^{41,45} Without awareness of its exact nutritional composition, it was likely that cow's milk promoted children's growth and was therefore believed to contain important nutrients.⁴² In modern times, it is now known that cow's milk contains carbohydrates, protein, fat, and a variety of vitamins and minerals which support



CHAPTER 2: LITERATURE REVIEW

children's growth except vitamin C, iron and fibre. A single food matched for quantity and breadth of nutrients to cow's milk is rare beyond highly fortified industrial food products. Cow's milk is a convenient vehicle for providing the nutrition that growing children need, and smooths the transition from breastmilk or infant formula to other foods consumed during childhood and beyond. Modern agriculture has developed and sustained ways to produce and distribute cow's milk widely. Advancements in technology have allowed for safe and consistent production of a product that people enjoy. For these reasons, cow's milk has succeeded as a dietary staple for many generations and cultures.

2.1.2 Canadian guidelines for milk and dairy consumption

Canadian agricultural techniques were influenced by European practices;⁴⁶ hence, cow's milk has long been a part of the diets of Canadians who predominantly migrated from Europe. In 1923, the Division of Child Welfare in Canada published the *Canadian Mothers Book*, which provided advice for maternal and child health at a time when food was becoming produced more for consumption en masse as opposed to home farmed, grown and prepared.⁴⁷ At this time, regulations were in place to ensure the safety and cleanliness through pasteurization of widely distributed cow's milk. Recommendations in Canada were largely based on expert opinion and industry suggestions:

"Milk is the indispensable food for children. They cannot do without it. The cow has been well called the "the foster mother of the human race." Little children must have milk to enable them to grow properly. No matter what it costs, milk is still the cheapest food for children. Children from nine months to two years should have about two pints of milk every day in addition to other food, and it is really a mistake to give them any less till they are about twelve years of age. Three large cups of milk a day is the very least they should have (Department of Health, 1923, p. 107)."⁴⁷

The first set of Canada Food Rules in 1942 recommended children to start consuming cow's milk at 9 months and consume at least one pint of milk (473 mL) per day. This is



consistent with current guidelines. The prescribed amount of milk suggested for various age groups of children varied with each iteration of Canada's Food Rules and Guides since then. Even when food was rationed during war time, children were still recommended to maintain milk consumption. In 1949, children and adolescents were recommended to drink 2 cups (473 mL) and 3 cups (710 mL) of milk per day, respectively. By 1961, adolescents were encouraged to drink 1000 mL of milk per day. In 1977, milk recommendations expanded to include other dairy foods upon the introduction of four "food groups." Children were advised to consume 2-3 servings of milk and milk products daily, defined as 3 of: 1-250 mL cup of milk, 1.5 ounces of cheese, or ³/₄ cup of yogurt. Canada's Food Guide to Healthy Eating in 1992 was the first to suggest for children, "choose lower fat milk products more often." This continued in the 2007 version, which advised children and adolescents to "drink skim, 1%, or 2% milk each day." Children aged 2-8 years were now recommended 2 servings of milk and alternatives per day; children aged 9-18 years 3-4 servings.⁴⁸ The 2019 Canada's Food Guide recommends that all Canadians should make water their "drink of choice," but also lists "white, unsweetened lower fat milk" as a healthy drink choice.⁴⁹

Canada's Food Guide has never made explicit recommendations for children younger than two years of age. Health Canada has made nutrition recommendations for infants through a document titled "Nutrition for Healthy Term Infants: Recommendations from 6-24 Months."⁵⁰ These guidelines recommend introducing whole (3.25%) cow's milk at 9-12 months of age and not to exceed 750 mL of milk per day. At age 24 months, children are referred to general guidelines for healthy eating (i.e. Canada's Food Guide) which recommend reduced fat milk (generally defined as 0.1-2% fat). Recommendations from Health Canada, the Canadian Paediatric Society and Dietitians of Canada match these recommendations but suggest that



www.manaraa.com

children younger than 5 years of age refrain from skim (0.1% fat) milk.^{50,51} These guidelines are found in the Rourke Baby Record, which is a standardized tool used by primary healthcare providers across the country.⁵²

2.1.3 International guidelines for milk consumption

Various health agencies recommend that whole fat (3.25%) milk be started between 9 and 12 months of age, depending on developmental milestones.⁵³ In the United Kingdom, Europe, and Australia, similar dietary guidelines exist from the National Health Service (UK),⁵⁴ World Health Organization (Europe),⁵⁵ and Government of Australia.⁵⁶ Specific European guidelines vary by country, but most emphasize reduced fat dairy products for maintaining a healthy diet.⁵⁷ The American Academy of Pediatrics (AAP)⁵³ and National Institutes of Health (NIH)³ state that children younger than 2 years should only receive whole (3.25% fat) milk to ensure adequate calorie intake for proper growth and development.⁵³ Older children, however, may switch to 2%, 1% or skim to help achieve a low fat diet, as "diets high in fat may contribute to heart disease, obesity, and other health problems later in life."³ The recommended quantities are 2-250 mL cups per day for children age 2-8 years, and 3 cups daily for children aged 9-18 years.⁵³ The American Academy of Family Physicians (AAFP) outlined a number of nutrition guidelines for toddlers aged 1 to 4 years and has assigned each an evidence score from "A" (highest) to "D" (lowest). Recommendations for 2-3 servings of milk per day and limiting dietary fat and cholesterol for children both received a "C" rating. Further, the AAFP stated, "although the use of lower-fat milk is probably safe in the second year of life and is effective in reducing total fat intake, the evidence has vet to show its overall benefit."¹⁵



2.1.4 Cow's milk consumption in children

Based on 2004 Canadian Community Health Survey (CCHS) data, 88% of Canadian children aged 1-3 years had consumed milk on the previous day; older children (ages 4-8) were slightly less likely to drink milk, with 80% of boys and 71% of girls reporting consumption.⁵⁸ Canadian Community Health Survey data from 2015 (cycle 2.2) indicated that children aged 2 to 8 years typically consumed 3 servings of milk or dairy products per day; older children aged 9 to 18 years typically consumed about 2 servings daily despite higher daily serving recommendations from Health Canada at that time.^{59,60} According to the WHO, at age 12 months, about one third of Canadian children's dietary energy intake is estimated to come from either breastmilk or cow's milk, or both.⁶¹

In Canada, whole milk sales declined from 1,022,379 kilolitres per year in 1977 to 355,307 kilolitres in 2015. At the same time, skim (0.1%), 1% and 2% sales rose from 1,226,324 kilolitres in 1977 to 1,942,347 kilolitres in 2015. Per capita, 72.8 litres of whole milk were consumed per person in 1960, compared with 10.1 litres per person in 2015. Peak consumption of reduced fat milk occurred in 2000 at 17.3 litres per person; in 2015, this had fell to 14 litres per person.⁶²

National Health and Nutrition Evaluation Survey (NHANES) data showed that between 2005 and 2010 in the USA, females aged 4-8 years were estimated to consume an average of 279 mL of milk per day, while on average, males were estimated to consume an average of 312 mL of milk per day. Children in this survey aged 2-18 years derived an average of 10-15% of their daily energy intake from cow's milk.⁶³ Updated NHANES data from 2005-2012 indicated that 63% of children aged 12-24 months consumed whole cow's milk daily and 25% consumed reduced fat (2%, 1% or skim).⁶⁴ Children aged 12-24 months who consumed whole milk had a



mean intake of 572 g per day, whereas the mean reduced fat milk intake was estimated to be 446 g per day.⁶⁴ Among children aged 4-13 years in the USA, cow's milk was the leading source of energy from beverages in 2010.⁶⁵ Between 2009 and 2014, only 17.8% of children aged 4-19 participating in NHANES reported consuming cow's milk as their main beverage compared with 13.5% who consumed a mix of milk and juice, 5.6% only juice, or 63.2% other caloric beverages. Children who chose cow's milk most often consumed an average of 511 g per day and derived 15.3% of their daily energy from cow's milk.⁶⁶ Overall cow's milk consumption in American children under 5 years of age decreased by 7% from 1976-2006;⁶⁷ during the same period the proportion of pre-adolescent children who did not consume milk doubled from 12% to 24%.⁶⁸

In Australia, a 2007 survey of children aged 2 to 16 years (N= 4487) revealed that 28% of children regularly consumed unflavoured cow's milk, and these children had an average intake of 376 g per day.⁶⁹ A prospective cohort study of younger children in Australia showed that cow's milk was consumed often; 91% of 2 year old children (N= 515) consumed milk and alternatives daily which contributed to an estimated 22% of children's daily dietary energy intake. Eighty-six percent of 3 year old children (N= 426) consumed milk daily, which contributed an estimated 12% of daily energy intake, and 77% of 5 year olds (N= 405) consumed milk which contributed to 9% of daily energy intake.⁷⁰

In the UK, nationally representative survey data indicated that whole milk consumption among children aged 1.5-4.5 years decreased from 82% of children in 1992 to 69% in 2009, and among children aged 4-19 years, the proportion who consumed whole milk decreased from 44% to 30%. Reduced fat cow's milk consumption rose in both groups over the same period, and overall energy intake from cow's milk among all surveyed children decreased.⁷¹



www.manaraa.com

Little nationally representative data from other countries with similar dietary practices, guidelines, and food availability as Canada is available. It should also be noted that measurements of children's dietary intake are often completed by a proxy (ie., parent) and are subject to biases such as recall bias, where the true amount or variety of food is misremembered, social desirability bias, where a perceived "better" food is reported than the one consumed, and measurement bias, where instruments used to capture dietary intake do not account for types of foods actually consumed.⁷²

2.1.5 **Predictors of cow's milk consumption in children**

A number of factors have been identified which are associated with the likelihood of a child consuming cow's milk. The most influential predictor of cow's milk consumption worldwide is child age. Younger children are more frequent consumers of milk, and consume it in larger quantities than older children. Data suggest a transition from cow's milk to sugarcontaining beverages as children get older.^{66,73,74} Males tend to consume more milk than females,⁷⁵ possibly due to higher average energy needs, or social factors such as perceived need to feed boys more than girls.⁷⁶ Children who consume milk are more likely to have parents who are older, non-Hispanic, and consume milk regularly themselves, according to one American study.⁷⁷ Children of non-European ethnicity both in Canada and the United States tend to consume less milk than children of European descent.^{58,78} While whole milk is slightly more expensive than reduced fat milk (approximately \$0.25 more per litre), lower socioeconomic status has not been found to be a strong predictor of reduced fat cow's milk consumption.^{75,79} To the contrary, families with lower income have been shown to be more likely to purchase higher fat cow's milk for children.⁸⁰ Lower-income families who receive support from food stamps or WIC (Women, Infants and Children) programs in the United States may purchase more cow's



CHAPTER 2: LITERATURE REVIEW

milk than other low socio-economic status (SES) families who do not receive such support.⁸¹ However, families with children over age 2 years who are receiving WIC support are only eligible to receive financial support to purchase 1% milk.⁸² Availability of cow's milk in school lunch and breakfast programs also positively predict cow's milk consumption in children.⁷⁵

A systematic review of educational interventions to increase cow's milk consumption among preschool aged children identified 14 interventions. Characteristics associated with successful interventions included being located in a single setting (for example, a preschool), targeting a specific behaviour change (altering the environment and prompting changes in routines), and involving both the parent and child. Overall, only 35% of identified educational interventions showed evidence of an increase in dairy consumption among children, indicating that targeting factors such as access, cost or availability of preferred products may be necessary for successful interventions.⁸³

2.1.5.1 Nutrient composition of cow's milk

Human breast milk is regarded as the nutritional gold standard for infants because of its macronutrient, micronutrient and immunological properties.⁸⁴ Specifically, it is considered a complete source of nutrition, defined as containing all of the nutrients needed to support human growth (one exception is vitamin D).⁸⁵ Cow's milk has a similar macronutrient distribution: approximately 50% of calories from carbohydrates, 30% from fat, and 20% from protein.⁸⁶ Nutrition facts tables for skim, 1%, 2%, and whole cow's milk are shown in Table 1.⁸⁷

Cow's milk produces distinct metabolic and glycemic responses when consumed by humans. When consumed with food, milk has been shown to result in lower blood glucose and better appetite suppression following a meal rich in carbohydrates compared to other beverages, including water.⁸⁸⁻⁹⁰ Though cow's milk proteins are thought to be largely responsible for these



observations, the type and quantity of the other macronutrients found in cow's milk may play a role in this response.⁹¹ Cow's milk is known to trigger the release of a number of hormones, such as glucagon-like peptide 1 (GLP-1), cholecystokinin, (CCK), and peptide tyrosine tyrosine (TYY), which influence glycemia and appetite.⁹¹⁻⁹³ A study by Panahi et al. determined that when the carbohydrate, fat and protein components of whole cow's milk are consumed independently, their effects on glycemia, hormonal response, and gastric emptying are less pronounced than when consumed together suggesting synergistic effects.⁹⁴

Tuble It Fullin	JII Ide	is tubles for (left to	19110) sittifi, 170, 2 70, a ffe	* ***	ie miniko.	
Nutrition Facts Valeur nutritive Per 1 cup (250 mL) pour 1 tasse (250 mL)		Nutrition Facts Valeur nutritive Per 1 cup (250 mL) / pour 1 tasse (2	250 mL)	Nutrition Facts Valeur nutritive Per 1 cup (250 mL) / pour 1 tasse (250 mL)	Nutrition Facts Valeur nutritive Per 1 cup (250 mL) / pour 1 tasse	(250 mL)
Amount % Teneur % valeur	Daily Value quotidienne	Amount %D Teneur %valeur qu	aily Value otidienne	Amount % E Teneur % valeur qu	Daily Value Jotidienne	Amount % Teneur % valeur q	Daily Value uotidienne
Calories / Calories 90		Calories / Calories 110		Calories / Calories 130		Calories / Calories 160	
Eat / Lipides 0 g	0 %	Fat / Lipides 2.5 g	4 %	Fat / Lipides 5 g	8 %	Fat / Lipides 8 g	13 %
Saturated / saturés 0 g + Trans / trans 0 g	0 %	Saturated / saturés 1.5 g + Trans / trans 0 g	8 %	Saturated / saturés 3 g + Trans / trans 0.1 g	16 %	Saturated / saturés 5 g + Trans / trans 0.2 g	26 %
Cholesterol / Cholestérol 5 mg		Cholesterol / Cholestérol 10 mg		Cholesterol / Cholestérol 20 mg		Cholesterol / Cholestérol 30 mg	
Sodium / Sodium 125 mg	5 %	Sodium / Sodium 120 mg	5 %	Sodium / Sodium 120 mg	5 %	Sodium / Sodium 125 mg	5 %
Carbohydrate / Glucides 13	g 4%	Carbohydrate / Glucides 12 g	4 %	Carbohydrate / Glucides 12 g	4 %	Carbohydrate / Glucides 12 g	4 %
Fibre / Fibres 0 g	0 %	Fibre / Fibres 0 g	0 %	Fibre / Fibres 0 g	0 %	Fibre / Fibres 0 g	0 %
Sugars / Sucres 13 g		Sugars / Sucres 12 g		Sugars / Sucres 12 g		Sugars / Sucres 12 g	
Protein / Protéines 9 g		Protein / Protéines 9 g		Protein / Protéines 9 g		Protein / Protéines 9 g	
Vitamin A / Vitamine A	10 %	Vitamin A / Vitamine A	10 %	Vitamin A / Vitamine A	10 %	Vitamin A / Vitamine A	10 %
Vitamin C / Vitamine C	0 %	Vitamin C / Vitamine C	0 %	Vitamin C / Vitamine C	0 %	Vitamin C / Vitamine C	0 %
Calcium / Calcium	30 %	Calcium / Calcium	30 %	Calcium / Calcium	30 %	Calcium / Calcium	30 %
Iron / Fer	0 %	Iron / Fer	0 %	Iron / Fer	0 %	Iron / Fer	0 %
Vitamin D / Vitamine D	45 %	Vitamin D / Vitamine D	45 %	Vitamin D / Vitamine D	45 %	Vitamin D / Vitamine D	45 %

Table 1. Nutrition facts tables for (left to right) skim, 1%, 2%, and whole milks.⁸⁷

2.1.5.1.1 Lactose

The primary carbohydrate in cow's milk (4.5 g per 100 mL) is lactose, which is a disaccharide composed of glucose and galactose. Lactose is synthesized in the mammary gland by the combination of glucose with uridine diphosphate galactose. Alpha-lactalbumin is the protein enzyme responsible for catalyzing this reaction, and is also found in cow's milk. In order to digest lactose, the enzyme lactase is required in the intestinal tract of the consumer. Lactase breaks lactose down into its monomers, glucose and galactose, which are then absorbed through



the villi of the jejunum.⁹⁵ From there, the sugars are transported to the liver through the portal vein.⁹⁶

Lactose is a unique carbohydrate because its glycemic index (GI), or ability to raise blood glucose relative to pure glucose,⁹⁷ is relatively low (46). Although the energy density of lactose is the same as other carbohydrates (4 kcal per gram), it is digested at varied levels of completeness because of varied levels of lactase between people. The combined effect is a relatively slow rise in blood sugar following cow's milk consumption.⁹⁶

Bacterial fermentation of lactose in the colon may reduce the energy contribution of nonabsorbed lactose by 1-2 kcal per gram.⁹⁶ Lactose may act as a prebiotic, or source of nutrition to bacteria in the intestine, and its fermentation produces short chain fatty acids which can be absorbed to some extent.⁹⁶ Lactic acid-producing bacteria (which use lactose for energy) can exhibit beneficial effects on gut health and potentially play protective roles against Crohn's disease and ulcerative colitis.⁹⁸ Fermented lactose in the colon also aids in the absorption of calcium and magnesium, which are present in cow's milk.^{96,99}

2.1.5.1.2 Protein

Milk proteins are primarily composed of casein (82%) and whey (18%). Cow's milk provides 3.2 g of protein per 100 mL. Both casein and whey are considered high quality proteins based on their bioavailability, amino acid completeness (i.e., they contain all of the amino acids which are essential for human metabolism), and digestibility. Cow's milk protein has a protein digestibility corrected amino acid score of 1.0, which refers to the proportion of essential amino acids provided by a food after digestion.¹⁰⁰ As milk proteins are digested, bioactive peptides are released, which play a variety of roles, including antiviral, antifungal, antioxidant, antihypertensive, antithrombotic and immunomodulatory.¹⁰¹



Whey proteins in cow's milk include β -Lactglobulin (β -LG), α -Lactalbumin (α -LA), serum albumin, immunoglobulins, lactoferrin and proteose-peptone fractions.⁹² Relative to casein, whey protein is quickly digested, but digestion and absorption of amino acids in the intestine is slow relative to other proteins.⁹² Whey protein consumption is associated with lower food intake after ingestion compared to casein, soy, or egg proteins,¹⁰² but the mechanism is not fully known.⁹² Whey protein is especially rich in branched-chain amino acids (BCAA; including leucine, isoleucine, valine and lysine), which play an important role in muscle anabolism¹⁰³ and insulin secretion.¹⁰⁴ Though various nutrients elicit digestive hormone release, whey protein intake has been shown to stimulate the release of CCK and GLP-1, satiety hormones known to increase the feeling of fullness in humans.¹⁰⁵⁻¹⁰⁸ CCK delays gastric emptying, and sends signals to the brain to reduce food intake, promoting satiety.¹⁰⁹⁻¹¹¹ GLP-1 is known to reduce gastrointestinal motility and gastric emptying,¹¹² contributing to the "ileal brake" which is the inhibition of gastrointestinal transit and release of gastric and digestive secretions.¹¹³ Finally, whey protein has been shown to suppress ghrelin, an appetite stimulating hormone, and subsequently reduce food intake in humans.¹⁰⁶

Whey peptides aid in micronutrient absorption; for example, lactoferrin supports iron absorption and beta-lactoglobulin is a retinol carrier.¹¹⁴ β -LG and α -LA contribute to angiotensin converting enzyme (ACE)-inhibitory peptides, which have favourable effects on blood pressure and inflammation.^{115,116} Whey protein has been shown to reduce inflammatory cytokines IL-6 and interleukin-1 beta (IL-1 β).¹¹⁷ Together, these effects may mitigate cardiometabolic risk factors.⁹²

Casein proteins are classified as either α 1-casein, α 2-casein, β -casein or \varkappa -casein, which contribute to binding, transport and improving the digestibility of minerals, specifically for



www.manaraa.com

calcium and phosphorous.^{100,101} Casein exists in a micelle in cow's milk, which when denatured by stomach acid causes it to form a "clot" in the stomach.¹⁰⁰ This clotting allows casein to delay gastric emptying and slowly release amino acids into the bloodstream over time, elongating satiety.¹¹⁸

Insulin-like growth factor-1 (IGF-1) is a notable peptide in cow's milk. Bovine and human IGF-1 are molecularly the same.¹¹⁹ Although IGF-1 is also endogenously produced in humans, children who consume more cow's milk tend to have higher levels of circulating IGF-1 compared to children who consume less cow's milk.^{45,120,121} Circulating IGF-1 has also been shown to be higher after cow's milk consumption.¹²² Casein appears to be a trigger in either the release of IGF-1 in cow's milk consumers, or hepatic production of IGF-1, but the exact mechanism is not yet known.^{41,45} Cow's milk consumption and circulating IGF-1 levels also do not always correlate linearly. For example, adults do not exhibit the same response as children:¹²³ throughout the life course, IGF-1 levels in the blood tend to be highest during periods of growth, and are lower in malnourished individuals.¹²⁴ IGF-1 promotes skeletal growth;¹²⁵ it facilitates calcium and phosphate metabolism and contributes to bone integrity and development.¹²⁶

2.1.5.1.3 Fat

Dairy fats are composed in the following approximate distribution: 65-70% saturated, 25-30% monounsaturated, 2-5% polyunsaturated, and about 3% trans fat. Whole cow's milk contains 3.25 g of fat per 100 mL, on average. Cow's milk fat is highly complex, containing over 400 distinct fatty acids which are mostly (98%) triacylglycerol, and diacylglycerol, cholesterol, free fatty acids, and phospholipids, which together make up the remaining 2% of milk fats.¹²⁷ Common fatty acids found in cow's milk are listed in Table 2. The fat content and composition of milk tends to vary with animal feed, season, stage of lactation and ruminal fermentation.^{101,127}



www.manaraa.com

For example, the difference in proportion of saturated fatty acids in grain-fed vs. grass-fed cow's

milk has been observed to be 39.4% vs. 54.1%, respectively.¹²⁸

Fatty acid	Weighted mean %
Saturated fatty acids total	69.4
4:0 butyric acid	4.4
6:0 caproic acid	2.4
8:0 caprylic acid	1.4
10:0 capric acid	2.7
12:0 lauric acid	3.3
14:0 myristic acid	10.9
15:0 pentadecanoic acid	0.9
16:0 palmitic acid	30.6
17:0 heptadecanoic acid	0.4
18:0 stearic acid	12.2
20:0 arachidic acid	0.2
Mono-unsaturated fatty acids, cis, total	25.0
10:1 decenoic acid	0.3
14:1 myristoleic acid	0.8
16:1 palmitoleic acid	1.0
17:1 cis-10 heptadecanoic acid	0.1
18:1 oleic acid	22.8
18:2 linoleic acid	1.6
18:3 alpha-linolenic acid	0.7
Trans fatty acids total	2.7
16:1t trans-palmitoleic acid	0.4
18:1t trans-vaccenic acid	2.1
18:2t trans-linoleic acid	0.2
CLA conjugated linoleic acid	0.4

Table 2. Common fatty acids found in a sample of Swedish cow's milk.¹²⁷

Fat droplets in cow's milk are enveloped by a milk fat globule membrane (MFGM), which is composed of polar lipids and proteins in a 1:1 ratio by weight.¹²⁹ The lipid portion contains phospholipids and sphingolipids, which include phosphatidylcholine and sphingomyelin, and cholesterol.¹²⁹ The protein fraction is composed of a wide variety of proteins, including enzymes, immunoglobulins, and transporters.¹³⁰ The membrane is responsible for preserving individuality of milk fat droplets; mechanical processes such as churning can disrupt



the MFGM to create solid milk fat products (i.e., butter).¹³¹ These globule membranes are not digestible by pancreatic enzymes in the small intestine. Several health benefits of the MFGM have been suggested, attributed to cholesterol-lowering, vitamin-binding, and anti-microbial properties.¹³¹ In breast milk, the MFGM is suggested to be a factor that differentiates growth and developmental discrepancies between breast- and formula-fed infants, such as cognitive development.¹³² Choline, a compound found in phosphatidylcholine and sphingomyelin, is functionally similar to folate and contributes to neural development and neurocognitive health.^{132,133} Bovine MFGM supplementation in infancy may be associated with higher cognitive development scores according to RCT evidence.^{134,135} In one clinical trial, 120 infants aged <2 months at baseline were randomized to receive either MFGM-enriched fortified infant formula, or standard fortified infant formula until age 6 months to determine if incidence of diarrhea would decrease. An additional 80 infants received breast milk. A secondary outcome was cognitive development according to the Bayley Scales of Infant and Toddler Development. At 12 months of age, there was evidence that children who received the MFGM formula had higher cognitive scores (105.8 \pm 9.2 vs. 101.8 \pm 8.0; p= 0.008), and similar scores to the infants who received breast milk.¹³⁵ However, future research with primary cognitive outcomes is needed.

In adults, there is evidence to support that MFGM supplementation to foods containing saturated fats may reduce intestinal cholesterol absorption. In a crossover RCT of 34 men and women, participants received 45 g/day of buttermilk, which is naturally rich in MGFM, and a micro- and macronutrient matched placebo control for 4 weeks each. There was evidence that the buttermilk intervention led to a reduction in serum cholesterol (-3.1%, p= 0.019), LDL cholesterol (-3.1%, p= 0.057) and triglycerides (-10.7%, p= 0.007) compared to placebo among



www.manaraa.com

participants.¹³⁶ Other evidence suggests MFGM supplementation may improve inflammatory profiles and post-prandial insulin responses in adults.¹³⁷

2.1.5.1.3.1 Saturated fatty acids

Saturated fatty acids are included in structures and molecules involved in cell signaling, metabolism, inflammation, and transcription.¹³⁸ Dietary intake of saturated fatty acids (SFAs) are known to result in higher levels of circulating low-density lipoprotein (LDL) cholesterol^{139,140} and the development of cardiovascular disease.¹⁴⁰ Intake of certain SFAs raises total (LDL and HDL) cholesterol when compared to carbohydrates and unsaturated fatty acids.¹⁴¹

The relationship between SFA intake in isolation and morbidity and mortality is a thoroughly debated and ongoing issue.¹⁴² Some recent evidence supports a hypothesis that saturated fat may not independently predict reduced cardiovascular health.²⁴ A meta-analysis by de Souza et al. examined the association between dietary saturated fat, which is present in fatcontaining dairy products, and all-cause mortality, cardiovascular disease, type 2 diabetes, or stroke in 12 prospective cohort studies involving 339,090 participants.²⁴ There was no evidence of an association between saturated fat intake and all-cause mortality, cardiovascular disease mortality, total coronary heart disease, ischemic stroke, or type 2 diabetes. However, the certainty of these conclusions was reported as "very low" according to GRADE and substantial heterogeneity between studies was observed ($I^2 > 60\%^{143}$ with p< 0.05 in most analyses).²⁴ A meta-analysis conducted by Chowdhury et al. revealed similar findings, which included 49 observational studies of 538,141 participants and 27 RCTs of 105,085 participants. In this metaanalysis, dietary intake of saturated fatty acids was not associated with coronary heart disease (RR= 1.03; 95% CI 0.98 to 1.07, p value not reported), and dairy-sourced saturated fatty acids were negatively associated with coronary heart disease.¹⁴⁴ In one prospective cohort study of



CHAPTER 2: LITERATURE REVIEW

5029 adults, saturated fat sourced only from dairy was associated with a lower risk of cardiovascular disease (HR= 0.79 per 5 g of dairy SFA intake per day, 95% CI 0.68 to 0.92, p< 0.01).¹⁴⁵ As far as we are aware, no study has analyzed the relationship between childhood saturated fat intake from dairy or other foods and morbidity or mortality in later life.

Different types of saturated fatty acids may have different effects on human health.^{146,147} Given that there are 35 different saturated fatty acids¹⁴⁸ which are consumed in an infinite number of permutations of intakes of these fats based on the types and quantities of foods consumed by individuals worldwide and various lifestyle factors that may all influence outcomes, broad statements about singular nutrients in isolation are challenging to interpret.¹³⁸ Saturated fatty acids are believed to have different effects on cardiovascular health depending on their source and structure.¹⁴⁹ For example, odd-chained (carbon chains in odd-numbered quantity) SFAs may be protective¹⁵⁰ whereas others may raise serum lipid and cholesterol levels.¹⁵¹ A prospective cohort study of 125,287 adults from 18 countries conducted over 10 years revealed that saturated fat intake was associated with higher concentrations of total and LDL cholesterol, but also higher concentration of HDL cholesterol and lower circulating triglycerides. Furthermore, this study revealed that replacing saturated fats with simple carbohydrates was associated with the most adverse serum lipid and cholesterol levels, adding complexity to the current understanding of health effects of dietary fat.¹⁵¹

The saturated fatty acids found in cow's milk mainly include palmitic, oleic, and stearic, which make up about 65-70% of total bovine fatty acids.¹⁵² Functionally, these fatty acids are important in the structure and integrity of cell membranes.¹⁴⁷ There is evidence to suggest there may be a relationship between palmitic acid intake and higher circulating IL-6 and white adipose tissue,¹⁵³ which have been positively associated with inflammation and obesity, though most of



www.manaraa.com
this evidence is limited to animal studies or small-scale human studies.¹⁵⁴ Epidemiological studies and those comparing palmitic acid to other sources of fats, including unsaturated fats, have not demonstrated clear differences in cardiovascular or glycemic health outcomes.^{155,156} Oleic acid is widespread in the diet and can be synthesized endogenously. Similar to polyunsaturated fatty acids, oleic acid reduces the oxidation potential of LDL cholesterol, which is a pro-atherosclerotic process.¹⁵⁷ Oleic acid may also have protective effects on inflammation, blood glucose, insulin resistance, and high blood pressure, though actual effects are likely modest.¹⁴⁷ Stearic acid (denoted as 18:0) accounts for 5-15% of cow's milk fat,¹⁵⁸ and is the least efficiently metabolized saturated fatty acid in milk; due to the structure of stearic acid, its absorption is interrupted and postprandial fatty acid response can be delayed or lowered.^{159,160} Stearic acid is considered a long-chain SFA and contributes to the structure and function of gangliosides.¹⁴⁷ Stearic acid is often studied as an oil supplement consisting of shea or cocoa butter, or a hydrogenated synthetic oil. A meta-analysis of 35 clinical trials of healthy adult subjects revealed that stearic acid, when compared to other fats such as lauric, palmitic, and trans fatty acids, tended to lower circulating LDL cholesterol levels. In fact, stearic acid's cholesterollowering effects have been found to be similar to those of polyunsaturated oleic and linoleic acids.¹⁵⁸ Current evidence is unclear as to the thrombotic¹⁶¹ and glycemic effects¹⁶² of stearic acid. Further research is needed to understand the cardiovascular, thrombotic, and glycemic effects of stearic acid contained within cow's milk, and broadly, to distinguish the effects of saturated fatty acids found in dairy compared to other dietary sources.

There has been considerable debate about the relationship between specific dietary fats and human health because of the difference between highly controlled trials of individual, prescribed fatty acids and real world diets, which represent "complex matrices of nutrients,



www.manaraa.com

minerals, bioactives, food structures, and other factors (e.g., phospholipids, prebiotics, probiotics) with correspondingly complex effects on health and disease.¹⁶³ Several investigators have argued that results of highly controlled trials on fatty acids be interpreted with caution, and that when it comes to dairy, the whole dairy food must be considered rather than the sum of its constituents in relation to health outcomes.^{158,164,165} Observational sources of evidence about saturated fat intake and health are also subject to scrutiny, as dietary measurements in observational research may be biased¹⁶⁶ (*see 2.1.4*), and residual confounding is possible where diets high in saturated fat may be associated with factors such as lower physical activity,

2.1.5.1.3.2 Other fatty acids

Linoleic acid (an omega-6 fatty acid) and α-linoleic acid (an omega-3 fatty acid) are unsaturated fatty acids found in low concentrations in cow's milk. Though found in low concentrations in cow's milk, these fatty acids exist in a ratio (2:1 for linoleic to alpha-linolenic, as compared to some foods which may provide a ratio of 10:1) that is considered beneficial because it allows polyunstaturated fatty acids (PUFAs) to endogenously convert to long-chain PUFAs, such as docosahexaenoic acid (DHA). This ratio may be important for children due to the integral role long-chain PUFAs may have on cognitive and retinal development.^{169,170}

Trans-fatty acids (TFAs) include trans-palmitoleic acid, vaccenic acid and conjugated linoleic acid.¹²⁷ Intake of industrially produced trans fatty acids, such as those found in hydrogenized vegetable oils, have been associated with lower HDL and higher LDL concentrations in the blood, as well as higher risk of coronary heart disease.¹⁷¹ The mechanisms driving these relationships may be pro-inflammatory and endothelial deregulatory properties which promote adipose accumulation and insulin resistance, creating a unique "cardiometabolic



imprint" of TFAs.¹⁷² It is also possible that the adverse outcomes noted in the many observational studies are due to low incomes, limited food choices, over-reliance on heavily advertised foods and mental health issues rather than specific nutrients; to know for sure, high quality RCTs are needed.

Ruminant-produced trans fatty acids (RP-TFA) are a different class of TFAs and may have different effects on human health. Ruminant-produced trans fatty acids comprise approximately 4-6% of all fatty acids in cow's milk,¹⁷³ but quantities are subject to variation due to season, bovine feeding practices (i.e. grain vs. grass fed), and geography.¹⁷⁴ Unlike industrially produced trans fatty acids, RP-TFA are produced by bacteria in the rumen of cows. Some of the polyunsaturated fatty acids ingested by cows are metabolized into RP-TFA, and are passed into tissue and milk. The relationships usually observed between trans fatty acid intake and poor health outcomes are not typically observed with RP-TFA intake.¹⁷⁵ In fact, RP-TFA intake has been associated with lower risk of coronary heart disease.^{176,177} It is possible that structural differences contribute to this distinction, but evidence for this is inconclusive.¹⁷²

Conjugated linoleic acid (CLA) is a RP-TFA made from fermented linoleic and αlinoleic acid in the rumen.¹⁰¹ Several animal and few human studies have evaluated the possible protective health effects of dietary CLA. CLA has demonstrated a number of beneficial properties, such as supporting the immune system,¹⁷⁸ as well as lowering LDL cholesterol¹⁷⁹ and fat mass^{180,181} through increased lipolysis and increased energy expenditure leading to lower fat accumulation in animals.^{182,183} Human trials show that CLA supplementation can lower overall^{184,185} and abdominal fat mass,¹⁷⁸ including over a sustained period (24 months) of weight loss and maintenance.¹⁸⁰ A meta-analysis of 15 RCTs that observed the effects of CLA supplementation for 6 months or more on body composition in overweight and obese adults



revealed that on average, CLA supplementation reduced body weight by 1.33 kg (95% CI -1.79 to -0.86, p value not reported).¹⁸⁶ In children, an RCT of 3 g/day CLA supplementation vs. placebo resulted in lower body fatness in 6-10 year olds over 7 months. Plasma lipids and glucose were not changed by the intervention.²⁷ However, not all trials of CLA supplementation delivered through dairy products have not provided evidence for lower body weight.^{187,188} Future studies of usual quantities (130-440 mg/day)¹⁸⁹ of CLA in children would improve understanding of a realistic role of CLA in metabolic health.

Dietary vaccenic acid, a ruminant-produced trans fatty acid, is largely derived from incompletely hydrogenated PUFAs in ruminants such as cows. Vaccenic acid is a precursor to CLA through desaturation in both ruminants and humans, which may allow it to contribute to beneficial effects of CLA once metabolized.¹⁹⁰

Higher circulating levels of trans-palmitoleic acid have been associated with lower adiposity, incident diabetes, insulin resistance, and triglycerides, and positively associated with HDL cholesterol in several large adult cohort studies; however, these findings could be due to something else since they are from observational studies.²²⁻²⁶ Vaccenic acid also is a precursor to trans-palmitoleic acid in humans, which may contribute to the positive correlation between dairy fat intake and circulating trans-palmitoleate concentrations in the blood.¹⁹¹ Though the exact mechanisms for these relationships are unknown, dietary trans-palmitoleic acid is hypothesized to suppress hepatic fat production for energy storage.¹⁵⁹

Butyric acid is one of few short-chain fatty acids found in cow's milk, and is known for providing energy to gut microflora and moderating inflammation in the digestive tract.¹⁹² Though only shown in mouse studies, there is some evidence to suggest that butyric acid may have beneficial effects on body weight and metabolism.^{193,194}



www.manaraa.com

2.1.5.1.4 Biomarkers of dairy fat intake

Common phospholipid biomarkers for dairy fat intake are serum pentadecanoic acid (15:0) and heptadecanoic acid (17:0) because they are ruminant-produced fatty acids excreted in cow's milk.^{149,195} Higher concentrations of these fatty acids in the blood have been associated with lower cardiometabolic risk factors including fasting glucose¹⁹⁶, insulin resistance,¹⁹⁷ diabetes,¹⁹⁸ ischemic heart disease,¹⁹⁹ heart attack^{196,197,200} and stroke.²⁰¹ Multiple studies have identified that individuals with higher dairy fat intake had higher circulating pentadecanoic acid (15:0), which also was associated with lower risk of coronary heart and cardiovascular diseases, as well as lower circulating triglycerides and blood pressure.²⁰² Though pentadecanoic acid is not relatively abundant in cow's milk, dairy is its main dietary source, and small changes in serum concentrations may be meaningful, or a proxy for another bioactive molecule.²⁰²

2.1.5.1.5 Vitamins and minerals

Cow's milk provides a variety of micronutrients. Table 3 shows the Health Canada recommendations for intakes of nutrients found in cow's milk, and the quantity a child can obtain from the recommended 2 cups of cow's milk per day.

Table 3. Health Canada micronutrient recommendation	ns for a 1-3 year old child and provision
from 2 cups of cow's milk. ^{203,204}	

Nutrient	RDA	Quantity in 500 mL whole cow's milk	Percent contribution	
Vitamin A	700 IU (RAE)	790 IU (RAE)	113%	
Vitamin D	400 IU	248 IU	62%	
Vitamin B ₆	0.5 mg	0.18 mg	36%	
Vitamin B ₁₂	0.9 mcg	2.2 mcg	244%	
Thiamin	0.5 mg	0.22 mg	44%	
Riboflavin	0.5 mg	915 mcg	1830%	
Folate	150 mcg (DFE)	25 mcg (DFE)	17%	
Calcium	700 mg	550 mg	79%	
Potassium	3000 mg	644 mg	21%	



Phosphorous	460 mg	410 mg	89%
Magnesium	80 mg	50 mg	63%
Zinc	3 mg	2 mg	67%

Minerals such as calcium, potassium, zinc, and phosphorous are prominent in cow's milk.²⁰⁵ One serving of cow's milk provides approximately 30% of an individual's recommended daily allowance (RDA) for calcium.⁸⁷ Though less bioavailable than other food sources of calcium, cow's milk delivers the highest quantity of calcium per serving or usually consumed amount of various foods.²⁰⁶ Phosphorous, another prominent mineral found in cow's milk, works with calcium to promote hydroxyapatite strength.²⁰⁷ An estimated one third of children's dietary intake of phosphorous comes from dairy products.^{208,209} Children who consume more cow's milk are more likely to meet their daily requirements for magnesium, which is important for muscle and nerve function.^{210,211} Iodine is not consistently found in high quantities in cow's milk and can depend on season, geography and type of cattle feed, but studies have shown that children who consume more dairy receive more dietary iodine,²¹² possibly due to the use of iodine on cow udders for sterilization.²¹³ Zinc is known to benefit immune response in people who are zinc deficient and is a component of insulin. Zinc intake has been documented to be higher in children who consume more cow's milk than others,²¹⁴ as well as higher serum zinc and copper concentrations among milk drinkers.²¹⁵ According to the Continuing Survey of Food Intakes by Individuals in the United States, dairy products were the most influential dietary source of potassium in children aged 2-17 years.²¹¹

Cow's milk is a source of vitamins A and D, both of which are fat soluble. The fat contained in cow's milk may aid the absorption of these vitamins, even in skim (0.1% fat milk).^{216,217} Cow's milk is the main dietary source of vitamin D among North American children.^{58,218,219} The Canadian Food Inspection Agency standardized fortification at 32 to 52



IU/100 mL fluid milk, or approximately 100 IU per 250-mL cup.²²⁰ In a number of analyses, dairy foods were the most substantial source of vitamin A in children due to similar fortification laws in many countries.^{208,209} In Canada, vitamin A is added to cow's milk at 141 to 293 IU/100 mL, or 543 IU per 250-mL cup.²²⁰ Vitamin A is biologically active when found in animal-derived foods, making cow's milk an excellent source due to its vitamin A quantity and quality. Vitamin A is important for the development of immune, reproductive and visual systems, and is therefore very important during childhood.²²¹ Naturally occurring vitamins in milk include thiamin, riboflavin, pantothenic acid, folate, vitamin B₆ and vitamin B₁₂, which are important for nutrient metabolism, and neural development and integrity. Like many other micronutrients, milk and dairy product consumption is a robust predictor of meeting daily recommended intake levels of these nutrients.^{211,222,223} In particular, vitamin B₁₂ is only found in animal-sourced foods and vitamin B₆ is mainly animal derived, making dairy foods an especially convenient vehicle for vitamin delivery.²²³ Though rich in many nutrients, cow's milk lacks iron which is a key nutrient for child growth and cognitive development.⁵⁰

2.1.6 Effects of cow's milk consumption during childhood

Cow's milk provides children with macro- and micronutrients that are similar to breast milk. It provides a convenient, easily accessible and generally well-tolerated source of fluid nutrition during the transition away from breastmilk or infant formula.²²⁴ In Canada, milk is a highly regulated food with little variation between farm or distributor and carries a low risk of microbiological contamination.²²⁵

Carbohydrates are the body's most readily available source of energy for daily activities, brain function, and growth. Carbohydrates are the predominant nutrient in breast milk by weight, suggesting an important role in early growth and development.⁸⁴ Throughout childhood,



carbohydrates support essential processes such as providing energy to the brain, muscle and red blood cells.²²⁶

Fat is an essential part of a child's diet, contributing to energy storage for constant growth and activity, as well as brain development.²²⁷ Fat also aids in the absorption of fat-soluble vitamins²²⁷ and provides energy through oxidation in the liver. Fatty acids are also used to build cell membranes, as signaling molecules including hormones, and for regulation of transcription factors.¹⁴⁷ During infancy, the brain requires polyunsaturated omega-3 fats to develop and create myelin sheaths responsible for nerve signal transmission as well as support retinal development, and this need for fat continues throughout childhood.²²⁷

Higher dietary saturated fat and cholesterol intake in childhood has raised concern about increasing the risk of cardiovascular disease later in life. Since cow's milk is often the main dietary contributor to saturated fat and cholesterol in childhood,^{228,229} a few studies have evaluated effects of saturated fat from cow's milk and cholesterol in children. A recent cross sectional study from the TARGet Kids! group identified that 2-8 year old children had 0.024 mmol/L higher serum non-HDL cholesterol concentration per 1% higher cow's milk fat consumed. However, children who consumed higher cow's milk fat were not at higher odds for high serum cholesterol concentration (>3.75 mmol/L).²³⁰ A randomized controlled trial of 1062 infants aged 7-13 months assigned participants to either dietary counseling to maintain dietary fat <30% total energy, consume monounsaturated, polyunsaturated, and saturated fat in equal quantities, and consume <200 mg cholesterol per day, or an unrestricted diet. Participants who received counseling were advised to consume at least 1.9% fat cow's milk. Results showed that participants who received counseling consumed at least 1.9% fat cow's milk. Results showed that



those in the control group. Boys (but not girls) had lower serum cholesterol concentrations (-0.39 mmol/L, 95% CI -0.52 to -0.26 among boys; -0.15, 95% CI -0.29 to 0), but similar growth to children in the control group with higher intakes of saturated fat and energy, and lower intakes of PUFAs in the control group.²³¹ A longitudinal study of preschool children aged 24-70 months revealed that there was evidence of an association between dietary fat intake and body fat %, but when the analysis was restricted to dietary fat from dairy sources only, there was no evidence of an association.²³² Another prospective cohort study revealed that children with the highest intakes of dairy during preschool, who also had the highest saturated fat intakes, had the lowest anthropometry measurements (body fat %, skinfold thickness, and BMI) during later childhood, up to age 13 years. Though this analysis did not pinpoint the sources of total and saturated fat, authors suggest that dairy consumption was a predominant source of dietary saturated fat.²³³

Cow's milk is also a predominant source of dietary protein for children. NHANES 2003-2006 data show that children aged 2-18 years consumed 13.2% of their dietary protein from cow's milk.²³⁴ A prospective cohort study of 203 German children aged 6 months to 6 years revealed that age 18-24 months was the period during childhood when children consumed the highest proportion of energy (13.8%) from protein. Further, children at that age sourced 41% of their dietary protein from dairy.²³⁵ During childhood, protein supplies amino acids for growth of the organs, muscles and skin. Whey and casein proteins play unique roles in the body; for example, whey proteins constitute immunoglobulins²⁰⁵ and casein is a factor in micelle formation, which are responsible for transporting nutrients and other molecules throughout the body.²³⁶ Minimum protein requirements for children are often exceeded through dietary intake of cow's milk and meats, both of which are encouraged for children who are transitioning from breast milk or infant formula to solid food.²³⁷ It is not uncommon for children to consume 3-4



times their daily requirement for protein.^{235,238,239} Further research is needed to understand if dairy protein has different effects on body composition than other sources of protein in childhood, and if there are periods of childhood when susceptibility to negative effects of high protein intake may be more pronounced than others.¹⁹³

Cow's milk is the main dietary source of vitamin D for most children, but not all children who consume cow's milk are vitamin D replete.²⁴⁰ According to Maguire et al., each daily cup of cow's milk consumed was associated with a higher serum 25-hydroxyvitamin D level of about 4 nmol/L (95% CI 2.5 to 5 nmol/L, p< 0.001) among children aged 2-5 years.²¹⁸ Among other studies of low vitamin D levels in children, not consuming cow's milk is a common contributing factor.²⁴¹⁻²⁴³ Vitamin D deficiency in toddlers was less likely among those who consumed cow's milk than non-milk drinkers in a study by Gordon et al. in 2008 in the United States.^{241,242} Children who consume non-cow's milk beverages may be exposed to fewer dietary sources of vitamin D since not all non-cow's milks are fortified with vitamin D and these "milks" may not be consumed as routinely as cow's milk, therefore these children may be at a higher risk for vitamin D insufficiency.^{244,245}

Several review articles have summarized articles which describe relationships between cow's milk consumption and various health outcomes during childhood. Key findings are found in *Appendix 8.2: Table 1*. Systematic reviews have identified that cow's milk in children's diets was positively associated with child height,²⁴⁶ dental,²²³ and bone health.^{223,246,247} Systematic reviews on the relationship between total dairy consumption and child adiposity have had conflicting findings, though.

Research about cow's milk consumption, body composition and adiposity is described in Section 2.9.1.



www.manaraa.com

2.1.6.1 Bone health and height

Several randomized controlled trials and observational studies have identified a positive relationship between cow's milk intake and bone mineral content in children.^{214,248,249} For example, a randomized controlled trial of 12 year old Chinese girls (N= 82) showed that an average 300 mL higher daily cow's milk intake increased bone mineral content (27.0% vs. 24.1%, p= 0.009) over 18 weeks.¹²⁰ However, it is unclear whether higher bone mineral content results in lower fracture risk, or lower risk of bone disease later in life, though there is some observational evidence to show cow's milk may be protective against both outcomes.^{250,251} Active nutrients likely include protein, calcium, vitamin D, phosphorous and potassium, all of which are involved in bone turnover, structure and integrity.²⁵² It is likely that the importance of milk as a supplier of these nutrients is highest during periods of growth, especially when bones are being mineralized and more susceptible to fracture.²²³ Whey protein has also been suggested to support bone formation, but further evidence is needed.²⁵³

Consumption of non-cow's "milk" beverages has been associated with lower circulating vitamin D levels²⁴⁴ and lower height in children in observational studies,²⁵⁴ which may indicate poorer bone health among children who substitute other beverages for cow's milk. It has been identified that children who did not consume cow's milk were more likely to experience bone fracture,^{250,255,256} insufficient circulating concentrations of calcium and vitamin D,²⁵⁷ which are needed for bone growth and integrity,²⁵⁷ and lower bone mineral density.²⁵⁰ More evidence about non-cow's "milk" beverages in children's diets is needed.

Bone health is associated with height during childhood; bones require the same nutrients to both elongate and gain strength and integrity.⁴⁵ Various studies have identified a positive relationship between cow's milk intake and height in children.^{79,258,259} This relationship is



hypothesized to be reliant on a number of vitamins and minerals such as calcium, vitamin D, phosphorous and potassium, but also insulin-like growth factor 1 and cow's milk proteins, which are contributors to longitudinal growth.⁴⁵ A meta-analysis of 12 randomized and non-randomized controlled trials from around the world evaluating the relationship between cow's milk intake and child height (age 2-18 years) revealed a linear relationship that each additional 245 mL cup of cow's milk per day was associated with 0.4 cm taller height.²⁴⁶

2.1.6.2 Cognitive development

Cow's milk contains many nutrients known to support brain development in early life and cognition throughout the life course. Though the relationship between milk and mental function has not been studied extensively, a systematic review of 8 studies (cross-sectional and prospective cohort ranging from 3-30 years of follow up) on the topic showed that poorer cognitive function in adults was associated with lower cow's milk intake, but this protection may only be offered by reduced fat dairy²⁶⁰ and could be due to residual confounding. If valid, the observed health benefits of cow's milk consumption could be related directly or indirectly to the brain. For example, better vascular health and lower inflammation could offer protection against both chronic cardiovascular and metabolic diseases, but also cognitive decline.^{261,262} On the other hand, nutrients found in cow's milk may be driving these relationships, such as calcium or protein. A 65-year observational follow-up study of children revealed that cow's milk consumption during childhood was associated with better balance and walking times in adulthood, which are markers of cognitive function. However, higher calcium and protein intakes were also positively associated with these outcomes²⁶³ and these findings could be due to other factors such as social determinants of health and physical activity.



www.manaraa.com

The developing human brain requires fat for optimal development and function.^{15,264} The human brain is predominantly composed of fat, suggesting that fat is likely an important contributor to brain development and performance.²⁶⁵ Most of brain growth is completed by age 6 years.²⁶⁶ Though it has been suggested that milk fat globules contained in breastmilk are beneficial to the growing brain,¹³² less attention has been focused on dietary fat and brain development and performance post-infancy, and no clinical trials that we are aware of have assessed the effect of cow's milk fat content on children's brain development. Dietary fat restriction in childhood may impact cognitive development as this period is a time of rapid growth, causing the central nervous system to be susceptible to negative environmental influence.²⁶⁷ The ratio of essential fatty acids linoleic to alpha-linolenic acid (n-6 to n-3) in whole cow's milk is known to optimize circulating DHA,²⁶⁸ which is an essential fatty acid to brain growth and function.²⁶⁹

2.1.6.3 Cardiometabolic health

Cardiometabolic risk refers to an individual's probability of cardiovascular disease, type 2 diabetes, or stroke. Though risk factors for cardiometabolic diseases may include age, ethnicity, family history or other unmodifiable factors, research with cardiometabolic risk outcomes usually focuses on modifiable factors such as circulating triglyceride or cholesterol concentrations, blood pressure, or body weight or fatness.²⁷⁰ Cardiometabolic risk factors also include physical activity level, sleep, and diet quality, but in this section "cardiometabolic risk factors" will be referred to as physical manifestations of risk.

It is known that plaque buildup in blood vessels leading to atherosclerosis originates in early life,²²⁷ and that early life cardiovascular disease risk factors are positively associated with cardiovascular events during adulthood.²⁷¹ Certain conditions such as hypertension,



www.manaraa.com

hyperlipidemia and overweight are known to track from childhood to adulthood. Lifestyle factors such as low physical activity, poor diet, excess energy intake and smoking can exacerbate the development of cardiovascular disease.^{272,273} However, the exact causes of early atherosclerosis such as arterial fatty streaks, elevated blood pressure, and elevated total and LDL cholesterol concentrations are not known, and interventions to mitigate children's cardiovascular risk factors have not shown to be consistently effective.²⁷⁴ Further, some children who exhibit early evidence of atherosclerosis such as fatty streaks cease to exhibit them in adolescence or adulthood,^{275,276} highlighting a need for further study of the development of cardiovascular disease over the life course. Evidence is limited on the relationship between cow's milk intake and cardiometabolic health during childhood. However, cow's milk consumption has been evaluated in relation to various cardiometabolic outcomes in many adult populations worldwide. In general, systematic reviews have identified that higher cow's milk consumption has not been associated with higher modifiable cardiometabolic risk factors, or cardiovascular outcomes such as heart attack, stroke or mortality.^{193,277-279} Higher cow's milk intake has been associated with lower risk of cardiovascular disease in adult prospective cohort studies (follow up range 5-25 years),²⁷⁷ and elevated blood pressure in adult prospective cohort studies (follow up 2-15 years),^{280,281} regardless of fat content. For example, in a large prospective cohort study²⁸² involving 136,384 adults aged 35-70 from 21 countries, individuals who consumed only whole fat dairy (>2 servings per day of milk, yogurt or cheese) had lower risk of total mortality (HR= 0.75, p = 0.015), and major cardiovascular disease (HR= 0.68, p = 0.0001) compared to those who consumed <0.5 servings per day after adjusting for age, sex, education, urban or rural location, smoking status, physical activity, history of diabetes, family history of cardiovascular disease, family history of cancer, quintiles of fruit and vegetable, red meat, starchy foods



consumption, and total energy intake. In addition, a quartile analysis of the same study showed that higher intake of saturated fatty acids from dairy sources was not significantly associated with total mortality (HR= 0.87, p = 0.26), or major cardiovascular disease (HR= 0.94, p= 0.39).²⁸² Finally, in a meta-analysis of prospective cohort studies (follow up range 5-25 years) including 938,465 adults, whole fat vs. reduced fat dairy intake was not associated with mortality, cardiovascular disease or coronary heart disease.²⁸³

Saturated fat intake has been associated with higher LDL concentration,²⁸⁴ which is predictive of cardiovascular disease risk. One prospective cohort study of 2890 Canadian children aged 2-8 years identified that children who consumed higher cow's milk fat had higher circulating non-HDL cholesterol concentrations (every 1% increase in cow's milk fat was associated with a 0.024 mmol/L (p= 0.01) increase in non-HDL cholesterol), but consuming higher cow's milk fat was not associated with high non-HDL cholesterol.²³⁰ Two controlled trials identified that children who switched from consuming whole to reduced fat milk over 4-6 months resulted in lower circulating LDL cholesterol concentrations when compared between groups, but results for total and HDL cholesterol were inconsistent between the studies.^{285,286}

Several studies have documented a relationship between higher cow's milk intake and lower serum cholesterol concentrations, despite the relatively high cholesterol and saturated fat content of cow's milk.²⁸⁷ Saturated fat from cow's milk appears to have a different effect on serum cholesterol than other saturated fat-containing foods.²⁸⁸ This different effect is hypothesized to occur because of fermentation of indigestible carbohydrates in the intestine, which may change cholesterol metabolism and result in lower circulating cholesterol in the blood.²⁸⁹ Calcium may also bind some dietary cholesterol in the intestine and cause it to be excreted rather than absorbed.²⁹⁰ A recent meta-analysis of RCTs evaluating the effect of



www.manaraa.com

presence of any dairy, as well as whole vs. reduced fat dairy intake on serum cholesterol revealed no evidence of a difference in serum LDL or HDL concentrations among adults.²⁹¹

In terms of cardiometabolic risk factors, higher cow's milk intake has been associated with lower circulating triglycerides, IL-6, TNF-alpha, CRP and risk of hypercholesterolemia,²⁹² and higher HDL cholesterol among adults after adjustment for factors including age, sex, smoking, physical activity, BMI, blood pressure, total and HDL cholesterol values, triglyceride levels, education, alcohol consumption, birthplace, use of medication, and average weekly consumption of food groups.²⁹³ Higher milk intake has not shown a relationship with higher risk of stroke, CHD or mortality in adulthood.²⁷⁷ Lower risk of type 2 diabetes has also been documented in adults who consume more cow's milk than those who consume little or none.²⁹⁴ A number of mechanisms have been postulated to account for these relationships, though no clear understanding of a single or synergistic mechanism is known to date. Further research is needed on several cardiovascular and metabolic outcomes assessed together in association with dietary factors such as cow's milk, since evaluation of one cardiometabolic marker gives only a limited understanding.²⁸⁸

Low vitamin D has consistently been associated with inflammation in the body.²⁹⁵ Given that cow's milk is the main dietary source of vitamin D, cow's milk could offer cardiometabolic benefit through provision of vitamin D. This may be an important protective relationship due to the higher average consumption of cow's milk during childhood compared to adulthood in most populations,⁶² and the emerging evidence that cardiometabolic risk factors begin to develop during childhood.²⁹⁶

Among children, a longitudinal study followed 335 children from 18 months to 8 years of age and revealed that those who consumed at least 2 servings of cow's milk per day had lower



www.manaraa.com

blood pressure later in childhood than others who consumed less, after adjustment for age, sex, physical activity, smoking, glycemic load, fibre and energy intake, family history of type 2 diabetes, serum cholesterol and triglycerides, blood pressure, and BMI.²⁹⁷ Another prospective cohort study of children aged 3-6 years confirmed this finding after adjustment for parent education, parent and child age and BMI, height, physical activity, and dietary intake of energy from fat.²⁹⁸ A large (N= 13,486) cross-sectional study of Iranian children aged 6-18 years showed no evidence of a difference in systolic or diastolic blood pressure between those who consumed whole vs. reduced fat cow's milk.²⁹⁹ Two meta-analyses revealed similar associations between higher cow's milk intake and lower risk of hypertension among adults.^{280,281} Meta-regression in one analysis showed evidence of a stronger relationship among adults with overweight.²⁸⁰ The other meta-analysis included large studies which adjusted for BMI, which is an especially relevant confounder.²⁸¹

Though it provides a long-term estimate of the association between cow's milk and cardiometabolic health, much of the available evidence on this topic is observational and would benefit from additional intervention studies to clarify cause-and-effect relationships.

2.2 Nutritional requirements and recommended intakes for children

2.2.1 Infancy (<1 year of age)

Breastfeeding infants are typically provided with approximately 5-10% protein, 50% fat, and 40-45% carbohydrate (as % energy) from human breast milk. The WHO has estimated the daily infant (age 0-6 months) energy requirement as 86 kcal/kg/day, protein requirement as 9.1 g, fat as 31 g and carbohydrate as 60 g.³⁰⁰ Breastmilk provided to term infants has been shown to contain about 1.2 g protein, 3.6 g fat and 7.4 g lactose, which together provides 70 kcal per 100 mL,³⁰¹ though it is known that both composition of breast milk and infant nutrient requirements



fluctuate depending on child age, maternal diet, and a number of other factors. Similar to cow's milk, breast milk fat is complex and comprised of over 200 different fatty acids, depending on maternal diet and stage of lactation.³⁰² Protein composition is also influenced by maternal factors and can include 400 unique proteins.³⁰² Casein only comprises 13% of the protein fraction of human breast milk, which is the lowest of all mammalian milks and has been suggested to correspond to the slow growth rate of human infants relative to other mammals.³⁰³

Guidelines from the CPS, Dietitians of Canada and Health Canada advise that parents wait until age 9 months to introduce fluid cow's milk to children.³⁰⁴ The AAP suggests that children should drink breast milk or formula for the first year of life, but also that children may start to consume cow's milk at age 12 months.^{305,306} The WHO suggests that breast milk is to be provided exclusively for the first 6 months of life, but is still important beyond 6 months of age once complementary foods are introduced, up to age 2 years.³⁰⁷ Evidence for an "optimal" dietary transition from breast milk or infant formula to other solid foods is limited. The AAP and CPS recommend to exclusively breast- or formula-feed children until age 6 months,⁵⁰ but according to the AAP, "current [toddler] feeding practices and guidelines are influenced by small-scale studies of infant feeding behavior, idiosyncratic parental behavior, and popular opinion."⁵³ Randomized controlled trials to determine best practices for toddler feeding are needed.

2.2.2 Childhood (1-18 years of age)

The CPS and Canada's Food Guide recommends children (age 1-18 years) consume fresh fruits and vegetables, whole grains, dairy and meats through home cooked meals. Families are suggested to limit refined sugars and fruit juice, as well as foods high in saturated fat such as lard and butter, and processed meats such as lunch meats. Instead, children should be provided with



water to drink and sources of omega-3 and omega-6 fatty acids.^{49,51} The AAP recommends a diet primarily composed of fruits and vegetables, whole grains, low- and non-fat dairy products, beans, lean meats and fish for children over age 2 years.⁵³ Guidelines also emphasize that children's diets should be low in saturated and trans fats, sodium and sugar, and provide adequate micronutrients.³⁰⁸

Health Canada provides recommendations for macronutrient intakes in children (Table

4). Recommendations are given in both grams per day (RDA or AI) and percent of total daily

energy in kilocalories (Acceptable Macronutrient Distribution Range; AMDR).

Table 4. Health Canada recommended Dietary Reference Intakes for children 1-18 years of age for macronutrients.²⁰⁴

Child age and sex		Pro	Protein		Carbohydrate		Total fat		Alpha-linolenic acid (n-3)		Linoleic acid (n- 6)																						
		RDA (g/day)	AMDR (% energy)	RDA (g/day)	AMDR (% energy)		AMDR (% energy)	AI (g/day)	AMDR (% energy)	AI (g/day)	AMDR (% energy)																						
1-3	9 years	13	5-20				30-40	0.7		7																							
4-8	8 years	19				ND		0.9		10																							
9-13	Females	34		130 45-65	120	120	120	120	120	120	120	120	120	120	120	120	120	120	120	120	120	120	120	120 4	130 45.65	15.65	15 (5			1.0	0612	10	5 10
years	Males	34	10-30		43-65	45-65	130 43-65	43-63	25-35	1.2	0.0-1.2	12	5-10																				
14-18	Females	46								1.1		11																					
years	Males	52												1.6		16																	

RDA: Recommended Dietary Allowance; AMDR: Acceptable Macronutrient Distribution Range; AI: Adequate Intake; ND: Not Defined

2.2.3 Fat guidelines

In the 1970's, the American Heart Association recommended a low fat diet, focused on reducing saturated fat and cholesterol, for the prevention of coronary heart disease. This recommendation extended to children, and specified that only 30% of daily energy should come from dietary fat (10% of total daily energy from saturated fat), 15% from protein and 55% from carbohydrates.³⁰⁹ Recent analyses have determined that at that time and presently, there is insufficient evidence from RCTs and prospective cohort studies to support this guideline.³¹⁰⁻³¹²



Over time, recommendations have become more liberal about the contribution fat should make to the diet. Though AMDRs still exist from Health Canada, the 2019 Canada's Food Guide does not provide quantity recommendations; instead, it suggests to "choose foods with healthy fats instead of saturated fat."⁴⁹ The 2015-2020 Dietary Guidelines for Americans³¹³ also avoided prescriptive recommendations by stating "a healthy eating pattern limits saturated and trans fats." Though these guidelines show progress reflecting recent evidence, both may benefit from conducting updated literature reviews on health outcomes associated with dairy fat, given that fat-free and low-fat milk are still emphasized.

When recommendations for limiting dietary fat were first introduced, the AAP questioned it based on evidence that fatty streaks could be found in the arteries of children regardless of dietary or lifestyle factors³¹⁴ and lack of established relationships between diet and cardiovascular risk factors in children.³¹⁵ At that time, the AAP made a recommendation for 30-40% of daily energy intake to come from fat for children younger than 18 years of age.³¹⁶ The evidence supporting this recommendation was substantiated on knowledge that fat encourages adequate growth and development, and trends suggesting higher fat intake was associated with taller height in children: as children were better nourished after World War II, worldwide trends showed children were growing taller. Though better growth was likely not attributed to only fat intake; rather a wide variety of dietary and non-dietary factors were likely involved, this recommendation for 30-40% of daily energy from fat for children exists at the present time.³¹⁷

Canadian guidelines from the 1993 Joint Working Group of the Canadian Pediatric Society and Health Canada stated, "From the age of two until the end of linear growth, there should be a transition from the high-fat diet of infancy to a diet that includes not >30% of energy as fat, and not >10% of energy as saturated fat."³¹⁸



www.manaraa.com

Before the introduction of complementary solid foods (defined as anything besides water, breast milk or fortified infant formula), an infant fed according to recommendations has a diet in which fat comprises 50-55% of the diet. After introduction of solid foods, this proportion usually reaches 30% or less by 9-12 months of age.^{319,320} Though it is known that dietary fats, especially n-3 PUFAs such as DHA, are required for infant growth and brain development, the effects of a high or low fat diet beyond introduction of complementary foods during early childhood have not been well studied. Until 2012, there had been no longitudinal studies which have demonstrated an adverse effect of a relatively high fat intake (40% energy) through 24 months of age.³²⁰

Very low fat diets (defined as ~20% of energy from dietary fat) in children are also not well evaluated in the literature. Children who consume <80% of their recommended total energy intake have been shown to experience linear growth stunting when dietary fat intake comprised <20% of daily energy intake.³²¹ Vegetarian children who tend to consume lower fat diets may experience slower growth, but the possible mechanism is unknown and data on this relationship needs updating.³¹⁷ A RCT of overweight and obese children aged 6-12 years who followed various weight loss regimes (quantity of dietary fat recommended or consumed not recorded) over 13 months showed that children following low fat diets did not reach their expected heights at 5 years post-enrolment.³²² Lower fat diets can also limit important nutrients found in fat-containing foods, such as fat soluble vitamins, zinc, iron and calcium, all of which are important for child growth and development.³²¹

The AMDR from Health Canada for fat in children's diets is 30-40% of total daily energy intake for children aged 1-3 years, and 25-35% of daily energy intake for children aged 4-18 years. However, Canadian dietary guidelines for healthy term infants state, "there is no evidence



www.manaraa.com

that [fat] restrictions provide any benefits during childhood."⁵⁰ For all age groups, saturated fat is recommended to comprise less than 10% of daily energy intake. The adequate intake (AI) levels for linoleic acid (n-6 polyunsaturated fat) are 7 g/day for children aged 1-3 years, 10 g/day for 4-8 year olds, 12 g/day for 9-13 year olds, and 16 g/day for 14-18 year olds. For alpha-linolenic acid (n-3 polyunsaturated fat), the AI is 0.7 g/day for children aged 1-3 years, 0.9 g/day for 4-8 years, 1.2 g/day for 9-13 years, and 1.6 g/day for 14-18 year olds.²⁰⁴

2.3 Childhood adiposity

The human body is composed of organ, nervous, muscular, connective, and adipose tissues, which include subcutaneous and visceral fat. Multiple techniques have been used to measure the proportion of adipose tissue in the body including DXA (Dual X-ray Absorptiometry) which involves x-rays to quantify body fat,³²³ air displacement technology to measure adipose tissue, magnetic resonance imaging, skinfold measurements and the Body Mass Index (BMI).³²⁴ Though highly accurate and sophisticated, both DXA and air displacement technology are costly, time consuming, and impractical to perform in routine clinical settings. Skin fold measurements and BMI are more practical, though these less precise measures which can be used in short clinical encounters.³²⁵ Skinfold measurements use calipers to grip specific areas of skin where adipose tissue tends to accumulate: the triceps and bicep area of the arm, and subscapular region. The width of the skinfold thickness corresponds to the amount of fat tissue estimated under the skin.³²⁶ Bioelectrical impedance is used to assess tissue water quantities given known water-retaining properties of fat and muscle tissues using bioelectrical frequencies.³²⁷ BMI is currently the standard adiposity measurement used in clinical care for both adults and children. BMI compares a person's height to weight and categorizes individuals into underweight, normal weight, overweight, and obese weight classes. BMI is calculated using the



www.manaraa.com

formula: weight (kg) divided by height squared (m²).³²⁸ In children aged 2 to 19 years, BMI-forage, or a BMI z-score (zBMI), is used to adjust a child's weight-for-height ratio to their age. BMI z-scores correspond to standard deviation scores away from the 50th percentile in growth curves for child weight for age, length for age, and weight-for-length for age or BMI for age (depending on the child's age). For children younger than 2 years, weight-for-length is used and interpreted in the same way as zBMI.³²⁹ Evidence suggests that weight-for-length and zBMI are similar and may be used interchangeably.³³⁰ According to Flegal & Ogden, "a BMI z-score or percentile represents a measure of weight, adjusted for height, sex, and age, relative to a smoothed reference distribution, and not simply a measure of weight and height for a child."³²⁸ zBMI is a commonly used clinical indicator used for weight status screening in children,³³¹ due to its relative ease of measurement and interpretability, non-invasiveness and ability to follow over time.³³² Though DXA and air displacement measures are superior in quantifying body fat, zBMI correlates with body fat and is a known predictor of future obesity and health issues.³³³ Clinicians and families find BMI and zBMI to be interpretable reference points for tracking body weight over time.³³⁴ However, BMI and zBMI categorize a continuously measured attribute, which may categorize people arbitrarily (for example, zBMI values of 1.9 vs 2.1 are categorized differently). Categorizing individuals with very high BMI values (> 97th percentile) is based on limited data, thus should be interpreted with caution.³³⁵ This method also does not quantify body fat, distinguish lean from fat mass, or assess the proportion of body fat in different regions of the body.³³⁶

zBMI can be categorized three ways, using: the World Health Organization standards (WHO) developed in 2008, the Center for Disease Control references (CDC) from the year 2000,³³⁷ and the International Obesity Task Force cut-points (IOTF), also created in 2000.³³⁸



www.manaraa.com

Compared to CDC and IOTF cut-points, WHO growth standards classify more children as overweight or obese based on BMI scores.^{339,340} For this reason, the WHO standards are suggested to be the ideal growth curves to use when classifying children's weights.^{332,340,341} The WHO standards are considered to reflect optimal child growth and the preferred set to use among the three. WHO growth standards provide a set of zBMI curves for children aged 2-19 years, which were derived from a multi-ethnic sample of children gathered by the WHO in between 1997 and 2003 (see Appendix: 8.1 WHO BMI-For-Age Curves & Canadian BMI Growth *Curves*). These children were from Brazil, Ghana, India, Norway, the USA, and Oman, and were predominantly breastfed and raised in a healthy environment based on criteria such as nonsmoking households in non-economically deprived environments that were likely to interfere with their growth and receiving routine health care.³⁴² It is well established that social determinants of health, defined by the WHO as "the conditions in which people are born, grow, work, live, and age, and the wider set of forces and systems shaping the conditions of daily life,"³⁴³ influence the way children grow and develop. For this reason, the WHO growth standards sampled from communities without economic disadvantages to reduce the likelihood of compromised growth due to sub-optimal living conditions.³⁴⁴ Weight status of children aged 0-2 years are measured using weight-for-length z-scores, which have been shown to be interpretable interchangeably with zBMI.³³⁰ Curves are segmented into percentiles and z-scores that represent standard deviations from the mean (50th percentile). When interpreting a growth curve, z-scores can be used to numerically determine a child's growth in reference to the sample cohort of children used to develop the reference or standard.^{328,331} Table 5 provides the WHO recommended standardized terminology used to describe a child's zBMI or weight-for-length score derived from WHO growth curves.^{331,345}



www.manaraa.com

Z-SCORE	Interpretation for children aged 5-19 years	Interpretation for children aged 2-5 years		
<-3	Severe thinness	Severe thinness		
-2 to -3	Thinness	Thinness		
-2 to 1	Normal	Normal		
1 to 2	Overweight	Risk for overweight		
>2	Obesity	Overweight		
>3	Severe Obesity	Obesity		

Table 5. WHO recommended zBMI descriptive terminology for children aged 2-19 years.

2.3.1 Childhood overweight and obesity in Canada

Over the past 30 years, the proportion of Canadian children classified as having overweight or obesity has risen and the proportion of children considered to have healthy weight has decreased.³⁴⁶ In Canada, about 1 in 3 children and adolescents has overweight or obesity.³⁴⁷ Data from the 2004-2013 Canadian Health Measures Survey (CHMS) indicated that the number of children living with overweight or obesity has decreased though, from 30.7% to 27.0%. Measurements for these data were taken by trained staff to the nearest 0.1 kg for weight and 0.5 cm for height. ³⁴⁸ Since 2007, obesity rates in Canadian children have stabilized at about 13%. Boys, adolescents, and non-white children were more likely to have higher zBMI scores in this survey.³⁴⁹ Children in Indigenous communities were at a heightened risk of having overweight or obesity, with 30% of Canadian Indigenous youth <18 years old living with overweight and

26.5% living with obesity.350



2.3.2 Dietary fat and child adiposity

Dietary fat has traditionally been believed to stimulate energy storage in the form of adipose tissue.³⁵¹ The energy contribution per gram of fat (9 kcal/gram) is higher than that of protein and carbohydrates (each 4 kcal/gram), and there is higher efficiency in storing fat rather than carbohydrates after ingestion because of a lower thermic effect for fat,³⁵² which refers to the energy required to metabolize and store ingested nutrients.³⁵³ However, studies which consider ratios of dietary carbohydrate, protein and fat and weight status have yielded conflicting results, suggesting that dietary fat does not independently influence adiposity.^{354,355} One consistent finding has been that total energy intake regardless of source was the main predictor of weight status.³⁵⁶ Another factor is dietary behaviour; passive eating, or consumption regardless of hunger, combined with high fat foods also can contribute to excess adiposity. When foods higher in fat are passively consumed, they present the highest risk of excess energy intake, which is known to contribute to weight gain.³⁵⁶ Other important factors that may influence the relationship between dietary fat intake and adiposity include the type of fat consumed (saturated, trans, or unsaturated), the food source (made using nutritionally refined ingredients or natural; fresh or shelf-stable), other nutrients found in fat-containing foods such as fibre or calcium, endocrine response, genetics, and physical activity.³⁵⁷⁻³⁵⁹ Social determinants of health such as income, access to a variety of nutrient-dense foods and knowledge of how to prepare them, access to physical activity and recreational resources, and living conditions also likely play an important role in this relationship.³⁶⁰ However, given the number of hypothesized mechanisms and possibility that many of them overlap, individual or synergistic effects are challenging to diferentiate.²²⁷ Further, these factors interact differently across the life course, particularly in children where periods of growth alter metabolic processes.^{361,362}



www.manaraa.com

Numerous observational studies^{14,357,363-368} have found that children with higher dietary fat intake do not have higher adiposity. A prospective cohort study which involved 140 children from Australia followed from age 3 months to 8 years found that dietary fat intake was not associated with higher adiposity at ages 2, 4 and 8 years.³⁶⁹ However, more long-term, large cohort studies and randomized controlled trials are needed to fully explore this relationship. On the other hand, lower dietary fat intake has been associated with higher sugar consumption throughout childhood.³⁶⁹ Over the past 30 years, there has been a steady decline in childhood dietary fat intake, a concurrent rise in sugar consumption.^{1,370}

A Cochrane review which evaluated dietary fat intake with anthropometric and serum lipid outcomes included 3 RCTs and 21 prospective cohort studies of children aged 2-18 years without intention of weight loss. The types of interventions (in the RCTs only) included different dietary counselling techniques for parents or children in different settings and outcome measures were varied, including body fat percentage, zBMI, and serum triglycerides and cholesterol concentrations. The overall study quality was considered low according to GRADE criteria. Despite these limitations, baseline lower fat intakes were associated with lower total and LDL cholesterol, but no evidence was found for differences in body weight or in other biochemical markers.³⁷¹

2.3.3 Evidence for dietary obesity prevention strategies in children

The literature on dietary obesity prevention strategies in children is challenging to interpret because of differences in participant populations, intervention intensity and duration, design and delivery methods, which vary widely between studies. A 2019 Cochrane Review identified 153 studies about obesity prevention interventions in children. Among children aged <5 years, there was moderate certainty evidence that interventions for diet and physical activity combined were



effective in slightly lowering zBMI (among 16 RCTs, MD -0.07, 95% CI -0.14 to -0.01). Dietary or physical activity interventions alone were not effective in this age group. For children aged 6-12 years, there was low-certainty evidence to suggest interventions targeting both diet and physical activity were effective in lowering zBMI (among 20 RCTs, MD -0.05, 95% CI -0.10 to -0.01), but again, dietary or physical activity interventions alone did not show evidence of effects on zBMI.³⁷² In both age groups, no differences were observed between intervention settings (home, child care or school). Authors of this review suggested that variability between intensity and duration of interventions, targeted foods, beverages, habits or activities, settings, and individuals involved (entire families vs. individual children) contributed to the low magnitude of overall observed effect. Characteristics of successful interventions in early childhood included strategies to increase breastfeeding instead of formula feeding, which may protect against excess childhood adiposity.³⁷³ Other successful interventions encouraged families to pack healthy lunches including fruits, vegetables, and water, and provided parents with tips for "picky eaters."^{374,375} Behavioural strategies including caregiver role modeling, family meals, encouraging dietary diversity and promoting parental awareness and responsiveness to hunger cues may contribute to healthy eating habits and lower risk of overweight or obesity.³⁷⁶ Strategies which have also shown promise include those that help families make nutrient-rich dietary choices, embracing a holistic approach to healthy eating, physical activity, sleep, mental health and supportive school and community environments.³⁷⁷⁻³⁷⁹ However, they are expensive, time consuming and challenging to involve families that are most at risk. Dietary strategies can become diluted by different families taking varied approaches in the same over-arching "healthy eating" interventions, which makes identifying foods or behaviours that contribute to obesity prevention challenging. The generalizability and applicability of RCT interventions for obesity



has also been questioned. One study evaluated how 10 obesity prevention and treatment interventions in study settings compared to scaled-up versions implemented in communities, and found that effects observed in RCTs were 75% or less once scaled up.³⁸⁰

2.4 Evidence on the relationship between cow's milk and adiposity

Cow's milk may exert effects which limit excess adiposity due to a number of synergistic factors, including satiety, endocrine response, whey and casein protein effects, glycemic control, calcium and vitamin D, and dairy fat.³⁸¹ A systematic review and meta-analysis of 17 randomized controlled trials which sought to examine the relationship between cow's milk intake and various anthropometric outcomes in children and adolescents did not find differences in height, waist circumference, or fat mass among children aged 6-18 years who received cow's milk interventions than controls. However, cow's milk consumers had higher body weight gain (0.48) kg, 95% CI 0.19 to 0.76 kg), lean mass (0.21 kg, 95% CI 0.01 to 0.41 kg), and attenuated gain in percentage body fat (-0.27%, 95% CI -0.45% to -0.09%) than controls, suggesting that cow's milk may moderate body composition, favouring lean mass.³⁸² Similarly, a systematic review of dairy product intake which examined 35 intervention and observational articles on dairy intake, body composition and energy balance in children aged 2-18 years found a relationship between higher dairy intake and lower body fat, BMI and energy balance (defined as the relationship between dietary energy vs. energy expenditure) from the observational studies.²²³ Five randomized controlled trials were included in this analysis but found no evidence of an overall relationship, although one study showed an inverse relationship; that is, dairy rich diets led to lower BMI gain and attenuated rises in circulating triglyceride, insulin and homeostatic model assessment of insulin resistance (HOMA-IR) concentrations among overweight children compared to diets which did not emphasize dairy.^{223,383} Though this systematic review included



studies dairy foods other than cow's milk (yogurt, cheese, butter, etc.), mechanisms may be shared between dairy foods.

Few studies have examined the relationship between cow's milk intake and weight loss in children. One randomized controlled trial of overweight children aged 8-10 years assigned participants to either an average of 1.3 or 4 servings of cow's milk daily for 16 weeks. The objective of the trial was to determine if there were any anthropometric or metabolic effects of high vs. low cow's milk consumption. There was no evidence of a difference between groups at study conclusion; however, part of the provided milk to both groups was sweetened milk and children in the "low milk" group were also consuming 3 servings of other sugar sweetened beverages per day, likely leading to an overall higher energy intake in both groups.³⁸⁴ Similarly, among 91 adolescents aged 10-15 years who consumed dairy products while undergoing an obesity treatment RCT over 12 months showed higher adiposity losses compared to children who did not consume dairy (-0.005 in zBMI per daily serving of dairy, 95% CI -0.01 to -0.001), but after adjustment for physical activity and other dietary factors, evidence for this relationship was weakened.³⁸⁵

Several more recent observational studies have had conflicting findings on the relationship between cow's milk consumption and excess childhood adiposity. A cross-sectional which study included 903 Azorean children aged 15-16 years showed that consumption of at least 2 servings of dairy foods per day was associated with lower odds of abdominal obesity (boys: OR= 0.22,95% CI 0.08 to 0.63; girls: OR= 0.56,95% CI 0.31 to 1.02) after adjustment for age, BMI, pubertal stage, physical activity level, energy intake, calcium-to-protein ratio and dietary fibre.³⁸⁶ Several cross sectional studies have identified that children who consumed above average quantities of dairy per day (\geq 3 servings/day) had lower BMI scores than those who



www.manaraa.com

consumed below average quantities.³⁸⁷⁻³⁸⁹ Conversely, some longitudinal studies have suggested that a higher volume of milk consumed increases energy in the diet resulting in higher BMI.^{39,390} One prospective cohort study included a nationally representative sample of 12,829 American children in the Growing Up Today Study (a branch of the Nurses' Health Study) over a 5 year period. The study revealed that children who consumed 3 servings of dairy per day had higher BMI gains (boys: +0.07, 95% CI 0.03 to 0.11, p= 0.04; girls: +0.09, 95% CI 0.06 to 0.12, p= 0.007) than those who consumed 1-2 servings per day, which appeared to be predicted by higher energy intake.³⁹ Most, but not all of these observational studies controlled for relevant potential confounders such as age, sex, calcium intake, physical activity, total energy intake, food insecurity, parent anthropometry and puberty stage. Ideally, future studies would consistently account for as many potential confounders as possible.

Methodological issues may contribute to inconsistent evidence about the relationship between cow's milk intake and child adiposity. The majority of studies have been observational which are able to describe associations but are not able to establish cause and effect relationships. While prospective cohort studies offer a better estimate of temporality of the observed relationships than cross-sectional studies, in the absence of randomization it is difficult to separate pre-existing potentially confounding factors related to dietary intake, social determinants of health and adiposity such as reasons for choice of food provided to children, which may lead to observed reverse causality. Additional potential sources of bias regardless of study design include measurement bias for dietary measures because of reliance on memory, under-reporting, and social desirability bias.⁷² Obtaining dietary data from children can be challenging with foods provided in different settings (home, school, daycare, etc.) and often relying on parental recall. Though recognized by the WHO as an acceptable measure of



adiposity, convenient proxy measures of body weight such as zBMI do not distinguish lean from fat mass, while more rigorous measurement methods such as DXA are time consuming, expensive, and impractical to administer in clinical settings and are therefore less desirable for clinical researchers and participants. As a result, outcome measures such as zBMI may misclassify weight status among children, leading to biased results.

A narrative review and meta-analysis of observational and intervention studies on the relationship between cow's milk consumption and adiposity in adults reported that cross sectional and prospective cohort studies had poor quality and conflicting results.³⁸¹ However, the largest observational study included in this review was a Portuguese cross sectional study of 37,513 adults which demonstrated an association between higher cow's milk intake and lower BMI (men: -0.11, p< 0.001; women: -0.06; p< 0.001 per daily serving of milk) after adjustment for age, region, physical activity, smoking, dietary intake and educational level.³⁹¹ A systematic review and meta-analysis was conducted on RCTs of dietary interventions including cow's milk on measures of body weight and composition. The study included 37 RCTs of 184,802 adults for periods of 1-36 months and revealed that dairy interventions led to increased lean body mass (0.37 kg, 95% CI 0.11 to 0.62) and decreased WC (-1.37 cm, 95% CI -2.28 to -0.46), but there was no observed total body weight change (0.01 kg, 95% CI -0.25 to 0.26). When interventions were energy restricted (intended for weight loss), there was evidence that the cow's milk interventions resulted in lower body weight (-0.64 kg, 95% CI -1.05 to -0.24), body fat (-0.56 kg, 95% CI -0.95 to -0.17), and WC (-2.18 cm, 95% CI -4.30 to -0.06).³⁹²

2.4.1 Possible mechanisms for the relationship between cow's milk and adiposity

Calcium contained in cow's milk may play a role in adipose metabolism³⁹³⁻³⁹⁵ as it is known to regulate intracellular lipid metabolism and triglyceride storage.³⁹⁶ A meta-analysis



which evaluated the relationship between dietary calcium and BMI among adults revealed that an additional 800 mg of dietary calcium per day was associated with a 1.1-unit lower BMI.³⁸¹ Another meta-analysis of 33 RCTs and longitudinal studies determined that children and adolescents (N= 4733) were more likely to experience a negative correlation between calcium intake and weight change than adults.³⁹⁷ Adipose tissue has been shown to be responsive to parathyroid hormone and 1,25-hydroxyvitamin D₃, which regulate circulating and intracellular calcium concentrations.³⁷ Increased dietary calcium is believed to inhibit lipogenesis and promote lipolysis by suppressing 1,25-dihydroxyvitamin D₃, which tends to promote intracellular lipogenesis and suppress lipolysis in adipocytes.³⁷ In other words, lower dietary calcium intake favours energy storage (lipogenesis) and higher calcium intake favors energy utilization (thermogenesis).³⁹⁸ Dairy foods may further amplify the possible benefit of calcium on adiposity. Two randomized controlled trials of obese adults showed that greater weight loss was achieved among individuals who consumed an energy restricted (500 kcal/d deficit according to individual needs), high-dairy diet compared to isocaloric diets with high- or low-supplemental calcium over a 6 month period.³⁹⁹ Investigators suggested this may have been due to synergistic effects vitamin D contained in cow's milk facilitating calcium absorption with angiotensin-inhibiting effects of dairy proteins, which may have restrictive effects on lipogenesis.^{399,400}

Vitamin D could contribute to the observed relationship between higher cow's milk intake and lower adiposity.⁴ Vitamin D has an inverse relationship with adiposity, such that higher circulating serum 25-hydroxyvitamin D concentrations have been associated with lower measures of adiposity.^{31,34,36,401,402} A study of over 42,000 adults which investigated the directionality between vitamin D levels and adiposity suggested that excess adiposity might be the initial trigger for lower circulating vitamin D concentrations, although numerous other



www.manaraa.com

factors such as diet and time spent outdoors may perpetuate both lower serum 25(OH)D concentrations and higher adiposity resulting in confounding.⁴⁰³ It has been hypothesized that individuals with excess adipose tissue have less bioavailable vitamin D in circulation due to its fat soluble properties that sequester it into adipose tissues.⁴⁰⁴ Higher body fat may reduce vitamin D's accessibility in serum for cells, bones and other tissues.^{404,405} In addition, serum 25-hydroxyvitamin D has been shown to be associated with markers of inflammation in the body, such that higher levels of C-reactive protein are associated with lower 25(OH)D.⁴⁰⁶ This observation suggests that inflammatory conditions, such as higher adiposity, may influence measures of circulating vitamin D. Another theory is that lower concentrations of vitamin D in the blood stimulate a rise in parathyroid hormone (PTH), which causes an influx of calcium into adipocytes, where lipogenesis then occurs.^{37,396,407} To date, no study has identified the exact mechanism behind this relationship.

Compared to other beverages, cow's milk is nutrient-dense and has been shown to promote higher satiety. In children⁴⁰⁸ and adults,⁴⁰⁹ reduced fat (1% for children, 0.1% for adults) cow's milk and apple juice intake with breakfast were compared on satiety and subsequent energy intake in randomized crossover trials. Milk consumption resulted in lower energy intake at lunchtime and higher feelings of satiety 4 hours after breakfast in both groups.⁴⁰⁹ However, total daily energy intake among children was not different between milk and juice drinkers.⁴⁰⁸ These studies were conducted in controlled environments and relied on relatively low sample sizes, and additional evidence to support their findings is needed. Other similar studies have been conducted^{410,411} but have shown inconsistent results. A meta-analysis was conducted on RCTs of dairy intake and energy consumption in subsequent meals and satiety. Among 13 included studies, results showed that dairy consumption led to higher satiety and lower energy intake at



www.manaraa.com

the next meal when compared to nothing, chocolate bars, or equal quantities of water, SSBs, or artificially sweetened beverages.⁴¹²

Casein and whey proteins may play protective roles against excess adiposity, due to satiety-inducing effects.⁴¹³ Whey protein may also elicit a hormonal reaction where satiety hormones such as cholecystokinin and glucagon-like peptide 1 are released in response to consumption in a dose-dependent manner⁴¹⁴ and when compared to SSBs,⁴⁰⁹ reducing hunger and possibly limiting future food intake.¹⁰⁵ Branched chain amino acids such as leucine which are prevalent in cow's milk may contribute to better glycemic control than other amino acids, contributing to prevention or treatment of obesity and other chronic disease.⁴¹⁵ In addition, the relatively low glycemic index score of lactose may aid in a slower release of glucose to the bloodstream, possibly leading to longer satiety and reduced hunger.⁴¹⁶ Cow's milk consumption has also shown to have a higher thermic effect than other beverages, indicating more energy is required to metabolize and store its nutrients, which may produce protective metabolic effects against excess adiposity.⁴¹⁷

Dietary quality could contribute to the relationship between cow's milk and adiposity due to the contribution cow's milk makes to intake of various vitamins and minerals, but also dietary patterns typically associated with cow's milk consumption. Children aged 9-14 years in an NHANES analysis who consumed cow's milk had the highest Healthy Eating Index (HEI) scores, which is a validated measure of dietary quality.⁶⁶ Another study of children aged 1-5 years determined that dietary quality appears to be associated with beverage choice, such that higher dietary quality was predicted by higher intakes of dairy foods.⁴¹⁸ These findings were confirmed in a cohort of Australian children, where children who consumed cow's milk were more likely to meet daily micronutrient requirements than children who did not consume cow's



www.manaraa.com

milk.⁶⁹ However, these relationships are likely observed in part due to the varied and relatively high content of vitamins and minerals in cow's milk, which inherently would increase diet quality, regardless of other foods consumed. One study identified that children who consume higher cow's milk fat may have higher dietary quality, but these findings have not been repeated.⁶ This study evaluated NHANES 2001-2002 data from children aged 2-5 years (N= 541) and observed that children who consumed whole milk most often had among the highest micronutrient intakes, but lowest Healthy Eating Index (HEI) score, and highest BMI scores. In contrast, children aged 6-11 years (N= 793) who typically consumed whole milk had the lowest BMI and among the highest HEI scores. Children from both age groups who consumed the most whole milk tended to consume the lowest amount of saturated fat.⁶

Evidently, there are numerous possible explanations for the mechanisms involved in the relationship between cow's milk and adiposity. Many studies do not account for the fat content of cow's milk, whether interventions encourage general cow's milk consumption regardless of fat or assume that reduced fat varieties must increase the likelihood of lower weight outcomes, or observational studies do not collect or analyze cow's milk fat intake. Though cow's milk fat may not be an intuitive factor in explaining weight loss or lower observed adiposity, some research suggests it may be an important detail to capture.

2.5 Cow's milk fat and adiposity

2.5.1 In children

For a summary of the literature on cow's milk fat and child adiposity, please refer to Chapter 3: *Cow's milk fat and childhood overweight: a systematic review and meta-analysis*. Since the publication of this article, some additional evidence has been made available. An analysis of NHANES data from children aged 2 to 20 years in 1999 to 2016 showed that children


(N=26,750) who were living with overweight or obesity were less likely to consume whole cow's milk than those with normal weight. The analysis also revealed that children with overweight or obesity were less likely (OR=0.77; 95% CI 0.60 to 0.98; p= 0.031) to consume whole milk directly after breast milk or fortified infant formula than those who had normal weight after adjusting for race, age, income, milk consumption frequency, and NHANES cvcle.⁴¹⁹ An important detail in this nationally representative analysis is that families with children over age 2 years receiving WIC support are only provided with 1% fat cow's milk; 2% and whole milk are not covered. Though the NHANES analysis did not report the proportion of participants who received WIC support, in 2016, the eligibility rate of the total population of American women, infants and children was 51.5%, and of these 13.9 million families, 55% received WIC support.⁴²⁰ The analysis did identify that children who were from households below the federal poverty level were less likely to consume whole milk directly after breast milk or infant formula than children from wealthier households.⁴¹⁹ Though this study may suggest reverse causality is involved in the observed relationship, many families receiving WIC support may not have had an option to select whole milk; thus, their findings that suggest whole milk are protective may be questioned due to the confounding effects of poverty which influences both food choices and risk of overweight.

Another systematic review and meta-analysis on dairy fat and child adiposity and cardiometabolic health⁴²¹ was also published following my review. The review identified 29 journal articles including 2 RCTs and 27 observational studies. Authors concluded that whole fat dairy was not associated with higher measures of adiposity in children and most evidence showed a relationship between higher dairy fat and lower child adiposity. Many identified studies in this review were also included in my systematic review and meta-analysis. Differences



arose where studies included sources of dairy fat (i.e., cheese, yogurt) other than fluid cow's milk as exposures, or measures of cardiometabolic health rather than adiposity as outcomes. Authors did not conduct meta-analysis or assess studies for risk of bias.

2.5.2 In adults

Some adult observational research supports an association between higher cow's milk fat intake and lower adiposity and cardiovascular disease risk. A systematic review of observational studies found that whole milk was associated with lower adiposity in 11 of 16 studies of adults aged 18 years and older.¹⁹³ The largest study followed 19,352 Swedish women for 9 years.⁴²² Consumption of ≥ 1 serving of whole milk daily was associated with lower odds of ≥ 1 kg weight gain per year on average (OR= 0.85, 95% CI 0.73 to 0.99, p value not reported) whereas reduced fat milk was not (OR= 1.03, 95% CI 0.90 to 1.18).⁴²² This systematic review attempted to address the issue of reverse causality (i.e., lean individuals may choose higher fat dairy, and heavier individuals may choose lower fat dairy) through a subgroup analysis of the prospective cohort studies. When only prospective cohort studies were evaluated, four of six studies demonstrated a relationship between higher cow's milk fat and lower adiposity.¹⁹³ Some evidence does not support a relationship between higher cow's milk fat and lower adiposity. One recent prospective cohort study of 15,612 European adults over an average of 3.7 years showed that adults who increased their whole milk intake had increased BMI at follow-up (effect size not reported; p < 0.05) after adjustment for clinically relevant covariates. However, it was unclear how participants who may have consumed the same amount of whole milk over the study duration fared.423

A systematic review and meta-analysis of randomized controlled trials which examined adult consumption of whole vs. reduced fat dairy products and metabolic health revealed that



weight gain was slightly higher among those who consumed reduced fat (0.82 kg, 95% CI 0.35 to 1.28 kg, p< 0.001) compared to whole fat dairy (0.41 kg, 95% CI 0.04 to 0.79 kg, p= 0.03) over a median of 26 weeks follow up, but no evidence of a difference in waist circumference; HOMA-IR; fasting glucose; LDL or HDL cholesterol, blood pressure or CRP was found.²⁹¹ An American prospective cohort study of 16,471 adult men reported that the highest quintile of baseline whole fat dairy intake was associated with 0.38 kg lower weight gain over the course of 12 years, in comparison to the lowest intake quintile of baseline whole fat dairy foods (p for trend=0.03). In this study, there was insufficient evidence to suggest individuals who consumed the highest vs. lowest quantities of reduced fat dairy experienced weight change over the course of the study (+0.35 kg, p for trend=0.17).⁴²⁴ A prospective cohort study of sixty-two 70-year old Swedish men which used validated dietary measures and serum pentadecanoic acid (C15:0) to measure cow's milk fat intake, limiting the potential for reporting or measurement error, found that higher dairy fat intake and higher serum C15:0 were associated with lower body weight, BMI, waist circumference, LDL:HDL ratio, and fasting plasma glucose.⁴²⁵ Though the observed weight changes were small, cow's milk has been noted to increase lean body mass and lower fat mass, which may attenuate weight loss.³⁹²

A few adult observational studies have supported an association between higher milk fat intake and lower risk cardiovascular disease risk factors. In a prospective study of 2586 Scottish men, mortality from cardiovascular disease was lower among those who consumed whole cow's milk.⁴²⁶ In a study of 2064 Dutch seniors, whole milk consumption was associated with lower systolic and diastolic blood pressure.⁴²⁷ Further, among 3157 American adults, whole milk intake was associated with lower insulin resistance and better glucose homeostasis.⁴²⁸ Ruminantproduced trans fatty acids have been suggested as a potential mechanism for these



observations.⁴²⁹ However, when examined together in systematic reviews and meta-analyses, the collective literature does not support a consistent relationship between higher dairy fat and better cardiometabolic health to date.^{193,291}

Kratz et al.¹⁹³ suggested a hypothesis for varying observations about cow's milk and adiposity in adults: geography. Eight of nine European studies in their systematic review found a relationship between higher fat dairy and lower adiposity while the same relationship was seen in only three of seven North American studies. In Europe, dairy fat is considered healthier than in North America. Low total and saturated fat diets have been promoted and adopted to a greater extent in North America than in Europe.⁴³⁰ Healthier lifestyles have been associated with higher dairy fat consumption in Europe, whereas smoking and low physical activity,⁴³¹ as well as lower SES have been associated with higher dairy fat intake in North America.⁴³² In North America, high fat dairy is often consumed in sweetened, carbohydrate-dense foods (i.e., ice cream, pizza), whereas in Europe it is more likely to be consumed as unsweetened yogurt, butter, or cheese, which are more likely to be fermented and may provide additional metabolic benefits.¹⁹³ Dairy farming in the United States and Canada can be highly industrialized, with large dairy farms producing high quantities of cow's milk. In Europe, dairy farms tend to be smaller and choose practices such as organic or grass fed dairy farming more often.⁴³³ Many North American farms feed their cattle corn and soy, whereas European farms are more likely to pasture-feed their cows.¹⁹³ Pasture-fed cows produce milk with higher vaccenic acid, alpha-linolenic acid,⁴³⁴ conjugated linoleic acid, and trans-palmitoleic acid, which have all been suggested as beneficial for lowering adiposity and improving metabolic health in humans.¹⁹³ American dairy farmers are permitted to use growth hormones and have lower production and quality standards than Europe and Canada, which have higher, stricter standards and do not allow hormone use.^{435,436}



2.5.3 Hypothesized biological mechanisms

2.5.3.1 Satiety

Whole milk is believed to delay gastric emptying compared to reduced fat milk.⁴³⁷ This may induce satiety, limiting additional energy intake, which could lower overall energy intake and reduce excess adiposity. Whole milk may induce satiety through the release of hormones such as cholecystokinin (CCK), which reduces desire for other foods.²¹ CCK is a hormone released in response to consumption of fat and protein, and acts as a hunger suppressant.⁴³⁸ CCK has been shown to slow gastric emptying, inhibit food intake and may play a role in controlling the glycemic response to a meal.⁴³⁹ Following cow's milk intake, plasma CCK concentrations remain elevated for approximately 90 minutes,¹⁰⁷ during which energy intake may be suppressed. Dairy fat may elicit higher CCK responses and lower insulin responses than other sources of dietary fat.⁴⁴⁰ Glucagon-like peptide-1 (GLP-1) release may also play a role in satiety and slowed gastric emptying.⁴⁴¹ Both carbohydrate and fat cause secretion of GLP-1, in addition to cow's milk proteins regardless of presence of fat or carbohydrates.^{442,443} Leptin, another hunger suppressing hormone, is triggered by fat and energy intake and opposed by ghrelin, a hunger stimulant.⁴⁴⁴ In non-obese individuals, leptin may signal the release of GLP-1, which may contribute to its satiety-inducing characteristics.⁴⁴⁵ These hormonal responses, combined with satiety exerted by whey and casein proteins, make cow's milk a metabolically unique food.

Another factor which may contribute to satiety following cow's milk ingestion is the relatively low glycemic response it elicits relative to foods containing similar amounts of other carbohydrates. Foods with higher glycemic index values cause a higher insulin response and offer limited satiety.¹⁴ Higher GI foods may direct nutrients from oxidation to storage, possibly adding to adipose tissue.⁴⁴⁶ A RCT of adolescent boys which compared cow's milk to fruit juice



consumption for 28 days found that regular cow's milk consumption appeared to elicit a higher glucagon response when compared to fruit juice, and led to a lower rise in blood glucose concentration following consumption. Also, compared to fruit juice, regular cow's milk consumption resulted in lower total energy intake (-155 kcal per day, 95% CI -309 to -2 kcal, p= 0.048).⁴⁴⁷ A randomized crossover trial of children aged 10-12 years with obesity compared breakfast consumption with whole cow's milk, reduced fat cow's milk and apple juice on satiety and energy intake at lunch. Whole cow's milk consumption resulted in higher satiety than reduced fat cow's milk 4 hours after breakfast, but did not lower total energy intake.⁴⁴⁸ Together, these findings suggest that cow's milk consumption may moderate satiety and subsequent energy intake, but further research is needed.⁴⁴⁷

2.5.3.2 Growth rate

Whole and reduced fat cow's milk contain the same quantity of protein by volume, but whole milk provides a lower proportion of protein and a higher proportion of fat, which is suggested to be metabolically protective to young children who have rapid growth.^{13,449} A lower fat, high protein diet (defined as >15% protein⁴⁵⁰) in early childhood may promote faster growth during childhood, which is suggested to related to earlier adiposity rebound (the point that BMI reaches a nadir after infancy⁴⁵¹),⁴⁵² which also has been associated with a higher risk of obesity in adulthood.^{451,453,454} In one prospective cohort study, infants 0-24 months of age who had larger gains in length and weight also had a higher risk of obesity at age 14 years. Higher length gain was associated with more body fat stored around the abdomen, but weight gains were not.⁴⁵⁵ This body fat pattern in children has been associated with higher risk of cardiovascular disease later in life.⁴⁵⁶ Another prospective cohort study revealed that children with lower dietary fat intakes at age 2 years of age had higher fat mass and circulating leptin concentrations at 20 years of age.



For each 1% increase in energy consumed from fat at age 2 years, adults had 0.31 kg lower fat mass at age 20 years (95% CI –0.60 to –0.01 kg, p= 0.04). Investigators of this study suggested that these findings may have resulted from adaptive energy storage mechanisms in early life, which was carried over the life course.⁴⁵⁷ Additional studies are required to support and add detail to this theory.

2.5.3.3 Sugar Sweetened Beverages

Sugar sweetened beverages (SSBs) have been defined as "any liquids that are sweetened with various forms of added sugars like brown sugar, corn sweetener, corn syrup, dextrose, fructose, glucose, high-fructose corn syrup, honey, lactose, malt syrup, maltose, molasses, raw sugar, and sucrose."³¹³ Consumption of SSBs has been associated with sedentary behaviour, smoking, and higher screen time,^{458,459} but also independently associated with higher adiposity in children.^{460,461} SSBs typically have no nutritional value other than approximately 100 kcal per 250 mL provided by sugars. For this reason, they do not offer the satiety associated with consuming solid foods or beverages containing protein or fat.⁴⁶² Over the past 30 years, consumption of cow's milk has declined among children in North America,^{463,464} and appears at least in part to be compensated by higher consumption of SSBs. In the USA in 2010, SSBs were estimated to account for an average of 8% of total daily energy intake among children.⁴⁶⁵ Children who consume SSBs instead of cow's milk are trading off a more nutrient-dense food with a less nutrient-dense one, which does not offer the satiety provided by cow's milk. Children who consume SSBs have been shown to have poorer quality diets⁴⁶⁶ suggesting that additional energy intake following SSB consumption may include other nutrient-poor foods.^{467,468} Added sugars from SSBs has been associated with higher overall energy intake and higher body weight. Among 613 Canadian children aged 8-10 years in the QUebec Adipose and Lifestyle



www.manaraa.com

InvesTigation in Youth (QUALITY) study, each 10 g higher consumption of added sugars from SSBs was associated with 0.4 lower daily servings of fruit and vegetables, 0.4 higher BMI, 0.5 kg higher fat mass and 0.9 cm higher waist circumference.⁴⁶⁶ Evidence from observational and intervention studies show that children who habitually consume SSBs have higher total energy intakes, which has been associated with higher adiposity.^{467,469} However, these studies are not without limitations to do with adjustment for confounding factors, generalizability of study populations and experiment duration.⁴⁷⁶ Additional RCTs are needed to provide corroborative evidence.

Observational research supports that children who consume more cow's milk tend to consume fewer SSBs, and vice versa.^{470,471} A prospective cohort study of children aged 2-5 years revealed that milk and SSB consumption were inversely related, as were milk and fruit drinks.⁴⁷² Four-year-old children who consumed at least one serving of SSBs per day tended to consume lower amounts of milk.⁴⁷³ One study found that children who were exposed to SSBs at a younger age were more likely to continue to consume them throughout childhood, in addition to consuming less cow's milk.⁷⁰ A cross-sectional study of 1134 children aged 2-5 years even specified that children who consumed whole fat milk regularly had the lowest intakes of SSBs and highest diet quality score.⁶ Higher SSB intake has also been associated with less nutrient-rich dietary choices (i.e., fried foods and pizza) and higher overall energy intake, particularly among adolescents.⁴⁷⁴

Cow's milk and SSB consumption among children appears to change with age. One longitudinal study showed that compared to children aged 2 years, at 4 years of age children consumed less 100% juice but more carbonated beverages, and at 5 years of age children consumed less milk than at age 2 years.⁴⁷⁵ Another prospective cohort study showed that



www.manaraa.com

American children had lower intake of fruits, vegetables, cow's milk and breakfast, but higher SSB intake at age 15 years compared to at age 8 years.⁴⁷⁶

NHANES data show that children aged 0-5 years had 8% lower milk intake and 20% higher fruit juice intake when dietary information was compared between 1976 and 2006.⁶⁷ However, more recent NHANES data showed that between 2003 and 2012, energy intake from all beverages among young American children aged 2-5 years decreased.⁴⁶⁴ To provide a broad view of American consumption trends, 67% of NHANES participants aged 6-11 years reported consuming SSBs in 1989-1991,⁴⁷⁷ compared with 82% in 2003-2004, and 64% in 2013-2014.⁴⁷⁸ Longitudinal population based data in Canada is not available.

Physiological effects of replacing cow's milk with SSBs have been evaluated among children in a few studies. A secondary analysis of an RCT of children aged 2-6 years revealed that children who replaced SSBs with cow's milk over a 1.5 year period had slightly lower zBMI (-0.07 zBMI per 100 g/day substitution, 95% CI -0.13 to -0.01, p= 0.04), while higher SSB consumption resulted in slight zBMI gain (+0.06 zBMI per 100 g/day SSB, 95% CI 0.001 to 0.12, p= 0.04).⁴⁷⁹ A 16-week randomized controlled trial of 98 Chilean children with overweight or obesity aged 8-10 years evaluated the effect of replacing SSBs with flavoured milk. In this study, there was no evidence of different zBMI, fat mass or % body fat between groups, but children in the milk group showed evidence of higher lean mass following the intervention (+0.92 kg in milk group vs. +0.62 kg in SSB group, p= 0.04).⁴⁸⁰ However, flavoured milk is by definition an SSB and 16 weeks is a relatively short trial period, limiting the relevance of these findings. Consistent findings were shown in a prospective cohort study of 623 American children aged 5-17 years, where children who consumed cow's milk regularly did not show evidence of zBMI change (+0.02; 95% CI -0.007 to 0.052; p= 0.13), whereas children who



www.manaraa.com

consumed SSBs had +0.05 zBMI (95% CI 0.022 to 0.079; p=0.001) per daily SSB serving.⁴⁸¹ Intervention studies involving broader samples of children and comparing white milk to SSBs would clarify this relationship.

2.5.3.4 Dairy fatty acids

Dairy fatty acids have proposed benefits on metabolism and body composition, which are discussed in Section 2.1.6.1.3. To summarize, the specific types of fat provided by cow's milk, but few other foods, may offer protection against excess adiposity. Ruminant trans fatty acids (RP-TFAs) are produced by cattle rumen bacteria from polyunsaturated fatty acids (PUFAs), and have distinct effects from industrially produced trans-fatty acids such as those produced from hydrogenation of oils. RP-TFAs include trans palmitoleic acid, which may promote lower adiposity and better blood lipid profiles,^{22,23,482} and conjugated linoleic acid (CLA), which RCT evidence has shown to have favourable effects on body fat in children.²⁷ CLA is suggested to lower adiposity^{180,181} by increasing energy expenditure and lipid oxidation,¹⁸² and reducing lipogenesis and appetite,⁴⁸³ but the mechanisms are yet to be fully understood. Oleic acid, a prominent saturated fatty acid in cow's milk, may also have anti-inflammatory and anti-hypertensive effects and offer glycemic benefits such as moderating insulin response, though the magnitude of these produced by dairy foods alone is unknown.¹⁴⁷

2.5.3.5 Vitamin D

In Canada, cow's milk is the main dietary source of vitamin D⁴⁸⁴ due to Food and Drug Regulations which state that cow's milk must be fortified with approximately 100 IU of vitamin D per 250 mL cup.⁴⁸⁵ TARGet Kids! observational research has revealed that 2-250 mL cups of cow's milk per day is enough for children to have sufficient serum 25-hydroxyvitamin D (25(OH)D) concentrations.⁴⁸⁶ Vitamin D is a fat soluble vitamin and it is absorbed in the



intestinal tract similarly to fat. Thus, the presence of fat in the intestine is believed to assist its absorption through the intestinal lumen and promote its secretion into the bloodstream.²¹⁶ Vitamin D is then stored in adipose or liver tissue.⁴⁰⁵ The ideal amount or type of fat for optimal vitamin D absorption, as well as maintenance of sufficient serum 25-hydroxyvitamin D levels, has not been determined. Two studies revealed that adults who consumed a vitamin D supplement with a fat-containing meal had higher serum 25(OH)D than those who consumed a supplement with a lower fat or fat-free meal.^{216,487} However, another study showed no evidence of a difference between the effect of vitamin D-fortified skim (0.1% fat) milk, whole milk and corn oil on toast on serum 25-hydroxyvitamin D.⁴⁸⁸ A TARGet Kids! observational study which included 2745 children showed that those who consumed 1% cow's milk, and 0.72 lower zBMI.¹⁶

Several observational studies have identified an association between higher adiposity and lower 25-hydroxyvitamin D.^{31,34,36,401,402} Among 3381 Canadian children aged 6-17 years, 25(OH)D <50 nmol/L was associated with an OR for overweight or obesity of 2.19 (95% CI 1.46 to 3.28) for males and 1.39 (95% CI 1.05 to 1.84) for females, after adjustment for clinically relevant covariates (p values not reported).⁴⁸⁹ These findings were similar to a study involving 2,492 American children aged 6 to 18 years who participated in NHANES. Higher serum 25(OH)D concentrations were associated with lower waist circumference (WC), waist-to-height ratio, BMI, triceps skinfold thickness, and percent body fat measured using dual x-ray absorptiometry in the 2005-2006 NHANES cycle.⁴⁹⁰ Low vitamin D levels in children has been associated with higher screen time and lower physical activity,⁴⁹¹ higher serum triglycerides³³ and CRP⁴⁹² and lower HDL concentrations,⁴⁹³ as well as insulin resistance.⁴⁹⁴ It has been



www.manaraa.com

hypothesized that excess adipose tissue renders vitamin D unavailable due to its fat soluble properties.⁴⁰⁴ High amounts of body fat may limit vitamin D's accessibility in serum for cells, bones and other tissues.^{404,405} Another suggested mechanism is that low levels of vitamin D in the blood may stimulate a rise in parathyroid hormone, which causes an influx of calcium into adipocytes, where it induces lipogenesis.^{37,396,407} Other reasons for lower vitamin D among children with higher adiposity may include limited time spent outdoors exposed to sunlight,⁴⁹¹ lower parental socioeconomic status or education leading to lower use of vitamin D supplements,^{495,496} or diets which replace dairy foods with nutrient-poor foods.^{418,497}

2.5.3.6 Reverse causality

Reverse causality, when the assumed directionality of a causal relationship is actually reversed, is a hypothesized explanation for the observed relationship between cow's milk fat and child adiposity. Rather than cow's milk fat having an effect on child adiposity, it is possible that parents of leaner children may provide higher cow's milk fat and parents of heavier children may provide lower cow's milk fat. However, little evidence exists to support the temporality and reasoning for these relationships.³⁹ One recent publication which aimed to understand if mothers participating in the Women, Infants and Children (WIC) program in California correctly perceived children's weights and provided leaner children with higher cow's milk fat and vice versa.⁸² The researchers conducted surveys and qualitative interviews with 529 mothers of children aged 2-4 years. Results showed that 36% of the time, mothers tended to misclassify their child's weight as normal weight when children actually had obesity. A higher proportion of children who had underweight or normal weight consumed whole cow's milk relative to children with overweight or obesity, and a higher proportion of children with overweight or obesity consumed reduced fat cow's milk relative to those with under- or normal weight. However, these



www.manaraa.com

CHAPTER 2: LITERATURE REVIEW

results may have limited generalizability for a number of reasons. The study population was mostly women of Hispanic ethnicity, who described whole milk as a traditionally healthy food for children, whereas reduced fat milk was commonly viewed as "watered down," incurring the perception that it was inferior to whole milk for child nutrition. Women in this study also viewed higher child adiposity as positive, which may be different than other perceptions of child overweight or obesity and elicit different behaviours (i.e., providing different foods to children).⁸² The WIC program only provides reduced fat (1%) cow's milk to children who are not underweight or at risk of underweight,⁴⁹⁸ which means that mothers of normal weight or heavier children would not have the option to provide whole milk if they were receiving cow's milk from WIC. Though the study objectives were to understand if mothers provided cow's milk fat depending on child adiposity, it was unclear whether mothers were asked this question directly.⁸²

A prospective cohort study on the relationship between cow's milk fat intake and child adiposity between ages 2-3 years showed that children who consumed higher cow's milk fat at ages 2 and 3 years had lower adiposity, and that children who consumed reduced fat milk were not at a lower risk of excess adiposity compared to children who consumed whole milk. Adjusting for zBMI at age 2 and other relevant covariates, odds for incident overweight at age 3 were 0.95 (95% CI 0.58 to 1.55, p= 0.83) for skim/1% milk, and 1.04 (95% CI 0.74 to 1.44, p= 0.84) for whole milk drinkers.⁷ They attempted to account for reverse causality by conducting a sensitivity analysis of only children who were had normal weight (zBMI -2 to 1). Although the sample size was smaller, there remained evidence of a relationship between higher cow's milk fat and lower child adiposity but it was weaker than the analysis involving all participants. Parents who were concerned about excess adiposity may have changed their child's milk fat



intake, or possible effects of cow's milk fat may have been different for children with underweight or overweight. Further research is needed to understand these complex relationships.

2.6 Patient oriented research

Patient oriented research aims to prioritize the perspective of patients and families to answer relevant questions and provide care tailored to them. This approach asserts that patients and families be actively and meaningfully engaged throughout the entire research process.⁴⁹⁹ Engaging parents as partners in research may be especially important when conducting studies on children's health, as parents make decisions to support healthy nutrition and lifestyle habits on their family's behalf. Parent perspectives to determine the relevance of research topics and feasibility of interventions are key to understanding child health interventions that hold potential for real-world impact.⁵⁰⁰ The Strategy for Patient Oriented Research (SPOR) was developed by the Canadian Institute of Health Research (CIHR) to facilitate Canadian partnerships between researchers, healthcare providers, policymakers and patients and their families.⁵⁰¹ The SPOR encourages the inclusion of patients and families in all stages of study conduct, from formulating the research question to developing knowledge translation strategies and disseminating results. An overall objective of SPOR is to conduct research that is meaningful to patients and families, which maximizes applicability of research findings to clinical practice and the lives of patients.501

Due to the novelty of this field and diversity of settings, patient groups and objectives, patient engagement models vary. Typical frameworks include generalized spectrums or stages of patient involvement and are adapted to unique research environments. SPOR has developed a generic patient engagement framework, which provides overarching guiding principles:



CHAPTER 2: LITERATURE REVIEW

inclusiveness of a diverse patient group, support for patients and families so they are able to meaningfully engage in all aspects of the research process, mutual respect for expertise, knowledge and experience of all members of the research team, and co-build, meaning patients and researchers work together to create a research process that answers meaningful research questions but also is a mutually beneficial process to engage in together.⁴⁹⁹ Many patient-oriented research frameworks are adapted from the International Association for Public Participation's model for patient engagement,⁵⁰² which progresses through levels of low to high patient engagement. Levels include informing patients about research through websites or print media; consulting patients using focus groups or surveys to relay patient perspectives back to the research team; involving patients in workshops, forums, or panel discussions to provide a live voice for the patient perspective; collaborating with patients by designating roles such as patient committees or patient experts as a sustained member of the research team; and empowering patients to advocate for themselves in diverse settings such as conferences, citizen juries, or educating fellow patients about patient oriented research.⁵⁰²

Barriers to patient engagement often include perceived or real tokenism, where patients' perspectives may not reach the overall conduct of research but presence is viewed positively or used to meet a requirement.⁵⁰³ As patient engagement often requires funding, child care, and operational support, considerable planning and resource allocation is required.⁵⁰⁴ Patient partners perceive that they require literacy, social capabilities and confidence to engage with medical professionals and academics.⁵⁰⁵ Providing guidance and education around health literacy, story-telling, and patient oriented research foundations is an important but underdeveloped and infrequently taken step when engaging patient partners.⁵⁰⁰ Patient partners require compensation, resources to participate (e.g. childcare, transportation, translation services, online



www.manaraa.com

communication platforms for remote access), training and feedback highlighting their contribution to the project.⁴⁹⁹ Investments such as these can facilitate meaningful, trusting and longstanding relationships, which justify the investment researchers make in patient oriented research. Researchers can also encounter homogeneous patient volunteers who have the time, willingness, and resources to attend patient meetings and contribute to research tasks as needed.^{505,506} This can be problematic where evidence-based health interventions may be intended for people of all communities, but individuals with certain resources, priorities and social determinants of health have contributed to the intervention study design.⁵⁰⁷ Homogenous patient partners also pose a problem for creating and executing knowledge translation activities because study results may not reach communities who are most in need.

Though the broader impact of patient oriented research is not fully described, various tools are available for patient oriented researchers to assess their own patient engagement efforts and receive feedback from patient partners.⁵⁰⁸ Examples of assessment and evaluation tools include the Patient and Public Engagement Evaluation Tool (PPEET)⁵⁰⁹ and the Guidance for Reporting the Involvement of Patients and the Public (GRIPP2) checklist.⁵¹⁰ Though evaluation tools are often tailored to specific patient populations, research settings and objectives, the high number of available tools has led to difficulty in comparing outcomes across settings or disciplines. Poorly adaptable design and lack of rigour in tool development has been cited as an overall weakness of patient engagement assessment tools.⁵¹¹ Patients and members of the public were not always consulted in the creation of such tools, and results generated by them are infrequently reported back to participants.⁵⁰⁸ A transferable, reliable, validated and collaboratively designed tool is needed to evaluate patient oriented research based on evidence and key stakeholder input.



www.manaraa.com

CHAPTER 2: LITERATURE REVIEW

Due to patient oriented research being relatively new, evaluation of its impact on patient outcomes, healthcare delivery, accessibility and quality, and public access to study findings have been limited thus far. A small body of literature suggests that patient participation in research leads to higher acceptability and accessibility of health services, and higher participant recruitment and retention rates in studies.⁵⁰⁶ The interpretability, accessibility and relevance of research findings also have been found to be higher when patients are engaged in the research process from the start.^{505,506} However, literature guiding researchers in identifying and recruiting patient partners, educating and engaging patients in various stages of research projects, and identifying which tasks may benefit most from patient oriented research have yet to be established.⁵⁰⁴ Institutional guidance, educational resources and training opportunities, funding, and greater patient awareness for patient engagement opportunities would help researchers to develop meaningful collaborative relationships with patients,⁵⁰⁶ which has been identified as a key facilitator of patient oriented research.⁵¹²

2.7 Trials within Cohorts (TwiCs)

Randomized controlled trials have long been regarded as the "gold standard" method to determine the efficacy of an intervention. However, RCTs to evaluate nutrition interventions, especially in children, pose challenges such as limited applicability of highly controlled interventions to everyday life, small and poorly representative samples, and low adherence to intervention or control conditions.^{513,514} In addition, traditional RCT methods have a number of limitations that have hindered their usefulness and inflated their cost. These include demand for time and resources presented to clinicians and participants, low generalizability, and lack of long-term outcomes, resulting in a constant need for replication.⁵¹⁵ Innovative clinical trial (ICT)



designs have been developed to modify traditional RCT methods to lower cost, improve time efficiency, and increase the generalizability of results. Trials within Cohorts (TwiCs) is one type of ICT.

TwiCs trials leverage a large prospective cohort study to increase efficiency and overcome limitations of traditional clinical trials (see Table 6).⁵¹⁵ TwiCs trials function by randomizing eligible individuals within a cohort study to be offered an intervention or receive usual care, and using existing cohort study mechanisms to measure routinely collected outcomes in both groups. At the time of cohort study enrolment, patients consent to be randomized for TwiCs trials. Patients randomized to the intervention group are offered the intervention similar to how a therapy or treatment may be offered in routine care. Patients randomized to receive usual care serve as controls, allowing a true baseline to which outcomes can be compared.

In traditional RCTs, participants are informed about interventions that they may not receive since treatment allocation is determined by chance. Participants who are randomized to control groups or usual care may experience disappointment and be more likely to drop out of the study.⁵¹⁶ Participation in shared decision-making, which is customary in 21st century healthcare, is difficult to achieve resulting in a major barrier to participation – particularly for children. In TwiCs trials, this barrier is overcome by seeking trial specific consent only from participants who are randomized to the intervention group, replicating the consent process that occurs in routine clinical care. In other words, patients are approached with a known intervention and provided with information at the moment when they need it so they can accept or refuse to participate based on the knowledge of what they will receive. Control group participants, who receive standard of care (and with no additional measures outside of those routinely collected through the cohort study), are not approached for trial specific consent because they have already



consented to participate in the cohort study. This approach is considered patient-centred because participants are provided with information relevant to them. It is intended to lower participant anxiety, reduce confusion about treatments they may not receive, and appropriately discuss the risks involved with a known intervention.⁵¹⁶

Multiple advantages differentiate TwiCs trials from traditional RCTs including:

- Lower Cost. Eligible participants are randomized to the intervention or the control group within the overarching cohort study, obviating the need for trial specific recruitment mechanisms. Further, all baseline and outcome measurements are already being conducted through the cohort study, resulting in additional cost savings.
- 2) <u>Efficient</u>. Recruiting participants into clinical trials is notoriously challenging. In TwiCs trials, randomization will occur within the cohort, where participants have already agreed to participate in research, reducing a major recruitment barrier. Considerable time normally needed for developing recruitment and data collection systems is also unnecessary, since data collection mechanisms in the cohort study are used for all measures in TwiCs trials.
- 3) <u>Patient-Centered.</u> In traditional RCTs, participants are informed about interventions they may not receive since treatment allocation is determined by chance. Participants cannot, therefore, participate in the shared decision-making process that is customary in 21st century healthcare. Since all participants have agreed to participate in cohort research, additional consent is only sought from participants who are randomized to the intervention group replicating the consent process that occurs in routine practice and eliminating a major barrier to clinical trial participation. Clinicians provide participants with information they need, at the moment they need it, with consent sought for a known



intervention. Control group participants, who will receive standard of care-with no

additional measures outside of those routinely collected through the cohort study-will

not be approached for additional consent.

	Limitations of traditional RCTs	Advantages of TwiCs designs ^{515,517}
Cost	High cost of recruitment and follow-up particularly for controls who receive no intervention	Lower cost because recruitment and outcome measurement are funded by the cohort study; no additional cost for controls
Recruitment	Low numbers of participants particularly for children where outcomes are rare	Cohort with participants who have agreed to participate in research reduces barriers to trial recruitment
Consent	Patients undergo informed consent that often undermines participation	Mimics 'real-world consent' where participants are informed of the treatment they will receive
Follow-up	Short term follow-up of important outcomes	Ongoing outcome measurement in the longitudinal cohort ensures long-term follow-up of outcomes
Patient preferences	Little incentive to remain in trial if randomized to the standard of care group	All patients participating in the trial receive an intervention
Treatment comparisons	Meta-analysis of RCTs challenging due to heterogeneity in populations / outcomes	Can compare between competing interventions because of harmonized populations and outcome measurement
Shared resources	New RCT mechanisms set up for each trial	Multiple RCTs can occur concurrently with different children maximizing efficiency through shared resources

Table 6. Limitations of current RCT designs and advantages of TwiCs designs

TwiCs trials also face challenges. Due to the pragmatic nature of TwiCs trials, it can be difficult to ensure interventions are correctly and consistently delivered, and collect adherence or compliance information among patients without adding to routinely collected outcomes or disrupting usual care. TwiCs are limited to unblinded studies since healthcare providers and



CHAPTER 2: LITERATURE REVIEW

patients must be aware of the intervention that is being offered. Contamination (participants receiving the opposite intervention or treatment to which they were assigned) may occur, especially where clinician preferences differ. However, participants in the control group are unaware of their allocation status, which may result in lower risk of cross-over, attrition and reporting bias among control patients. Compliance may be lower in TwiCs trials compared to traditional RCTs due to the timing of randomization, because consent is often provided much before randomization and offer of intervention. Individuals in the intervention group may refuse the intervention when the time of delivery arrives. When following an intention-to-treat protocol, this may dilute the overall observed effect of the intervention. Without structured follow up mechanisms additional to usual care, risk of attrition may be higher in TwiCs studies than traditional RCTs. TwiCs depend on a large, active cohort study, which is often unavailable and proposes challenges when infrequent outcomes are of interest.⁵¹⁸ Though some consider the TwiCs consent procedure to be transparent to patients, others have argued that participants who receive usual care and serve as controls in TwiCs studies should still be notified that their care was determined by random chance even when experimental treatments are not part of standard care.⁵¹⁹

TwiCs are becoming more popular among researchers who have access to cohort studies, predominantly in Europe where large active cohort studies are relatively common. Though traditional RCTs and TwiCs face distinct challenges, there may be a unique role for TwiCs studies where large cohorts exist and have an existing framework to introduce highly efficient, pragmatic and generalizable trials. TwiCs methods have the potential to produce evidence that is relevant to patients and healthcare providers and at considerably lower cost and time than traditional clinical trials.



www.manaraa.com

2.8 Comparative effectiveness research

Clinical practice guidelines are often based on consensus opinion or low-quality evidence.⁵²⁰ Often, the high-quality evidence available to clinicians does not represent diverse patient populations, leading to uncertainty about benefits and risks patients will experience with the evidence-based intervention. According to the US Institute of Medicine, comparative effectiveness research (CER) aims to "assist consumers, clinicians, purchasers, and policymakers to make informed decisions that will improve health care at both the individual and population levels."⁵²¹ CER aims to engage both the clinician and patient in decision making in healthcare.⁵²² CER trials are considered pragmatic, in contrast to explanatory studies which are highly controlled and can be challenging to apply results to usual care settings. This type of research emerged from difficulty applying RCT evidence to everyday healthcare due to limited applicability to diverse patient populations, novel interventions not supported in routine care, and artificial research environments which cannot be mimicked.⁵²³ Pragmatic trials typically take place in usual care environments, incur relatively low burden on participants, have wide inclusion criteria, and aim to include patient-relevant outcomes.⁵²⁴ Comparative effectiveness research not only seeks to determine the most effective intervention of those being compared, but it also incorporates patient preferences and acceptability of interventions in practice.⁵²³ In this way, CER focuses on the effectiveness of an intervention, rather than efficacy, as explanatory trials usually seek to do.⁵²³ CER tends to measure outcomes, risks, and benefits that are relevant to patients: how well the intervention addresses symptoms, morbidity, or mortality; the safety of the intervention; lifestyle improvements offered, including measures such as quality of life and Patient-Reported Experience Measures (PREMs);⁵²⁵ and cost of treatment.⁵²³ As CER usually takes place embedded within health care settings where patient diversity is rich, it does not



www.manaraa.com

CHAPTER 2: LITERATURE REVIEW

incorporate stringent exclusion criteria which are common to explanatory trials. In turn, results are considered to be more generalizable to clinical care, and may allow evaluation of which interventions work best for specific patient groups.⁵²²

While CER is a promising methodology to improve healthcare interventions, it carries some limitations. "Real-world" settings where CER takes place may have different characteristics in different institutions, countries or care environments. Patient preferences may also vary between studies, limiting generalizability of results across diverse populations.⁵²⁶ CER can place extra responsibilities on healthcare providers to participate in research which may negatively impact the quality of care and quantity of time available to spend with patients.⁵²⁷ CER studies often require relatively large sample sizes in order to detect clinically relevant differences between similar interventions, which can be challenging to attain.

2.9 Modified consent in clinical trials

Comparative effectiveness clinical trials often involve less risk than typical RCTs because they compare interventions which are already part of standard healthcare. Such interventions are either already offered, or do not carry additional risks to usual care, and one low-risk intervention should not be preferable over another to a reasonable person.⁵²⁸ Studies testing lowrisk interventions often do not cause greater risk to participants than everyday care. Several investigators have argued that the informed consent for these low-risk interventions be consistent with the consent process that occurs during usual healthcare, as opposed to typical consent processes for research studies.⁵²⁸⁻⁵³⁰ A modified consent process has been advocated for these trials to reflect the true nature of risk involved, maintain a "patient-centred" approach, and efficiently gather consent for the specific intervention being offered.^{529,531} Modified consent procedures are also helpful to minimize the potential for participation bias in studies of usual



CHAPTER 2: LITERATURE REVIEW

care interventions. Studies which seek to understand how typical patients respond to usual interventions and create evidence directly applicable to healthcare provision may be hindered by lengthy and impractical consent processes, which would not be a part of usual care.^{530,532}

Informed consent is an essential component of health research which protects the rights and well-being of patients.⁵³³ From the introduction of the informed consent process, consent procedures for studies which expose participants to a vast spectrum of risks have been the same. They provide individuals with the same amount information, in the same manner, regardless of the risk involved.⁵³⁴ Though this is a well-intentioned process that is necessary and informative in many contexts, the result is that participants in low-risk studies are provided with information disproportionate to the degree of risk they are asked to incur. For low risk trials, the consent process has become burdensome, ritualistic and incomprehensible to research participants.⁵³⁵ As a result, eligible people may misunderstand the degree of risk involved and decline to participate in research due to overwhelming, intimidating and inaccessible consent processes.⁵³⁶ Lengthy consent forms may cause patients who are most in need of interventions to be excluded from studies due to time constraints or high perceived effort to complete the process,⁵³⁰ leading to low recruitment and poorly generalizable results.⁵³⁷

In a 2014 survey of 1,095 American adults, 97% of respondents agreed that health interventions should be evaluated, but 73% perceived that taking part in health research, regardless of invasiveness or potential for harm, incurs additional risk. In this survey, 78% of respondents indicated that they would like to be asked permission before participating in any medical research, but consent could be oral or written.⁵³⁸ Other surveys about consent for health research among adults have had similar findings.^{539,540} In Europe, there appears to be willingness to participate in pragmatic RCTs for low-risk interventions without providing consent (39% of



www.manaraa.com

Spanish respondents in one survey), but views on potential alternative consent methods (i.e., verbal consent) and ways to inform participants of waived-consent trials are varied.^{541,542}

Proportionate consent is a modified consent procedure introduced to clinical trial methodology by the National Health Service (UK).⁵³¹ Through the proportionate consent process, consent is obtained in a way that is commensurate to the risks and benefits of participating in the particular study, such that low-risk studies of usual care interventions have shorter and less onerous consent processes than studies of higher-risk interventions. In all situations, participants are informed of the nature of the study, the material risks, benefits, and alternatives, and are provided adequate time to consider participation relative to factors such as the type of research being conducted, the setting and duration of the study, and potential for harm. Through the proportionate consent process for low risk studies, this information is often communicated verbally, similar to the way healthcare treatments are offered in standard healthcare.⁵³¹ Most often, proportionate consent is used in unblinded trials and is ideally suited to TwiCs trials where participants are provided with concise and relevant information at the moment they need it.^{516,529} If adopted more widely, proportionate consent may offer investigators an efficient, effective and patient-centred approach to consenting participants to low-risk research.

2.10 Summary of literature review

Cow's milk is a nutrient-rich source of carbohydrates, protein, fat, and micronutrients, and has been consumed by Canadian children for over a century. Consensus-based dietary guidelines suggest that children aged 9 months to 2 years consume whole fat cow's milk, and children older than age 2 years transition to reduced (0.1-2%) fat cow's milk to reduce the risk of overweight or obesity. Evidence supporting this guideline dates to the 1990's which suggests



www.manaraa.com

reduced fat milk is safe for children to consume, but does not support that it is effective in lowering the risk of overweight or obesity.

Cow's milk has been shown to provide children with nutrients which support growth and development. Cow's milk fat may be one factor that explains conflicting evidence about the relationship between cow's milk consumption and excess childhood adiposity. Several observational studies have identified that higher cow's milk fat intake is associated with lower adiposity in children, but no interventional evidence is available. Given that the majority of Canadian children consume cow's milk on a daily basis, high quality evidence is needed to inform nutritional recommendations about cow milk consumption for children.

Randomized controlled trials are considered the gold standard of health research. However, traditional RCT methods have limitations which reduce their efficiency, inflate costs and impair the generalizability of results. Innovative clinical trials such as Trials within Cohorts are new methods which aim to overcome challenges to traditional RCTs and narrow the gap between highly controlled interventional research and everyday healthcare. This is especially important in nutrition research for children where applicability of interventions to healthcare practice is limited. A pragmatic randomized controlled trial to determine the optimal cow's milk fat for child growth, development and nutrition is needed.



CHAPTER 3: COW'S MILK FAT AND CHILDHOOD OVERWEIGHT: A SYSTEMATIC REVIEW AND META-ANALYSIS

3.1 ABSTRACT

Background. The majority of children in North America consume cow's milk daily. Children over age 2 years are recommended to consume reduced (0.1-2%) fat cow's milk to lower the risk of obesity.

Objective. To evaluate the relationship between cow's milk fat consumption and adiposity in children aged 1-18 years.

Design. EMBASE (Excerpta Medica Database), CINAHL (Cumulative Index to Nursing and Allied Health Literature), Medline, Scopus, and Cochrane Library databases from inception to August 2019 were used. The search included observational and interventional studies of healthy children aged 1-18 years were which described the association between cow's milk fat consumption and adiposity. Two reviewers extracted data, using the Newcastle Ottawa Scale to assess risk of bias. Meta-analysis was conducted using random effects to evaluate the relationship between cow's milk fat and risk of overweight or obesity. Adiposity was assessed using body mass index z-score (zBMI).

Results. Of 5682 reports identified by the search, 28 met inclusion criteria: 20 were crosssectional and 8 were prospective cohort. No clinical trials were identified. In 18 studies, higher cow's milk fat consumption was associated with lower child adiposity and 10 studies did not identify an association. Meta-analysis included 14 of the 28 studies (N=20,897) which measured the proportion of children who consumed whole vs. reduced fat milk and direct measures of overweight or obesity. Among children who consumed whole (3.25% fat) vs. reduced fat (0.1 to 2%) milk, the odds ratio of overweight or obesity was 0.61 (95% CI 0.52 to 0.72, p< 0.0001), but heterogeneity between studies was high ($I^2 = 73.8\%$).



Conclusions. Observational research suggests that higher cow's milk fat intake is associated with lower childhood adiposity. International guidelines which recommend reduced fat milk for children may not lower risk of childhood obesity. Randomized trials are needed to determine which cow's milk fat minimizes risk of excess adiposity.



3.2 INTRODUCTION

Childhood obesity has tripled in the past 40 years with nearly 1 in 3 North American children now overweight or obese.^{1,346,543} Over the same period, consumption of whole fat cow's milk has halved.⁶⁸ The American Academy of Pediatrics and the Canadian Pediatric Society recommend that children switch from whole fat cow's milk (3.25%) to reduced fat cow's milk (0.1 to 2%) at 2 years of age to limit fat intake and minimize the risk of childhood obesity.^{53,304} European,⁵⁵ British⁵⁴ and Australian⁵⁶ health authorities have provided similar recommendations. Healthcare providers⁵⁴⁴ and families⁵⁴⁵ frequently follow this guideline, and school and child care nutrition policies⁵⁴⁶⁻⁵⁴⁸ often reflect them. Since 1970 whole cow's milk availability has dropped by 80% in North America, whereas reduced fat milk purchases have tripled.^{62,549}

Given that cow's milk is consumed daily by 88% of children aged 1 to 3 years and 76% of children aged 4 to 8 years in Canada⁵⁸ and is a major dietary source of energy, protein and fat for children in North America,^{58,64} understanding the relationship between cow's milk fat and risk of overweight or obesity is important. Systematic reviews, narrative reviews and meta-analyses on the relationship between total dairy consumption and child adiposity have had conflicting findings (see *Appendix 8.2: Table 1*). According to these studies, higher cow's milk intake in children is associated with taller height and better bone and dental health.^{223,246,247} Although these studies evaluated total dairy consumption, they did not take into consideration cow's milk fat specifically. The objectives of this study were to systematically review and meta-analyze the relationship between whole fat (3.25%) relative to reduced fat (0.1 to 2%) cow's milk and adiposity in children.

3.3 METHODS



A systematic review and meta-analysis of the literature was conducted. The study was designed according to the PRISMA-P guidelines⁵⁵⁰ and registered as a PROSPERO systematic review and meta-analysis (registration number: CRD42018085075).

Inclusion Criteria. *Types of studies.* Studies included in the search were original works published in English in a peer-reviewed journal. Cross-sectional, cohort, case-control, longitudinal studies, as well as intervention trials, both controlled and not controlled, were included in the search strategy. There were no restrictions on date or length of follow up. *Population.* Studies which included healthy children 1 to 18 years of age with at least ten human subjects were considered. Studies that examined undernourished or diseased populations (other than asthma) were excluded.

Exposures. The primary exposure was cow's milk fat, categorized as skim (0.1% fat), 1% fat, 2% fat, or whole or homogenized (3.25% fat). Measures of exposure included food frequency questionnaire (FFQ), multi-day food record, 24-hour food recall, or any other validated or non-validated dietary measurement tool. Dietary pattern analyses were not included.

Outcomes. The primary outcome was childhood adiposity. These measures included body mass index (BMI) z-score, BMI, weight for age, body fat mass, lean body mass, waist circumference, waist to hip ratio, body fat percentage, skinfold thickness and prevalence of overweight or obesity defined by World Health Organization (WHO),³⁴⁴ Center for Disease Control (CDC),⁵⁵¹ or International Obesity Task Force (IOTF)³³⁸ cut-offs. When sufficient information was not available in the full text publication, study authors were contacted by email to obtain additional data.

Meta-analysis. Meta-analysis included studies that reported the number of children who consumed whole (3.25%), 2%, 1% or skim (0.1%) milk regularly (a-priori defined as typically,



www.manaraa.com

daily, or \geq 4 times per week), as well as the number of children from each of these groups who were classified as either healthy weight, or overweight or obese (overweight and obese were included as one category) assessed using BMI standardized using WHO,³⁴⁴ CDC,⁵⁵¹ or IOTF³³⁸ criteria.

Search methods. A comprehensive search strategy was developed by a research librarian (NT) with expertise in systematic reviews. From inception to August 2019, EMBASE, CINAHL, Medline, Scopus, and the Cochrane Library were searched on March 23, 2018 and updated on August 2, 2019 using Medical Subject Headings (MeSH) and keywords (see Online Supporting Material for search strategies).

Data extraction, management and analysis

Study selection. To evaluate study eligibility two reviewers (MA and SV) independently reviewed study titles, abstracts, and full texts if needed. Both reviewers applied inclusion and exclusion criteria and differences were examined and resolved by consensus, which was achieved 100% of the time. Full text manuscripts were retrieved for potentially eligible studies and reviewed. Characteristics of included full text studies were summarized.

Data extraction. Two reviewers (MA and SV) extracted data from eligible studies using standardized data extraction tables adapted from the Cochrane Data Extraction Template.⁵⁵² Differences were resolved by consensus 100% of the time.

Data management. Covidence⁵⁵³ software was used to select studies, review results and resolve discrepancies between reviewers. All included study records were kept in spreadsheet format. *Data synthesis.* Studies included in the analysis were described according to a standardized coding system which captured key elements of each study including descriptors of the study



setting, population size and age (mean and range), exposure or intervention, comparator group, method of data collection, outcome measures, type of analysis, and results.

Risk of bias and study quality assessment

Risk of bias was assessed using the Newcastle Ottawa Scale (NOS)⁵⁵⁴ for nonrandomized analyses, which expresses the risk of bias on a numerical scale ranging from zero to nine; scores of seven and above are considered low risk.⁵⁵⁴ NOS criteria can be found in Table 8. The NOS guided review included an examination of participant selection, comparability of children consuming whole or reduced fat milk, and exposure and outcome measure ascertainment.⁵⁵⁴ To allow sufficient follow-up time for a meaningful change in adiposity to occur, the minimum acceptable follow-up time was pre-specified as one year. Study comparability, defined as whether studies adjusted for similar confounding variables, was specified a priori as studies that adjusted for important characteristics including: birth weight or baseline weight (for prospective cohort studies), milk volume consumed, and parent BMI. Studies that adjusted for each of these factors were awarded two points, whereas 1 point was allocated if adjustment was performed using four or more other covariates. Reports were assigned 1 point for ascertainment of exposure only when structured interviews or medical records were used for data collection measure.⁵⁵⁴ Risk of bias was assessed by two reviewers (MA and SV) and consensus was achieved 100% of the time.

Statistical Analysis. For each study, participant information, design and results were summarized. We derived crude odds ratios and extracted adjusted odds ratios, whenever available, for overweight or obesity among children who consumed whole (3.25%) milk, compared to children who consumed reduced fat (0.1% to 2%) milk regularly. A random effects model based on the restricted maximum likelihood estimator was decided *a priori* and used to



www.manaraa.com

separately pool crude and adjusted odds ratios of overweight or obesity. Each study was included as a random effect to account for between-study variation in this model. Sensitivity analyses were performed using the Knapp-Hartung method⁵⁵⁵ and inverse-variance weights. Since prospective cohort studies may reveal different relationships than cross sectional studies, we performed a subgroup analysis according to study design. Additionally, we analyzed studies in subgroups according to risk of bias (high vs. low) and age (1-5 years, 6-11 years, and 12-18 years). Subgroup analyses were accompanied by tests for interaction between each subgroup and the main effect from the random-effects meta-regression, by using an interaction term in metaregression models for study design (cross sectional vs. prospective cohort), risk of bias (high vs. low), and age group (1-5 years, 6-11 years, and 12-18 years). Heterogeneity across included studies was estimated using the I² statistic.⁵⁵⁶ Heterogeneity was considered low (<40%), moderate (40-60%) or high (>60%).¹⁴³ Publication bias was assessed using a funnel plot and Egger's test.⁵⁵⁷

Finally, we conducted a dose-response meta-regression to quantify the association between percentage of fat in cow's milk consumed and the odds of overweight or obesity. Only studies that reported group-specific odds for \geq 3 types of cow's milk fat were included in this analysis. For the dose-response analysis, we first used a fixed-effect approach to estimate the dose-response relationships within each study. Then, we used a random-effects approach to combine across studies the dose-response estimates that were generated in the first step for each study⁵⁵⁸ to obtain regression coefficients, and their respective standard errors. R software version $3.2.2^{559}$ was used for all analyses, using the 'metafor' package.⁵⁶⁰

3.4 RESULTS



www.manaraa.com

The database search identified 5682 potentially eligible studies. After exclusion of duplicates (n=1861), 4001 reports underwent title and abstract review. Studies that did not meet inclusion criteria (n=3915) were removed resulting in 86 published studies which underwent full text review (Figure 1). Reasons for exclusion included wrong exposure, wrong outcome, wrong patient population, dietary pattern analysis only, or wrong study design such as case reports or editorials. Twenty-eight studies met all inclusion criteria. Of these, 20 were cross-sectional and 8 were prospective cohort studies (See Table 7 for study characteristics). No interventional studies were identified. Most studies (n=23) compared whole milk (3.25% fat) to reduced fat milk consumption (0.1%, 1% or 2% fat). Four studies⁵⁶¹⁻⁵⁶⁴ compared whole and 2% milk to 1% and skim milk. One study compared whole to 2% milk.⁵⁶⁵

Nineteen studies used zBMI, 4 prospective cohort studies used % body fat change and 5 studies used overweight or obesity categories as the primary adiposity outcome. Three studies used 2008 WHO³⁴⁴ growth standards, 14 studies used 2000 CDC⁵⁵¹ growth standards, 7 used 2000 IOTF³³⁸ growth standards, and 4 studies either did not specify or used other standards for zBMI measurement.

Eighteen^{4,6,8-11,82,561,563,564,566-573} studies reported that higher cow's milk fat was associated with lower child adiposity. Ten studies^{39,562,565,574-580} reported no association between cow's milk fat and child adiposity.

Risk of bias assessment

Risk of bias using the Newcastle Ottawa Scale suggested that 1 of 8 prospective cohort studies and 0 of 20 cross-sectional studies were low risk of bias (See Table 8). Common limitations which increased risk of bias included cross-sectional study design, non-standardized dietary assessments which were either study specific or not validated, lack of adjustment for



clinically important covariates (including volume of milk consumed, parent BMI and child adiposity assessed prior to the outcome), and study duration too short to detect a meaningful change in adiposity (defined *a priori* as 1 year).⁵⁸¹

Association between cow's milk fat and child overweight or obesity

Fourteen^{4,7,9-11,82,563,567-570,573,579} studies met the meta-analysis inclusion criteria, 11 of which were cross-sectional and 3 were prospective cohort studies. All studies included in the meta-analysis compared whole (3.25% fat) milk to reduced (0.1% to 2%) fat milk consumption, allowing an odds ratio to be calculated. A total of 20,897 healthy children aged 1-18 years were included in the meta-analysis. Children were from 7 countries (USA, UK, Canada, Brazil, Sweden, New Zealand, and Italy). Anthropometric standards which were used to determine overweight or obesity categories included the WHO,³⁴⁴ CDC,⁵⁵¹ or IOTF³³⁸ growth standards in six, five and three studies respectively.

Crude analysis of all 14 studies revealed that among children who consumed whole milk vs. reduced fat milk, the pooled odds ratio for overweight or obesity was 0.61 (95% CI 0.52 to 0.72, p< 0.0001) (Figure 2). Heterogeneity measured by the I² statistic was 73.8% (p<0.0001). A sensitivity analysis using inverse-variance weights did not reveal different results. Subgroup analysis by study design revealed no significant interaction between cross sectional and prospective cohort studies (p= 0.07, *Appendix 8.2: Table 2*). For the 11 cross-sectional studies (n= 9,413), the pooled odds ratio of overweight or obesity was 0.56 (95% CI 0.46 to 0.69, p= 0.0001) and for the 3 prospective cohort studies (n= 11,484) it was 0.76 (95% CI 0.63 to 0.92, p= 0.006). Risk of bias (high vs. low) and age group were also not significant modifiers of the relationship between cow's milk fat and child adiposity (*Appendix 8.2: Table 2 and Figures 1-5*). Analyses of 5 studies^{4,11,568-570} that reported adjusted odds ratios did not show differences



between crude and adjusted estimates (adjusted OR= 0.53 (95% CI 0.44 to 0.63); crude OR= 0.55 (95% CI 0.46 to 0.66); see *Appendix 8.2: Figure 6*). Results of the sensitivity analysis using the Knapp Hartung method⁵⁵⁵ to pool the 14 studies (crude OR= 0.62 (95% CI 0.52 to 0.73)) was similar to the main results (crude OR= 0.61 (95% CI 0.52 to 0.72)). Publication bias, visualized using a funnel plot (*Appendix 8.2: Figure 7*) was difficult to ascertain given high heterogeneity $(I^2 = 73.8\%)$ and relatively low number of included studies.

The dose-response meta-analysis results are shown in Figure 3. Data were available from 7 studies^{4,9,563,564,566,568,569} which included 14,582 children aged 2 to 11 years and demonstrated a linear association between higher cow's milk fat and lower child adiposity. For each 1% higher cow's milk fat consumed, the overall crude odds ratio for overweight or obesity was 0.75 (95% CI 0.65 to 0.87, p= 0.004, τ^2 = 0.01, I²= 64%).

3.5 DISCUSSION

This systematic review and meta-analysis has identified that relative to reduced fat cow's milk, whole fat cow's milk consumption was associated with lower odds of childhood overweight or obesity. The direction of the association was consistent across a range of study designs, settings, age groups and demonstrated a dose effect. Although no clinical trials were identified, existing observational research suggests that consumption of whole vs. reduced fat milk does not adversely affect body weight or body composition among children and adolescents. To the contrary, higher milk fat consumption appears to be associated with lower odds of childhood overweight or obesity.

Findings from the present study suggest that cow's milk fat, which has not been examined in pervious meta-analyses, may play a role in the development of childhood overweight or obesity. Several mechanisms have been proposed which may explain why higher


cow's milk fat consumption might result in lower childhood adiposity. One theory involves the replacement of calories from less healthy foods, such as sugar sweetened beverages, with cow's milk fat.²⁰ Consumption of beverages high in added sugar have been associated with increased risk of overweight and obesity during childhood.⁵⁸² Other theories involve satiety mechanisms such that higher milk fat consumption may induce satiety through the release of cholecystokinin and glucagon-like peptide 1^{445,583} reducing desire for other calorically dense foods. Another possibility is that lower satiety from reduced fat milk may result in increased milk consumption causing higher weight gain relative to children who consume whole milk, as observed in the study by Berkey et al.³⁹

Cow's milk fat may offer cardiometabolic benefits. The types of fat found in cow's milk, including trans-palmitoleic acid, may be metabolically protective. Higher circulating trans-palmitoleic acid has been associated with lower adiposity, serum triglyceride concentrations and insulin resistance, and higher HDL cholesterol in several large adult cohort studies.^{22,23,482} However, diets which replace dairy fat with unsaturated fatty acids may offer cardiometabolic protection.^{584,585}

Confounding by indication and reverse causality⁵⁸⁶ are plausible alternate explanations. Parents of children who have lower adiposity may choose higher fat milk to increase weight gain. Similarly, parents of children who have higher adiposity may choose lower fat milk to lower the risk of overweight or obesity.^{6,9} The majority of children included in this systematic review were involved in prospective cohort studies, in which the potential for reverse causality is lower than cross sectional studies. Clinical trial data would have provided better evidence for the directionality of this relationship, however none was available. Results from these 11,484 children were consistent with the overall findings. Two of the included prospective cohort



www.manaraa.com

studies^{7,39} attempted to address confounding by indication by adjusting for baseline BMI, one of which repeated the statistical analysis only among participants with normal weight BMI values with similar findings.⁷

This study had a number of strengths. The meta-analysis included a large, diverse sample of children from around the world. The number of potentially eligible studies was maximized by the comprehensive search strategy and contact with authors to obtain missing data. Also, study selection, data collection and risk of bias assessment were performed by two independent reviewers which improved accuracy and consistency. All studies included in the meta-analysis used trained individuals to obtain anthropometric measurements and weight status was standardized using growth reference standards (WHO, CDC and IOTF). Using meta-regression techniques, differences in study design, risk of bias, and age group were taken into account. Finally, a dose-response meta-analysis was conducted which demonstrated a linear relationship between higher cow's milk fat and lower child adiposity (Figure 3).

This study had a number of limitations. First, included studies were all observational. Only one study in this analysis was considered to have low risk of bias, and all studies in the meta-analysis had high risk of bias. Risk of bias included cross-sectional designs and lack of adjustment for clinically important covariates. For example, cow's milk volume was accounted for in only 11 of 28 studies in the systematic review and 5 of 14 studies in the meta-analysis. Adjustment for volume in future studies would allow for a clearer understanding of whether higher cow's milk fat protects against higher adiposity, or reduced fat cow's milk increases adiposity. However, among these studies, comparison of adjusted vs. crude odds demonstrated consistent findings. Residual confounding by variables not accounted for in the individual analyses is also possible, which is a common limitation for meta-analyses of observational



www.manaraa.com

94

studies. Heterogeneity was relatively high ($I^2=73.8\%$) which may have been attributable to a variety of factors including varied methods of ascertainment of exposure and outcome, differences in study design and follow-up duration. While subgroup analyses of prospective cohort studies revealed comparable results to the overall meta-regression, these comparisons may not have had sufficient power to detect clinically meaningful differences. However, 11,484 children were involved in prospective cohort studies making large differences in effect size unlikely. Although only studies with standardized dietary measurements were included, measurement error was possible due to recall bias or lack of validation of dietary assessment tool. Error in adiposity measurement may also have introduced bias, though weights and heights were measured by trained individuals and standardized protocols were used in all studies included in the meta-analysis. Differences in adiposity measurement (i.e. body fat percentage, zBMI, BMI), and different growth standards may have contributed to heterogeneity. For example, use of the WHO rather than IOTF or CDC standards may have resulted in a greater proportion of overweight or obese children reported.³³⁹ Future studies using WHO growth standards, which are believed to represent optimal child growth,³⁴⁴ would help to minimize heterogeneity and overcome these limitations. Consideration for relevant outcomes such as cardiovascular risk should be included in future analyses to understand other effects of cow's milk fat. Publication bias was also possible as demonstrated by a funnel plot and Egger's test.

3.6 CONCLUSION

Observational evidence supports that children who consume whole milk vs. reduced fat milk have lower odds of overweight or obesity. Given that the majority of children in North America consume cow's milk on a daily basis, clinical trial data and well-designed prospective cohort studies involving large, diverse samples, using standardized exposure and outcome



www.manaraa.com

95

measurements, with long study duration would help determine whether the observed association between higher milk fat consumption and lower childhood adiposity is causal.



Cross Sectional Studies										
Author, year	No. children Age range Location	Exposure, method	Outcome	Variables adjusted for	Adjusted result	P value				
Acharya, 2011 ⁵⁷¹	770 3-5 years USA	Frequency of low- or high-fat milk intake, 24-h recall and FFQ with trained interviewers	zBMI (CDC)	Energy intake	Reduced fat milk was positively associated with 0.52 (95% CI 0.29-0.75) higher zBMI. Children who consumed reduced fat milk were more likely to be OB (OR= 2.98 (95% CI 1.46- 6.05)	0.03				
Barba, 2005 ¹⁰	884 3-11 years Italy	Frequency of milk consumption by milk fat content, parent completed questionnaire	zBMI (IOTF)	Age, birth weight, parental OW/OB, parental education level, physical activity, frequency of consumption of the other groups of foods (dairy foods, fish, cereals, meat, fruit, vegetables, sweet beverages, snacks)	Whole milk was associated with 0.112 lower zBMI (95% CI -0.19 to -0.33). Children who consumed whole milk least often were more likely to be OW than those who consumed it most often (OR= 2.18, 95% CI 1.30-3.66)	0.005				
Barbiero, 2008 ⁵⁷³	405 10-18 years Brazil	OW/OB (WHO)	Dietary habits, food intake by parent completed questionnaire	None	Reduced fat milk greater among children with OB. Whole milk: normal weight 91.7%,	0.08				

Table 7. Data Summar	y Table for Milk Fat and Child (Overweight: A Meta-Analysis
----------------------	----------------------------------	-----------------------------

					OW 89.7%, OB 61.1%.	
					Skimmed milk: normal	
					weight 8.3%,	
					OW 10.3%, OB 38.9%	
Beck, 2017 ⁹	135	Milk fat, 24-h	OW/OB (CDC)	Gender,	Children with severe OB	0.01
	3 years	recall by trained		maternal BMI,	had a lower intake of cow's	
	USA	research assistant		maternal	milk fat and more likely to	
	(WIC)			education,	consume skim (0.1%) milk	
				maternal marital	(OR= 0.89, 95% CI 0.81-	
				status, mother's	0.97)	
				preferred	,	
				language, and		
				mother's total		
				years in the US		
Charvet,	197	Beverage intake,	BMI percentile	None	A higher proportion of	0.014
2019 ⁵⁶⁴	3-4 years	measured using a	(CDC), measured		children with OW or OB	
	USA	nutrition and	by trained		consumed reduced fat	
	(WIC)	sociodemographic	Women, Infants		cow's milk than children	
		characteristics	and Children staff		with under- or normal	
		questionnaire			weight	
Dodd,	2,314	Weight status	Beverage	NR	No significant differences	NR
2013 ⁵⁶²	6-18 years	(OW/OB),	consumption,		in cow's milk fat and	
	USA	measured by field	child- and parent-		weight status. Normal	
		interviewers	completed 24-h		weight elementary and	
		using	recall interviews		middle school children were	
		standardized			more likely to consume	
		procedures			2%/whole milk. Among	
		(CDC)			high school children,	
					OW/OB children were more	
					likely to consume reduced	
					fat milk (effect sizes NR)	
Eriksson,	114	Food intake,	BMI (IOTF)	None	Children who never/seldom	BMI,
2010 ⁵⁷²	8 years	parent and child			consumed whole milk had a	< 0.001

المنسارات المستشارات

	Sweden	completed 24-h recall with registered dietitian			mean BMI of 17.7, whereas children who consumed 1 serving per day of whole milk had a mean BMI = 16.2, >1 serving per day mean BMI= 15.4. Overall difference of 2.3 BMI	
Gaylis, 2017 ⁵⁷⁹	598 13-19 years USA	Self-reported BMI, categorized into healthy, OW, obese (CDC)	Frequency of whole and low-fat milk consumption, child completed FFQ	None	No difference in cow's milk fat intake between weight categories (effect size NR)	NR
Kim, 2019 ⁸²	529 3-4 years USA (WIC)	BMI percentile (CDC), measured by trained Women, Infants and Children staff	Cow's milk fat consumed, assessed during telephone interview	None	A higher proportion of children with OW or OB consumed reduced fat cow's milk than children with normal weight	<0.01
LaRowe, 2007 ⁶	1,334 2-11 years USA (NHANES)	Beverage intake patterns, interview by caregiver	BMI (CDC)	Age, sex, ethnicity, household income, Healthy Eating Index score, physical activity, birth weight	Among children aged 6-11 years, those who consumed whole milk had lowest BMI and higher healthy eating scores. BMI was significantly higher in the water, sweetened drinks, and soda patterns (adjusted mean BMI=19.9, 18.7, and 18.7, respectively) compared to the mix/light and whole milk patterns (adjusted mean BMI=18.2 and 17.8, respectively) (P<0.05)	BMI, <0.05; >85 th percentile (both age groups), <0.0001

Mazahery, 2018 ¹¹	1,155 2-4 years New Zealand	Frequency and fat content of milk consumption (questionnaire)	BMI, measured by trained testers (IOTF)	NR	 Proportion of children aged 6-11 years with OW/OB: whole milk 22.1%, soda 35.2%, mix/light drinker 28%, water 42.6%, sweetened drinks 35.4% Proportion of children aged 2-5 years with OW/OB: whole milk 26.9%, mix/light drinker 15.0%, water 25.8%, fruit juice 19.6% In children aged 2-5, no significant association between milk fat content and BMI (effect size NR) Higher odds of consuming reduced fat milk among OW/OB (OR= 1.74, 95% CI 1.20-2.54 for OW, OR= 1.48, 95% CI 0.73-3.01 for OB), compared to normal 	OW, <0.05; OB, >0.05
Millo	272	Poworago inteko	PMI (IOTE)	Ago	$\frac{W}{QR}$ weight children ware less	Girla
Tobarra,	9-11 years	child-completed	BIVII (IOTF)	Age, cardiovascular	likely to drink whole milk	0.002;
2014 ⁵⁷⁵	Spain	24-h recall		fitness	than thin or normal weight	boys,
					children	0.043
					Thin girls consumed a mean 2.9 mL/kg/d more whole	

					milk than OW/OB girls; thin boys 2.8 mL/kg/d more whole milk than OW/OB boys	
Nelson, 2004 ⁵⁷⁰	451 2-4 years USA	BMI, measured by a medical provider (CDC)	Nutrition and sociodemographic characteristics	Race/ethnicity, age, sex, birthplace of the parent, fat content of milk consumed by children in family, fruit/vegetable consumption, exercise	Children who consumed whole milk were less likely (OR = 0.50, 95% CI 0.31- 0.80) to be OW/OB	<0.01
Nilsen, 2017 ⁵⁶⁹	2,104 7-9 years Sweden	Food and beverage intake frequency, parent completed questionnaire	OW/OB (WHO)	Gender, parental weight status, parents' education level and area of living	Odds of being OW/OB were higher among those who consumed reduced fat milk (OR = 1.90, 95% CI 1.40-2.48) compared to those who consumed whole milk. Inverse association between odds of OW/OB and whole milk consumption (OR = 0.60, 95% CI 0.39-0.78)	0.001
O'Connor, 2006 ⁵⁷⁴	1,160 2-5 years USA	Beverage consumption, parent completed 24-h recall interview	BMI percentile	Age, ethnicity, gender, income, energy consumed, physical activity	No significant association between cow's milk fat and weight status (effect size NR)	NR
Papandreou, 2013 ⁵⁷⁶	607 7-15 years	Beverage intake 24-h recall x 3	BMI, OW/OB (IOTF)	Age, gender, income, energy	Cow's milk fat was not significantly associated	NR

المنسارات

	Greece	days by registered dietitian		intake, physical activity	with weight status (effect size NR)	
Ruxton, 1996 ⁵⁷⁷	136 7-8 years Scotland	Milk intake, 7 day food record by parents	zBMI	NR	No significant relationship between fat content or volume of milk and anthropometry or growth (effect size NR)	NR
Schroeder, 2014 ⁵⁷⁸	1,149 10-18 years Spain	Beverage consumption, 24- h recall by child	zBMI	Age, energy underreporting, mother's educational level, physical activity, television viewing, energy intake	Comparison between reduced fat and whole milk on zBMI not significant. For boys, OR= 1.21 (95% CI 0.95-1.56; for girls, OR= 10.4 (95% CI 0.79-1.37) for higher zBMI	Boys, 0.199; girls, 0.792
Tovar, 2012 ⁵⁶⁸	217 6-11 years USA	OW and OB prevalence (CDC)	Diet quality, parent completed questionnaire	Age, gender, race/ethnicity, state of residence, number of members in the household, family government assistance	OW (OR= 0.90, 95% CI 0.40-1.80) and OB children less likely (OR= 0.40, 95% CI 0.20-0.70) to consume whole milk than normal weight children	OW, 0.80; OB, 0.001
Vanderhout, 2016 ⁴	2,738 1-5 years Canada	Milk fat content consumed, parent completed FFQ	zBMI (WHO)	Age, sex, vitamin D supplementation, minutes per day of both outdoor free play and	Participants who consumed whole milk had 0.72 (95% CI: 0.68-0.76) lower zBMI score than children who consumed reduced fat milk	<0.0001

		screen time, milk	
		and SSB volume	
		consumed daily,	
		maternal BMI,	
		skin	
		pigmentation,	
		family income,	
		maternal	
		ethnicity, date	

Prospective Cohort Studies										
Author, year	N, age range	Duration	Exposure	Outcome	Variables adjusted for	Adjusted Result	P value			
Berkey, 2005 ³⁹	12,829 9-14 years USA	3 years	Dietary intake, self- administered FFQ	BMI (CDC)	Prior-year BMI z score, physical activity and inactivity, race or ethnicity, sex, age and maturational stage, height growth	Among boys, 0.027 higher BMI (95% CI 0.002-0.053) with every daily serving of 1% milk, and girls 0.021 higher BMI per daily serving of reduced fat milk (95% CI 0.001- 0.04). BMI gains among children who consumed whole milk were not significant. Dairy fat (cheese, butter, etc.) was not significantly associated with BMI (effect NR)	<0.05, dairy fat NR			
Bigornia, 2014 ⁵⁶⁷	2,282 10-13 years UK	3 years	Dairy fat, parent assisted 3 day food records	Body fat %, BMI (IOTF)	Sex, volume of dairy intake, age, height, maternal education, maternal OW status, physical	Children who consumed the most whole fat dairy compared to the least whole fat dairy at age 10 and 13 had the lowest risk of excess fat mass (OR = 0.64, 95% CI 0.41-1.00), and a lower risk of OW (OR = 0.65, 95% CI 0.40-1.06) at age 13. High vs. low whole fat dairy	Fat mass, 0.03; OW, 0.24; BMI gains, <0.01. Reduced fat NR			

					activity, pubertal stage, dieting at follow-up, baseline intakes of cereal, total fat, total protein, fiber, 100% fruit juice, fruit and vegetables, SSBs, dietary reporting errors at follow-up	consumption also had the smallest gains in BMI (2.5 kg/m ² (95% CI 2.2-2.7) vs. 2.8 kg/m ² (95% CI 2.5- 3.0)). Reduced fat dairy associations with adiposity were not significant	
DeBoer , 2015 ⁵⁶¹	8,950	1 year	Volume and fat contant of	zBMI (CDC)	Sex,	Every 1% increase in milk fat was	< 0.001
2015	USA		milk, parent	(CDC)	SES	0.197 to -0.155) lower zBMI among	
	2.511		online		~~~~	4 year olds and 0.139 lower zBMI	
			interview			(95% CI -0.173 to -0.105) among 5	
DD	204	5	Distant	DMI	E a la tracia	year olds	<0.05
2016 ⁵⁸⁰	304 9-14	5 years	intake 2x24-	(IOTF)	Each twin	whole milk and alternatives than	<0.05
	years		h recalls by	(1011)	balance	their leaner twin; heavier girl twins	
	Ćanada		parent and		characteristics	consumed less whole milk than their	
			child with		of other twin	leaner twin. Reduced fat milk	
			registered			consumption among girls was	
			dietitian			associated with a 0.32 higher BMI from age 9.14 years, whole milk did	
						not have a significant relationship	
						with BMI	

Huh,	852	1 year	Volume and	zBMI	Age, sex,	Higher intake of whole milk at age 2	zBMI,
2010 ⁷	2-3 years	5	fat content of	(CDC)	race/ethnicity,	associated with -0.09 unit per daily	0.02
	USA		milk	~ /	energy intake,	serving, (95% CI -0.16 to -0.01)	
			consumed,		non-dairy	lower zBMI at age 3	OR for
			parent		beverage		OW:
			completed		intake, TV	Cow's milk fat intake not related to	whole
			FFQ		viewing,	OW; ORs for OW at age 3 were 1.04	milk, 0.84;
			_		maternal BMI	(95% CI 0.74-1.44) for whole milk,	1%/skim,
					and	0.91 (95% CI 0.20-1.34) for 2%	0.83
					education;	milk, and 0.95 (95% CI 0.58-1.55)	
					paternal BMI,	for 1%/skim milk	
					2-year BMI z-		
					score		
Noel,	2,245	3 years	Milk fat,	Body fat	Age, sex,	At age 13, per daily serving of whole	0.01
2011 ⁸	10-13		parent- and	%	height,	milk, a 1.32% lower body fat (95%	
	years		child-		physical	CI -2.36 to -0.27) was seen.	
	UK		completed 3		activity,	Longitudinal relationships were not	
			day food		pubertal	significant	
			records		status,		
					maternal		
					BMI,		
					maternal		
					education,		
					dietary		
					intakes of		
					total fat,		
					ready-to-eat		
					breakiast		
					cereal, 100%		
					iruit juice,		
					allu SSB		
					intake,		
					calcium, total		

					energy intake,		
					metabolic rate		
Scharf,	8,350	2 years	Milk fat,	zBMI	Sex, race,	Children who consumed reduced fat	OW age 2,
2013 ⁵⁶³	2-4 years		parent	(CDC)	SES, juice	(skim/1%) milk had higher odds of	4, OB age
	USA		completed	× /	and SSB	OW (age 2 OR= 1.64, 95% CI 1.32-	4:
			online		intake	2.03° age 4 OR= 1.63 95% CI 1.23-	<0.0001
			questionnaire		number of	1.86) or OB (age 2 OR= $1.57, 95\%$	OW age 4:
			1		glasses of	CI 1.03-2.42; age 4 OR= 1.64, 95%	0.002;
					milk daily,	CI 1.04-2.60) than those consuming	becoming
					maternal BMI	whole/2% milk. Children who were	OW/OB
						normal weight at age 2 who	age 4:
						consumed skim/1% milk more likely	0.04
						to become OW/OB at age 4 (OR=	
						1.57, 95% CI 1.03-2.42)	
Wosje,	51	1 year	Milk fat	Weight,	NR	No difference in weight or body fat	NR
2001 ⁵⁶⁵	1-2 years		consumption	body fat		at 12, 18 or 24 months, or changes in	
	USA		at 12, 18 and	change		anthropometry between children	
			24 months,	-		consuming reduced fat or whole milk	
			3-day food			(effect sizes NR)	
			record,				
			parent				
			completed				

OW= overweight, defined by >85th percentile for BMI or >1 for zBMI, OB = obesity, defined as >95th percentile for BMI and >2 for zBMI ⁵⁸⁷; FFQ= food frequency questionnaire; 25(OH)D= 25-hydroxyvitamin D; zBMI= Body Mass Index z-score; NR= not reported, SSB= sugar sweetened beverage, SES= socioeconomic status. Adiposity outcomes, where reported, were standardized according to WHO (World Health Organization), CDC (Centers for Disease Control), or IOTF (International Obesity Task Force). Shaded studies were those included in the meta-analysis.



CHAPTER 3: COW'S MILK FAT AND CHILD OVERWEIGHT: A META-ANALYSIS

	Represent- ativeness of the exposed cohort	Selection of the non- exposed cohort	Ascertainment of exposure	Outcome of interest not present at start	Comparability of cohorts on the basis of the design or analysis	Assessment of outcome	Duration sufficient for outcomes to occur (>1 year)	Adequacy of follow up of cohorts	Total	Overall risk of bias
Cross-section	nal studies ((20)								
Acharya, 2011 ⁵⁷¹	Х	X	X			Х			4	High
Barba, 2005 ¹⁰	Х	X			Х	Х			4	High
Barbiero, 2008 ⁵⁷³	Х								1	High
Beck, 2017 ⁹	Х	Х	X		X	X			5	High
Charvet, 2019 ⁵⁶⁴	Х	X	Х			Х			4	High
Dodd, 2010 ⁵⁶²	Х	Х	Х			Х			4	High
Eriksson, 2010 ⁵⁷²	Х	Х	Х						2	High
Gaylis, 2013 ⁵⁷⁹	Х	Х							2	High
Kim, 2019 ⁸²	Х	Х	Х						3	High
LaRowe, 2007 ⁶	Х	Х	Х		Х	Х			5	High
Mazahery, 2018 ¹¹	Х	X	Х						3	High
Milla Tobarra, 2014 ⁵⁷⁵		X				Х			2	High
Nelson,	X	X	X		X	X			5	High

 Table 8. Risk of Bias - Newcastle Ottawa Scale⁵⁵⁴ for Nonrandomized Studies

المنارات

2004^{570}					-					
Nilsen, 2017 ⁵⁶⁹	Х	Х			X	Х			4	High
O'Connor, 2006 ⁵⁷⁴	Х	Х	X		X				4	High
Papandreou, 2013 ⁵⁷⁶	Х	X	X		X	Х			5	High
Ruxton, 1996 ⁵⁷⁷	Х	Х				Х			3	High
Schroeder, 2014 ⁵⁷⁸	Х	Х			X	Х			4	High
Tovar, 2012 ⁵⁶⁸	Х	X			X	Х			4	High
Vanderhout, 2016 ⁴	Х	Х			X	Х			4	High
Total low ris	k					•				0
Prospective	cohort studi	ies (8)								
Berkey, 2005 ³⁹		X		X	XX		Х	Х	6	High
Bigornia,	X	V		V	V	Y	V		6	High
2014 ⁵⁶⁷	1	А		Λ	Λ	Λ	Λ		0	
2014 ⁵⁶⁷ DeBoer, 2015 ⁵⁶¹	X	X X		X		X	Λ	X	5	High
2014 ⁵⁶⁷ DeBoer, 2015 ⁵⁶¹ Dubois, 2016 ⁵⁸⁰	X X X	X X X	X	X X X		X	X	X	5	High High
2014 ⁵⁶⁷ DeBoer, 2015 ⁵⁶¹ Dubois, 2016 ⁵⁸⁰ Huh, 2010 ⁷	X X X X	X X X X	X	X X X X	X	X X X	X	X	5 5 7	High High Low
2014 ⁵⁶⁷ DeBoer, 2015 ⁵⁶¹ Dubois, 2016 ⁵⁸⁰ Huh, 2010 ⁷ Noel, 2011 ⁸	X X X X X	X X X X X X	X	X X X X X X	X XX XX X	X X X X X	X X X	X X	5 5 7 6	High High Low High
2014 ⁵⁶⁷ DeBoer, 2015 ⁵⁶¹ Dubois, 2016 ⁵⁸⁰ Huh, 2010 ⁷ Noel, 2011 ⁸ Scharf, 2013 ⁵⁶³	X X X X X X X	X X X X X X X	X	X X X X X X X	X XX XX X X	X X X X X X	X X X X X	X X	5 5 7 6 6	High High Low High High
2014 ⁵⁶⁷ DeBoer, 2015 ⁵⁶¹ Dubois, 2016 ⁵⁸⁰ Huh, 2010 ⁷ Noel, 2011 ⁸ Scharf, 2013 ⁵⁶³ Wosje, 2001 ⁵⁶⁵	X X X X X X X	X X X X X X X X	X	X X X X X X X X	X XX XX X X	X X X X X X	X X X X	X X X	5 5 7 6 6 5	High High Low High High High

المنسارة للاستشارات

Notes:

- Each study can be awarded a maximum of one X for each numbered item within the Selection and Exposure categories.
- A maximum of two X's can be given for Comparability. Two stars were awarded if studies accounted for volume of milk consumed, prior weight status (birth weight for cross-sectional studies), and parent BMI. One star was awarded for adjusting for at least 4 other covariates. By design, cross-sectional studies were considered unable to achieve comparable cohorts; a maximum of 1 star could only be awarded.
- The original NOS uses stars, which were replaced with X's for ease of visual interpretation.
- We specified follow up time to be adequate if study duration exceeded 1 year.
- If missing/lost to follow up participants were not reported, no star was allocated.
- As per NOS guidelines, studies were considered low risk of bias if they received at least 7 stars⁵⁵⁴.









Figure 2. Crude odds ratio of overweight/obesity comparing children consuming whole milk vs. reduced fat milk.

Author, Year	Ν	Whole Milk	Reduced Fat Milk		Odds Ratio [95% CI]
Barba, 2005 (55)	884	759	125		0.52 [0.35, 0.77]
Barbiero, 2008 (54)	405	359	46		0.36 [0.19, 0.67]
Beck, 2017 (44)	135	41	94		0.57 [0.18, 1.83]
Charvet, 2019 (40)	197	38	148		0.51 [0.22, 1.19]
Gaylis, 2017 (62)	598	262	336	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	1.07 [0.74, 1.54]
Kim, 2019 (56)	529	196	340	⊷∎	0.54 [0.38, 0.77]
Mazahery, 2017 (46)	1155	852	303	⊢ ∎i	0.71 [0.51, 0.98]
Nelson, 2004 (49)	451	350	101	→ ∎→ :	0.37 [0.23, 0.58]
Nilsen, 2017 (48)	2104	366	1738	⊷∎→	0.55 [0.40, 0.75]
Tovar, 2012 (47)	217	148	69		0.43 [0.24, 0.77]
Vanderhout, 2016 (42)	2738	1331	1407	H E H	0.59 [0.49, 0.72]
Pooled effect				-	0.56 [0.46, 0.69]
				r i r	1
			Favors whole milk	0.25 1 2	4 Favors reduced fat milk
				Odds Ratio (log scal	e)

Panel A: Cross-sectional studies only.

Panel B: Prospective cohort studies only.

Author, Year	Ν	Whole Milk	Reduced Fat Milk	Od	ds Ratio [95% CI]
Bigornia, 2014 (43)	2282	1224	1058	-	0.91 [0.74, 1.11]
Huh, 2010 (62)	852	452	400	÷	0.60 [0.44, 0.81]
Scharf, 2013 (38)	8350	3491	4859	•	0.76 [0.70, 0.84]
RE Model				-	0.76 [0.63, 0.92]
				0.25 1 2 4	
				Odds Ratio (log scale)	

Pooled effects were determined using random effects models. $I^2 = 73.8\%$. P values for pooled odds ratios: cross-sectional studies p<0.0001; prospective cohort studies p=0.006.





Figure 3. Dose-response relationship between cow's milk fat and odds of overweight or obesity.

Seven studies provided data on 14,582 and were included in this analysis. Each circle represents a group of participants in each study consuming different cow's milk fat. The size of the circles represent the inverse of the variance of the group-specific log odds. P-value derived from a dose-response meta-regression with an odds ratio of 0.75 (95% confidence interval 0.65, 0.87, $\tau^2 = 0.010$, $I^2 = 64\%$).



CHAPTER 4: A QUALITATIVE STUDY TO UNDERSTAND PARENT AND PHYSICIAN PERSPECTIVES ABOUT COW'S MILK FAT FOR CHILDREN

4.1 ABSTRACT

Objectives: Consensus guidelines recommend that children consume reduced (0.1-2%) fat cow's milk at age 2 years to reduce the risk of obesity. Behaviours and perspectives of parents and physicians about cow's milk fat for children are unknown. Objectives were to 1) understand what cow's milk fat recommendations physicians provide to 2 year old children; 2) assess the acceptability of reduced fat vs. whole cow's milk in children's diets by parents and physicians; and, 3) explore attitudes and perceptions about cow's milk fat for children.

Design: Online questionnaires and individual interviews were conducted. Questionnaire data were analyzed using descriptive statistics. Interview transcripts were analyzed using a general inductive approach and thematic analysis.

Setting: The TARGet Kids! practice-based research network in Toronto, Canada.

Participants: Questionnaires included 50 parents and 15 physicians; individual interviews: 14 parents and 12 physicians.

Results: Physicians provided various milk fat recommendations for 2 year old children. Parents also provided different cow's milks: 18 (38%) provided whole milk and 29 (62%) provided reduced fat milk. Analysis of qualitative interviews revealed three themes: 1) healthy eating behaviours, 2) trustworthy nutrition information, and 3) importance of dietary fat for children. **Conclusion:** Parents provide, and physicians recommend a variety of cow's milks for children, and hold mixed interpretations of the role of cow's milk fat in children's diets. Clarity about its effect on child adiposity is needed to help make informed decisions about cow's milk fat for children.



4.2 BACKGROUND

Parental choices about children's nutrition can be complex and involve a multitude of dynamic factors.⁵⁸⁸ Parents utilize a range of resources (internet, family, friends, books) to provide knowledge and inform food choices⁵⁸⁹ but they often seek physician guidance to provide unbiased information about healthy choices for their children.⁵⁹⁰ For over a century, professional guidelines have recommended that parents provide cow's milk for children.^{48,591} Cow's milk is a source of carbohydrates, fat, protein, vitamins and minerals, all of which are important for supporting child growth and development. For many children, cow's milk is a dietary staple and helps the transition from liquid to solid diets.^{58,592}

Since 1992, the National Health Service⁵⁹³ and Canadian Pediatric Society⁵¹ has recommended that children switch from whole fat (3.25%) to reduced fat cow's milk (1%) at age 2 years to limit dietary fat intake and minimize risk of childhood obesity. This guideline was based on expert opinion and supported by a low GRADE level of evidence.^{15,594} Two studies provided the scientific basis for this guideline. One was a randomized controlled trial that compared dietary counseling for increased unsaturated fat and decreased saturated fat and cholesterol intake (to a total of 30-35% energy from fat) to a free diet in Finland, and included 848 children aged 7-36 months.²⁷⁴ The other was a 3-year longitudinal analysis of 8-10 year old children (N= 663) who participated in a randomized controlled trial in the United States, which compared dietary counseling for reduction of dietary fat (28% energy) to standard of care.²⁷⁴ Results from these studies supported that consuming a fat-reduced diet during childhood was safe but provided little evidence to support a reduction in childhood obesity risk. Recent research has cast doubt on whether switching from whole to reduced fat milk at age 2 years is achieving its stated aim of reducing childhood obesity.^{4,9,10,15,563,566,571}



CHAPTER 4: PERSPECTIVES ABOUT COW'S MILK FAT FOR CHILDREN

The perspectives of parents and physicians about cow's milk fat for children are unknown as are the factors which contribute to parent and physician decision making about milk fat. Given that cow's milk is consumed by the majority of British and North American children,^{58,67} understanding how parents and physicians make decisions about which fat content of cow's milk to provide to children is important in informing future research, practice guidelines and public nutrition policy.

The study objectives were to: 1) understand what fat content of cow's milk parents provide to children and what recommendations primary care physicians provide to parents; 2) assess the acceptability of physician recommendations for reduced fat vs. whole milk by parents and physicians; and, 3) explore parents' and physicians' attitudes and perceptions about cow's milk fat.

4.3 METHODS

Study Design

A mixed-methods study was conducted. A questionnaire was first used to understand current practices and perceptions about cow's milk fat among parents and physicians. Then, individual interviews were conducted through a purposive sample of parents and physicians to understand decision making and attitudes and perceptions around cow's milk fat.

Participants

All parents and physicians were recruited through the *TARGet Kids!* (The Applied Research Group for Kids) practice-based research network,⁵⁹⁵ which is a collaboration of researchers and clinicians at the University of Toronto, St. Michael's Hospital, The Hospital for Sick Children, and McGill University. Interviews took place at two *TARGet Kids!* practice sites in Toronto.

Quantitative component

The purpose of the online questionnaire was to generate preliminary data to inform the

qualitative interview guide, enabling further exploration of preliminary data. Participants were



contacted by *TARGet Kids*! via email and invited to participate in an online questionnaire. A convenience sample of 15 parents (with 2-5 year old children) and 15 primary care pediatricians or family physicians were sought using Survey Monkey (surveymonkey.com).⁵⁹⁶ The identity of respondents was not captured for confidentiality reasons. Information about what fat content of cow's milk parents provided to children older than 2 years of age and what milk fat recommendations physicians provided to parents was collected, in addition to parent and physician perceptions about milk fat (*see Supplementary Material: Questionnaire*). Responses to each question were quantified and descriptive statistics performed including means and proportions.

Qualitative component

The purpose of the individual interviews was to understand the rationale and attitudes behind questionnaire responses. This included exploring the elements that were meaningful for parents and physicians when providing or recommending different fat contents of cow's milk, parent and physician interactions during these encounters, and parent and physician attitudes towards cow's milk fat. A semi-structured interview guide was developed by an experienced qualitative researcher (CJP) to improve the validity of data collection (*see Supplementary Material: Interview Script*), and allowed the interviewer flexibility to pursue follow-up questions based on participant responses. The analysis of the transcripts occurred concomitantly with data collection according to the cyclic process of qualitative inquiry. Recruitment occurred through an iterative process until data saturation was reached, involving a minimum of 12 parents of children aged 2-5 years who drink milk and 12 physicians.⁵⁹⁶ Interviews were 5 to 20 minutes in length and were conducted using an iterative approach. A convenience sample of parents were recruited in the waiting room of *TARGet Kids*!-affiliated pediatric and family practices, and physicians.were recruited in their practice offices. The researcher conducting the interviews (SV)



CHAPTER 4: PERSPECTIVES ABOUT COW'S MILK FAT FOR CHILDREN

was a female PhD student with prior training in conducting interviews, and did not have preexisting relationships with interviewees. Participants provided their age range (under 29, 30-39, or over 40 years), the number of children they had, and their children's ages.

Interviews were transcribed and de-identified (names and identifiable information removed). Participants did not review study transcripts or analysis results. Textual data were analyzed by one researcher (SV). Thematic analysis and general inductive approach were used to analyze and interpret the data. Text was coded and organized in categories, and themes were identified across the interviews guided by the research questions.⁵⁹⁷ The researcher first familiarized herself with the data by reading and transcribing the interview transcripts. Then the data were coded, creating categories, building a coding scheme, identifying initial themes, reviewing and refining themes, and finally, naming and describing themes, including orienting each theme within the study context. Constant comparison analysis was conducted to analyze responses from parents and physicians in the main identified themes. Themes relevant to the research questions and objectives were identified and interpreted to understand core messages from both parents and physicians. After the themes were identified and described, physician and parent experiences and views were reviewed by the study team. Quotes that articulated repeated or recurring messages were chosen for inclusion in the study manuscript. Triangulation of researchers was employed (CJP and SV) to evaluate and improve reliability of the interpretation of results. NVivo 11 software was used for data organization and analysis.⁵⁹⁸

4.4 RESULTS

Quantitative component:

Online questionnaires were completed by 50 parents and 15 physicians. Milk fat recommendations were routinely provided by 9 of the 15 physicians (60%) at the 2 year well-child visit. Of these, 4 physicians recommended 2% milk (27%) and 5 physicians recommended



whole milk (33%). Five physicians provided no milk fat recommendations (33%) and one physician did not provide an answer. Twenty-four of the 50 parents (48%) reported providing 2% milk to their children regularly, while 18 parents (36%) provided whole (3.25% fat) milk, 3 parents (7%) gave 1% milk, and 2 parents (4%) skim (0.1% fat) milk. Reasons for milk fat choice among parents included physician recommendation by 32 parents (64%), guideline recommendation by 19 parents (38%), and friend/family recommendation by 10 parents (20%). A few parents provided other reasons including "personal preference," "we buy one milk for the whole family," "my child needs extra fat," and "my child does not need extra fat."

Many parents and physicians believed that whole milk provided benefits to children over 2 years of age, which included healthier growth (36% of parents, 33% of physicians), brain development (30% of parents, 33% of physicians), and better nutrition (40% of parents, 33% of physicians). However, 38% of parents and 40% of physicians believed that whole milk did not provide any benefit, and 26% of parents and 60% of physicians believed that reduced fat milk did not provide any benefit. Forty-two percent of parents reported that reduced fat milk helped to reduce childhood obesity while few (13%) physicians held this view. All questionnaire results are shown in Table 9.

Qualitative component:

Individual interviews were conducted with 14 parents and 12 physicians. Most (n= 9) parents were 30-39 years old, while one parent was less than 29 years old and 4 were over 40 years old. Ten parents had two children, and four parents had one child. The mean age of parents' children was 3.6 (SD 1.2) years. All parents who were approached to participate did so. Three approached physicians refused to participate stating that they did not have time. Through the thematic analysis, three main themes were identified as being integral to views about cow's milk fat among parents and physicians: 1) healthy eating behaviours, 2) trustworthy nutrition



information, and 3) importance of dietary fat for children. These themes were chosen based on their frequency in discussion with both parents and physicians, relevance to the context and objectives of the study, and emphasis observed by the researcher when interviewing participants.

Theme 1: Healthy eating behaviours

This theme was defined by the meaning of healthy food, who it is provided by and what it means to eat, provide, or recommend healthy food. Parents and physicians wanted children to develop healthy dietary habits from an early age. The term "healthy" was constructed differently by participants according to different information from trusted sources. Interview participants described healthy food as natural, unprocessed, containing vitamins and minerals, and recommended by a trusted source. A healthy diet was described as having a variety or a balance of foods in moderation, with appropriate amounts of carbohydrates, fat and protein. A healthy diet included the four food groups, and contained food for healthy growth and development. Foods containing "healthy fat" were considered healthy, but foods very high in fat or sugar were considered unhealthy. Some parents and physicians recognized that "low fat" foods can be higher in sugar.

Some parents and physicians described their habits or behaviours as "healthy," such as knowledge of healthy diets, providing or recommending nutritious foods for children, and encouraging healthy eating habits at home. Many parents mentioned limiting "unhealthy" foods such as red meat or sugar, but placed importance on foods viewed as "healthy" for children, such as "healthy fats," nuts, fruits and vegetables. It was evident that parents identified with their parenthood, but also in providing healthy food for their children.

"First off, [fat is important because] we want to make sure they grow up healthy and strong, so that's one. And also I believe you should foster a healthy eating habit early on, and it also has to do with body image, and identity." – Parent



"I feel like whatever we give him is pretty healthy anyway, as long as it's balanced." – Parent

Physicians were aware that their recommendations and interactions with parents and children were meaningful and had tangible effects. To be a "healthy" physician was to be reliable, reasonable, and flexible – to adapt to patients' needs and concerns while providing authoritative advice about behaviors and foods that would positively influence the health of their patients.

"My job is to keep them healthy." – Physician

Theme 2: Trustworthy nutrition information

This theme was defined by the trusted resources parents and physicians rely on to make decisions that affect the health of their children or patients. The leading trusted source of information among parents was physician guidance, and among physicians was clinical guidelines based on high-quality scientific evidence presented in peer-reviewed journal articles and clinical practice guidelines from reputable organizations (such as the Canadian Pediatric Society). Participants explained that their decisions about cow's milk fat were based on information they trusted.

Among physicians, trust in guidelines based on high quality scientific evidence was an important factor in providing nutritional recommendations to patients. Physicians trusted guidelines to be based on robust evidence, defined as research published in well-respected medical journals, from relevant populations, and using rigorous scientific methods. While physicians incorporated other relevant information (child weight and perceived risk of overweight or obesity, family socioeconomic status, other dietary factors such as volume of milk consumed) into their decision-making process, convincing scientific evidence was influential in decision making. Physicians were skeptical about research or publications with industry influence.



"Yes [I would like to be shown the evidence]. People will ask why...There needs to be some reason for having the full fat. A benefit, rather than safe. There needs to be a benefit." – Physician I would have no problem recommending whole milk beyond 2 years of age if that was

supported by the evidence. – Physician

Some physicians felt that the current guideline to transition from whole to reduced fat milk at age 2 years was reasonable while others questioned its utility and evidence base.

I think [the current guideline] makes it easy to give advice. But I question whether it's actually factual. -- Physician

[The current guideline] sounds reasonable to me, but I wonder with some patients whether that is the right thing to do- I don't know when to break that rule. – Physician

Physicians who questioned the guideline tended not to make any cow's milk fat recommendation, allowing parents to decide if and when to reduce milk fat content for their children. When asked if physicians would recommend whole milk beyond age 2 years, eleven of twelve interviewed physicians were willing to do so provided they were able to access, understand and communicate trusted evidence that whole milk was better for children than reduced fat milk. One physician expressed discomfort in recommending whole milk after age 2 years, as the physician was cautious about recommending too much dietary fat.

All physicians felt strongly that parents should know the volume of milk guideline (500 mL, or 2 servings per day), regardless of fat content of milk provided. Several voiced concerns about children consuming a large quantity of milk daily.

I think it's a low-hanging fruit to come down on the cow's milk [fat], because they're already drinking a lot of it, it's an easy way to reduce calories in the diet. – Physician



Parents viewed their children's physician as the most trustworthy source of information when making decisions concerning the health of their children. Although parents received information from peers, the internet, and books, they were aware that this was subject to inaccuracy and inapplicability to their own children. Physicians established trusting relationships with parents by demonstrating knowledge, critical thinking, and skilled expertise in their practice, ultimately providing the best possible care and recommendations unique to each child. Parents frequently said that their child's physician had the best interest of their child in mind, used current, robust research to make recommendations appropriate for their child, and would provide recommendations specific to their child's individual needs. Physicians were described as knowledgeable, well-educated, trustworthy, and held in high esteem.

"If someone told me to do something in the best interest of my daughter, definitely I'd investigate further, but I wholeheartedly trust the pediatrician. I have not gone to medical school, I don't have the expertise. So that's a trusted source for me. If he's saying something, it's probably sound." – Parent

"[Physicians who make recommendations] have research to support it." - Parent

When asked about providing whole milk to children older than age 2 years, 12 of 14 parents were willing to do so at the recommendation of their children's physician. Some parents would require further explanation, rationale, or support from the physician; others would accept a physician recommendation without additional details. Two parents stated that they would not feel comfortable providing whole milk beyond age 2 years because of concerns about excess dietary fat.

Theme 3: Importance of dietary fat for children

This theme was defined by the perception of dietary fat in children's diets, and what it means to provide fat to children. Parents and physicians were aware that children need a higher proportion of dietary fat than adults because of its role in growth and development. They



recognized the importance of fat for brain development, physical activity levels in children, and overall growth. However, *too much* dietary fat was concerning for both parents and physicians, as they believed excess dietary fat would lead to excess adipose tissue. Parents and physicians were concerned about too much fat in children's diets, and were cautious not to provide too much fat to reduce their children's risk of overweight or obesity. Too much fat was viewed with negative implications but not well defined. Parents and physicians placed importance on preventing childhood overweight and obesity. They sought simple, actionable and effective ways to reduce the risk of obesity early in life, including dietary strategies.

"I think fat is good, as long as you don't have too much." – Parent

"He needs it to grow- he's growing lots of cells, he needs fat, so I don't have a problem with giving him fat, I just don't want to give him too much." – Parent

Despite concern about too much dietary fat among parents and physicians, parents repeatedly referred to cow's milk fat as "healthy," "essential," "unprocessed" and "natural." Parents viewed cow's milk as an appropriate food for their children, including the fat it provides. This perspective allowed parents to feel comfortable providing it to their children, and seemed to bring parents a sense of assuredness that their children were receiving proper nutrition.

"I do believe milk is a source of healthy fat so I wouldn't really question it, and I actually do think it's probably healthy, nutritious for kids." – Parent

Physicians acknowledged cow's milk as a suitable food for children, especially young children transitioning from fluid to solid diets. However, physicians commented on the proportion of children who are served too much milk, due in part to convenience, likability on behalf of children, and parents' positive views of milk. Physicians felt that some parents perceived milk as such a nutritious food, they seemed not to limit their child's consumption, leading children to consume excess calories and fat.



"You just give a couple cups of milk a day and that helps to give the essential fat."

Physicians also wondered about the appropriate amount of fat for children, including effects on future well-being.

"I wonder about the impact longitudinally on cardiac health or diabetes. What have [the current milk fat] guidelines done on the long term effects?" – Physician

4.5 DISCUSSION

In this mixed-methods study, questionnaires and individual semi-structured interviews were used to understand how parents and physicians make milk fat recommendations for children. Parents and physicians were similarly divided about providing or recommending whole milk, reduced fat milk, or no milk fat for children 2 years of age or older. Through a thematic analysis of parent and physician interview transcripts, three themes were identified: 1) healthy eating behaviours, 2) trustworthy nutrition information, and 3) importance of dietary fat for children. These themes were helpful in understanding how parents and physicians use trusted resources to develop healthy habits and behaviours which informed perceptions about foods viewed as best for children's nutrition and development.

Within the "healthy food" theme, an identity phenomenon emerged among both parents and physicians. Parents and physicians who identified as being "healthy" felt it important to act according to their beliefs, identity, and knowledge by providing or recommending what they determined to be "healthy" for children. Beyond objective classification of foods based on nutritional content, parents classified foods as being healthy based on their preferences, beliefs, or identity. It has been described that an individual's determination of a "healthy food" is highly variable and dependent on beliefs, ⁵⁹⁹ experiences, ⁶⁰⁰ perceptions⁶⁰¹ and likes or dislikes. ⁶⁰² Results of this study suggest that if parents believe they are providing a healthy diet to children,



CHAPTER 4: PERSPECTIVES ABOUT COW'S MILK FAT FOR CHILDREN

many foods can be described as healthy because the parent had chosen to provide it, or a trusted resource described it as such. For example, some parents felt justified in providing whole milk to children because extra fat was needed for growth, while parents who provided reduced fat milk believed that providing less fat was needed. Moderation and balance about fat consumption were frequently mentioned by both parents and physicians, which is consistent with other studies that asked participants to define "healthy diets."^{601,603} As Lupton and Chapman point out, "by using the concept of moderation, people could justify any food choice."⁶⁰⁴

The themes of trust and healthy food intersected where some parents regarded physician opinion and guidance as superior to other information sources. Similarly, physician trust in guidelines that were perceived to be based on high-quality evidence helped maintain their duty to keep children healthy. However, parents who had more knowledge or experience in nutrition and physicians who were more versed in current literature deviated from guideline-based recommendations. This knowledge and experience may have resulted in heightened confidence and autonomy. Further, well-established "healthy" identities may have allowed for personal judgment to override commonly-held beliefs. Knowledge about nutrition has been shown to be a determinant of dietary behavior, where interest and importance placed on nutrition often varies with nutrition knowledge.⁶⁰⁵ Less educated or less experienced parents or physicians may have felt more reliant on experts and not as free to deviate from guidelines or advice. This has been noted in other literature. Hart et al. described that individuals of higher socioeconomic status or higher educational attainment had less reliance on nutrition guidelines and more reliance on an innate knowledge about food.⁶⁰⁶ According to Bisogni et al., a person's diet is a manifestation of a variety of factors, such as knowledge, attitudes towards food and socioeconomic status.⁵⁸⁸

An overwhelming number of parents identified cow's milk fat as "natural," "unprocessed," and "healthy." This finding was remarkable because the term "healthy fat" is commonly



125

associated with unsaturated fat, whereas "unhealthy fat" is another term for saturated fat, which are most of the fatty acids in cow's milk. This discrepancy may have occurred because parents are told by trusted sources that cow's milk is healthy for children; therefore, cow's milk fat must be the "healthy" variety. However, many parents voiced that they tried not to provide their child "too much fat." While no amount of fat was defined as "too much," parents and physicians recognized that a high proportion of dietary fat would likely cause weight gain. This ambiguity may have contributed to the varied recommendations physicians reported providing at 2-year well-child visits, and differing fat contents of cow's milk parents served to children over age 2 years. Though some opinions held by participants were strong (cow's milk is healthy, children need dietary fat), ambiguity in terms such as "healthy food," "too much fat," and "healthy fat" may have caused parents difficulty in discerning how much dietary fat to provide their children. Parents tended to rely on physicians, who used guidelines based on research to direct their practice. The strength of evidence on which these guidelines are based was acknowledged by only a few physicians, who also tended not to provide cow's milk fat recommendations. Overall, the varied regular practice of parents and physicians indicated by the quantitative component of this study reflects the uncertainty of evidence, varied confidence in current guidelines, and mixed messages parents receive as a result.

This study has a number of strengths. Recruitment took place in a primary care setting, which allowed us to obtain a sample of participants highly relevant to our research questions. Semi-structured interviews were informed by a quantitative questionnaire which provided focus and facilitated the identification of perspectives and ideas which may not easily be captured by other research methods. The semi-structured interviews allowed the interviewer to respond flexibly to participant responses, obtaining further details when appropriate, contributing to data richness. Data saturation was also considered to be reached by the interviewer, indicating a wide



variety of viewpoints had been richly captured. Thematic analysis provided understanding of participant views and ideas which were directly related to our research questions and overarching concepts.

This study also had a number of limitations. Interviewer views and perspectives are implicit in qualitative methods involving interviews. The interviewer was aware of some biases she may have introduced to participant discussion, such as knowledge of clinical nutrition guidelines, and current literature on the topic of children's nutrition. However, interview questions were reviewed by other researchers (JM, CJP) to mitigate risk of a biased script, and a reflexive journal was kept by the analyst during the whole analysis, interpretation, and writing stages to minimize the projection of their individual views and thoughts. Online questionnaires did not capture the social identity of participants, or their views and behaviors related to their social role, which may have allowed persons other than participating TARGet Kids! physicians or parents to complete them. Although all parents who were approached to participate did so, participant views may be different than those of individuals who declined to participate in research activities, received or provide healthcare outside of the TARGet Kids! practice based research network or did not have access to primary healthcare. Responses obtained by this study may also not be generalizable to other populations. However, data saturation was considered to be reached in the interviews, suggesting that many ideas were shared among participants in this study, which may be generalizable to populations outside of this study sample.

4.6 SIGNIFICANCE

Most parents and physicians strive for their children and patients to be healthy. Parents trust physicians to make recommendations in their best interest, and physicians trust high-quality evidence. But, lack of clarity about the effect of cow's milk fat on childhood weight status resulted in ambiguity about what amount of cow's milk fat is perceived as "healthy" for both



CHAPTER 4: PERSPECTIVES ABOUT COW'S MILK FAT FOR CHILDREN

parents and physicians. A better understanding of the effect of cow's milk fat on childhood adiposity would help parents and physicians make informed decisions. Understanding how parents and physicians place trust in information sources, use existing knowledge, and use their identity to shape decisions may be helpful for future research and policy recommendations about milk fat for children.


Table 9. Questionnaire responses about cow's milk fat of parents of children aged 2-5 years who drink cow's milk (n=50) and physicians (n=15) participating in the TARGet Kids! research network.

	Question	Parents, n (%)	Physicians, n (%)		
	What cow's milk fat recommendation do	you typically make du	ring the 2-year well-		
	child visit?				
	Skim		0(0)		
	1%		0 (0)		
	2%		4 (27)		
	Whole		5(33)		
	None		5 (33)		
	What cow's milk fat recommendation did	your child's physiciar	make during their 2		
	vear well-child visit if any?	your ennu s physician	make during their 2		
	Skim	0 (0)			
	1%	1(2)			
	2%	18 (36)			
	Whole	11 (22)			
	None	11 (22)			
	Don't know	8 (16)			
	What fat content of cow's milk do you us	ally provide to your o	hild?		
	Skim	$\frac{1}{2}$ (4)			
	1%	$\frac{2(4)}{3(6)}$			
	20/	3(0)			
	270 Whole	18(36)			
	Why do you aboase this fat content of con	10(30)	<u>ງ</u>		
	willy do you choose this fat content of cov	v s mink for your child	<u>[</u>		
	Recommended by physician	19 (38)			
	Recommended by guideline	11 (22)			
	Recommended by friend/family	6 (12)			
	Other	17(34)			
	What dietary recommendations do you us	ually provide to parent	s of ~2 year old		
	children whom you or the parent suspects	is at risk of overweigh	t/obesity?		
	Reduce sugar-sweetened		13 (87)		
	heverages		15 (07)		
	Reduce bottle use		14 (93)		
	Reduce fat intake		1(7)		
	Reduce % fat of milk		$\frac{1}{3}(20)$		
	Increase % fat of milk		$\frac{3(20)}{1(7)}$		
	Reduce kcal intake		2(13)		
	Increase fruit/yeg		$\frac{2}{14}(93)$		
	Structure meals/snacks		12 (80)		
	What dietary recommendations do you us	ually provide to parent	12(00) s of \sim 2 year old		
	children whom you or the parent suspects	what dietary recommendations do you usually provide to parents of ~ 2 year old children whom you or the parent suspects is at risk of underweight?			
	Increase keal intake		12 (80)		
			12 (00)		
1.1.4					
ستشارات		129			
			www.ma		

CHAPTER 4: PERSPECTIVES ABOUT COW'S MILK FAT FOR CHILDREN

Reduce % fat of milk		0	
Increase % fat of milk		8 (53)	
Increase meals/snacks		4 (9)	
Food fortification		3 (20)	
What do you think is the ideal fat content o	f cow's milk for child	lren over age 2 years?	
Skim		0 (0)	
1%		1 (7)	
2%		7 (47)	
Whole		7 (47)	
What do you think are the benefits of provi	ding children older th	an 2 years of age	
with whole (3.25% fat) milk (select all that	apply)?		
Better body composition	6 (12)	2 (13)	
Healthier growth	18 (36)	5 (33)	
Brain development	15 (30)	5 (33)	
Obesity prevention	5 (10)	2 (13)	
Better nutrition	20 (40)	5 (33)	
None	19 (38)	6 (40)	
What do you think are the harms of providi	ng children older thar	n 2 years of age with	
whole (3.25% fat) milk (select all that apply	<u>y)?</u>		
May cause weight gain	19 (38)	5 (33)	
Higher fat intake	21 (42)	4 (9)	
None	17 (34)	10 (67)	
What do you think are the benefits of provi	ding children older th	an 2 years of age	
with reduced fat (1 or 2% fat) milk (select a	all that apply)?	1	
Better body composition	12 (24)	2 (13)	
Healthier growth	11 (22)	1 (7)	
Brain development	1 (2)	1 (7)	
Obesity prevention	21 (42)	2 (13)	
Better nutrition	7 (14)	1 (7)	
None	13 (26)	9 (60)	
What do you think are the harms of providing children older than 2 years of age with			
reduced fat (1 or 2% fat) milk (select all that apply)?			
May cause weight gain	4 (8)	1 (7)	
May cause weight loss	6 (12)	0 (0)	
Lower fat intake	29 (58)	3 (20)	
None	12 (24)	11 (73)	



CHAPTER 5: COW'S MILK FAT AND CHILD ADIPOSITY: A PROSPECTIVE COHORT STUDY

5.1 ABSTRACT

Background. International guidelines recommend children aged 9 months to 2 years consume whole (3.25%) fat cow's milk, and children older than age 2 years consume reduced (0.1-2%) fat cow's milk to prevent obesity. The objective of this study was to evaluate the longitudinal relationship between cow's milk fat (0.1-3.25%) intake and Body Mass Index z-score (zBMI) in childhood.

Methods. A prospective cohort study of children aged 9 months to 8 years was conducted through the TARGet Kids! primary care research network. The primary exposure was cow's milk fat consumption (skim (0.1%), 1%, 2%, whole (3.25%)), assessed by parental report. The primary outcome was zBMI. Height and weight were measured by trained research assistants and zBMI was determined according to WHO growth standards. A linear mixed effects model and logistic generalized estimating equations were used to determine the longitudinal association between cow's milk fat intake and child zBMI.

Results. Among children aged 9 months to 8 years (N= 7467), each 1% increase in cow's milk fat consumed was associated with a 0.05 lower zBMI score (95% CI -0.07 to -0.03, p< 0.0001). Compared to children who consumed reduced fat (0.1-2%) milk, there was evidence that children who consumed whole milk had 16% lower odds of overweight (OR= 0.84, 95% CI 0.77 to 0.91, p< 0.0001) and 18% lower odds of obesity (OR= 0.82, 95% CI 0.68 to 1.00, p= 0.047). **Conclusion.** Guidelines for reduced fat instead of whole cow's milk during childhood may not be effective in preventing overweight or obesity.



5.2 INTRODUCTION

One in three children in North America are living with overweight or obesity.⁶⁰⁷ Childhood obesity has been associated with lower self-esteem⁶⁰⁸ and higher risk of mood disorders.⁶⁰⁹ Childhood obesity also tracks into adulthood,⁶¹⁰ increasing the risk of cardiovascular disease over the life course.⁶¹¹

Cow's milk is widely consumed in childhood^{58,66} and contains nutrients which support growth and development, such as protein, fat, calcium, phosphorous and vitamin D. The American Academy of Pediatrics and American Heart Association,⁶¹² the Canadian Pediatric Society,³⁰⁴ and National Health Service (UK)⁵⁴ recommend that children consume whole (3.25% milk fat) cow's milk until 2 years of age and then switch to reduced (0.1-2% milk fat) cow's milk to lower the risk of overweight or obesity. A recent systematic review and meta-analysis of observational studies revealed evidence that whole milk was associated with lower risk of child overweight or obesity among children aged 9 months to 18 years.⁶¹³ These findings were largely based on low quality cross sectional studies which did not adjust for potential confounding factors such as volume of milk consumed or previous child weight or social determinants of health. The current study was designed to overcome these weaknesses and minimize risk of bias through a large prospective cohort study with adjustment for important potentially confounding factors. We hypothesized that children who consumed higher cow's milk fat would have lower adiposity and be less likely to have overweight or obesity compared to children who consumed lower cow's milk fat.

The primary objective of this study was to evaluate the relationship between cow's milk fat consumption and child adiposity, assessed using Body Mass Index z-score (zBMI) among healthy children aged 9 months to 8 years. The secondary objective was to determine the



132

relationship between whole vs. reduced fat (0.1-2%) cow's milk consumption and odds of overweight and obesity.

5.3 METHODS

Participants and setting

A prospective cohort study was conducted through the TARGet Kids! (The Applied Research Group for Kids) primary care research network in Toronto, Ontario, Canada. Children were followed through TARGet Kids! between August 2008 and April 2019 during regularly scheduled well-child visits at twelve pediatric and family practices.⁵⁹⁵ Healthy children aged 9 months to 8 years who reported consuming cow's milk were included. Exclusion criteria were children with severe developmental delay, birth weight <2500 grams, chronic illness impacting metabolism (e.g. cystic fibrosis).

Exposure

The primary exposure was cow's milk fat consumption. This was measured through a parent-completed dietary questionnaire based on the Canadian Community Health Survey.⁶¹⁴ Parents were asked, "Please specify your child's diet for the past 3 days: skim (0.1%), 1%, 2%, homo (3.25%) milk." If parents indicated more than one milk fat, responses were averaged. The secondary analysis categorized the exposure as whole (3.25%) or reduced (0.1-2%) fat cow's milk consumption.

Outcome

The primary outcome was Body Mass Index z-score (zBMI), which is an age and sex adjusted measure of body weight. Trained research assistants measured child weight in kilograms and height in metres using a Healthometer digital baby scale and standardized recumbent length board (SECA, FL), respectively, for children younger than 2 years of age. Weight and height were measured using a Healthometer stadiometer (SECA, FL) for older



children. Body Mass Index was calculated by dividing weight (kg) by height squared (m²) and zscores were determined according to the World Health Organization (WHO) growth standards. For secondary outcomes, categories for normal weight, overweight and obesity were: $-2 \le zBMI \le 1$ normal weight, $1 < zBMI \le 2$ overweight, zBMI > 2 obesity, consistent with WHO recommended weight status categorization.⁶¹⁵ For the purpose of this manuscript and consistency across ages, we applied WHO weight classifications for children over age 5 years to all children in our sample.^{616,617}

Covariates

Clinically relevant covariates which have been proposed in the literature to have a relationship with cow's milk fat or childhood adiposity were specified *a priori* through a detailed literature review. These included volume of cow's milk, volume of sugary drinks (including 100% juice, fruit drinks, and soft drinks) consumed in 250 mL cups per day, maternal ethnicity, self-reported family income, birth weight in kilograms, breastfeeding duration in months, and parent BMI. Dietary information, maternal ethnicity, family income, breastfeeding duration and birth weight were collected using the same questionnaire as used to measure cow's milk fat consumption. Volume of cow's milk and sugary drinks was measured with the question, "Circle how many cups of each drink your child has currently in a typical day: 0, ½, 1, 2, 3, 4, 5+." Trained research assistants measured parental height and weight using a Healthometer stadiometer (SECA, FL) and BMI was calculated as weight (kg) divided by height squared (m²). *Statistical analysis*

Descriptive statistics were used to characterize participants. To determine the longitudinal association between cow's milk fat consumption and child zBMI, a linear mixed effects model was used. Linear mixed effects models have the advantage that all repeated



measures provided by each participant can be used and within-subject correlation can be accounted for using subject specific random intercepts. For the primary analysis, unadjusted and adjusted (see covariates above) models were created with cow's milk fat as the exposure and zBMI as the outcome. Restricted cubic splines for age with 5 knots were used to evaluate nonlinear trajectories of the observed relationships in keeping with previous research in the same cohort.⁶¹⁸ For the secondary analysis, logistic generalized estimating equations (GEE) were used to examine the relationship between cow's milk fat and odds ratio (OR) of overweight excluding obesity (1 < zBMI ≤ 2) and obesity (zBMI > 2) relative to normal weight (-2 ≤ zBMI ≤ 1).

All covariates had less than 15% missing data. Missing data was handled using multiple imputation using 18 imputed datasets using all covariates.⁶¹⁹ Sensitivity analyses were conducted among children with and without missing data to assess for consistency of results. For all statistical tests, an alpha level of 0.05 was used and 95% confidence intervals were calculated. Multicollinearity was measured using the variance inflation factor, which remained under 1.5 for all covariates.⁶²⁰ All analyses were conducted using the geepack,⁶²¹ multgee,⁶²² nlme⁶²³ and lme4⁶²⁴ packages in R version 3.5.1.⁶²⁵

All parents of children participating in this study provided informed written consent, and ethics approval was obtained from the Hospital for Sick Children and Unity Health Toronto.

5.4 RESULTS

A total of 7467 children aged 9 months to 8 years were included in the analysis (Figure 4). Baseline characteristics of participating children are described in Table 10. At baseline, the mean child age was 2.6 (SD 1.5) years, and 53% of participants were male. The mean zBMI at baseline was 0.18 (SD 1.1); 77% of children had normal weight, 16% had overweight excluding obesity, 5% had obesity, and 2% had underweight. The majority (56%) of children consumed whole cow's milk at baseline, followed by 2% milk (34% of children), 1% milk (8% of children)



and skim milk (3% of children). On average, children were reported to consume 1.9 (SD 1.2) 250-mL cups of cow's milk per day at baseline. The mean follow-up duration was 2.7 years (SD 1.7).

For the primary analysis, the unadjusted linear mixed model revealed that on average with every 1% increase in cow's milk fat consumed (for example, 2% vs. 1%, 1% vs. skim, etc.), children had 0.05 lower zBMI (95% CI -0.07 to -0.03, p< 0.0001). For example, a 4 year old child who consumed whole milk had on average 0.1 kg lower body weight than a 4 year old child with the same height consuming reduced fat milk. When adjusted for all pre-specified covariates, the relationship remained unchanged (Table 11). Figure 5 shows the adjusted longitudinal relationship between cow's milk fat, dichotomized into reduced (0.1-2%) fat and whole (3.25%) fat milk, and child zBMI.

In the secondary analysis, odds ratios for overweight and obesity among children who consumed whole vs. skim (0.1%), 1% and 2% cow's milk were estimated (Table 12 and Figure 6). When analyzed in a multinomial logistic GEE model, there was evidence that children who consumed whole cow's milk had 16% lower odds of overweight (OR= 0.84, 95% CI 0.77 to 0.91), p< 0.0001) and 18% lower odds of obesity (OR= 0.82, 95% CI 0.68 to 1.00, p= 0.047) compared to children who consumed reduced (0.1-2%) fat cow's milk.

5.5 DISCUSSION

In this prospective cohort study of 7467 healthy children aged 9 months to 8 years, higher cow's milk fat consumption was associated with lower child zBMI after controlling for potential confounding factors including volume of milk consumed, parent BMI, and birth weight. There was evidence that children who consumed whole milk had 16% lower odds of overweight and 18% lower odds of obesity relative to children who consumed reduced fat (0.1-2%) milk.



Professional recommendations from the American Academy of Pediatrics, Academy of Nutrition and Dietetics, American Heart Association,⁶¹² Health Canada and the Canadian Pediatric Society²³⁷ recommend that children consume whole cow's milk until age 2 years, and then transition to reduced (0.1-2%) fat cow's milk to reduce the risk of excess adiposity. These guidelines are based on consensus opinion¹⁵ and evidence from the 1990's supporting that reduced fat cow's milk is safe for children to consume.^{274,626} Our findings support the guideline for children aged 9 months to 2 years, but suggest that guidelines for older children may not be effective in preventing child overweight or obesity.

Findings from the present study are consistent with several other studies. A recent systematic review and meta-analysis identified 28 observational studies which examined the relationship between cow's milk fat and child adiposity among children aged 9 months to 18 years.⁶¹³ An association between higher cow's milk fat and lower adiposity was found in 18 studies, and 10 studies reported no evidence of a relationship. Among three longitudinal studies included in the meta-analysis, which involved 11,484 children aged 2-13 years, children who consumed whole cow's milk had 0.76 the odds of overweight or obesity (95% CI 0.63 to 0.92, p= 0.006) compared to children who consumed reduced fat (0.1 to 2%) cow's milk. However, 27 of the studies, including 7 of the 8 prospective cohort studies, were considered to have high risk of bias due to cross sectional design or lack of adjustment for potential confounding factors such as volume of milk, prior measures of adiposity, and parent BMI. The current study was designed to overcome these weaknesses through a large prospective cohort study with adjustment for important potentially confounding factors.

Possible mechanisms underlying the observed relationship include reverse causality, where parents of leaner children provide higher cow's milk fat and vice versa. One qualitative



137

study sought to understand if mothers considered child adiposity when choosing cow's milk fat for their children and revealed that those who perceived their children to be overweight or obese tended to choose reduced fat milk instead of whole milk, but that mothers' perception of children's weight status was correct only 63% of the time.⁸² Other studies have identified that parent perception of child adiposity tends to be underestimated.^{627,628} Another possibility is that children who consume higher cow's milk fat are more satiated than those who consume reduced fat cow's milk, leading them to consume a lower quantity of cow's milk or other energy dense foods contributing to higher energy intake.⁴⁴⁸ Hormones secreted in response to whole milk consumption such as cholecystokinin and glucagon-like peptide 1 may also play a role in this relationship.^{21,441} Cow's milk fat contains unique fatty acids such as trans-palmitoleic acid and conjugated linoleic acid,¹²⁷ which may provide metabolic benefits relative to other fatty acids.⁴³⁷ This theory suggests that cow's milk fat may not contribute to energy storage and adipose tissue as significantly as other types of dietary fat.^{22,27} Future studies are needed to understand the mechanism underlying the relationship between cow milk fat and child adiposity, including randomized controlled trials to mitigate influence of confounding factors and establish temporality.

This study had several strengths. The large, diverse cohort of healthy children who were followed over many years provided rich information about nutrition through early and middle childhood. In addition, a number of clinically relevant covariates were controlled for which reduced the risk of confounding. Complex statistical modeling using random effects models minimized within-subject correlation and improved model estimate accuracy. Restricted cubic splines allowed for evaluation of non-linear trends over time. Repeated measures data allowed us



to account for the directionality of this relationship, which improved upon the cross-sectional methods of previous studies by adding power and adjusting for within-subject measures.

This study had a number of weaknesses. Although cow's milk volume and sugary drink consumption were accounted for, there was insufficient data to calculate total daily energy which would have improved our understanding of the mechanism underlying the observed relationship. While zBMI is a measure preferred by clinicians because it is simple to interpret and track over time, it is not a direct measure of body composition which would improve measurement of child adiposity.³³⁴ While participants in this study were from an ethnically diverse population of healthy of urban Canadian children, they may not be representative of other groups of children. Further, cow's milk with different fat contents may have been offered to children based on parent perception of body size. Data on reasons for milk fat choices would have helped to clarify whether reverse causality contributed to the observed results, but this was not available.

In this prospective cohort study of healthy children age 9 months to 8 years, higher cow's milk fat consumption was associated with lower zBMI and lower odds of overweight and obesity. Given that the majority of North American children consume cow's milk daily, this study raises the possibility that whole cow's milk may play a role in lowering the risk of childhood overweight or obesity. Randomized trial data showing the relationship between cow's milk fat and child adiposity is needed to confirm these findings.



- ····································	
Child characteristics	
Age, years, mean (SD)	2.6 (1.5)
Gender, male, n (%)	3930 (53)
zBMI, mean (SD)	0.18 (1.1)
Thinness (zBMI < -2), n (%)	170 (2)
Normal weight $(-2 \le zBMI \le 1)$, n (%)	5764 (77)
Overweight (excluding obesity; $1 < zBMI \le 2$), n (%)	1173 (16)
Obesity (zBMI $>$ 2), n (%)	355 (5)
Cow's milk consumed in the past 3 days*	
Skim (0.1%), n (%)	226 (3)
1%, n (%)	562 (8)
2%, n (%)	2501 (33)
Whole (3.25%), n (%)	4178 (56)
Reported typical cow's milk volume consumed, cups/day,	1.9 (1.2)
mean (SD)	
Parent BMI, mean (SD)	25.3 (4.9)
Maternal ethnicity, n (%)*	
European	4425 (59)
East Asian	458 (6)
South Asian	587 (8)
Southeast Asian	239 (3)
Arab or African	486 (7)
Latin American	208 (3)
Mixed ethnicity	383 (5)
Other	22 (0.3)
Self-reported household income (\$), n (%)**	
<30,000	719 (10)
30,000-79,999	1222 (16)
80,000-150,000	3584 (48)
>150,000	251 (3)
Sugary drink intake, cups/day, mean (SD)	0.7 (1.1)
Serum 25-hydroxyvitamin D, nmol/L, mean (SD)	87.9 (29.4)
Birth weight, kg, mean (SD)	3.3 (0.6)
Breastfeeding duration, months, mean (SD)	10.7 (7.5)
Follow-up duration, years, mean (SD)***	2.7 (1.7)

Table 10. Participant characteristics (N= 7467) at baseline.

*n=659 children with missing maternal ethnicity.

**n=1691 children with missing household income.

***Not a baseline characteristic.



	Unadjusted		Adjusted*	
	Coefficient (95% CI)	p value	Coefficient (95% CI)	p value
Cow's milk fat (%)	-0.05 (-0.07 to -0.03)	< 0.0001	-0.05 (-0.07 to -0.03)	< 0.0001

Table 11. The relationship between cow's milk fat intake and child zBMI.

N=7467. *A linear mixed model was used and adjusted for volume of cow's milk, volume of sugary drink intake (including 100% juice, fruit drinks, and soft drinks) consumed in 250 mL cups per day, maternal ethnicity, self-reported family income, birth weight in kilograms, breastfeeding duration in months, and parent BMI. Covariate coefficient estimates not shown.

Table 12. The relationship between cow's milk fat intake and odds of overweight (excluding obesity) and obesity relative to normal weight (-2< zBMI \leq 1), adjusted for clinically relevant covariates.*

	Overweight $(1 < zBMI \le 2)$		Obesity (zBMI >2)	
	aOR (95% CI)	p value	aOR (95% CI)	p value
Whole vs. 0.1-2%	0.84 (0.77 to 0.91)	<0.0001	0.82 (0.68 to 1.00)	0.047
Whole vs. 2%	0.81 (0.74 to 0.89)	<0.0001	0.83 (0.68 to 1.00)	0.05
Whole vs. 1%	0.96 (0.82 to 1.11)	0.57	0.87 (0.66 to 1.16)	0.35
Whole vs. 0.1%	0.83 (0.66 to 1.03)	0.09	0.69 (0.45 to 1.05)	0.08

*N=7467. aOR= Adjusted Odds Ratio. Logistic generalized estimating equations were used and adjusted for volume of cow's milk, volume of reported sugary drink intake (including 100% juice, fruit drinks, and soft drinks) consumed in 250 mL cups per day, maternal ethnicity, self-reported family income, birth weight in kilograms, breastfeeding duration in months, and parent BMI. Covariate coefficient estimates not shown.



Figure 4. Participant flow diagram.





Figure 5. The relationship between cow's milk fat and zBMI in children aged 9 months - 8 years, adjusted for clinically relevant covariates.



Individual data points are represented by small circles in the background. Shades of circles correspond to cow's milk fat consumed by children according to the figure legend.





Figure 6. Odds of overweight (excluding obesity; $1 < zBMI \le 2$) and obesity (zBMI > 2) among children who consumed different cow's milk fat, adjusted for clinically relevant covariates.

Error bars represent 95% confidence intervals.



CHAPTER 6: COW'S MILK FAT OBESITY PREVENTION TRIAL (COMFORT): A PRIMARY CARE EMBEDDED RANDOMIZED CONTROLLED TRIAL TO DETERMINE THE EFFECT OF COW'S MILK FAT ON CHILD ADIPOSITY

6.1 ABSTRACT

Introduction: Cow's milk is a dietary staple for children in North America. Though public health guidelines suggest children transition from whole (3.25% fat) milk to reduced (1% or 2%) fat milk at age 2 years, recent epidemiological evidence supports a link between whole milk consumption and lower adiposity in children. The purpose of this trial is to determine which milk fat recommendation minimizes excess adiposity and optimizes child nutrition and growth. Methods and analysis: CoMFORT (Cow's Milk Fat Obesity pRevention Trial) will be a pragmatic, superiority, parallel group randomized controlled trial involving children receiving routine healthcare aged 2 to 4-5 years who are participating in the TARGet Kids! practice-based research network in Toronto, Canada. Children (N= 534) will be randomized to receive one of two interventions: 1) a recommendation to consume whole milk, or 2) a recommendation to consume reduced (1%) fat milk. The primary outcome is adiposity measured by Body Mass Index z-score (zBMI) and waist circumference z-score (zWC) 24 months post-randomisation; secondary outcomes will be cognitive development (using the Ages and Stages Questionnaire), vitamin D stores, cardiometabolic health indicators (glucose, hsCRP, non-HDL, LDL, triglyceride, HDL and total cholesterol, insulin, and diastolic and systolic blood pressure), sugary beverage and total energy intake (measured by 24-hour dietary recall), and cost effectiveness. Outcomes will be compared using ANCOVA, adjusting for baseline measures.

Ethics and dissemination: Ethics approval has been obtained from Unity Health Toronto and The Hospital for Sick Children. Results will be presented locally, nationally and internationally and published in a peer-reviewed journal. The findings may be helpful to nutrition guidelines for



children in effort to reduce childhood obesity using a simple, inexpensive and scalable cow's milk fat intervention.

Registration: This trial has been registered at clinicaltrials.gov (ID: NCT03914807).



6.2 BACKGROUND

Inexpensive and widely accessible cow's milk has been a dietary staple for children in North America for over a century. The majority of North American children consume cow's milk on a daily basis.^{58,67} Cow's milk provides children with nutrients for growth and development such as protein, carbohydrates, calcium, vitamins A and D, and fat. The National Health Service,⁵⁴ Canadian Paediatric Society³⁰⁴ and the American Academy of Pediatrics⁶²⁹ recommend whole (3.25% fat) cow's milk for children beginning at 1 year of age to support optimal development in a period of rapid growth and high energy demand.^{3,60} In an effort to curb childhood obesity, children are recommended to transition from whole to reduced fat (1% or 2%) cow's milk starting at 2 years of age.^{54,304,629} However, this recommendation is based on low quality evidence (GRADE⁵⁹⁴ score of 0-1)¹⁵ derived primarily from consensus opinion.^{15,630}

It is unclear whether switching from whole milk to reduced fat milk at age 2 years is beneficial. Observational evidence supports that children who consume whole milk have a lower risk of overweight or obesity relative to children who consume reduced (0.1-2%) fat milk.^{4,7,563} A systematic review and meta-analysis of observational evidence for the relationship between cow's milk fat and child adiposity reported that children who consumed whole milk had 1/3 lower odds of overweight and obesity compared to children who consumed reduced (0.1-2%) fat milk.⁶³¹ Proposed mechanisms include higher satiety offered by whole milk due to hormonal responses to dietary milk fat consumption^{21,563} thus displacing nutrient-poor foods or sugary beverages. Fatty acids found in cow's milk, such as trans-palmitoleic acid and conjugated linoleic acid, may be protective against excess adiposity.^{22,27} Reverse causality could also explain this relationship, where parents may choose milk with a fat content to counter-balance the adiposity of their child (i.e. higher fat milk for a leaner child and vice versa).⁸² Given the financial burden of overweight and obesity on healthcare systems worldwide,⁶³² determining



which milk fat recommendation in childhood is effective in lowering a child's risk of developing excess adiposity, may result in substantial healthcare savings in the future.

It is possible that cow's milk fat may also result in other beneficial health effects. Higher circulating levels of trans-palmitoleic acid have been associated with lower adiposity, LDL cholesterol, insulin resistance, and triglycerides, and positively associated with HDL cholesterol, in several large adult cohort studies.²²⁻²⁵ During early childhood, dietary fat consumption is known to support cognitive development, which usually concludes around six years of age.²⁶⁶ Cow's milk fat may support brain development due to its essential fatty acid content (e.g. linoleic acid) which may manifest in gains across multiple developmental domains including social, emotional, and physical.^{127,633} The ratio of essential fatty acids linoleic to alpha-linolenic acid (n-6 to n-3) in whole cow's milk is within the recommended ratio for DHA synthesis,²⁶⁸ which is an important fatty acid for brain growth and function.²⁶⁹

Parents and clinicians, who rely on different nutrition information resources such as primary healthcare recommendations, have expressed interest in evidence-based guidelines for milk fat during early childhood.⁶³⁴ Both whole and reduced fat milk are currently recommended to families with young children receiving primary healthcare.⁶³⁴ To inform clinical practice and evidence based guidelines, randomized controlled trial evidence is needed to determine whether switching to reduced fat milk at 2 years of age or continuing with whole milk beyond 2 years of age results in improved growth, cardiovascular and cognitive developmental outcomes.

6.3 OBJECTIVES

Overall Objective: To determine whether a primary healthcare recommendation for whole (3.25% fat) vs. reduced fat (1% fat) milk in early childhood can: (1) reduce adiposity; (2) improve cardiovascular health; (3) improve cognitive development; (4) increase vitamin D stores



and (5) reduce sugary beverage consumption and total energy intake at 24 months postrandomisation.

Hypotheses: We hypothesize that recommending whole milk between 1 and 4-5 years of age vs. transitioning to reduced fat milk at 2 years will result in the following outcomes at 24 months post-randomisation:

- *Primary Outcome*: Lower excess adiposity measured by: (a) body mass index z-score (zBMI) and (b) waist circumference z-score (zWC).
- *Secondary Outcome 1:* Lower risk of cardiovascular disease measured by: blood pressure, non-high density lipoprotein (HDL), low density lipoprotein (LDL), triglyceride, HDL and total cholesterol, glucose, insulin, high-sensitivity c-reactive protein (hsCRP), and glycosylated hemoglobin (HbA1C).
- Secondary Outcome 2: Higher vitamin D status measured by serum 25-hydroxyvitamin D (25(OH)D).
- Secondary Outcome 3: Better cognitive developmental scores measured by the Ages and Stages Questionnaire and the Early Development Instrument.⁶³⁵
- *Secondary Outcome 4:* Lower sugary beverage consumption and total energy intake measured by the Automated Self-Administered 24-Hour Recall tool (ASA-24).
- Secondary Outcome 5: Lower financial costs to both families and the health care system.

6.4 STUDY DESIGN AND METHODS

This will be a pragmatic, parallel group, superiority, randomised controlled trial. The study will include two active arms: 1) primary healthcare recommendation to consume whole milk starting at 2 years of age, and 2) primary healthcare recommendation to consume reduced fat (1%) milk starting at 2 years of age. This protocol has been designed following the 2013 SPIRIT



guidelines⁶³⁶ and registered at clinicaltrials.gov (ID: NCT03914807). Trial results will be reported according to the CONSORT guidelines for pragmatic trials.⁶³⁷

Study Setting

Healthy children aged 1.5 to 2.99 years will be recruited during a routine well-child doctor's visit at 12 participating *TARGet Kids!* academic pediatric or family medicine group practices in Toronto and Montreal over two years. The *TARGet Kids!* primary care research network and children's longitudinal cohort study is a collaboration between academic health outcome researchers at the University of Toronto, McGill University and a network of over 100 university affiliated primary healthcare providers (<u>www.targetkids.ca</u>).⁶³⁸ Children participating in *TARGet Kids!* provide anthropometric, lifestyle, and developmental information and a blood sample at routine well-child visits. Recruitment started in February 2020 and is expected to take 24 months to complete enrollment.

Inclusion Criteria

Children who are: 1) healthy by parental report (characterized as not living with chronic or acute illness, except for asthma); 2) 1.5 to 2.99 years of age; 3) involved in a *TARGet Kids!* academic paediatric or family medicine group; 4) are from families with verbal communication in English or French.

Exclusion Criteria

Children who: 1) have Prader-Willi syndrome or other syndrome associated with obesity; 2) have severe developmental delay which impacts daily functioning; 3) are considered failure to thrive (children with zBMI values \leq -2 are unlikely to benefit from obesity prevention); 4) are siblings of trial participants as families may share milk; or 5) do not consume cow's milk by choice, lactose intolerance or allergy.

Interventions



150

During a scheduled well-child visit, children aged 1.5-2.99 years will be randomized to one of two interventions currently provided in primary care:⁶³⁴ 1) Whole fat milk recommendation, 2) Reduced fat milk recommendation (Figure 7). Standardized training sessions based on current clinical guidelines will be provided to participating primary care providers with quarterly reminders to ensure consistency in the provided recommendations. For children randomised to either group, research assistants will notify the child's physician of their allocated recommendation immediately prior to the clinical encounter. All participating healthcare providers have provided consent to participate in the randomization process. Intervention scripts for physicians can be found in *Appendix 8.3: Interview Scripts*.

Whole Milk Recommendation

Children randomized to the whole milk recommendation will receive a primary care recommendation to consume 500 mL of whole fat (3.25%) milk per day instead of transitioning to reduced fat (1%) milk at 2 years of age. Parents will also be provided bi-monthly email reminders. Children who receive the whole milk recommendation will be provided with the same age-appropriate nutritional recommendations for foods other than cow's milk as children who receive the reduced fat recommendation as part of routine healthcare according to the Rourke Baby Record.⁵²

Reduced Fat Milk Recommendation

Children randomized to the reduced fat group will receive a primary care recommendation to transition from whole milk to 500 mL of reduced fat (1%) milk per day once the child is two years of age (consistent with current guidelines). Parents will also be provided bi-monthly email reminders. Children who receive the reduced fat recommendation will be provided with the same age-appropriate nutritional recommendations for foods other than cow's milk as children



who receive the whole fat recommendation as part of routine healthcare according to the Rourke Baby Record.⁵²

Adherence

Multiple methods will be utilized to maximize adherence to milk recommendations: 1) Primary healthcare providers will be reminded to repeat milk recommendations at up to two subsequent well-child visits during study participation; 2) Research assistants will provide participants with reminder magnets specific to their allocation group (see *Appendix 8.4: Reminder Magnets*) after receiving milk fat recommendations from the physician; and 3) Participants will receive an email survey bi-monthly which will ask about the enrolled child's recent milk consumption and remind families of the milk fat recommendation provided to them (see *Appendix 8.4: Reminder Email Script*).

Baseline Participant Characteristics

The following baseline variables will be measured: age, sex, zBMI, z-height, birth weight, waist circumference, ethnicity, maternal age and education level, duration of breastfeeding, current and past vitamin D supplementation, daily volume of cow's milk intake, daily multivitamin use, parental BMI, screen viewing time, physical activity, sleep time, and total dietary intake in the past 24 hours using the standardized *TARGet Kids!* data collection instrument adapted from the Canadian Community Health Survey:⁶³⁹ Cognitive development will be measured using the Ages and Stages Questionnaire.⁶³⁵

Follow-Up Outcome Measures

Follow-up of parents and children will occur at 24 months post-randomization, which has been used in previous childhood obesity prevention trials.^{640,641} Follow up will be completed by trained research assistants at each practice site during routine healthcare using the same techniques as



Primary Outcome

The primary outcome will adiposity, measured by the mean difference in age- and sexstandardized BMI z-score (zBMI) which will be measured at 24 months post-randomization. BMI z-score is an important outcome that is predictive of adiposity in later childhood, adolescence and adulthood.^{642,643} Using standardized anthropometric protocols,^{644,645} trained research assistants will measure children's height using a Healthometer stadiometer (Healthometer, Boca Raton, FL, USA) and weight will be measured using a digital Healthometer scale (Healthometer, Boca Raton, FL, USA). Body Mass Index (BMI) will be calculated as weight (kg) divided by height (m^2) . Waist circumference (WC) z-score will also be used to assess adiposity, and will be measured by trained research assistance according to standardized anthropometric protocols.^{644,645} Waist circumference has been associated with future weight gain, diabetes and cardiovascular disease and is the recommended measure for children with obesity.⁶⁴⁶⁻⁶⁴⁹ Both BMI and WC will be standardized using the WHO growth references ranges (zBMI and zWC)^{345,587} which reflect optimal childhood growth and are recommended for clinical use in Canada.⁶⁵⁰ Velocity of zBMI change (from baseline to trial termination), which is predictive of higher BMI in adolescence and adulthood, will be used to measure differences in growth rate.362,643

Secondary Outcomes

Cardiovascular Health: Laboratory measures including glucose, hsCRP, non-HDL, LDL, triglycerides, HDL and total cholesterol, insulin, and diastolic and systolic blood pressure will be obtained since these measures track from childhood to adulthood and are important early indicators of cardiovascular health.⁶⁵¹⁻⁶⁵⁴ Non-fasting blood samples will be taken during the clinic visit by *TARGet Kids!* research assistants who are trained phlebotomists. Non-fasting measures have been established as equivalent to fasting measures, which are not feasible from



young children.²⁹⁶ Existing pediatric reference standards will be used to identify high risk children or the 90th percentile when these are unavailable.⁶⁵⁵

Vitamin D: Vitamin D will be measured by serum 25-hydroxyvitamin D concentration in nmol/L from venous blood at baseline and follow-up using isotope dilution liquid chromatography tandem mass spectrometry⁶⁵⁶ by the Mount Sinai Services (MSS) Laboratory (mountsinaiservices.ca).⁶⁵⁷

Child Cognitive Development: Child cognitive development will be assessed by parental report using the *Ages and Stages Questionnaire* $(ASQ)^{635}$ at enrolment and follow-up visits. The *ASQ* is a parent completed developmental questionnaire which has been cross-culturally validated and is routinely used during primary healthcare as recommended by the American Academy of Pediatrics. It identifies children at risk of developmental delay across five domains: communication, gross motor, fine motor, problem solving and personal social behaviour. In addition, the junior and senior kindergarten teacher completed *Early Development Instrument* (*EDI*) will be collected in both junior and senior kindergarten to assess overall child development and school readiness. The EDI is collected across Canada for population-level monitoring of child development and covers 5 developmental domains: physical health and well-being, social competence, emotional maturity, language and cognitive development, communication skills and general knowledge.^{658,660}

Sugary Beverage and Total Energy Intake: The Automated Self-Administered 24-hour Assessment (ASA24) from the National Cancer Institute of the National Institutes of Health will be used to measure sugary beverage and total energy intake at baseline and follow-up.⁶⁶¹ The ASA24 is a web-based tool that allows 24-hour food recall modeled after the USDA's Automated Multiple-Pass Method. The ASA24 has been validated for sugary beverage and total energy intake and has been piloted in Ontario children aged 2-5 years for feasibility of



completion within 30 minutes.⁶⁶¹⁻⁶⁶³

Sample Size

Previous obesity prevention trials have established a clinically meaningful zBMI difference of ≥ 0.25 .^{664,665} To detect this difference, 426 children will be required (n= 213 per group), based on an alpha of 0.05 with 80% power. To accommodate 20% loss to follow-up,⁶⁶⁶ 534 1.5-2.99 year old children will be recruited (n= 267 per group) over 2 years and subsequently followed for 2 years.

Recruitment

Recruitment strategies include recruitment in person by a trained research assistant who is known to families through the TARGet Kids! program at a routine primary healthcare visit and collecting non-invasive measures (questionnaires and anthropometric measures) while the child and family wait for their primary healthcare provider visit.

Randomization

Children will be randomized using a 1:1 allocation ratio to either group. Randomization will be computer generated with variable block sizes, and will be stratified by site to ensure a balanced distribution of participants between groups within each of the sites.⁶⁶⁷ Web-based central randomization will be utilized to preserve allocation concealment. After a child has been determined eligible to participate in CoMFORT and parents provide informed consent, research assistants will access the online central randomization system to ascertain the child's randomization status.

Blinding

Due to the nature of the study, children and parents cannot be blind, but they will be blind to the trial hypotheses. Primary healthcare providers who provide the recommendations also cannot be



blind. Allocation concealment will be preserved for research assistants and parents who may enroll participants depending on randomization sequence if they are aware of it.

Retention & Complete Collection of Data

Every reasonable attempt (including phone calls and emails) will be made to locate CoMFORT subjects at follow-up. All families will be reminded via phone call to attend their scheduled annual well-child visit, consistent with routine practice. To further reduce loss to follow-up, parents who have moved out of district will be offered to visit The Hospital for Sick Children for repeat laboratory, cognitive and anthropometric testing.

Data Management

The Applied Health Research Centre (AHRC) of the Li Ka Shing Knowledge Institute of St. Michael's Hospital and Peter Gilgan Centre for Research and Learning of The Hospital for Sick Children will be the data coordinating centres. Study data were collected and managed using REDCap electronic data capture tools hosted at St. Michael's Hospital.⁶⁶⁸ REDCap (Research Electronic Data Capture) is a secure, web-based application designed to support data capture for research studies, providing: 1) an intuitive interface for validated data entry; 2) audit trails for tracking data manipulation and export procedures; 3) automated export procedures for seamless data downloads to common statistical packages; and 4) procedures for importing data from external sources. Laboratory tests from the Mount Sinai Services Laboratory will be directly uploaded through a secure web portal.

Statistical Analysis

Descriptive statistics for baseline characteristics (frequencies and proportions for discrete variables; means and standard deviations for symmetric variables; and, medians and interquartile ranges for skewed data) will be used to evaluate randomization completeness. The intent-to-treat principle will be applied to the analysis of outcomes.^{669,670} Although randomization



is expected to balance the covariates, variables that demonstrate, by chance, a potentially clinically meaningful imbalance, will be considered as adjusting covariates. For the primary analysis, zBMI at 24 months post-randomization will be compared between groups using ANCOVA adjusting for baseline zBMI. Because zBMI is age standardized, minimal differences in age at follow-up will be accounted for. For the secondary analyses, group differences in cognitive developmental scores, serum 25-hydroxyvitamin D concentration, cardiometabolic factors, sugary beverage and total energy intake will be compared using linear regression. Piecewise linear mixed models will be used to determine differences in growth rates between groups.

Cost Effectiveness

An economic analysis will be conducted to determine the incremental costs (or cost-savings) of whole vs. reduced fat cow's milk in reducing childhood adiposity, from both health system and societal perspectives. The time horizon will be limited to 5 years to leverage patient level data and minimize uncertainty from modelling a longer time horizon. All costs, parameter estimates and ranges will be derived from study data and will be obtained using medical record extraction. Publicly available Ontario costing sources will be used to cost resource utilization parameters. Cost-effectiveness will be expressed as the incremental cost-effectiveness ratio (ICER), calculated by dividing the incremental costs between the intervention arms by the incremental change in child's zBMI between baseline and the end of the follow up period. Costs will be adjusted for inflation using the Canadian Consumer Price Index and reported in 2022 Canadian dollars. An extensive one-way deterministic sensitivity analysis will be performed to evaluate the robustness of the results and evaluate uncertainty in any of the assumptions. Ranges for the sensitivity analysis will be obtained from 95% confidence intervals generated from study data for each of the parameters. Probabilistic sensitivity analysis using Monte Carlo simulation will be



157

used to further evaluate uncertainty and establish a point estimate and 95% confidence interval around the ICER. Economic evaluation analyses will be carried out through the Ontario Child Health SPOR SUPPORT Unit.

Ethics and Dissemination

Approval has been obtained for the CoMFORT trial from the Unity Health Toronto (REB# 18-369) and Hospital for Sick Children (REB# 1000063023) Research Ethics Boards. Findings will be disseminated directly to primary healthcare providers and to parents. A meeting of all the TARGet Kids! practices, research team, and policy leaders (representatives from the University of Toronto Section of Community Paediatrics, Family and Community Medicine, Ontario Medical Association, Maternal, Infant, Child and Youth Research Network, College of Family Physicians, Canadian Paediatric Society, and parent representatives), and public health agencies (Public Health Ontario and Public Health Agency of Canada) will occur annually. Downstream dissemination to primary healthcare providers will occur through formal and informal avenues at local levels, such as City Wide Paediatric Rounds, national Continuing Medical Education events, and those held by local physician groups. Both parent and clinician members of the parent panel will play an integral role in communicating trial evidence by participating in the development of all dissemination material. End of grant knowledge will be shared with the academic community through multiple publications in a high impact journal as well as presentations at national and international conferences.

Consent

A stepwise proportionate consent model will be used for this study.⁵³¹ First, during the TARGet Kids! cohort study consent process, participants consent to be approached for additional research. As the second step, participants who consent to *TARGet Kids!* and are eligible for CoMFORT will be approached to participate in CoMFORT by research assistants at either the 18 month or 2 year



well-child visit. Proportionate consent will be sought according to the National Health Service (UK) proportionate consent guidelines,⁵³¹ which have four components: providing a (1) verbal description of the study and (2) information sheet to participants, (3) answering participant questions, and (4) documenting informed consent.⁵³¹ *TARGet Kids!* research assistants will verbally provide information to each eligible family about the nature and purpose of the research, in addition to the material risks, benefits and alternatives, and provide an information sheet about the CoMFORT trial. Informed, written consent will then be obtained before randomization. A copy of the CoMFORT consent form can be found in *Appendix 8.4: Consent Form*.

Patient and Public Involvement

Parents and clinicians identified this research question as important and relevant in a qualitative study using interviews and online questionnaires.⁶³⁴ A *TARGet Kids!* parent panel informed all aspects of this protocol to maximally meet the needs of parents and children, including revising patient-facing materials about the intervention and consent forms, and guiding the design of the recruitment process. Parents verified the intervention as designed was appropriate and feasible. Over the course of this trial, the parent panel will meet virtually as needed and in person at least once every 6 months to discuss recruitment, study promotion, and overall progress. Parents' experiences will be valued as evidence and an integral part of the research process. Parent partners will contribute to knowledge translation strategies, co-author study publications and attend conferences alongside investigators to present study findings.

6.5 IMPACT

Results from this trial will be applicable to practice and nutrition guidelines because: 1) Two widely accepted, clinically relevant alternatives will be directly compared; 2) A diverse sample of healthy children participating in routine healthcare will be involved; 3) Practice settings



representing the range of primary healthcare practice will be included (family medicine, primary care pediatrics, community health centres, etc.); 4) Patient-important health outcomes will be measured including adiposity, child cognitive development, and nutrition; and 5) The multidisciplinary team includes clinicians, parents, and policymakers as partners in the research process. The CoMFORT trial has been created through meaningful collaboration with parents through governance, conducting research, and knowledge translation. In doing so, the results of the CoMFORT trial will be well positioned for implementation and integration into the lives of children and families.



Figure 7. Trial flow diagram.





CHAPTER 7: OVERALL DISCUSSION

In this thesis, I have described the relationship between cow's milk fat and children's growth using multiple methods. I sought to: 1) Identify the relationship between cow's milk fat and child adiposity using data from the existing literature through a systematic review, 2) Understand parent and physician perspectives about cow's milk fat for children using qualitative methods, 3) Evaluate the longitudinal relationship between cow's milk fat consumption and child zBMI among children aged 9 months to 8 years of age using prospective cohort study methods, and 4) Design and launch an innovative randomized controlled trial to determine the effect of primary care recommendations for whole vs. reduced fat milk on zBMI among children aged 2 to 4 years. I hope that the research in this thesis will contribute to evidence-based nutrition recommendations for cow's milk during childhood. Nutrition guidelines on milk fat consumption largely about safety, but not efficacy.^{15,274,626}

7.1 Summary of principal findings in this thesis

Through a systematic review and meta-analysis of the existing evidence on the relationship between cow's milk fat and child adiposity, I screened over 5000 studies and identified 28 observational studies which had measured both milk fat consumption and adiposity in children. In 18 of the 28 included studies, higher cow's milk fat consumption was associated with lower child adiposity, 10 studies did not identify an association and no studies identified that higher cow's milk fat was associated with higher child adiposity. I subsequently conducted a meta-analysis on 14 of the 28 studies (N= 20,897) that measured the proportion of children who had consumed whole vs. reduced fat milk and provided direct measures of overweight or obesity. Among children who consumed whole (3.25% fat) vs. reduced fat (0.1-2%) milk, the



odds ratio for overweight or obesity was 0.61 (95% CI 0.52 to 0.72, p< 0.0001), but heterogeneity between studies was high ($I^2=73.8\%$). Although no clinical trials were identified, this study suggested that consumption of whole vs. reduced fat milk may not adversely affect body weight among children. To the contrary, higher milk fat consumption appears to be associated with lower odds of childhood overweight or obesity.

To understand parents' and physicians' beliefs about cow's milk fat for children, I conducted a qualitative study of parents and physicians participating in the TARGet Kids! cohort study. I determined that parents and physicians provide and recommend a variety of cow's milk fat for children, and hold mixed views of the role that cow's milk fat has on children's growth. Parents and physicians were similarly divided about providing or recommending whole milk or reduced fat milk for children 2 years of age or older. Through a thematic analysis of parent and physician interview transcripts, three themes were identified: 1) Healthy eating behaviours, which included the meaning of healthy food, who it is provided by and what it means to eat, provide, or recommend healthy food, 2) Trustworthy nutrition information, such as the trusted resources parents and physicians rely on to make decisions that affect the health of their children or patients, and 3) Importance of dietary fat for children, defined as the perception of dietary fat in children's diets, and what it means to provide fat to children. These themes were helpful in understanding how parents and physicians use trusted resources to develop healthy habits and behaviours, which informed perceptions about foods viewed as best for children's nutrition and development. This study helped to identify that there is equipoise in beliefs about milk fat among TARGet Kids! participating parents and physicians, and justify conducting a clinical trial in the TARGet Kids! environment for evaluating cow's milk fat recommendations in routine healthcare for children. It also reinforced the need for evidence-based recommendations about milk fat for

children.



www.manaraa.com

One of the limitations of the current literature which I identified in my systematic review was the lack of evidence from well controlled prospective studies and RCTs which accounted for clinically relevant factors such as volume of cow's milk consumed and parent BMI. I subsequently conducted a prospective cohort study involving 7,467 children aged 9 months to 8 years which identified that higher cow's milk fat consumption was associated with lower child zBMI after controlling for potential confounding factors including volume of milk consumed, parent BMI, and birth weight. Compared to children who consumed reduced fat (0.1-2%) cow's milk, there was evidence that children who consumed whole cow's milk had 16% lower odds of overweight (OR= 0.84, 95% CI 0.77 to 0.91, p< 0.0001) and 18% lower odds of obesity (OR= 0.82, 95% CI 0.68 to 1.00, p= 0.047). These findings were consistent with those identified in my systematic review and meta-analysis, and overcame a number of limitations presented by other observational literature including indirect measurement of adiposity, non-validated measures of exposures and outcomes, and cross-sectional designs. However, due to the observational nature of this study I was not able evaluate cause and effect and to what extent reverse causality, where parents of heavier children may provide lower cow's milk fat and vice versa, may have influenced findings. Together, this research highlighted the need for a randomized controlled trial to provide an unbiased evaluation of cause and effect.

To accomplish this, I have designed the Cow's Milk Fat Obesity pRevention Trial (CoMFORT), which will determine whether a primary healthcare recommendation for whole (3.25%) fat vs. reduced (1%) fat milk between the ages of 2 and 4 years can reduce zBMI and improve cardiovascular health in children at 4 years of age. The CoMFORT design was based on Trials within Cohorts methodology which aims to increase efficiency and generalizability of RCTs. With recruitment now underway, this study will include 534 children participating in the TARGet Kids! primary care research network in Toronto, Canada and provide numerous


opportunities for advancing applied nutrition research. These include evaluating the causal connection between milk fat consumption and childhood adiposity and cardiometabolic health, evaluating patient engagement across trial development and conduct, analyzing the effect of a randomized lifestyle intervention embedded in usual care, and determining the feasibility of a proportional consent process which holds promise to lower barrier to clinical trial participation in a patient-centred way.

7.2 Clinical and public health importance of study results

Childhood obesity is one of the most important issues in child health with one in three children in Canada now overweight or obese.⁶⁷¹ Obesity in childhood increases the risk of sleep problems⁶⁷² and poor school performance in children and adolescents.⁶⁷³⁻⁶⁷⁶ It also tracks into adulthood, increasing the risk of type 2 diabetes, cardiovascular disease and stroke.⁶⁷⁷ It has long been known that life early nutrition is important for healthy growth, child development and lifetime success.⁶⁷⁸ To date, successful interventions to prevent childhood obesity have been few in number and highly challenging to evaluate.

Cow's milk is consumed by the majority of children in North America. My overall aim was to generate evidence to help understand the relationship between cow's milk fat and children's adiposity. To address this, I conducted four studies which are included in this thesis. In my systematic review and meta-analysis, I found that international studies had, in general, found that higher cow's milk fat was associated with lower weight in children. These findings supported my previous findings and provided rationale and focus for further research in this area. In my prospective cohort study, I designed the analysis to address several limitations I observed among studies in the systematic review and meta-analysis by using linear mixed effects models and adjusting for covariates which might affect the relationship between cow's milk fat and child



adiposity. My findings were consistent with those observed in the systematic review and metaanalysis, which added to the existing body of literature. In the qualitative study I conducted, I developed an understanding of how parents and physicians make decisions about milk fat and what sources of information were used to inform these decisions. This study helped guide future research on patients' values, beliefs and uncertainties about milk fat and was instrumental in guiding the design of the CoMFORT trial. Though the CoMFORT trial is not yet complete, I hope that its results will deepen our understanding of how cow's milk fat might influence child growth and cardiometabolic risk factors, as well as inform future innovative, patient-oriented clinical trials.

Existing obesity prevention clinical trials have been hindered by small sample sizes, high attrition rates and poorly representative populations.³⁷² Barriers to recruitment have involved factors related to children, parents, healthcare providers and the complexity of the interventions.^{514,679} Children from diverse backgrounds tend to be unequally represented, making generalizability a challenge.^{514,679} Unreasonable regulatory requirements, unpractical consent processes and ambiguous trial guidelines⁶⁸⁰ have hindered the development of low risk trials of obesity prevention interventions. Family needs, preferences and resources are often not prioritized in the design of research or clinical practice guidelines.⁵⁰⁰ These barriers present unique problems for generating evidence for early life nutrition interventions, where the success of the intervention in practice depends on its acceptability by healthcare providers and parents as well as accessibility, family resources and preferences.⁶⁸¹

Innovative clinical trials have been proposed as a new method for advancing the evidence for healthcare interventions while overcoming limitations of traditional randomized controlled trials (RCTs) such as low recruitment rates, low efficiency, and poor generalizability.⁶⁸² During my



PhD, I designed and implemented a patient oriented innovative clinical trial called CoMFORT using novel Trials within Cohorts (TwiCs) methods.⁶⁸² CoMFORT will evaluate whether whole vs. reduced fat cow's milk is better for children. Through this process, I learned how to navigate solvable challenges to conducting clinical trials in children. I explored parent and clinician views and experiences about the study topic, which was an important first step to engaging families and ensuring that the intervention was relevant and acceptable.⁶³⁴ Inviting parent partners to review the study protocol and consent process allowed us to prioritize patient preferences in study recruitment and intervention methods. Innovative techniques such as a brief and accessible consent form and using cohort study mechanisms to follow outcomes aims to lower barriers to participation and improved time- and cost-efficiency.⁶⁸² By partnering with families in all aspects of the research process, I aimed to earn their interest and trust, which is foundational to integrating trial results into clinical practice, nutrition guidelines, and the everyday decisions of Canadian healthcare providers and parents.^{500,680}

Collectively, I hope that the research conducted through this thesis will assist policy makers in providing evidence based, age-appropriate and applicable information for organizations such as Health Canada and the Canadian Pediatric Society developing nutritional recommendations for cow's milk during childhood. Evidence-based recommendations about milk fat for children will help improve clinical practice and assist with the development of public health policies such as school lunch programs, and hopefully improve children's growth and cardiovascular health.

7.3 Strengths and limitations

7.3.1 Study-specific strengths

This thesis encompasses a body of research which has included several study designs in a thoughtful progression which included systematically evaluating the existing literature,



understanding parent and healthcare provider perspectives, conducting a large prospective cohort study on cow's milk fat and child zBMI, and finally designing and implementing a clinical trial which aims to provide definitive evidence on cow's milk fat for child growth and nutrition.

In the systematic review and meta-analysis, I was able to include a large, diverse sample of children from around the world. The number of included studies was maximized by a comprehensive search strategy and contact with authors to obtain missing data. Study selection, data collection and risk of bias assessment were performed by two independent reviewers which improved accuracy and consistency of results reported. All studies included in the meta-analysis used trained individuals to obtain anthropometric measurements and weight status was standardized using growth reference standards (WHO, CDC and IOTF). Using sophisticated meta-regression techniques, differences in study design, risk of bias, and child age were taken into account. These techniques allowed a dose-response relationship to be demonstrated which showed a linear relationship between higher cow's milk fat and lower child weight.

In the qualitative study of parent and physician perceptions about cow's milk fat for children, recruitment took place in a primary care setting, which allowed me to obtain a sample of participants highly relevant to my research questions. Semi-structured interviews were informed by a quantitative questionnaire that provided focus and facilitated the identification of perspectives and ideas, which may not easily be captured by other research methods. The interviews allowed me to respond flexibly to participant responses, obtaining further details when appropriate, contributing to data richness. Data saturation was also considered to be reached, indicating a wide variety of viewpoints had been captured. Thematic analysis provided understanding of participant views and ideas which were directly related to my research questions and overarching concepts.



168

Strengths of the prospective cohort study included a large, diverse cohort of healthy children who were followed over many years and provided rich information about nutrition through early and middle childhood. A number of clinically relevant covariates which previous studies on this topic did not measure were controlled for, which reduced the risk of confounding. Complex statistical modeling using random effects models minimized within-subject correlation and improved model estimate accuracy. Restricted cubic splines allowed for evaluation of non-linear trends over time. Repeated measures data allowed me to estimate the directionality of this relationship, which improved upon the cross-sectional methods of previous studies by adding power and adjusting for within-subject measures.

7.3.2 Overall strengths

An overall strength is the relevance of the research topic to Canadian children, healthcare providers and families since childhood obesity is a pressing reality for many families³⁴⁶ and cow's milk is consumed daily by the majority of Canadian children.⁵⁸ Though researchers have evaluated the relationship between cow's milk consumption and child adiposity in several previous studies,³⁸² the relationship between cow's milk fat intake and child adiposity was under-evaluated. My research was aimed at filling this important research gap and answering a question that is relevant to many healthcare providers and parents.⁶⁸³

I was able to analyze data from a large, diverse sample of children from around the world in order to describe a common relationship between cow's milk fat and child adiposity. Though many studies including those in the systematic review and meta-analysis and my study of TARGet Kids! participants adjusted for clinically relevant covariates, the ability to include children from unique communities in an array of geographical locations increased the probability that my findings were not spurious or confounded.



In each of the included studies, I was able to learn from experts in systematic reviews and meta-analyses, qualitative research, pediatric nutrition and obesity, innovative clinical trials, and biostatistics. This mentorship improved the scientific methods, depth, and overall quality of the research produced. For example, a talented research librarian, Naz Torabi, provided literature search methods expertise which assisted me in conducting the systematic review and metaanalysis, and helped make my literature search broad and systematically conducted. I was supported by Peter Jüni and Bruno da Costa who are experts in meta-analysis statistics, and Kevin Thorpe and Charles Keown-Stoneman, who are experts in clinical trials and observational study statistics, respectively. In my qualitative work, I was led by Clara Juando-Prats, who was essential in knowledgeably guiding me through transcript analysis and the development of themes. One other important group of experts I was able to work with was parents. Throughout the development of the CoMFORT trial I consulted parents of TARGet Kids! participants in every aspect of the trial design including as partners on the funding application. Collaboration with parents was important in ensuring that the topic was worthwhile for those it will impact, determining that the protocol and implementation strategy was acceptable to families with young children, and developing knowledge translation strategies.

7.3.3 Study-specific limitations

A limitation of my systematic review and meta-analysis was that all studies but one had high risk of bias. However, among studies in the meta-analysis, comparison of adjusted vs. crude odds demonstrated consistent findings. Heterogeneity was relatively high ($I^2=73.8\%$) which may have been attributable to a variety of factors including varied methods of ascertainment of exposure and outcome, differences in study design, covariate adjustment and follow-up duration.

In the qualitative study, my views and perspectives may have introduced some biases to participant discussion, such as knowledge of clinical nutrition guidelines and current literature on



children's nutrition. However, interview questions were reviewed by other researchers to mitigate risk of a biased script, and I kept a reflexive journal during the whole analysis, interpretation, and writing stages to minimize the projection of my views and thoughts. Although all parents who were approached to participate did so, participant views may be different than those of individuals who declined to participate in research activities, received or provide healthcare outside of *TARGet Kids!*, or did not have access to primary healthcare. However, data saturation was considered to be reached in the interviews, suggesting that many ideas were shared among participants in this study, which may be generalizable to populations outside of this study sample.

In the prospective cohort study, although cow's milk volume and sugary drink consumption were accounted for, there was insufficient data to calculate total daily energy which would have improved my understanding of the mechanism underlying the observed relationship. Further, cow's milk with different fat contents may have been offered to children based on parent perception of body size. Data on reasons for milk fat choices would have helped to clarify whether reverse causality contributed to the observed results, but this was not available.

7.3.4 Overall limitations

The observational nature of the studies in my thesis is an inherent limitation. Lack of RCT evidence identified in the systematic review did not provide sufficient evidence for me to assess the directionality or validity of the observed relationships. It was not possible for me to assess the contribution of reverse causality, where parents of leaner children may provide higher cow's milk fat and vice versa in either the meta-analysis or prospective cohort study. Though I was not able to demonstrate a causal relationship in my prospective cohort study, I generated child-specific splines which accounted for previous measures on the same child and provided a better estimate of directionality than previous cross-sectional studies. However, the cause and



effect relationship between milk fat and child adiposity is still not clear, which provides justification for the CoMFORT trial.

Recall bias where foods consumed are poorly remembered, or social desirability bias where participants may report consuming foods they believe to be healthier are possible in observational nutrition research.⁵¹³ Food frequency questionnaires and 24-hour recalls used in studies included in the systematic review, as well as TARGet Kids! data collection are susceptible to misreporting or may not include specific varieties or quantities of foods actually consumed, leading to lower accuracy in understanding relationships between diet and health. Nutrition research which aims to understand pragmatic concepts embedded in everyday routines also faces challenges with these types of bias.¹⁶⁶ Further, parents or caregivers of young children may have difficulty completing dietary recalls on the child's behalf if meals are consumed at daycare or school and not monitored by the parent/caregiver. Standardized and validated dietary measurements are often used in nutrition research, but these are not always available and this may cause inaccuracies. In culturally diverse populations, ethnic foods may not be well captured by generic dietary recall tools. Within TARGet Kids!, the questionnaire used to capture dietary intake in children in the studies I have completed is based on the Canadian Community Health Survey.⁶⁸⁴ However, children in TARGet Kids! aged 4 years and older are now able to complete the Automated Self-Administered 24-Hour Recall tool (ASA-24),⁶⁸⁵ which is intended to improve the quality and accuracy of dietary data. This tool will be used in the CoMFORT trial at age 4 years.

Residual confounding is a limitation of observational studies, particularly those evaluating complex variables such as dietary intake and adiposity.¹⁶⁶ Though my prospective cohort analysis controlled for many factors known to be associated with dietary intake and adiposity, it is possible that other factors not captured influenced the relationship in ways I did



172

CHAPTER 7: OVERALL DISCUSSION

not measure. For example, it would be useful to have better estimates of total daily caloric intake, timing of meals and snacks, and total daily energy expenditure, which may have helped to describe the mechanics of the relationship I observed. Other indicators of social determinants of health such as access to sufficient supply of fresh, nutrient dense foods and recreation programs and resources, as well as living environment would also be important to consider. Future studies will ideally gain a better understanding of such mechanisms with the use of accelerometers to measure physical activity and repeated 24 hour dietary recall measurements such as the ASA-24.

Error or imprecision in adiposity measurement may also have introduced bias to my studies. My prospective cohort study and all studies in my meta-analysis utilized trained personnel to take standardized measurements of participants to improve accuracy and reliability, but such measurements are still subject to errors, imprecision or data entry mistakes. My prospective cohort study used zBMI, which was standardized using the WHO growth standards, but other studies used different methods of adiposity measurement (i.e. body fat percentage, BMI), and different growth standards (i.e., IOTF or CDC) limiting comparability between them and possibly introducing bias. For example, use of the WHO rather than IOTF or CDC standards may have resulted in a greater proportion of overweight or obese children reported.³³⁹ Future studies using WHO growth standards, which are believed to represent optimal child growth,³⁴⁴ would help to minimize heterogeneity and overcome these limitations. Though zBMI is understood by families and physicians and is commonly used to track growth over time,³³⁴ it is not a measure of body composition. Where possible, future studies would benefit from using measures such as dual x-ray absorptiometry (DXA or the Bod Pod) to gain a more precise estimate of body composition.

This research may not be applicable to other populations. Though children from nine countries (USA, UK, Canada, Brazil, Sweden, Spain, Greece, New Zealand, and Italy) were



included in my systematic review, children from lower income countries, or other regions such as Asia were not represented. This is likely due to lower consumption of cow's milk in such areas relative to Western countries, which highlights the possibility that cow's milk interventions may not be applicable, feasible or acceptable to children and families elsewhere. Cultural and dietary norms may also limit the application of this research to other populations where traditional feeding practices may not include cow's milk consumption. In section 2.1.5 *Predictors of cow's milk consumption in children*, I outlined the possible influence of price and socioeconomic status on cow's milk fat choice for children. It has been noted that individuals of higher SES may be more likely to consume reduced fat cow's milk, which may be related to higher educational achievement and health literacy or access to nutrition recommendations, which encourage reduced fat dairy consumption.⁶⁸⁶ However, though adults of higher SES are more likely to choose reduced fat cow's milk,^{687,688} there is evidence showing that children of both low and high SES are likely to consume whole milk.^{4,689-691}

7.4 Implications for clinical and public health practice

Ӑ للاستشارات

In 2019, the American Academy of Pediatrics, American Heart Association, Academy of Nutrition and Dietetics and other American health organizations created Healthy Beverage Consumption in Early Childhood recommendations.⁶⁹² These recommendations were informed by an expert panel, who conducted a scientific literature review and examined existing recommendations to determine consensus statements and recommendations. The aim was for recommendations in the final document to be based on the current best available evidence. For milk fat, the authors noted that, "the expert panel did not conduct a literature search on the heath impact of plain, pasteurized milk, as existing recommendations for young children's milk consumption are highly consistent."⁶⁹² I hope that research conducted through this thesis will

assist policy makers with re-visiting current recommendations which, while consistent, may not

be based on the best available evidence. Minimally, it is hoped that recommendations in the future will take into account that there is mixed evidence on this topic.

I suspect that my systematic review and meta-analysis generated attention^{693,694} because this topic is of interest to parents. It may also have generated interest because the findings are not consistent with current global milk fat recommendations. I hope that this message is helpful in prompting future nutrition recommendations to include current research on milk fat. However, an important finding of my systematic review was that many included studies were low quality or had characteristics which rendered them high risk of bias. I hope that this will encourage researchers to conduct higher quality studies including longitudinal designs which account for important covariates, and clinical trials which are the best fair test of healthcare interventions. I provided an example of this through my prospective cohort study, which was informed by the limitations I observed in my systematic review and had findings which were consistent with those of the systematic review. In addition, the CoMFORT trial is an example of how a clinical trial, which was informed by patient views and uncertainties, could be conducted on this topic.

In my qualitative study, I showed that parents trust physicians and prioritize their advice over other sources of nutrition information for children. This is helpful to know as we begin to develop and communicate nutrition recommendations on this topic. It also shows how parents and physicians obtain and apply nutrition information to daily routines which informed the development of the CoMFORT trial.

Although cow's milk fat may be an aspect of childhood obesity prevention, it is likely only one small part of the broad, multi-factorial issue of childhood overweight and obesity. It is unlikely that any one preventive intervention such as the one tested in the CoMFORT trial will be a catch-all solution due to the complexity of child adiposity. Even when limited to nutritional factors, we know that one food or beverage is unlikely override the effect of other factors



175

influencing the risk of overweight or obesity.³⁷² Many nutritional scientists agree that analyzing the entire diet is a comprehensive approach to understanding the relationship between food and health.⁶⁹⁵ However, I suggest that cow's milk fat may be an important factor to consider when assessing children's dietary intake because many children consume cow's milk on a daily basis in quantities contributing up to 15% of daily energy intake.⁶³ The first years of a child's life are an opportune time for interventions to prevent chronic disease have long latency and can affect the entire life course. Therefore, should whole vs. reduced fat cow's milk demonstrate the potential to prevent childhood overweight or obesity in the CoMFORT trial, prioritizing this simple, scalable nutrition intervention may have impact in lowering the incidence of childhood overweight and obesity.

7.5 Future research directions

Randomized controlled trials are needed to understand the causal relationship between cow's milk fat and child adiposity in a variety of settings, communities, and populations. The CoMFORT trial will be an important step in a new body of literature on this relationship. Additional studies varying in pragmatic nature, mode of intervention delivery, and granularity of outcome measures will add important details such as the mechanism involved in the relationship between cow's milk fat and adiposity, how nutrition recommendations for children can best be communicated, and how adherence to nutrition recommendations might be sustained. Notably, an analysis of NHANES data was recently published (after my systematic review and meta-analysis) on the relationship between cow's milk fat and highlights the generalizability and broad interest in this topic among other researchers and families.⁴¹⁹

Routine clinical settings offer opportunities for conducting prospective observational nutrition research which engages diverse samples of individuals and follows them over long



periods of time. Childhood is a unique opportunity for observational studies embedded in healthcare due to the frequency and consistency of well-child visits which are part of many healthcare systems. Despite the "gold standard" evidence provided by RCTs, prospective cohort studies offer a more pragmatic and less expensive (per person) approach to understanding dietary practices over a sustained period of time and may be less susceptible to attrition or noncompliance.⁵¹³ The original paradigm for RCTs was developed for pharmaceutical trials, which often involve a simple, controlled intervention, largely unaffected by unique or uncontrollable factors such as socioeconomic, behavioural and cultural variables.⁵¹³ In nutrition research, this methodology, which often involves isolating one factor in controlled environments, may not result in generalizable findings. Human nutrition is a dynamic, complex and long-term process. Teasing apart the relationship between specific foods and meaningful health outcomes is particularly challenging, especially during childhood when preferences change, new foods are frequently introduced and robust health outcomes are often distant in time. Ethical issues such as specifying control group conditions can also complicate RCTs in nutrition, whereas in free-living conditions it may be easier to assess natural gradients in dietary intake.⁶⁹⁶ Pediatric nutrition RCTs are especially challenging to conduct due to stringent ethical concerns, small sample sizes owing to challenging recruitment processes, variable adherence to interventions and lack of long term follow-up. Each of these issues exacerbate problems such as poor quality and quantity of controlled trial data upon which create evidence-based paediatric guidelines. Lack of available evidence also frequently results in difficulties in demonstrating clinical equipoise which is a necessary condition for clinical trials to be conducted. This limits the potential to conduct new clinical trial research. Sometimes, this has led to the application of evidence from adult populations to child clinical and health policy guidelines as a last resort. This practice can be



177

inappropriate and have unintended consequences due to the differences in physiology and metabolism between children and adults.⁶⁹⁷

Prospective cohort studies which are integrated within healthcare environments are increasingly used to generate the best available evidence in nutrition research. Such studies tend to include a diverse population (ideally all patients receiving care), minimize participant burden by using routine clinical methods for data capture and can follow individuals long-term through the health system. Such studies have potential to facilitate high quality, generalizable and relevant observational research, especially when patients are involved in determining research priorities and designing study methods and materials. Practice-embedded prospective cohort studies also lay a foundation for comparative effectiveness RCTs (for example, CoMFORT) where low-risk interventions take place in routine healthcare settings and outcomes are used that are already part of cohort study measures. An important step in facilitating such studies is for clinical research regulatory systems (i.e., REBs) to permit streamlined informed consent procedures which reflect the actual level of risk involved in comparing interventions which are already part of standard healthcare.^{534,698} In addition, forming and collaborating with patient and family advisory panels can help to ensure research is relevant, applicable and feasible.⁵⁰⁶

More rigorous adiposity measurement tools (such as DXA) used in combination with biochemical values (such as serum cholesterol, triglyceride and glucose concentrations) may provide a more holistic assessment of cardiometabolic health, which may better capture modifiable factors that lower the risk of excess adiposity or other chronic disease through higher precision measurement. Biochemical markers of food intake could also be used to validate dietary recalls, such as serum pentadecanoic or heptadecanoic acid concentration to estimate dairy fat; however, these measures are expensive and relatively invasive as they involve blood



178

Interventions which show the most promise in addressing childhood overweight and obesity have been focused on individual, family and community levels and include strategies for both physical activity and nutrition.³⁷² In order to further understand the multifactorial nature of child nutrition, growth and development, it is also important to conduct studies that capture a wide range of nutritional, biochemical, anthropometric and sociodemographic factors. This will allow researchers to perform sophisticated statistical analyses such as linear mixed effects models that take into account multiple factors simultaneously and over time. It will also increase efficiency by raising the amount of information gained from expensive and time-consuming clinical research studies. Though widely acceptable, effective and sustainable interventions are complicated to implement, determining strategies that positively impact child health in diverse populations over a sustained period of time is important for improving the effectiveness of 21st century healthcare and improving Canadians' quality of life.

7.5.1 Patient engagement

Patient oriented research is gaining popularity among North American researchers, and is well established in the UK.⁶⁹⁹ As researchers increasingly include parents, caregivers and families in studies involving children, the goal is to impact healthcare such that there will be a wider variety of accessible and acceptable care options for families with diverse preferences and needs.⁶⁸¹ Ideally, this will create evidence for questions that are relevant to families and improve the quality of healthcare that children receive. When families and parents are involved in prioritizing, designing and implementing nutrition research, it is expected that new nutrition interventions which are implemented in practice might be more acceptable.⁷⁰⁰ Future intervention studies which aim to improve children's nutrition may benefit from engaging families and caregivers early in the research process to ensure that the intervention is relevant and feasible. Input from families may assist with understanding how the intervention might fit



with their preferences and daily routines, which may improve recruitment and retention, and make knowledge translation efforts at the end of the research process more effective.^{500,701} Given these potential benefits, there is a need for guidance, evidence-based frameworks, evaluation, financial support, and expertise in patient-oriented nutrition research.⁶⁸¹

7.6 Concluding remarks

For decades, a recommendation for reduced fat cow's milk during childhood aimed at lowering children's risk of overweight and obesity has been part of clinical care and public health policy. Though this recommendation was based on expert opinion and was sensible at the time, systematic review evidence from this thesis has shown that existing research on the relationship between cow's milk fat consumption and childhood overweight and obesity is not consistent with this recommendation. Among 20,897 children who participated in observational studies from seven countries and were included in my meta-analysis, those who consumed whole cow's milk had lower risk of overweight or obesity than those who consumed reduced fat milk. Similarly, through my prospective cohort study, which accounted for clinically relevant covariates, I demonstrated similar findings. Through my qualitative research, parents and physicians expressed that this research is relevant and important for daily decision making. The CoMFORT trial will generate evidence describing the causal relationship between cow's milk fat and child adiposity, adding clarity to the current understanding of this topic. Collectively, the research conducted in this thesis provides new evidence to guide future research on the relationship between cow's milk fat and child adiposity. It is my hope that my research and the interventional research which will follow will be useful to health organizations worldwide when making cow's milk fat recommendations for children.



www.manaraa.com

180

8.1 WHO BMI-For-Age Curves & Canadian BMI Growth Curves







www.manaraa.com



World Health Organization [http://www.who.int/childgrowth/standards/cht_bfa_girls_z_0_5.pdf?ua=1]



182

www.manaraa.com

WHO GROWTH CHARTS FOR CANADA

2 TO 19 YEARS: BOYS NAME: Body mass index-for-age percentiles DOB: . RECORD # COMMENTS AGE WEIGHT HEIGHT DMI* BMI 39 38 - 37 -- 36 -- 35 -BMI tables/calculator available at www.whegrowthcharts.ca *To Calculate BMI: Weight (kg) + Height (cm) + Height (cm) x 10,000 OR Weight (lb) + Height (in) + Height (in) x 703 - 34 -- 33 -BMI - 32 -- 31 - 31 -- 30 -- 30 - 29 - 29 -97 - 28 - 28 -- 27 27 -- 26 26 -85 - 25 25 -- 24 - 24 -75 23 23 - 22 22 -50 - 21 - 21 -- 20 25 - 20 19 19 - 10 - 18 18 - 3 17 -- 17 - 16 - 16 - 15 15 - 14 - 14 -- 13 - 13 - 12 - 12 BMI BMI AGE (YEARS) 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 11 12 13 14 15 16 17 18 19

SOURCE: Based on World Health Organization (WHO) Child Growth Standards (2026) and WHO Reference (2007) and adapted for Canada by Canadian Paediatric Society, Canadian Pediatric Endocrine Group, College of Family Physicians of Canada, Community Health Narses of Canada and Distitians of Canada. © Distitians of Canada, 2014. Chart may be reproduced in its entirety (i.e., no changes) for non-commercial purposes only. WWW.whogrowthcharts.ca

Dietitians of Canada

https://www.dietitians.ca/DietitiansOfCanada/media/Documents/WHO%20Growth%20Charts/S et-2-BMI_2-19_BOYS_Set-2_EN.pdf



BOYS



SOURCE: Based on World Health Organization (WHO) Child Growth Standards (2006) and WHO Reference (2007) and adapted for Canada by Canadian Paediatric Society, Canadian Pediatric Endocrine Group, College of Family Physiciana of Canada, Community Health Nurses of Canada and Dietitians of Canada. © Dietitians of Canada, 2014. Chart may be reproduced in its entirety (i.e., no changes) for non-commercial purposes only. WWW.whogrowthcharts.ca

Dietitians of Canada

https://www.dietitians.ca/DietitiansOfCanada/media/Documents/WHO%20Growth%20Charts/S et-2-BMI_2-19_GIRLS_SET-2_EN.pdf



8.2 Supplementary Material for Cow's Milk Fat and Child Overweight: A Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis

Table 1. Previous review article findings on dairy intake and child health outcomes.

Author	Review type	Objective	Findings
(year)			
de Beer (2012) ²⁴⁶	Systematic review and meta-analysis	Summarize controlled trials investigating dairy product intake and physical (linear) growth	There is moderate evidence from 12 (7 randomized, 5 non-randomized) trials to support dairy consumption for linear growth.
Dougkas (2019) ⁷⁰²	Critical review	Evaluate available evidence on milk intake and the development of obesity in children and adolescents	Milk and dairy were not associated, or inversely associated, with obesity and indicators of adiposity in children. There was insufficient evidence that the relationship varied by type of milk or dairy product, or age of the children. Nine of 94 identified studies showed a positive relationship between milk and body fatness; the remainder showed inverse or neutral relationships.
Dror (2014)	Narrative review	Evaluate health effects of milk consumption in children	Among 35 intervention and observational studies, only one RCT showed an inverse relationship between cow's milk intake and child adiposity. One observational study showed a positive association between milk intake and BMI. The remainder did not show evidence of a relationship between milk consumption and child health outcomes.
Griebler (2016) ⁷⁰³	Systematic review and meta-analysis	Summarize short- and long- term health effects of cow's milk intake before age 3 years	Cow's milk intake during infancy was associated with iron deficiency. In one prospective cohort study, children aged 2-4 years who consumed more cow's milk had higher BMI. One RCT comparing follow-on formula to cow's milk found no difference in child growth.
Huang (2005) ⁷⁰⁴	Narrative	Summarize dairy intake, obesity, and metabolic health in children and adolescents	Three observational studies showed evidence of a relationship between higher dairy intake and lower body fat; 5 observational studies and 10 RCTs showed no evidence of a relationship between dairy intake and adiposity.
Kang (2019) 382	Systematic review and meta-analysis	Evaluate evidence of randomized controlled trials assessing whether milk consumption could affect growth and body composition among children and adolescents aged 6–18 years	Milk interventions resulted in a greater increase in body weight, lean mass, and attenuated gain in percentage body fat compared with control groups. There was no evidence of changes in fat mass, height, or waist circumference in the intervention groups compared with the control groups.
Kouvelioti	Systematic review	Examine RCTs on dairy	Dairy intake benefited bone structure and development, but did not appear



$(2017)^{247}$		consumption and body size,	to affect body composition or body size. Two of 14 RCTs showed evidence
		bone composition and bone	of conflicting child weight outcomes, and 1/11 RCTs on body composition
		properties in children and	found evidence of an increase in lean body mass in response to higher
		adolescents	cow's milk intake.
Louie (2011)	Systematic review	Examine relationship	Of 10 studies identified in children, 3 showed evidence of relationships
705		between dairy consumption	between higher dairy consumption and lower weight gain, 1 reported a
		and overweight/obesity in	positive association between dairy intake and weight gain, and the
		prospective cohort studies	remainder did not show evidence of relationships.
Lu (2016) ⁷⁰⁶	Systematic review	Examine relationship	Among 10 studies, there was evidence that children who consumed the
	and meta-analysis	between dairy consumption	most dairy had a 38% lower risk of overweight or obesity than those who
		and risk of obesity in children	consumed the least.



Table 2. Results of meta-regression models showing the relationship between consumption of whole milk vs. reduced fat milk and odds ratio (OR) of overweight and obesity, including interaction terms for study design, adjusted vs. crude ORs, risk of bias and age group.

Factor	No. of studies	Odds Ratio (95% CI)	p value for
	studies		inter action
Study design			0.07
Cross-sectional	11	0.56 (0.46 to 0.69)	
Prospective cohort	3	0.76 (0.63 to 0.92)	
Risk of Bias			0.92
Low	1	0.60 (0.44 to 0.81)	
High	13	0.61 (0.51 to 0.73)	
Age (years)			0.23
1-5	8	0.61 (0.51 to 0.73)	
6-11	3	0.52 (0.42 to 0.65)	
12-18	3	0.74 (0.41 to 1.35)	



Author, Year	Ν	Whole Milk	Reduced Fat Milk		(Ddd	s R	atio [95% CI]
Beck, 2017 (12)	135	41	94	-	•	-	0	.57 [0.18, 1.83]
Charvet, 2019 (23)	197	38	148	-			0	.51 [0.22, 1.19]
Huh, 2010 (13)	852	452	400	⊢	.		0	.60 [0.44, 0.81]
Kim, 2019 (22)	529	196	340	\rightarrow	•		0	.54 [0.38, 0.77]
Mazahery, 2017 (17)	1155	852	303	9			0	.71 [0.51, 0.98]
Nelson, 2004 (16)	451	350	101		→ :		0	.37 [0.23, 0.58]
Scharf, 2013 (14)	8350	3491	4859				0	.76 [0.70, 0.84]
Vanderhout, 2016 (10)	2738	1331	1407		-		0	.59 [0.49, 0.72]
Pooled effect					•		0	.61 [0.51, 0.73]
					i	Ĩ		
			Favors whole milk	0.25	1	2	4	Favors reduced fat milk

Figure 1. Odds ratio of overweight/obesity comparing children who consumed whole milk vs. reduced fat milk among children aged 1-5 years.

Odds Ratio (log scale)

Pooled effects were determined using a random-effects model.

Figure 2.	. Odds ratio	of overweight/o	obesity comp	aring children	who consu	med whole	milk
vs. reduc	ed fat milk	among children	aged 6-11 ye	ears.			

Author, Year	Ν	Whole Milk	Reduced Fat Milk				Odd	Is Ratio [95% CI]
Barba, 2005 (20)	884	759	125	Ξ	-			0.52 [0.35, 0.77]
Nilsen, 2017 (15)	2104	366	1738	н	•			0.55 [0.40, 0.75]
Tovar, 2012 (11)	217	148	69		-			0.43 [0.24, 0.77]
Pooled effect				-	-			0.52 [0.42, 0.65]
					-i-	Т		
				0.25	1	2	4	

Odds Ratio (log scale)

Pooled effects were determined using a random-effects model.



Figure 3. Odds ratio of overweight/obesity comparing children who consumed whole milk vs. reduced fat milk among children aged 12-18 years.

Author, Year	Ν	Whole Milk	Reduced Fat Milk				Odd	ds Ratio [95% CI]
Barbiero, 2008 (19)	405	359	46					0.36 [0.19, 0.67]
Bigornia, 2014 (21)	2282	1224	1058		-			0.91 [0.74, 1.11]
Gaylis, 2017 (18)	598	262	336		-	-		1.07 [0.74, 1.54]
Pooled effect							-	0.74 [0.19, 2.96]
			Г	1	i	1		
			0.	1 0.25	1	2	4	
				Odds F	Ratio (log	scale	e)	

Pooled effects were determined using a random-effects model.

Figure 4. Odds ratio of overweight/obesity comparing children who consumed whole milk vs. reduced fat milk among low risk of bias studies.

Author, Year N	Whole Milk	Reduced Fat Milk					Odds Ratio [95% CI]
Huh, 2010(13) 852	452	400					0.60 [0.44, 0.81]
FE Model			-				0.60 [0.44, 0.81]
	Favo	rs whole milk	0.25	1	2	4	Favors reduced fat milk
			Odds Rati	o (l	og :	scale	e)

*FE=fixed effects meta-analysis model.



Figure 5. Odds ratio of overweight/obesity comparing children who consumed whole milk vs. reduced fat milk among high risk of bias studies.

Author, Year	Ν	Whole Milk	Reduced Fat Milk		Odds Ratio [95% CI]
Barba, 2005 (20) Barbiero, 2008 (19) Beck, 2017 (12) Bigornia, 2014 (21) 2 Charvet, 2019 (23) Gaylis, 2017 (18) Kim, 2019 (22) Mazahery, 2017 (17) 1 Nelson, 2004 (16) Nilsen, 2017 (15) 2 Scharf, 2013 (14) 8 Tovar, 2012 (11) Vanderhout, 2016 (10) 2	884 405 135 2282 197 598 529 155 451 2104 3350 217 2738	759 359 41 1224 38 262 196 852 350 366 3491 148 1331	125 46 94 1058 148 336 340 303 101 1738 4859 69 1407	· ·	0.52 [0.35, 0.77] 0.36 [0.19, 0.67] 0.57 [0.18, 1.83] 0.91 [0.74, 1.11] 0.51 [0.22, 1.19] 1.07 [0.74, 1.54] 0.54 [0.38, 0.77] 0.71 [0.51, 0.98] 0.37 [0.23, 0.58] 0.55 [0.40, 0.75] 0.76 [0.70, 0.84] 0.43 [0.24, 0.77] 0.59 [0.49, 0.72]
Pooled effect			Favors whole milk	0.25 1 2	0.61 [0.51, 0.73]

Odds Ratio (log scale)

Pooled effects were determined using a random-effects model.



Figure 6. Reported, adjusted vs. crude odds ratios of overweight/obesity comparing children who consumed whole milk vs. reduced fat milk. Panel A: Adjusted, reported odds ratios:

Author, Year	Ν	Whole Milk	Reduced Fat Milk		Odd	ls Ratio [95% CI]
Mazahery, 2017 (17)	1155	852	303			0.57 [0.40, 0.84]
Nelson, 2004 (16)	451	350	101			0.50 [0.31, 0.80]
Nilsen, 2017(15)	2104	366	1738	⊢∎ →		0.60 [0.42, 0.85]
Tovar, 2012 (11)	217	148	69			0.40 [0.21, 0.75]
Vanderhout, 2016 (10)	2738	1331	1407			0.46 [0.31, 0.69]
RE Model				-		0.53 [0.44, 0.63]
		F	avors whole milk	0.25 1	2 4	Favors reduced fat milk
				Odds Ratio (lo	g scale)	

Panel B: Crude odds ratios:

Author, Year	Ν	Whole Milk	Reduced Fat Milk		Odds Ratio [95% CI]
Mazahery, 2017 (17) Nelson, 2004 (16)	1155	852	303		0.71 [0.51, 0.98]
Nilsen, 2017 (15)	2104	366	1738		0.55 [0.40, 0.75]
Tovar, 2012 (11) Vanderhout, 2016 (10)	217 2738	148 1331	69 1407	·=·	0.43 [0.24, 0.77] 0.59 [0.49, 0.72]
Pooled effect				-	0.55 [0.46, 0.66]
			Favors whole mi	I I I Ik 0.25 1 ∶	2 4 Favors reduced fat milk

Odds Ratio (log scale)

Pooled effects were determined using a random-effects model.



Figure 7. Funnel plot for studies included in meta-analysis of consumption of whole milk vs. reduced fat milk and odds ratio (OR) of overweight and obesity.



Egger's test p=0.04.



References

1. de Beer H. Dairy products and physical stature: a systematic review and meta-analysis of controlled trials. Econ Hum Biol. 2012;10(3):299-309.

2. Dougkas A, Barr S, Reddy S, Summerbell CD. A critical review of the role of milk and other dairy products in the development of obesity in children and adolescents. Nutrition research reviews. 2019;32(1):106-27.

3. Dror DK, Allen LH. Dairy product intake in children and adolescents in developed countries: trends, nutritional contribution, and a review of association with health outcomes. Nutrition reviews. 2014;72(2):68-81.

4. Griebler U, Bruckmuller MU, Kien C, Dieminger B, Meidlinger B, Seper K, Hitthaller A, Emprechtinger R, Wolf A, Gartlehner G. Health effects of cow's milk consumption in infants up to 3 years of age: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Public health nutrition. 2016;19(2):293-307.

5. Huang TT, McCrory MA. Dairy intake, obesity, and metabolic health in children and adolescents: knowledge and gaps. Nutrition reviews. 2005;63(3):71-80.

6. Kang K, Sotunde OF, Weiler HA. Effects of Milk and Milk-Product Consumption on Growth among Children and Adolescents Aged 6-18 Years: A Meta-Analysis of Randomized Controlled Trials. Advances in nutrition. 2019;10(2):250-61.

7. Kouvelioti RJ, A.; Klentrou, P. Effects of Dairy Consumption on Body Composition and Bone Properties in Youth: A Systematic Review. Current Developments in Nutrition. 2017;1(8).

8. Louie JC, Flood VM, Hector DJ, Rangan AM, Gill TP. Dairy consumption and overweight and obesity: a systematic review of prospective cohort studies. Obesity reviews : an official journal of the International Association for the Study of Obesity. 2011;12(7):e582-92.

9. Lu L, Xun P, Wan Y, He K, Cai W. Long-term association between dairy consumption and risk of childhood obesity: a systematic review and meta-analysis of prospective cohort studies. European journal of clinical nutrition. 2016;70(4):414-23.

10. Vanderhout SM, Birken CS, Parkin PC, Lebovic G, Chen Y, O'Connor DL, Maguire JL, Collaboration TAK. Relation between milk-fat percentage, vitamin D, and BMI z score in early childhood. The American journal of clinical nutrition. 2016;104(6):1657-64.

11. Tovar A, Chui K, Hyatt RR, Kuder J, Kraak VI, Choumenkovitch SF, Hastings A, Bloom J, Economos CD. Healthy-lifestyle behaviors associated with overweight and obesity in US rural children. BMC Pediatr. 2012;12:102.

12. Beck AL, Heyman M, Chao C, Wojcicki J. Full fat milk consumption protects against severe childhood obesity in Latinos. Prev Med Rep. 2017;8:1-5.

13. Huh SY, Rifas-Shiman SL, Rich-Edwards JW, Taveras EM, Gillman MW. Prospective association between milk intake and adiposity in preschool-aged children. Journal of the American Dietetic Association. 2010;110(4):563-70.

14. Scharf RJD, R. T.; DeBoer M. D. Longitudinal evaluation of milk type consumed and weight status in preschoolers. Archives of disease in childhood. 2013;98:335-40.

15. Nilsen BB, Yngve A, Monteagudo C, Tellstrom R, Scander H, Werner B. Reported habitual intake of breakfast and selected foods in relation to overweight status among seven- to nine-year-old Swedish children. Scand J Public Health. 2017;45(8):886-94.

16. Nelson JA, Chiasson MA, Ford V. Childhood overweight in a New York City WIC population. American journal of public health. 2004;94(3):458-62.

17. Mazahery H, Camargo CA, Jr., Cairncross C, Houghton LA, Grant CC, Coad J, Conlon CA, von Hurst PR. Type of cows' milk consumption and relationship to health predictors in New Zealand preschool children. The New Zealand medical journal. 2018;131(1468):54-68.



18. Gaylis JL, S.; Kviatkovsky, S.; DeHamer, R.; Young Hong, M. Relationships between physical activity, food choices, gender and BMI in Southern Californian teenagers. International Journal of Adolescent Medicine and Health. 2017.

19. Barbiero SM, Pellanda LC, Cesa CC, Campagnolo P, Beltrami F, Abrantes CC. Overweight, obesity and other risk factors for IHD in Brazilian schoolchildren. Public health nutrition. 2009;12(5):710-5.

20. Barba G, Troiano E, Russo P, Venezia A, Siani A. Inverse association between body mass and frequency of milk consumption in children. The British journal of nutrition. 2005;93(1):15-9.

21. Bigornia SJ, LaValley MP, Moore LL, Northstone K, Emmett P, Ness AR, Newby PK. Dairy intakes at age 10 years do not adversely affect risk of excess adiposity at 13 years. The Journal of nutrition. 2014;144(7):1081-90.

22. Kim LP, Mallo N. Maternal Perceptions of Self-Weight and Child Weight May Influence Milk Choice of Participants in the Special Supplemental Nutrition Program for Women, Infants, and Children (WIC). Journal of obesity. 2019;2019:3654728.

23. Charvet A, Huffman FG. Beverage Intake and Its Effect on Body Weight Status among WIC Preschool-Age Children. Journal of obesity. 2019;2019:3032457.

24. Scharf RJ, Demmer RT, DeBoer MD. Longitudinal evaluation of milk type consumed and weight status in preschoolers. Archives of disease in childhood. 2013;98(5):335-40.



8.3 Supplementary Material for A Qualitative Study to Understand Parent and Physician Perspectives About Cow's Milk for Children REB Approval Letter

 Research
 Ethics Office

 Telephone:
 (416) 864-6060 Ext. 2557

 Facsimilie:
 (416) 864-6043

 E-mail:
 pateld@smh.toronto.on ca

May 2, 2018

Dr. Jonathon Maguire, Department of Paediatrics, St Michael's Hospital

Dear Dr. Maguire,

Re: REB# 18-077^C - Optimizing the feasibility of the Cow Milk Fat Obesity pRevention Trial: CoMFORT

REB APPROVAL:	Original Approval Date	May 02, 2018
	Annual/Interval Review Date	May 02, 2019

St. Michael's

Inspiring Science.

Inspired Care.

Thank you for your application submitted on **28 February**, **2018**. The above noted study has been reviewed through a delegated process (not by Full Board review). The views of the St. Michael's Hospital (SMH) Research Ethics Board (REB) have been documented and resolved. Please note that no member of the St. Michael's Hospital Research Ethics Board associated with this study was involved in its review or approval.

The REB approves the study as it is found to comply with relevant research ethics guidelines, as well as the Ontario Personal Health Information Protection Act (PHIPA), 2004. The REB hereby issues approval for the above named study for a period of 12 months from the date of this letter. Continuation beyond that date will require further review of REB approval. In addition, the following documents have been reviewed and are hereby approved:

- 1. Protocol ver: 3 4/27/2018
- 2. Physician/Parent Survey Script ver: 3 4/27/2018
- 3. Parent/Physician interview script ver: 3 4/27/2018.
- 4. Poster ver: 2/27/2028

Furthermore, the following documents have been received and are acknowledged:

- 1. Interview Form Phone Interview Landing Page ver: 3 4/27/2018
- 2. Process for documenting verbal consent for interviews ver: 3 4/27/2018
- 3. Master Linking Log ver: 4/27/2018

During the course of this investigation, any significant deviations from the approved protocol and/or unanticipated developments or significant adverse events should immediately be brought to the attention of the REB. <u>Please note that shared electronic health systems such as ConnectingOntario, PRO, RM&R, OLIS, HDIRS, eCHN, DPV and IAR do not permit access for research purposes.</u>

All interventional trials where SMH is the Sponsor institution or where the lead Principal Investigator (PI) is at SMH are required to (1) register the study in a registry accepted by the International Committee of Medical Journal Editors (ICMJE) and World Health Organization (WHO), (2) ensure that the trial record is updated in a timely manner and (3) post summary results within the required timelines.

All institutional approvals **must be** coordinated and approved through the Office of Research Administration (ORA) prior to initiation of this research. If a Clinical Trial Agreement is required, it must be reviewed and approved by the ORA, prior to commencing any study related activities.

Page 1 of 2

Dr. Jonathon Maguire (REB# 18-077)

St. Michael's Hospital, 30 Bond Street, Toronto, ON MSB 1W8 Canada T 416.360.4000 Fully affiliated with the University of Toronto. stmichaelshospital.com



www.manaraa.com

All investigational drug product dispensing must be coordinated through the Research Pharmacy at 416-864-5413.

The St. Michael's Hospital (SMH) Research Ethics Board (REB) operates in compliance with the Tri-Council Policy Statement Ethical Conduct for Research Involving Humans, the Ontario Personal Health Information Protection Act, 2004, and ICH Good Clinical Practice Consolidated Guideline E6, Health Canada Part C Division 5 of the Food and Drug Regulations, Part 4 of the Natural Health Product Regulations, and the Medical Devices regulations. Furthermore, all investigational drug trials at SMH are conducted by Qualified Investigators (as defined in the latter document).

With best wishes

المستشارات

David Mazer, MD Chair, Research Ethics Board DM/PB/MS/JL Philip Berger, MD Vice Chair, Research Ethics Board

Michael Szego, PhD Vice Chair, Research Ethics Board

Dr. Jonathon Maguire (REB# 18-077)



Page 2 of 2

Questionnaire Script

Online questionnaire script:

We are seeking 20 parent and 20 physician volunteers to participate in a web-based online questionnaire on cow's milk fat. It should take approximately 3 minutes to complete. PARTICIPATION

Your participation in this questionnaire is voluntary. You may refuse to take part in the research or exit the questionnaire at any time without penalty. You are free to decline to answer any particular question you do not wish to answer for any reason. Due to the anonymous nature of the questionnaire, you are not able to withdraw responses once they are submitted.

[For parents] If you choose not to participate, you and your family will continue to have access to customary care at St. Michael's Hospital. If you choose to take part in this study, you can change your mind without giving a reason, and you may withdraw from the study at any time without any effect on the care you or your family will receive at St. Michael's Hospital. [For physicians] The decision to participate or not, and the responses given, will have no impact on your position or evaluation at SMH.

BENEFITS

You will receive no direct benefits from participating in this research study. Your responses will help us learn more about your attitudes towards cow's milk fat and help us to develop a new clinical trial tailored to your needs.

RISKS

There are no foreseeable risks involved in participating in this study other than those encountered in day-to-day life and potential inconvenience of 3 minutes of your time.

CONFIDENTIALITY

Your questionnaire answers will be sent to a link at SurveyMonkey.com where data will be stored in a password protected electronic format. Survey Monkey does not collect identifying information such as your name or email address. Therefore, your responses will remain anonymous. No one will be able to identify you or your answers, and no one will know whether or not you participated in the study. Once analyzed for research purposes, data will be stored for 7 years, and then destroyed.

By completing this questionnaire, you are agreeing to the following: Since Survey Monkey's servers are located in the United States, they are subject to the conditions of the Patriot Act which allows authorities to access the records of internet service providers. If you choose to participate in this questionnaire, you understand that your responses to the questionnaire questions and IP address may be accessed outside of Canada.

ELECTRONIC CONSENT

Please select your choice below. You may print a copy of this consent form for your records. Clicking on the "Agree" button indicates that

- You have read the above information
- You voluntarily agree to participate
 - □ Agree
 - □ Disagree

Physicians:

للاستشارات

- 1. What cow's milk fat recommendation do you typically make during the 2-year well-child visit?
 - 1. Skim (0.1%)
 - 2. 1%
 - 3. 2%

4. Whole/homo (3.25%)

- 5. None
- 2. What dietary recommendations do you usually provide to parents of ~2 year old children whom you, or the parent, suspects is at risk of overweight/obesity?
 - i. Reducing sugar sweetened beverage intake
 - ii. Reducing bottle use
 - iii. Reducing fat intake
 - iv. Reducing fat content of cow's milk to skim, 1% or 2% fat
 - v. Increasing fat content of cow's milk to 3.25% fat
 - vi. Reducing caloric intake
 - vii. Increasing fruit/vegetable intake
 - viii. Structuring meals/snacks
 - ix. Other (please specify)
- 3. What dietary recommendations do you usually provide to parents of ~2 year old children whom you, or the parent, suspects is underweight?
 - i. Increasing energy intake
 - ii. Increasing fat content of cow's milk to 3.25% fat
 - iii. Reducing fat content of cow's milk to skim, 1% or 2% fat
 - iv. Increasing meal/snack frequency
 - v. Food fortification (i.e. protein powders)
 - vi. Other (please specify)
- 4. What do you think is the ideal cow's milk fat content children over 2 years of age to consume?
 - i. Skim (0.1%)
 - ii. 1%
 - iii. 2%
 - iv. Whole/homo (3.25%)
- 5. What do you think are the benefits of providing children older than 2 years of age with whole (3.25% fat) milk (select all that apply)?
 - i. Better body composition
 - ii. Healthier growth rate
 - iii. Better brain development
 - iv. Obesity prevention
 - v. Better nutrition (fat soluble vitamins etc.)
 - vi. Other (please specify)
 - vii. None
- 6. What do you think are the harms of providing children older than 2 years of age with whole (3.25%) fat milk (select all that apply)?
 - i. May cause higher adiposity
 - ii. Higher saturated fat intake
 - iii. Creation of higher fat dietary pattern
 - iv. Other (please specify)
 - v. None

🖄 للاستشارات

- 7. What do you think are the benefits of providing children older than 2 years of age with reduced (1% or 2%) fat milk (select all that apply)?
 - i. Better body composition
 - ii. Healthier growth rate
 - iii. Better brain development
 - iv. Obesity prevention

- v. Better nutrition (fat soluble vitamins etc.)
- vi. Other (please specify)
- vii. None
- 8. What do you think are the harms of providing children older than 2 years of age with reduced (1% or 2%) fat milk (select all that apply)?
 - i. May cause higher adiposity
 - ii. Higher saturated fat intake
 - iii. Creation of higher fat dietary pattern
 - iv. Other (please specify)
 - v. None

Parents:

- 1. What cow's milk fat recommendation did your child's physician make during their 2-year well-child visit, if any?
 - a. Skim (0.1%)
 - b. 1%
 - c. 2%
 - d. Whole/homo (3.25%)
 - e. None
- 2. What fat content of cow's milk do you usually provide to your child?
 - a. Skim (0.1%)
 - b. 1%
 - c. 2%
 - d. Whole/homo (3.25%)
- 3. Why do you choose this fat content of cow's milk for your child?
 - a. Recommended by my child's physician
 - b. Recommended by Canada's Food Guide, Health Canada or Canadian Pediatric Society (web or print)
 - c. Recommended by friend/family
 - d. Other (please specify)
- 4. What do you think are the benefits of providing children older than 2 years of age with whole (3.25% fat) milk (select all that apply)?
 - i. Better body composition
 - ii. Healthier growth rate
 - iii. Better brain development
 - iv. Obesity prevention
 - v. Better nutrition (fat soluble vitamins etc.)
 - vi. Other (please specify)
 - vii. None
- 5. What do you think are the harms of providing children older than 2 years of age with whole (3.25%) fat milk (select all that apply)?
 - i. May cause higher adiposity
 - ii. Higher saturated fat intake
 - iii. Creation of higher fat dietary pattern
 - iv. Other (please specify)
 - v. None

🐴 للاستشارات

- 6. What do you think are the benefits of providing children older than 2 years of age with reduced (1% or 2%) fat milk (select all that apply)?
 - i. Better body composition

- ii. Healthier growth rate
- iii. Better brain development
- iv. Obesity prevention
- v. Better nutrition (fat soluble vitamins etc.)
- vi. Other (please specify)
- vii. None
- 7. What do you think are the harms of providing children older than 2 years of age with reduced (1% or 2%) fat milk (select all that apply)?
 - i. May cause higher adiposity
 - ii. Higher saturated fat intake
 - iii. Creation of higher fat dietary pattern
 - iv. Other (please specify)
 - v. None

Interview Script

Your participation in this questionnaire is voluntary. You may refuse to take part in the research or stop the interview at any time without penalty. You are free to decline to answer any particular question you do not wish to answer for any reason. The decision to participate or not, and the responses given, will have no impact on your [physicians: position or evaluation; parents: access to customary care at] at St. Michael's Hospital. You will receive no direct benefits from participating in this research study. Your responses will help us learn more about your attitudes towards cow's milk fat and help us to develop a new clinical trial tailored to your needs. There are no foreseeable risks involved in participating in this study other than those encountered in day-to-day life and potential inconvenience of 15 minutes of your time. Your answers will be kept confidential and will not be traceable to you. The results of this study may be presented at a scientific conference or published in a scientific journal. We expect that the results of the study will be available in 1 year. Direct quotes may be used in publications. All audiotape recordings will be transcribed word for word (except for any identifying information, which will not be transcribed). Recordings will be destroyed once the transcribed information has been assessed for accuracy. The audio tape recordings and the transcripts will be assigned identification numbers, and will not be labeled with your name or other identifiers. The transcripts will be stored with and destroyed at the same time as the other study data.

Physicians:

- 1. Have you ever wondered what is the best fat content of cow's milk for children?
- 2. What are the current clinical guidelines for milk fat consumption among children over age 2?
- 3. How do you feel about these guidelines?
 - i. Do you think these guidelines are beneficial? Why?
 - ii. Do you think these guidelines are detrimental? Why?
- 4. Can you tell me about the last time you provided a milk fat recommendation for a child's diet?
 - i. How did the child's parent(s) react?
 - ii. Was this a typical reaction?
 - iii. How often do you make cow's milk fat recommendations?
 - iv. Can you remember any specific moment about recommending milk fat to parents?
 - 1. If not- Do they always agree?


- 5. Would you ever recommend the average child over age 2 to consume whole (3.25% fat) cow's milk? (yes/no) Why or why not?
- 6. If you were to recommend whole milk to a child over age 2 years, do you anticipate any barriers to doing so? What would facilitate this?

Parents:

- a. How many children do you have?
- b. What is your age range?
 - i. Under 29
 - ii. 30-39
 - iii. Over 40
- c. Can you tell me about the last time you needed nutrition advice/information for your child? (If necessary: What were you looking for? Where did you find it?)
- d. What do you think about fat in your child's diet?
- e. What do you think about cow's milk in your child's diet?
- f. Have you ever wondered what fat content of cow's milk is best for your child? Tell me more about that. When?
- g. What fat content of cow's milk (i.e. skim, 1%, 2%, whole (3.25%)) do you (or in the past, have you) provide your child? Why?
- h. For parents of children who drink reduced fat milk: If your child's physician recommended a higher fat content for your child to consume, would you follow this recommendation? (yes/no) Why or why not?
- i. For parents of children who drink whole fat milk: If your child's physician recommended your child to continue drinking whole milk beyond age 2, would you follow this recommendation? (yes/no) Why or why not?
- j. What are your thoughts when you hear "skim milk" or "whole milk?"
- k. Is there a situation when you would never provide whole (3.25%) cow's milk to your child?
- 1. Is there a situation when you would never provide reduced fat (skim, 1% or 2%) cow's milk to your child?
- m. What would make it easier for you to provide whole cow's milk to your child when they are older than 2 years of age if you were asked to do so?



8.4 Supplementary Material for Cow's Milk Fat Obesity pRevention Trial (CoMFORT): A primary care embedded randomized controlled trial to determine the effect of cow's milk fat on child adiposity

REB Approval Letters

UNITY HEA TORONT	LTH PROVIDENCE O	ST JOSEPH'S HEALTH CENTRE TORONTO	St. Michael's Inspired Care. Inspiring Science.
Research Ethics Office Telephone: (416) 864-6060 Ext. 2 Facsimile: (416) 864-6043 E-mail: <u>pateld@smh.ca</u>	:557	. *	
March 07, 2019			
Dr. Jonathon Maguire, St. Michael's Hospital			
Dear Dr. Maguire,			
Re: REB# 18-369 - C	ow Milk Obesity pRevention Tr	rial: CoMFORT	
REB APPROVAL	: Condition	al Approval Date	March 7, 2019
The above referenced s	tudy was received by the Ur	nity Health Toronto R	esearch Ethics Board

(REB) on **November 29, 2019** for review.

This letter does not constitute approval by the REB for the commencement of this research study.

Final unconditional REB approval for this study will only be granted following the resolution of outstanding issues brought forward during the review.

The REB permits the use of this letter only:

1) For the purposes of/or to receive disbursement from Unity Health Toronto. No research involving humans can proceed without REB approval.

Unity Health Toronto Research Ethics Board (REB) operates in compliance with the Tri-Council Policy Statement Ethical Conduct for Research Involving Humans, the Ontario Personal Health Information Protection Act, 2004, and ICH Good Clinical Practice Consolidated Guideline E6, Health Canada Part C Division 5 of the Food and Drug Regulations, Part 4 of the Natural Health Product Regulations, and the Medical Devices regulations. Furthermore, all investigational drug trials at Unity Health Toronto REB are conducted by Qualified Investigators (as defined in the latter document).

With best wishes

David Mazer, MD Chair, Research Ethics Board

Philip Berger, MD Vice Chair, Research Ethics Board

Michael Heffer, BSc.Phm. MHSc. Vice Chair, Research Ethics Board

Michael Szego, PhD Vice Chair, Research Ethics Board

DM/PB/MS/MH/JL

Dr. Jonathon Maguire (REB# 18-369)

Template V.2 Page 1 of 1



Research Ethics Office Telephone: (416) 864-6060 Ext. 42557 Facsimile: (416) 864-6043 E-mail: <u>Dharmista.Patel@unityhealth.to</u>

January 28, 2020

Dr. Jonathon Maguire, Department of Paediatrics, St. Michael's Hospital

Dear Dr. Maguire,

Re: REB# 18-369 - Cow Milk Obesity pRevention Trial: CoMFORT

REB APPROVAL:	Original Approval Date	October 23, 2019
	Annual/Interval Review Date	October 23, 2020

Thank you for your communications dated **October 29, 2019** regarding the above named study.

The submission has been reviewed and the Unity Health Toronto Research Ethics Board (REB) hereby issues approval for:

- 1. Parental Consent ver: 1 10/25/2019
- 2. Protocol ver: 1.1 10/25/2019

Please note that no member of the REB associated with this submission was involved in its deliberation, review or approval.

During the course of this investigation, any significant deviations from the approved protocol and/or unanticipated developments or significant adverse events should immediately be brought to the attention of the REB. <u>Furthermore, it should be acknowledged that shared electronic health systems such as ConnectingOntario, PRO, RM&R, OLIS, HDIRS, eCHN, DPV, and IAR do not permit access for research purposes.</u> For studies which are registered on a publicly available Clinical Trials registry (e.g. ClinicalTrials.gov), please ensure the record is updated to accurately reflect the status of the study.

The REB operates in compliance with the Tri-Council Policy Statement Ethical Conduct for Research Involving Humans, the Ontario Personal Health Information Protection Act, 2004, and ICH Good Clinical Practice Consolidated Guideline E6, Health Canada Part C Division 5 of the Food and Drug Regulations, Part 4 of the Natural Health Product Regulations, and the Medical Devices regulations. Furthermore, all investigational drug trials at Unity Health Toronto are conducted by Qualified Investigators (as defined in the latter document).

With best wishes

ف الله الستشارات

A David Mazer, MD, Chair, REB

Michael Szego, PhD, Vice Chair, REB

Philip Berger, MD, Vice Chair, REB
Zoe von Aesch, MD, Vice Chair, REB

Dr. Jonathon Maguire (REB# 18-369)

Template V.2 Page 1 of 1

Research Ethics Office Telephone: (416) 864-6060 Ext. 42557 Facsimile: (416) 864-6043 E-mail: Dharmista.Patel@unityhealth.to

October 23, 2019

Dr. Jonathon Maguire, Department of Paediatrics, St. Michael's Hospital

Dear Dr. Maguire,

Re: REB# 18-369 - Cow Milk Obesity pRevention Trial: CoMFORT

REB APPROVAL:	Original Approval Date	October 23, 2019
	Annual/Interval Review Date	October 23, 2019

Thank you for your application submitted on November 29, 2018. At the Unity Health Toronto Research Ethics Board (REB) meeting held on December 12, 2018, the above referenced study was discussed and subsequently the views derived from this discussion have been documented and resolved. Please note that no member of the REB associated with this study was present or involved in its deliberation, review or approval.

The REB approves the study as it is found to comply with relevant research ethics guidelines, as well as the Ontario Personal Health Information Protection Act (PHIPA), 2004. The REB hereby issues approval for the above named study for a period of 12 months from the date of this letter. Continuation beyond that date will require further review of REB approval.

The REB has only granted approval of this study for the following sites under the auspices of Unity Health Toronto: 61 Queen Street, 80 Bond Street, 410 Sherbourne Street, 73 Regent Park Blvd.

In addition, the following are appropriate and hereby approved:

- 1. Protocol ver: 1 9/23/2019
- 2. Consent Form Physician Consent ver: 1 9/6/2019
- 3. Consent Form Parental Consent ver: 1 10/21/2019
- 4. ASA24 Diet Survey Information ver: 1/1/2018
- 5. RA Troubleshooting Guide ver: 1 9/6/2019
- 6. RA Follow up Phone Call Script ver: 1 9/6/2019
- 7. Physician Reminder Poster ver: 9/6/2019
- 8. Magnet: 1% Milk is Healthy ver: 1.3 9/30/2019
- 9. Magnet: 3.25% Milk is Healthy ver: 1.3 9/30/2019
- 10. Study Information for Parents 1% milk fat ver: 1 9/6/2019 11. Study Information for Parents 3.25% milk fat ver: 1 9/6/2019
- 12. TARGet Kids Re-Consenting Script/already enrolled in COMFORT ver: 1 9/6/2019

Furthermore, the following documents have been received and are acknowledged:

- 1. CoMFORT Follow Up Email Survey Script ver: 1 9/6/2019
- 2. ASQ-3: 18 Month, 24 month, 48 month ver: 2009
- 3. Screening Eligibility Form ver: 5/30/2019
- 4. Early Development Instrument ver: 2000
- 5. Follow up Email Survey and Phone Call Data Sheet ver: 9/6/2019

During the course of this investigation, any significant deviations from the approved protocol and/or unanticipated developments or significant adverse events should immediately be brought to the

Dr. Jonathon Maguire (REB# 18-369)

Template V.2 Page 1 of 2





Consent Form

St. Michael's Inspired Care. Inspiring Science. TARGet Kids! Cow Milk Fat Obesity pRevention Trial (CoMFORT)



Why am I being asked to take part in this research?

Your child is a part of *TARGet Kids*! and this is a study for which you are eligible to participate. The *TARGet Kids*! Research group hopes to learn more about how we can provide the best care to keep children healthy as they grow and develop, including recommending the best type of milk for children.

The *TARGet Kids!* CoMFORT Study aims to find out which type of cow's milk is best for children. Whole (3.25%) and reduced fat (1%) cow's milk are widely available and consumed by many Canadian children. The purpose of this study is to find which milk recommendation lessens the risk of obesity in children and optimizes child nutrition and development.

We are inviting you to help us try and answer this question.

What do I need to do?

Children who participate in this study will be randomly assigned (have an equal chance like the flip of a coin) to receive whole (3.25%) or reduced (1%) fat milk for your child. This selection is done by the study team. Your child's doctor will let you know which cow's milk fat your child should drink based on this random assignment. We will be using information already collected as part of the *TARGet Kids!* study to help determine which milk is best, and will be conducting bi-monthly email surveys or phone calls for the study duration (until your child is 4 years old) to see how things are going.

Will I receive any compensation for participating in the study?

We will provide you with a \$25 grocery store gift card for your participation.

What would happen if I weren't in the study?

You would receive usual care from your physician.

What are the Risk and Benefits?

Since whole and reduced fat milk recommendations are currently part of usual healthcare, the risks to your child in participating are no greater than in usual care. There is no expected direct benefit to you.





Important information

- Participation is voluntary
- You can withdraw consent at any time by talking to the TARGet Kids! research assistant

Your data will be de-identified and confidentially maintained as discussed in the *TARGet Kids*! consent form

To ensure proper study conduct, members of Sick Kids or Unity Health Toronto Research Ethics Board may review your study related data

Questions?

If you have any questions about your participation you can contact the TARGet Kids! Research Manager: Dalah Mason or Principal Investigator: Jonathon Maguire @ 416-813-7654 ext. 302129.

If you have any questions about your rights as a research participant or the conduct of this study, you may contact the Unity Health Toronto Research Ethics Board: 416-864-6060 ext. 2557 or the Sick Kids Research Ethics Board at 416-813-8279.

By signing this research consent form, I understand and confirm that:

- 1. All of my questions have been answered,
- 2. I understand the information within this informed consent form,
- 3. I understand that no information about my child will be given to anyone or be published without my permission.
- 4. I do not give up any of my or my child's legal rights by signing this consent form,
- 5. I have been told that I will be given a signed and dated copy of this consent form.
- 6. I agree to allow the child for whom I am responsible, to take part in this study.

I agree, or consent that my child ______may take part in this study.

Printed Name of Parent/Guardian

Parent/Guardian signature & date (DD/MMM/YYYY)

Printed Name of person who obtained consent

Role of person obtaining consent

Signature & date (DD/MMM/YYYY)



Intervention Scripts for Physicians

Reduced (1%) fat milk:

"Your child is recommended to consume 2 cups or 500 mL of 1% cow's milk each day. Do you have any questions about that?"

Whole (3.25%) fat milk:

"Your child is recommended to consume 2 cups or 500 mL of whole or 3.25% cow's milk each day. Do you have any questions about that?"



Reminder Magnets





Reminder Email Script

Your child is part of the TARGet Kids! CoMFORT study about cow's milk. We would like you to answer 3 short questions about cow's milk in your child's diet.

- 1. At your child's most recent well-child visit, what milk fat content recommendation did your child's physician provide?
 - a. Skim (0.1%)
 - b. 1%
 - c. 2%
 - d. Whole (3.25%)
- 2. What fat content of milk has your child been drinking for the past month?
 - a. Skim (0.1%)
 - b. 1%
 - c. 2%
 - d. Whole (3.25%)
- 3. Please select the most applicable reason for your choice to provide that fat content of cow's milk to your child:
 - a. Physician recommendation
 - b. Daycare/care provider serves it
 - c. Family/friend suggestion
 - d. Sibling/other family member drinks it
 - e. Other: _____

For children randomized to the whole milk intervention,

Please remember to provide whole (3.25%) milk cow's milk to your child. Two cups (500 mL) is recommended each day.

For children randomized to the reduced fat milk intervention,

Please remember to provide 1% milk cow's milk to your child. Two cups (500 mL) is recommended each day.



CHAPTER 9: REFERENCES

- Ogden COC, M. Prevalence of Obesity Among Children and Adolescents: United States, Trends 1963-1965 Through 2007-2008. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, . Published 2010. Accessed October 5, 2015.
- 2. Reilly JJ, Kelly J. Long-term impact of overweight and obesity in childhood and adolescence on morbidity and premature mortality in adulthood: systematic review. *International journal of obesity*. 2011;35(7):891-898.
- 3. National Institutes of Health. Age-appropriate diet for children. Medline Plus Web site. Published 2011. Accessed December 17, 2014.
- 4. Vanderhout SM, Birken CS, Parkin PC, et al. Relation between milk-fat percentage, vitamin D, and BMI z score in early childhood. *The American journal of clinical nutrition.* 2016;104(6):1657-1664.
- 5. Scharf RJ, Demmer RT, DeBoer MD. Longitudinal evaluation of milk type consumed and weight status in preschoolers. *Archives of disease in childhood*. 2013;98(5):335-340.
- 6. LaRowe TL, Moeller SM, Adams AK. Beverage patterns, diet quality, and body mass index of US preschool and school-aged children. *Journal of the American Dietetic Association*. 2007;107(7):1124-1133.
- 7. Huh SYR-S, S. L.; Rich-Edwards, J. W.; Taveras, E. M.; Gillman, M. W. Prospective association between milk intake and adiposity in preschool age children. *Journal of the American Dietetic Association*. 2010;110(4):563-570.
- 8. Noel SEN, A. R.; Northstone, K.; Emmett, P.; Newby, P. K. . Cross-sectional and prospective associations between milk and adiposity in children *FASEB journal : official publication of the Federation of American Societies for Experimental Biology.* 2011;25(781.19).
- 9. Beck AL, Heyman M, Chao C, Wojcicki J. Full fat milk consumption protects against severe childhood obesity in Latinos. *Prev Med Rep.* 2017;8:1-5.
- 10. Barba G, Troiano E, Russo P, Venezia A, Siani A. Inverse association between body mass and frequency of milk consumption in children. *The British journal of nutrition*. 2005;93(1):15-19.
- 11. Mazahery H, Camargo CA, Jr., Cairncross C, et al. Type of cows' milk consumption and relationship to health predictors in New Zealand preschool children. *The New Zealand medical journal*. 2018;131(1468):54-68.
- 12. Janssen I, Katzmarzyk PT, Boyce WF, et al. Comparison of overweight and obesity prevalence in school-aged youth from 34 countries and their relationships with physical activity and dietary patterns. *Obesity reviews : an official journal of the International Association for the Study of Obesity.* 2005;6(2):123-132.
- 13. Rolland-Cachera MF, Akrout M, Peneau S. Nutrient Intakes in Early Life and Risk of Obesity. *International journal of environmental research and public health.* 2016;13(6).
- 14. Alexy U, Sichert-Hellert W, Kersting M, Schultze-Pawlitschko V. Pattern of long-term fat intake and BMI during childhood and adolescence--results of the DONALD Study. *International journal of obesity and related metabolic disorders : journal of the International Association for the Study of Obesity.* 2004;28(10):1203-1209.
- 15. Allen RE, Myers AL. Nutrition in toddlers. *American family physician*. 2006;74(9):1527-1532.



- 16. Vanderhout SM, Birken CS, Parkin PC, et al. Relation between milk-fat percentage, vitamin D, and BMI z score in early childhood. *The American journal of clinical nutrition*. 2016;104(6):1657-1664.
- 17. Huh SY, Rifas-Shiman SL, Rich-Edwards JW, Taveras EM, Gillman MW. Prospective association between milk intake and adiposity in preschool-aged children. *Journal of the American Dietetic Association*. 2010;110(4):563-570.
- 18. Barba G, Troiano E, Russo P, Venezia A, Siani A. Inverse association between body mass and frequency of milk consumption in children. *British Journal of Nutrition*. 2005;93(1):15-19.
- 19. Scharf RJ, Demmer RT, DeBoer MD. Longitudinal evaluation of milk type consumed and weight status in preschoolers. *Archives of disease in childhood*. 2013;98(5):335-340.
- 20. Lanou AJ, Barnard ND. Dairy and weight loss hypothesis: an evaluation of the clinical trials. *Nutrition reviews*. 2008;66(5):272-279.
- 21. Montmayeur J-P, Le Coutre J. *Fat detection: Taste, texture, and post ingestive effects.* CRC Press; 2009.
- 22. Mozaffarian D, Cao H, King IB, et al. Trans-palmitoleic acid, metabolic risk factors, and new-onset diabetes in U.S. adults: a cohort study. *Annals of internal medicine*. 2010;153(12):790-799.
- 23. Mozaffarian D, de Oliveira Otto MC, Lemaitre RN, et al. trans-Palmitoleic acid, other dairy fat biomarkers, and incident diabetes: the Multi-Ethnic Study of Atherosclerosis (MESA). *The American journal of clinical nutrition*. 2013;97(4):854-861.
- 24. de Souza RJ, Mente A, Maroleanu A, et al. Intake of saturated and trans unsaturated fatty acids and risk of all cause mortality, cardiovascular disease, and type 2 diabetes: systematic review and meta-analysis of observational studies. *Bmj*. 2015;351:h3978.
- 25. Wang Q, Imamura F, Ma W, et al. Circulating and dietary trans fatty acids and incident type 2 diabetes in older adults: the Cardiovascular Health Study. *Diabetes care*. 2015;38(6):1099-1107.
- 26. Imamura F, Fretts A, Marklund M, et al. Fatty acid biomarkers of dairy fat consumption and incidence of type 2 diabetes: A pooled analysis of prospective cohort studies. *PLoS medicine*. 2018;15(10):e1002670.
- Racine NM, Watras AC, Carrel AL, et al. Effect of conjugated linoleic acid on body fat accretion in overweight or obese children. *The American journal of clinical nutrition*. 2010;91(5):1157-1164.
- 28. Liel Y, Ulmer E, Shary J, Hollis BW, Bell NH. Low circulating vitamin D in obesity. *Calcified tissue international.* 1988;43(4):199-201.
- 29. Reinehr T, de Sousa G, Alexy U, Kersting M, Andler W. Vitamin D status and parathyroid hormone in obese children before and after weight loss. *European journal of endocrinology / European Federation of Endocrine Societies*. 2007;157(2):225-232.
- 30. Lee SHK, S. M.; Park, H. S.; Choi, K. M.; Cho, G. J.; Ko, B. J.; Kim, J. H. . Serum 25hydroxyvitamin D levels, obesity and the metabolic syndrome among Korean children. *Nutrition, Metabolism & Cardiovascular Diseases.* 2013;23:785-791.
- 31. Smotkin-Tangorra M, Purushothaman R, Gupta A, Nejati G, Anhalt H, Ten S. Prevalence of vitamin D insufficiency in obese children and adolescents. *Journal of pediatric endocrinology & metabolism : JPEM.* 2007;20(7):817-823.
- 32. Turer CB, Lin H, Flores G. Prevalence of vitamin D deficiency among overweight and obese US children. *Pediatrics*. 2013;131(1):e152-161.



- 33. Rodriguez-Rodriguez E, Navia-Lomban B, Lopez-Sobaler AM, Ortega RM. Associations between abdominal fat and body mass index on vitamin D status in a group of Spanish schoolchildren. *European journal of clinical nutrition*. 2010;64(5):461-467.
- 34. Khor GL, Chee WS, Shariff ZM, et al. High prevalence of vitamin D insufficiency and its association with BMI-for-age among primary school children in Kuala Lumpur, Malaysia. *BMC public health*. 2011;11:95.
- 35. Vanderhout SB, CS; Parkin, PC; Lebovic, G; Chen, Y; O'Connor, DL; Maguire, JL. Higher milk fat content is associated with higher 25-hydroxyvitamin D concentration in early childhood. *Applied Physiology, Metabolism and Nutrition.* 2016.
- 36. Gilbert-Diamond D, Baylin A, Mora-Plazas M, et al. Vitamin D deficiency and anthropometric indicators of adiposity in school-age children: a prospective study. *The American journal of clinical nutrition*. 2010;92(6):1446-1451.
- 37. Zemel MB, Shi H, Greer B, Dirienzo D, Zemel PC. Regulation of adiposity by dietary calcium. *FASEB journal : official publication of the Federation of American Societies for Experimental Biology*. 2000;14(9):1132-1138.
- 38. Alemzadeh R, Kichler J, Babar G, Calhoun M. Hypovitaminosis D in obese children and adolescents: relationship with adiposity, insulin sensitivity, ethnicity, and season. *Metabolism: clinical and experimental.* 2008;57(2):183-191.
- 39. Berkey CS, Rockett HR, Willett WC, Colditz GA. Milk, dairy fat, dietary calcium, and weight gain: a longitudinal study of adolescents. *Archives of pediatrics & adolescent medicine*. 2005;159(6):543-550.
- 40. Segurel L, Bon C. On the Evolution of Lactase Persistence in Humans. *Annu Rev Genomics Hum Genet.* 2017;18:297-319.
- 41. Wiley AS. Cow milk consumption, insulin-like growth factor-I, and human biology: a life history approach. *American journal of human biology : the official journal of the Human Biology Council.* 2012;24(2):130-138.
- 42. Ingram CJ, Mulcare CA, Itan Y, Thomas MG, Swallow DM. Lactose digestion and the evolutionary genetics of lactase persistence. *Human genetics*. 2009;124(6):579-591.
- 43. McCracken RD. Origins and implications of the distribution of adult lactase deficiency in human populations. *J Trop Pediatr Environ Child Health*. 1971;17(1):7-10.
- 44. Bersaglieri T, Sabeti PC, Patterson N, et al. Genetic signatures of strong recent positive selection at the lactase gene. *American journal of human genetics*. 2004;74(6):1111-1120.
- 45. Hoppe C, Molgaard C, Michaelsen KF. Cow's milk and linear growth in industrialized and developing countries. *Annual review of nutrition*. 2006;26:131-173.
- 46. Canada DFo. The History of Milk. <u>https://www.dairygoodness.ca/milk/the-history-of-milk</u>. Published 2019. Accessed2019.
- 47. Ostry AS, T; Dubois, L; Nathoo, T. The interplay of public health and economics in the early development of nutrition policy in

Canada. Critical Public Health. 2003;13(2):171-185.

- 48. Canada Go. Canada's Food Guides from 1942 to 1992. <u>https://www.canada.ca/en/health-canada/services/food-nutrition/canada-food-guide/background-food-guide/canada-food-guides-1942-1992.html</u>. Published 2007. Accessed.
- 49. Health Canada. Canada's Food Guide. <u>https://food-guide.canada.ca/en/</u>. Published 2019. Accessed.
- 50. Health Canada CPS, ; Dietitians of Canada. *Nutrition for healthy term infants: Recommendations from birth to six months.* 2015.



- 51. Committee NaGCPEA. Healthy eating for children. Caring for Kids Web site. <u>http://www.caringforkids.cps.ca/handouts/healthy_eating_for_children</u>. Published 2011. Accessed October 6, 2015.
- 52. Leduc D. The rourke baby record. *Paediatrics & child health.* 1998;3(5):300.
- 53. Gidding SS, Dennison BA, Birch LL, et al. Dietary recommendations for children and adolescents: a guide for practitioners. *Pediatrics*. 2006;117(2):544-559.
- 54. National Health Service. What to feed young children. NHS Choices Web site. <u>https://www.nhs.uk/conditions/pregnancy-and-baby/understanding-food-groups/ - milk-and-dairy-products</u>. Published 2016. Accessed2018.
- 55. Organization WH. Food based dietary guidelines in the WHO European Region Copenhagen, Denmark2003.
- 56. Department of Health and Aging. *Infant Feeding Guidelines*. Government of Australia;2013.
- 57. Commission E. Food-Based Dietary Guidelines in Europe. <u>https://ec.europa.eu/jrc/en/health-knowledge-gateway/promotion-</u> <u>prevention/nutrition/food-based-dietary-guidelines</u>. Published 2019. Accessed.
- 58. Garriguet D. Beverage consumption of children and teens. November 2008 2008.
- 59. Jessri M, Nishi SK, L'Abbe MR. Assessing the nutritional quality of diets of Canadian children and adolescents using the 2014 Health Canada Surveillance Tool Tier System. *BMC public health.* 2016;16:381.
- 60. Health Canada. Eating Well With Canada's Food Guide. In:2011.
- 61. Organization WH. WHO Global Data Bank on Infant and Young Child Feeding. 2010.
- 62. St. Pierre M. Changes in Canadians' preferences for milk and dairy products. 2017.
- 63. Drewnowski A, Rehm CD, Constant F. Water and beverage consumption among children age 4-13y in the United States: analyses of 2005-2010 NHANES data. *Nutrition journal*. 2013;12:85.
- 64. Grimes CA, Szymlek-Gay EA, Nicklas TA. Beverage Consumption among U.S. Children Aged 0-24 Months: National Health and Nutrition Examination Survey (NHANES). *Nutrients.* 2017;9(3).
- 65. Reedy J, Krebs-Smith SM. Dietary sources of energy, solid fats, and added sugars among children and adolescents in the United States. *Journal of the American Dietetic Association*. 2010;110(10):1477-1484.
- 66. Maillot M, Rehm CD, Vieux F, Rose CM, Drewnowski A. Beverage consumption patterns among 4-19 y old children in 2009-14 NHANES show that the milk and 100% juice pattern is associated with better diets. *Nutrition journal*. 2018;17(1):54.
- 67. Fulgoni VL, 3rd, Quann EE. National trends in beverage consumption in children from birth to 5 years: analysis of NHANES across three decades. *Nutrition journal*. 2012;11:92.
- 68. Stewart HD, D.; Carlson, A. *Why Are Americans Consuming Less Fluid Milk? A Look at Generational Differences in Intake Frequency*. United States Department of Agriculture;2013.
- 69. Fayet F, Ridges LA, Wright JK, Petocz P. Australian children who drink milk (plain or flavored) have higher milk and micronutrient intakes but similar body mass index to those who do not drink milk. *Nutrition research*. 2013;33(2):95-102.
- 70. Byrne R, Zhou Y, Perry R, Mauch C, Magarey A. Beverage intake of Australian children and relationship with intake of fruit, vegetables, milk and body weight at 2, 3.7 and 5 years of age. *Nutr Diet.* 2018;75(2):159-166.



- 71. Ng SW, Ni Mhurchu C, Jebb SA, Popkin BM. Patterns and trends of beverage consumption among children and adults in Great Britain, 1986-2009. *The British journal of nutrition*. 2012;108(3):536-551.
- 72. Catalogue of Bias Collaboration S, EA; Brassey, J; Mahtani, K. Catalogue of Bias. https://catalogofbias.org/biases/. Published 2017. Accessed2020.
- 73. Evans AE, Springer AE, Evans MH, Ranjit N, Hoelscher DM. A descriptive study of beverage consumption among an ethnically diverse sample of public school students in Texas. *Journal of the American College of Nutrition*. 2010;29(4):387-396.
- 74. Keller KL, Kirzner J, Pietrobelli A, St-Onge MP, Faith MS. Increased sweetened beverage intake is associated with reduced milk and calcium intake in 3- to 7-year-old children at multi-item laboratory lunches. *Journal of the American Dietetic Association*. 2009;109(3):497-501.
- 75. Yen STL, B. Beverage consumption among US children and adolescents: fullinformation and quasi maximum-likelihood estimation of a censored system. *Eur Rev Agri Econ.* 2002;29(1):85-103.
- 76. Neumark-Sztainer D, Story M, Perry C, Casey MA. Factors influencing food choices of adolescents: findings from focus-group discussions with adolescents. *Journal of the American Dietetic Association*. 1999;99(8):929-937.
- 77. Reicks M, Degeneffe D, Ghosh K, et al. Parent calcium-rich-food practices/perceptions are associated with calcium intake among parents and their early adolescent children. *Public health nutrition*. 2012;15(2):331-340.
- 78. Sebastian RSG, J.; Enns, C.; Lacomb, R. Fluid milk consumption in the United States: What We Eat In America, NHANES 2005-2006

. Agricultural Research Service. 2010;US Dept Agriculture.

- 79. Wiley AS. Does milk make children grow? Relationships between milk consumption and height in NHANES 1999-2002. *American journal of human biology : the official journal of the Human Biology Council.* 2005;17(4):425-441.
- 80. James WP, Nelson M, Ralph A, Leather S. Socioeconomic determinants of health. The contribution of nutrition to inequalities in health. *Bmj*. 1997;314(7093):1545-1549.
- 81. Frazaoi E. Meal Patterns, Milk and Soft

Drink Consumption, and

Supplement Use. 2005.

- 82. Kim LP, Mallo N. Maternal Perceptions of Self-Weight and Child Weight May Influence Milk Choice of Participants in the Special Supplemental Nutrition Program for Women, Infants, and Children (WIC). *Journal of obesity*. 2019;2019:3654728.
- 83. Srbely V, Janjua I, Buchholz AC, Newton G. Interventions Aimed at Increasing Dairy and/or Calcium Consumption of Preschool-Aged Children: A Systematic Literature Review. *Nutrients*. 2019;11(4).
- 84. Walker A. Breast milk as the gold standard for protective nutrients. *The Journal of pediatrics*. 2010;156(2 Suppl):S3-7.
- 85. Picciano MF. Nutrient composition of human milk. *Pediatric clinics of North America*. 2001;48(1):53-67.
- 86. Infant and Pediatric Formula. Toronto, ON2015.
- Neilson Dairy. Nutrition Facts. Saputo Dairy Products Canada. <u>http://www.neilsondairy.com/home/productsmilk</u>. Published 2011. Accessed October 6, 2015.



- Panahi S, El Khoury D, Luhovyy BL, Goff HD, Anderson GH. Caloric beverages consumed freely at meal-time add calories to an ad libitum meal. *Appetite*. 2013;65:75-82.
- 89. Panahi S, Luhovyy BL, Liu TT, et al. Energy and macronutrient content of familiar beverages interact with pre-meal intervals to determine later food intake, appetite and glycemic response in young adults. *Appetite*. 2013;60(1):154-161.
- 90. Ostman EM, Liljeberg Elmstahl HG, Bjorck IM. Inconsistency between glycemic and insulinemic responses to regular and fermented milk products. *The American journal of clinical nutrition*. 2001;74(1):96-100.
- 91. Akhavan T, Luhovyy BL, Brown PH, Cho CE, Anderson GH. Effect of premeal consumption of whey protein and its hydrolysate on food intake and postmeal glycemia and insulin responses in young adults. *The American journal of clinical nutrition*. 2010;91(4):966-975.
- 92. Luhovyy BL, Akhavan T, Anderson GH. Whey proteins in the regulation of food intake and satiety. *Journal of the American College of Nutrition*. 2007;26(6):704S-712S.
- 93. Anderson GH, Moore SE. Dietary proteins in the regulation of food intake and body weight in humans. *The Journal of nutrition*. 2004;134(4):974S-979S.
- 94. Panahi S, El Khoury D, Kubant R, et al. Mechanism of action of whole milk and its components on glycemic control in healthy young men. *The Journal of nutritional biochemistry*. 2014;25(11):1124-1131.
- 95. Kretchmer N. Lactose and lactase--a historical perspective. *Gastroenterology*. 1971;61(6):805-813.
- 96. Schaafsma G. Lactose and lactose derivatives as bioactive ingredients in
- human nutrition. International Dairy Journal. 2008;18.
- 97. Jenkins DJ, Wolever TM, Taylor RH, et al. Glycemic index of foods: a physiological basis for carbohydrate exchange. *The American journal of clinical nutrition*. 1981;34(3):362-366.
- 98. Szilagyi A. Review article: lactose--a potential prebiotic. *Alimentary pharmacology & therapeutics*. 2002;16(9):1591-1602.
- 99. Abrams SA, Griffin IJ, Davila PM. Calcium and zinc absorption from lactose-containing and lactose-free infant formulas. *The American journal of clinical nutrition*. 2002;76(2):442-446.
- 100. Hoffman JR, Falvo MJ. Protein Which is Best? J Sports Sci Med. 2004;3(3):118-130.
- 101. Pereira PC. Milk nutritional composition and its role in human health. *Nutrition*. 2014;30(6):619-627.
- 102. Anderson GH, Tecimer SN, Shah D, Zafar TA. Protein source, quantity, and time of consumption determine the effect of proteins on short-term food intake in young men. *The Journal of nutrition.* 2004;134(11):3011-3015.
- 103. Tang JE, Moore DR, Kujbida GW, Tarnopolsky MA, Phillips SM. Ingestion of whey hydrolysate, casein, or soy protein isolate: effects on mixed muscle protein synthesis at rest and following resistance exercise in young men. *Journal of applied physiology*. 2009;107(3):987-992.
- 104. Nilsson M, Holst JJ, Bjorck IM. Metabolic effects of amino acid mixtures and whey protein in healthy subjects: studies using glucose-equivalent drinks. *The American journal of clinical nutrition*. 2007;85(4):996-1004.
- 105. Strader AD, Woods SC. Gastrointestinal hormones and food intake. *Gastroenterology*. 2005;128(1):175-191.



- 106. Bowen J, Noakes M, Trenerry C, Clifton PM. Energy intake, ghrelin, and cholecystokinin after different carbohydrate and protein preloads in overweight men. *The Journal of clinical endocrinology and metabolism*. 2006;91(4):1477-1483.
- 107. Hall WL, Millward DJ, Long SJ, Morgan LM. Casein and whey exert different effects on plasma amino acid profiles, gastrointestinal hormone secretion and appetite. *The British journal of nutrition*. 2003;89(2):239-248.
- Flint A, Raben A, Astrup A, Holst JJ. Glucagon-like peptide 1 promotes satiety and suppresses energy intake in humans. *The Journal of clinical investigation*. 1998;101(3):515-520.
- 109. Liddle RA, Morita ET, Conrad CK, Williams JA. Regulation of gastric emptying in humans by cholecystokinin. *The Journal of clinical investigation*. 1986;77(3):992-996.
- 110. Lassman DJ, McKie S, Gregory LJ, et al. Defining the role of cholecystokinin in the lipid-induced human brain activation matrix. *Gastroenterology*. 2010;138(4):1514-1524.
- 111. Little TJ, McKie S, Jones RB, et al. Mapping glucose-mediated gut-to-brain signalling pathways in humans. *NeuroImage*. 2014;96:1-11.
- 112. Schirra J, Kuwert P, Wank U, et al. Differential effects of subcutaneous GLP-1 on gastric emptying, antroduodenal motility, and pancreatic function in men. *Proc Assoc Am Physicians*. 1997;109(1):84-97.
- 113. Spiller RC, Trotman IF, Higgins BE, et al. The ileal brake--inhibition of jejunal motility after ileal fat perfusion in man. *Gut.* 1984;25(4):365-374.
- Mills SR, R.; Hill, C.; Fitzgerald, G.; Stanton, C. Milk intelligence: Mining milk for bioactive substances associated with human health. *International Dairy Journal*. 2011;21:377-401.
- 115. Farrell HM, Jr., Jimenez-Flores R, Bleck GT, et al. Nomenclature of the proteins of cows' milk--sixth revision. *Journal of dairy science*. 2004;87(6):1641-1674.
- 116. Hartmann R, Meisel H. Food-derived peptides with biological activity: from research to food applications. *Curr Opin Biotechnol.* 2007;18(2):163-169.
- 117. Kume H, Okazaki K, Sasaki H. Hepatoprotective effects of whey protein on Dgalactosamine-induced hepatitis and liver fibrosis in rats. *Biosci Biotechnol Biochem*. 2006;70(5):1281-1285.
- 118. Boirie Y, Dangin M, Gachon P, Vasson MP, Maubois JL, Beaufrere B. Slow and fast dietary proteins differently modulate postprandial protein accretion. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*. 1997;94(26):14930-14935.
- 119. Koldovsky OS, V. *Hormones and growth factors in human milk*. New York: Academic Press; 1995.
- 120. Cadogan J, Eastell R, Jones N, Barker ME. Milk intake and bone mineral acquisition in adolescent girls: randomised, controlled intervention trial. *Bmj.* 1997;315(7118):1255-1260.
- 121. Qin LQ, He K, Xu JY. Milk consumption and circulating insulin-like growth factor-I level: a systematic literature review. *International journal of food sciences and nutrition*. 2009;60 Suppl 7:330-340.
- 122. Holmes MD, Pollak MN, Willett WC, Hankinson SE. Dietary correlates of plasma insulin-like growth factor I and insulin-like growth factor binding protein 3 concentrations. *Cancer epidemiology, biomarkers & prevention : a publication of the American Association for Cancer Research, cosponsored by the American Society of Preventive Oncology*. 2002;11(9):852-861.



- 123. Ben-Shlomo Y, Holly J, McCarthy A, Savage P, Davies D, Davey Smith G. Prenatal and postnatal milk supplementation and adult insulin-like growth factor I: long-term followup of a randomized controlled trial. *Cancer epidemiology, biomarkers & prevention : a publication of the American Association for Cancer Research, cosponsored by the American Society of Preventive Oncology.* 2005;14(5):1336-1339.
- 124. Juul A, Bang P, Hertel NT, et al. Serum insulin-like growth factor-I in 1030 healthy children, adolescents, and adults: relation to age, sex, stage of puberty, testicular size, and body mass index. *The Journal of clinical endocrinology and metabolism*. 1994;78(3):744-752.
- 125. Cameron N. Human Growth and Development. New York: Academic; 2002.
- 126. Kelly O, Cusack S, Cashman KD. The effect of bovine whey protein on ectopic bone formation in young growing rats. *The British journal of nutrition*. 2003;90(3):557-564.
- 127. Mansson HL. Fatty acids in bovine milk fat. Food Nutr Res. 2008;52.
- 128. Couvreur S, Hurtaud C, Marnet PG, Faverdin P, Peyraud JL. Composition of milk fat from cows selected for milk fat globule size and offered either fresh pasture or a corn silage-based diet. *Journal of dairy science*. 2007;90(1):392-403.
- 129. Kanno C. Secretory membranes of the lactating mammary
- gland. Protoplasma. 1990;159:184-208.
- 130. Dewettinck KR, R.; Thienpont, N.; Le, TT.; Messens, K.; Van Camp, J. Nutritional and technological aspects of milk fat globule

membrane material. Int Dairy J. 2008;18:436-457.

- 131. Spitsberg VL. Invited review: Bovine milk fat globule membrane as a potential nutraceutical. *Journal of dairy science*. 2005;88(7):2289-2294.
- 132. Hernell O, Timby N, Domellof M, Lonnerdal B. Clinical Benefits of Milk Fat Globule Membranes for Infants and Children. *The Journal of pediatrics*. 2016;173 Suppl:S60-65.
- 133. Wu BT, Dyer RA, King DJ, Richardson KJ, Innis SM. Early second trimester maternal plasma choline and betaine are related to measures of early cognitive development in term infants. *PloS one*. 2012;7(8):e43448.
- 134. Gurnida DA, Rowan AM, Idjradinata P, Muchtadi D, Sekarwana N. Association of complex lipids containing gangliosides with cognitive development of 6-month-old infants. *Early human development*. 2012;88(8):595-601.
- 135. Timby N, Domellof E, Hernell O, Lonnerdal B, Domellof M. Neurodevelopment, nutrition, and growth until 12 mo of age in infants fed a low-energy, low-protein formula supplemented with bovine milk fat globule membranes: a randomized controlled trial. *The American journal of clinical nutrition*. 2014;99(4):860-868.
- 136. Conway V, Couture P, Richard C, Gauthier SF, Pouliot Y, Lamarche B. Impact of buttermilk consumption on plasma lipids and surrogate markers of cholesterol homeostasis in men and women. *Nutrition, metabolism, and cardiovascular diseases : NMCD.* 2013;23(12):1255-1262.
- 137. Demmer E, Van Loan MD, Rivera N, et al. Addition of a dairy fraction rich in milk fat globule membrane to a high-saturated fat meal reduces the postprandial insulinaemic and inflammatory response in overweight and obese adults. *J Nutr Sci.* 2016;5:e14.
- 138. Legrand P, Rioux V. The complex and important cellular and metabolic functions of saturated fatty acids. *Lipids*. 2010;45(10):941-946.
- 139. Stone NJ, Robinson JG, Lichtenstein AH, et al. 2013 ACC/AHA guideline on the treatment of blood cholesterol to reduce atherosclerotic cardiovascular risk in adults: a report of the American College of Cardiology/American Heart Association Task Force on



Practice Guidelines. *Journal of the American College of Cardiology*. 2014;63(25 Pt B):2889-2934.

- Hooper L, Martin N, Abdelhamid A, Davey Smith G. Reduction in saturated fat intake for cardiovascular disease. *The Cochrane database of systematic reviews*. 2015(6):CD011737.
- 141. Mensink RP, Zock PL, Kester AD, Katan MB. Effects of dietary fatty acids and carbohydrates on the ratio of serum total to HDL cholesterol and on serum lipids and apolipoproteins: a meta-analysis of 60 controlled trials. *The American journal of clinical nutrition*. 2003;77(5):1146-1155.
- 142. Kris-Etherton PM, Petersen, K.; Van Horn, L. Convincing evidence supports reducing saturated fat to decrease cardiovascular

disease risk. BMJ Nutrition, Prevention & Health. 2018;0:1-4.

- 143. Higgins JG, S (editors). Cochrane Handbook for Systematic Reviews of Interventions Version 5.1.0 2011.
- 144. Chowdhury R, Warnakula S, Kunutsor S, et al. Association of dietary, circulating, and supplement fatty acids with coronary risk: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Annals of internal medicine*. 2014;160(6):398-406.
- 145. de Oliveira Otto MC, Mozaffarian D, Kromhout D, et al. Dietary intake of saturated fat by food source and incident cardiovascular disease: the Multi-Ethnic Study of Atherosclerosis. *The American journal of clinical nutrition*. 2012;96(2):397-404.
- 146. Williams C. Dietary fatty acids and human health. Ann Zootech. 2000;49:165-180.
- 147. Calder PC. Functional Roles of Fatty Acids and Their Effects on Human Health. *JPEN Journal of parenteral and enteral nutrition*. 2015;39(1 Suppl):18S-32S.
- 148. Wikipedia. List of saturated fatty acids. https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/List_of_saturated_fatty_acids. Published 2019. Accessed.
- 149. Santaren ID, Watkins SM, Liese AD, et al. Individual serum saturated fatty acids and markers of chronic subclinical inflammation: the Insulin Resistance Atherosclerosis Study. *Journal of lipid research*. 2017;58(11):2171-2179.
- 150. Lemaitre RN, Fretts AM, Sitlani CM, et al. Plasma phospholipid very-long-chain saturated fatty acids and incident diabetes in older adults: the Cardiovascular Health Study. *The American journal of clinical nutrition*. 2015;101(5):1047-1054.
- 151. Mente A, Dehghan M, Rangarajan S, et al. Association of dietary nutrients with blood lipids and blood pressure in 18 countries: a cross-sectional analysis from the PURE study. *The lancet Diabetes & endocrinology*. 2017;5(10):774-787.
- 152. Evers J. The milk fat globule membrane-composition and structural changes post secretion by the mammary secretory cell. *Int Dairy J.* 2004;14:661-674.
- 153. Mancini A, Imperlini E, Nigro E, et al. Biological and Nutritional Properties of Palm Oil and Palmitic Acid: Effects on Health. *Molecules*. 2015;20(9):17339-17361.
- 154. Trayhurn P, Wood IS. Adipokines: inflammation and the pleiotropic role of white adipose tissue. *The British journal of nutrition*. 2004;92(3):347-355.
- 155. Truswell AS. Comparing palmolein with different predominantly monounsaturated oils: effect on plasma lipids. *International journal of food sciences and nutrition*. 2000;51 Suppl:S73-77.
- 156. Fattore E, Fanelli R. Palm oil and palmitic acid: a review on cardiovascular effects and carcinogenicity. *International journal of food sciences and nutrition*. 2013;64(5):648-659.



- 157. Bonanome A, Pagnan A, Biffanti S, et al. Effect of dietary monounsaturated and polyunsaturated fatty acids on the susceptibility of plasma low density lipoproteins to oxidative modification. *Arterioscler Thromb.* 1992;12(4):529-533.
- 158. Crupkin MZ, A. Detrimental Impact of Trans Fats on Human Health: Stearic Acid-Rich Fats as Possible Substitutes. *Comprehensive Reviews in Food Science and Food Safety*. 2008;7:271-279.
- 159. Kritchevsky D. Stearic acid metabolism and atherogenesis: history. *The American journal of clinical nutrition*. 1994;60(6 Suppl):997S-1001S.
- 160. Berry SE, Miller GJ, Sanders TA. The solid fat content of stearic acid-rich fats determines their postprandial effects. *The American journal of clinical nutrition*. 2007;85(6):1486-1494.
- RP TMHGM. Stearic, oleic and linoleic acid have comparable effects on markers of thrombotic tendency in healthy human subjects. *The Journal of nutrition*. 2005;135:2805–2811.
- 162. Storm H, Thomsen C, Pedersen E, Rasmussen O, Christiansen C, Hermansen K. Comparison of a carbohydrate-rich diet and diets rich in stearic or palmitic acid in NIDDM patients. Effects on lipids, glycemic control, and diurnal blood pressure. *Diabetes care*. 1997;20(12):1807-1813.
- 163. Mozaffarian D. Dairy Foods, Obesity, and Metabolic Health: The Role of the Food Matrix Compared with Single Nutrients. *Advances in nutrition*. 2019;10(5):917S-923S.
- Astrup A, Geiker NRW, Magkos F. Effects of Full-Fat and Fermented Dairy Products on Cardiometabolic Disease: Food Is More Than the Sum of Its Parts. *Advances in nutrition*. 2019;10(5):924S-930S.
- 165. Thorning TK, Bertram HC, Bonjour JP, et al. Whole dairy matrix or single nutrients in assessment of health effects: current evidence and knowledge gaps. *The American journal of clinical nutrition*. 2017;105(5):1033-1045.
- 166. Maki KC, Slavin JL, Rains TM, Kris-Etherton PM. Limitations of observational evidence: implications for evidence-based dietary recommendations. *Advances in nutrition*. 2014;5(1):7-15.
- 167. Johansson L, Thelle DS, Solvoll K, Bjorneboe GE, Drevon CA. Healthy dietary habits in relation to social determinants and lifestyle factors. *The British journal of nutrition*. 1999;81(3):211-220.
- 168. Groth MV, Fagt S, Brondsted L. Social determinants of dietary habits in Denmark. *European journal of clinical nutrition.* 2001;55(11):959-966.
- 169. Gibson RA. Milk fat and health consequences. *Nestle Nutrition workshop series Paediatric programme*. 2011;67:197-207.
- 170. Lasserre M, Mendy F, Spielmann D, Jacotot B. Effects of different dietary intake of essential fatty acids on C20:3 omega 6 and C20:4 omega 6 serum levels in human adults. *Lipids*. 1985;20(4):227-233.
- 171. Weggermans RR, M; Trautwein, EA. Intake of ruminant versus industrial trans fatty acids and risk of coronary heart disease what is the evidence? . *Eur J Lipid Sci Technol*. 2005;106:390-397.
- 172. Micha R, Mozaffarian D. Trans fatty acids: effects on cardiometabolic health and implications for policy. *Prostaglandins, leukotrienes, and essential fatty acids.* 2008;79(3-5):147-152.
- 173. Stender S, Astrup A, Dyerberg J. Ruminant and industrially produced trans fatty acids: health aspects. *Food Nutr Res.* 2008;52.



174. Wang YJ-S, MM; Proctor, SD. The role of ruminant trans fat as a potential nutraceutical in the prevention of

cardiovascular disease. Food Research International. 2011;46:460-468.

- 175. Jakobsen MU, Overvad K, Dyerberg J, Heitmann BL. Intake of ruminant trans fatty acids and risk of coronary heart disease. *International journal of epidemiology*. 2008;37(1):173-182.
- 176. Jakobsen MU, Bysted A, Andersen NL, et al. Intake of ruminant trans fatty acids and risk of coronary heart disease-an overview. *Atheroscler Suppl.* 2006;7(2):9-11.
- 177. Gebauer SK, Chardigny JM, Jakobsen MU, et al. Effects of ruminant trans fatty acids on cardiovascular disease and cancer: a comprehensive review of epidemiological, clinical, and mechanistic studies. *Advances in nutrition*. 2011;2(4):332-354.
- 178. Song HJ, Grant I, Rotondo D, et al. Effect of CLA supplementation on immune function in young healthy volunteers. *European journal of clinical nutrition*. 2005;59(4):508-517.
- 179. Toomey S, McMonagle J, Roche HM. Conjugated linoleic acid: a functional nutrient in the different pathophysiological components of the metabolic syndrome? *Current opinion in clinical nutrition and metabolic care*. 2006;9(6):740-747.
- 180. Gaullier JM, Halse J, Hoye K, et al. Supplementation with conjugated linoleic acid for 24 months is well tolerated by and reduces body fat mass in healthy, overweight humans. *The Journal of nutrition*. 2005;135(4):778-784.
- 181. Bhattacharya A, Banu J, Rahman M, Causey J, Fernandes G. Biological effects of conjugated linoleic acids in health and disease. *The Journal of nutritional biochemistry*. 2006;17(12):789-810.
- 182. Wang YR, SM; Nagao, K; Han, SY; Yanagita, T. The comparative effects of triglyceridetype and free fatty acid-type conjugated linoleic acids on hepatic lipid content and metabolism in OLETF obese rats. *J Oleo Sci.* 2003;52:129-134.
- 183. DeLany JP, West DB. Changes in body composition with conjugated linoleic acid. *Journal of the American College of Nutrition*. 2000;19(4):487S-493S.
- 184. Thom E, Wadstein J, Gudmundsen O. Conjugated linoleic acid reduces body fat in healthy exercising humans. *J Int Med Res.* 2001;29(5):392-396.
- 185. Blankson H, Stakkestad JA, Fagertun H, Thom E, Wadstein J, Gudmundsen O. Conjugated linoleic acid reduces body fat mass in overweight and obese humans. *The Journal of nutrition*. 2000;130(12):2943-2948.
- 186. Onakpoya IJ, Posadzki PP, Watson LK, Davies LA, Ernst E. The efficacy of long-term conjugated linoleic acid (CLA) supplementation on body composition in overweight and obese individuals: a systematic review and meta-analysis of randomized clinical trials. *European journal of nutrition*. 2012;51(2):127-134.
- 187. Malpuech-Brugere C, Verboeket-van de Venne WP, Mensink RP, et al. Effects of two conjugated linoleic Acid isomers on body fat mass in overweight humans. *Obesity research*. 2004;12(4):591-598.
- 188. Desroches S, Chouinard PY, Galibois I, et al. Lack of effect of dietary conjugated linoleic acids naturally incorporated into butter on the lipid profile and body composition of overweight and obese men. *The American journal of clinical nutrition*. 2005;82(2):309-319.
- 189. Dhiman TR, Nam SH, Ure AL. Factors affecting conjugated linoleic acid content in milk and meat. *Crit Rev Food Sci Nutr.* 2005;45(6):463-482.
- 190. Field CJ, Blewett HH, Proctor S, Vine D. Human health benefits of vaccenic acid. *Applied physiology, nutrition, and metabolism = Physiologie appliquee, nutrition et metabolisme.* 2009;34(5):979-991.



- 191. Jaudszus A, Kramer R, Pfeuffer M, Roth A, Jahreis G, Kuhnt K. trans Palmitoleic acid arises endogenously from dietary vaccenic acid. *The American journal of clinical nutrition*. 2014;99(3):431-435.
- 192. Di Sabatino A, Morera R, Ciccocioppo R, et al. Oral butyrate for mildly to moderately active Crohn's disease. *Alimentary pharmacology & therapeutics*. 2005;22(9):789-794.
- 193. Kratz M, Baars T, Guyenet S. The relationship between high-fat dairy consumption and obesity, cardiovascular, and metabolic disease. *European journal of nutrition*. 2013;52(1):1-24.
- 194. Gao Z, Yin J, Zhang J, et al. Butyrate improves insulin sensitivity and increases energy expenditure in mice. *Diabetes*. 2009;58(7):1509-1517.
- 195. Wu Z, Palmquist DL. Synthesis and biohydrogenation of fatty acids by ruminal microorganisms in vitro. *Journal of dairy science*. 1991;74(9):3035-3046.
- 196. Warensjo E, Jansson JH, Cederholm T, et al. Biomarkers of milk fat and the risk of myocardial infarction in men and women: a prospective, matched case-control study. *The American journal of clinical nutrition*. 2010;92(1):194-202.
- 197. Warensjo E, Jansson JH, Berglund L, et al. Estimated intake of milk fat is negatively associated with cardiovascular risk factors and does not increase the risk of a first acute myocardial infarction. A prospective case-control study. *The British journal of nutrition*. 2004;91(4):635-642.
- 198. Krachler B, Norberg M, Eriksson JW, et al. Fatty acid profile of the erythrocyte membrane preceding development of Type 2 diabetes mellitus. *Nutrition, metabolism, and cardiovascular diseases : NMCD.* 2008;18(7):503-510.
- 199. Sun Q, Ma J, Campos H, Hu FB. Plasma and erythrocyte biomarkers of dairy fat intake and risk of ischemic heart disease. *The American journal of clinical nutrition*. 2007;86(4):929-937.
- 200. Biong AS, Veierod MB, Ringstad J, Thelle DS, Pedersen JI. Intake of milk fat, reflected in adipose tissue fatty acids and risk of myocardial infarction: a case-control study. *European journal of clinical nutrition*. 2006;60(2):236-244.
- 201. Warensjo E, Smedman A, Stegmayr B, et al. Stroke and plasma markers of milk fat intake--a prospective nested case-control study. *Nutr J.* 2009;8:21.
- 202. de Oliveira Otto MC, Nettleton JA, Lemaitre RN, et al. Biomarkers of dairy fatty acids and risk of cardiovascular disease in the Multi-ethnic Study of Atherosclerosis. *J Am Heart Assoc.* 2013;2(4):e000092.
- 203. Singhal S, Baker RD, Baker SS. A Comparison of the Nutritional Value of Cow's Milk and Nondairy Beverages. *Journal of pediatric gastroenterology and nutrition*. 2017;64(5):799-805.
- 204. Canada H. Dietary Reference Intakes. <u>https://www.canada.ca/en/health-</u> <u>canada/services/food-nutrition/healthy-eating/dietary-reference-intakes/tables/reference-</u> <u>values-macronutrients-dietary-reference-intakes-tables-2005.html</u>. Published 2006. Accessed.
- 205. Milk Quality Improvement Program. Nutritional Components in Milk. Milk Facts Web site. <u>http://milkfacts.info/Nutrition Facts/Nutritional Components.htm</u>. Published 2015. Accessed October 6, 2015.
- 206. Canada DFo. Calcium and Bioavailability. <u>https://www.dairynutrition.ca/nutrients-in-milk-products/calcium/calcium-and-bioavailability</u>. Published 2019. Accessed2019.
- 207. Calvo MS. Dietary phosphorus, calcium metabolism and bone. *The Journal of nutrition*. 1993;123(9):1627-1633.



- 208. Coudray B. The contribution of dairy products to micronutrient intakes in France. *Journal of the American College of Nutrition*. 2011;30(5 Suppl 1):410S-414S.
- 209. Drewnowski A. The contribution of milk and milk products to micronutrient density and affordability of the U.S. diet. *Journal of the American College of Nutrition*. 2011;30(5 Suppl 1):422S-428S.
- 210. Mrdjenovic G, Levitsky DA. Nutritional and energetic consequences of sweetened drink consumption in 6- to 13-year-old children. *The Journal of pediatrics*. 2003;142(6):604-610.
- 211. Ballew C, Kuester S, Gillespie C. Beverage choices affect adequacy of children's nutrient intakes. *Archives of pediatrics & adolescent medicine*. 2000;154(11):1148-1152.
- 212. Girelli ME, Coin P, Mian C, et al. Milk represents an important source of iodine in schoolchildren of the Veneto region, Italy. *Journal of endocrinological investigation*. 2004;27(8):709-713.
- 213. Soriguer F, Gutierrez-Repiso C, Gonzalez-Romero S, et al. Iodine concentration in cow's milk and its relation with urinary iodine concentrations in the population. *Clinical nutrition*. 2011;30(1):44-48.
- 214. Moore LL, Bradlee ML, Gao D, Singer MR. Effects of average childhood dairy intake on adolescent bone health. *The Journal of pediatrics*. 2008;153(5):667-673.
- 215. Arvanitidou V, Voskaki I, Tripsianis G, et al. Serum copper and zinc concentrations in healthy children aged 3-14 years in Greece. *Biological trace element research*. 2007;115(1):1-12.
- 216. Dawson-Hughes B, Harris SS, Lichtenstein AH, Dolnikowski G, Palermo NJ, Rasmussen H. Dietary Fat Increases Vitamin D-3 Absorption. *Journal of the Academy of Nutrition and Dietetics*. 2014.
- 217. Dawson-Hughes B, Harris SS, Palermo NJ, Ceglia L, Rasmussen H. Meal conditions affect the absorption of supplemental vitamin D3 but not the plasma 25-hydroxyvitamin D response to supplementation. *Journal of bone and mineral research : the official journal of the American Society for Bone and Mineral Research*. 2013;28(8):1778-1783.
- 218. Maguire JL, Birken CS, Khovratovich M, et al. Modifiable determinants of serum 25hydroxyvitamin D status in early childhood: opportunities for prevention. *JAMA pediatrics*. 2013;167(3):230-235.
- 219. Health Canada. Vitamin D and Calcium: Updated Dietary Reference Intakes. Published 2012. Updated March 22 2012. Accessed September 29, 2014.
- 220. Faulkner H, Hussein A, Foran M, Szijarto L. A survey of vitamin A and D contents of fortified fluid milk in Ontario. *Journal of dairy science*. 2000;83(6):1210-1216.
- 221. Canada Do. Food Sources of Vitamin A. <u>https://www.dietitians.ca/Downloads/Factsheets/Food-Sources-of-Vitamin-A.aspx</u>. Published 2012. Accessed2019.
- 222. Vissers PA, Streppel MT, Feskens EJ, de Groot LC. The contribution of dairy products to micronutrient intake in the Netherlands. *Journal of the American College of Nutrition*. 2011;30(5 Suppl 1):415S-421S.
- 223. Dror DK, Allen LH. Dairy product intake in children and adolescents in developed countries: trends, nutritional contribution, and a review of association with health outcomes. *Nutrition reviews*. 2014;72(2):68-81.
- 224. Organization FaA. Milk and dairy products in human nutrition. Rome2013.
- 225. C. RSB. Milk Industry Act. In. 289. Vol 40-421996.
- 226. EUFIC. The Functions of Carbohydrates in the Body. <u>https://www.eufic.org/en/whats-in-food/article/the-basics-carbohydrates</u>. Published 2012. Accessed2019.



- 227. Milner JA, Allison RG. The role of dietary fat in child nutrition and development: summary of an ASNS workshop. American Society for Nutritional Sciences. *The Journal of nutrition*. 1999;129(11):2094-2105.
- 228. Garriguet D. Overview of Canadians' Eating Habits. 2004.
- 229. Mulder KA, Ferdinands AR, Richardson KJ, Innis SM. Sources of trans and saturated fatty acids in the diets of Vancouver children. *Canadian journal of dietetic practice and research : a publication of Dietitians of Canada = Revue canadienne de la pratique et de la recherche en dietetique : une publication des Dietetistes du Canada.* 2013;74(1):7-13.
- 230. Wong VCH, Maguire JL, Omand JA, et al. A Positive Association Between Dietary Intake of Higher Cow's Milk-Fat Percentage and Non-High-Density Lipoprotein Cholesterol in Young Children. *The Journal of pediatrics*. 2019.
- 231. Lapinleimu H, Viikari J, Jokinen E, et al. Prospective randomised trial in 1062 infants of diet low in saturated fat and cholesterol. *Lancet*. 1995;345(8948):471-476.
- 232. Carruth BR, Skinner JD. The role of dietary calcium and other nutrients in moderating body fat in preschool children. *International journal of obesity and related metabolic disorders : journal of the International Association for the Study of Obesity.* 2001;25(4):559-566.
- 233. Moore LL, Bradlee ML, Gao D, Singer MR. Low dairy intake in early childhood predicts excess body fat gain. *Obesity*. 2006;14(6):1010-1018.
- 234. Keast DR, Fulgoni VL, 3rd, Nicklas TA, O'Neil CE. Food sources of energy and nutrients among children in the United States: National Health and Nutrition Examination Survey 2003-2006. *Nutrients*. 2013;5(1):283-301.
- 235. Gunther AL, Remer T, Kroke A, Buyken AE. Early protein intake and later obesity risk: which protein sources at which time points throughout infancy and childhood are important for body mass index and body fat percentage at 7 y of age? *The American journal of clinical nutrition*. 2007;86(6):1765-1772.
- 236. Hurley W. Major Milk Proteins. University of Illinois. Milk Synthesis: Proteins Web site. <u>http://ansci.illinois.edu/static/ansc438/Milkcompsynth/milksynth_proteinmajor.html</u>. Published 2015. Accessed October 6, 2015.
- 237. Critch JN, Canadian Paediatric S, Nutrition, Gastroenterology C. Nutrition for healthy term infants, six to 24 months: An overview. *Paediatrics & child health*. 2014;19(10):547-552.
- 238. Rolland-Cachera MF, Deheeger M, Bellisle F. Increasing prevalence of obesity among 18-year-old males in Sweden: evidence for early determinants. *Acta paediatrica*. 1999;88(4):365-367.
- 239. Butte NF, Fox MK, Briefel RR, et al. Nutrient intakes of US infants, toddlers, and preschoolers meet or exceed dietary reference intakes. *Journal of the American Dietetic Association*. 2010;110(12 Suppl):S27-37.
- 240. Bowman SA. Beverage choices of young females: changes and impact on nutrient intakes. *Journal of the American Dietetic Association*. 2002;102(9):1234-1239.
- Gordon CM, Feldman HA, Sinclair L, et al. Prevalence of vitamin D deficiency among healthy infants and toddlers. *Archives of pediatrics & adolescent medicine*. 2008;162(6):505-512.
- 242. Gordon CM, DePeter KC, Feldman HA, Grace E, Emans SJ. Prevalence of vitamin D deficiency among healthy adolescents. *Archives of pediatrics & adolescent medicine*. 2004;158(6):531-537.
- 243. Melamed ML, Kumar J. Low levels of 25-hydroxyvitamin D in the pediatric populations: prevalence and clinical outcomes. *Pediatric health*. 2010;4(1):89-97.



- 244. Lee GJ, Birken CS, Parkin PC, et al. Consumption of non-cow's milk beverages and serum vitamin D levels in early childhood. *CMAJ* : *Canadian Medical Association journal* = *journal de l'Association medicale canadienne*. 2014;186(17):1287-1293.
- 245. Sousa AK-B, KA. Nutritional Implications of an Increasing Consumption of Non-Dairy Plant-Based Beverages Instead of Cow's Milk in Switzerland. *J Adv Dairy Res.* 2017;5(4).
- 246. de Beer H. Dairy products and physical stature: a systematic review and meta-analysis of controlled trials. *Econ Hum Biol.* 2012;10(3):299-309.
- Kouvelioti RJ, A.; Klentrou, P. Effects of Dairy Consumption on Body Composition and Bone Properties in Youth: A Systematic Review. *Current Developments in Nutrition*. 2017;1(8).
- 248. Lau EM, Lynn H, Chan YH, Lau W, Woo J. Benefits of milk powder supplementation on bone accretion in Chinese children. *Osteoporosis international : a journal established as result of cooperation between the European Foundation for Osteoporosis and the National Osteoporosis Foundation of the USA.* 2004;15(8):654-658.
- 249. Chan GM, Hoffman K, McMurry M. Effects of dairy products on bone and body composition in pubertal girls. *The Journal of pediatrics*. 1995;126(4):551-556.
- 250. Black RE, Williams SM, Jones IE, Goulding A. Children who avoid drinking cow milk have low dietary calcium intakes and poor bone health. *The American journal of clinical nutrition*. 2002;76(3):675-680.
- 251. Kalkwarf HJ, Khoury JC, Lanphear BP. Milk intake during childhood and adolescence, adult bone density, and osteoporotic fractures in US women. *The American journal of clinical nutrition*. 2003;77(1):257-265.
- 252. Ross ACT, C. L.; Yaktine, A. L. Dietary Reference Intakes for Calcium and
- Vitamin D. Washington, DC2010.
- 253. Jesudason DC, P. The interaction between dietary protein and bone
- health. . J Bone Miner Metab. 2011;29:1-14.
- 254. Morency ME, Birken CS, Lebovic G, et al. Association between noncow milk beverage consumption and childhood height. *The American journal of clinical nutrition*. 2017;106(2):597-602.
- 255. Goulding A, Rockell JE, Black RE, Grant AM, Jones IE, Williams SM. Children who avoid drinking cow's milk are at increased risk for prepubertal bone fractures. *Journal of the American Dietetic Association*. 2004;104(2):250-253.
- 256. Konstantynowicz J, Nguyen TV, Kaczmarski M, Jamiolkowski J, Piotrowska-Jastrzebska J, Seeman E. Fractures during growth: potential role of a milk-free diet. Osteoporosis international : a journal established as result of cooperation between the European Foundation for Osteoporosis and the National Osteoporosis Foundation of the USA. 2007;18(12):1601-1607.
- 257. Greer FR, Krebs NF, American Academy of Pediatrics Committee on N. Optimizing bone health and calcium intakes of infants, children, and adolescents. *Pediatrics*. 2006;117(2):578-585.
- 258. Wiley AS. Consumption of milk, but not other dairy products, is associated with height among US preschool children in NHANES 1999-2002. *Ann Hum Biol.* 2009;36(2):125-138.
- 259. Berkey CS, Colditz GA, Rockett HR, Frazier AL, Willett WC. Dairy consumption and female height growth: prospective cohort study. *Cancer epidemiology, biomarkers & prevention : a publication of the American Association for Cancer Research, cosponsored by the American Society of Preventive Oncology.* 2009;18(6):1881-1887.



- 260. Crichton GE, Bryan J, Murphy KJ, Buckley J. Review of dairy consumption and cognitive performance in adults: findings and methodological issues. *Dement Geriatr Cogn Disord*. 2010;30(4):352-361.
- 261. Lee L, Kang SA, Lee HO, et al. Relationships between dietary intake and cognitive function level in Korean elderly people. *Public Health.* 2001;115(2):133-138.
- 262. Rahman A, Sawyer Baker P, Allman RM, Zamrini E. Dietary factors and cognitive impairment in community-dwelling elderly. *The journal of nutrition, health & aging*. 2007;11(1):49-54.
- 263. Birnie K, Ben-Shlomo Y, Gunnell D, et al. Childhood milk consumption is associated with better physical performance in old age. *Age and ageing*. 2012;41(6):776-784.
- 264. Uauy R, Dangour AD. Nutrition in brain development and aging: role of essential fatty acids. *Nutrition reviews*. 2006;64(5 Pt 2):S24-33; discussion S72-91.
- 265. Benton D. Do low cholesterol levels slow mental processing? *Psychosomatic medicine*. 1995;57(1):50-53.
- 266. Chang CY, Ke DS, Chen JY. Essential fatty acids and human brain. *Acta Neurol Taiwan*. 2009;18(4):231-241.
- 267. Nyaradi A, Li J, Hickling S, Foster J, Oddy WH. The role of nutrition in children's neurocognitive development, from pregnancy through childhood. *Frontiers in human neuroscience*. 2013;7:97.
- 268. Michaelsen KF, Hoppe C, Lauritzen L, Molgaard C. Whole cow's milk: why, what and when? *Nestle Nutrition workshop series Paediatric programme*. 2007;60:201-216; discussion 216-209.
- 269. Weiser MJ, Butt CM, Mohajeri MH. Docosahexaenoic Acid and Cognition throughout the Lifespan. *Nutrients*. 2016;8(2):99.
- 270. Chatterjee A, Harris SB, Leiter LA, et al. Managing cardiometabolic risk in primary care: summary of the 2011 consensus statement. *Canadian family physician Medecin de famille canadien*. 2012;58(4):389-393, e196-201.
- 271. Berenson GS, Srinivasan SR, Bao W, Newman WP, 3rd, Tracy RE, Wattigney WA. Association between multiple cardiovascular risk factors and atherosclerosis in children and young adults. The Bogalusa Heart Study. *The New England journal of medicine*. 1998;338(23):1650-1656.
- 272. Lauer RM, Lee J, Clarke WR. Factors affecting the relationship between childhood and adult cholesterol levels: the Muscatine Study. *Pediatrics*. 1988;82(3):309-318.
- 273. Morrison JA, Sprecher DL, Barton BA, Waclawiw MA, Daniels SR. Overweight, fat patterning, and cardiovascular disease risk factors in black and white girls: The National Heart, Lung, and Blood Institute Growth and Health Study. *The Journal of pediatrics*. 1999;135(4):458-464.
- 274. Obarzanek E, Hunsberger SA, Van Horn L, et al. Safety of a fat-reduced diet: the Dietary Intervention Study in Children (DISC). *Pediatrics*. 1997;100(1):51-59.
- Li S, Chen W, Srinivasan SR, et al. Childhood cardiovascular risk factors and carotid vascular changes in adulthood: the Bogalusa Heart Study. *Jama*. 2003;290(17):2271-2276.
- 276. Lauer RM, Clarke WR. Use of cholesterol measurements in childhood for the prediction of adult hypercholesterolemia. The Muscatine Study. *Jama*. 1990;264(23):3034-3038.
- 277. Soedamah-Muthu SS, Ding EL, Al-Delaimy WK, et al. Milk and dairy consumption and incidence of cardiovascular diseases and all-cause mortality: dose-response meta-analysis of prospective cohort studies. *The American journal of clinical nutrition*. 2011;93(1):158-



- 278. Drouin-Chartier JP, Brassard D, Tessier-Grenier M, et al. Systematic Review of the Association between Dairy Product Consumption and Risk of Cardiovascular-Related Clinical Outcomes. *Advances in nutrition*. 2016;7(6):1026-1040.
- 279. Larsson SC, Crippa A, Orsini N, Wolk A, Michaelsson K. Milk Consumption and Mortality from All Causes, Cardiovascular Disease, and Cancer: A Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis. *Nutrients*. 2015;7(9):7749-7763.
- 280. Ralston RA, Lee JH, Truby H, Palermo CE, Walker KZ. A systematic review and metaanalysis of elevated blood pressure and consumption of dairy foods. *Journal of human hypertension*. 2012;26(1):3-13.
- 281. Soedamah-Muthu SS, Verberne LD, Ding EL, Engberink MF, Geleijnse JM. Dairy consumption and incidence of hypertension: a dose-response meta-analysis of prospective cohort studies. *Hypertension*. 2012;60(5):1131-1137.
- 282. Dehghan M, Mente A, Rangarajan S, et al. Association of dairy intake with cardiovascular disease and mortality in 21 countries from five continents (PURE): a prospective cohort study. *Lancet.* 2018;392(10161):2288-2297.
- 283. Guo J, Astrup A, Lovegrove JA, Gijsbers L, Givens DI, Soedamah-Muthu SS. Milk and dairy consumption and risk of cardiovascular diseases and all-cause mortality: dose-response meta-analysis of prospective cohort studies. *Eur J Epidemiol.* 2017;32(4):269-287.
- 284. Chiu S, Williams PT, Krauss RM. Effects of a very high saturated fat diet on LDL particles in adults with atherogenic dyslipidemia: A randomized controlled trial. *PloS one*. 2017;12(2):e0170664.
- 285. Hendrie GA, Golley RK. Changing from regular-fat to low-fat dairy foods reduces saturated fat intake but not energy intake in 4-13-y-old children. *The American journal of clinical nutrition*. 2011;93(5):1117-1127.
- 286. Villalpando S, Lara Zamudio Y, Shamah-Levy T, Mundo-Rosas V, Manzano AC, Lamadrid-Figueroa H. Substitution of whole cows' milk with defatted milk for 4 months reduced serum total cholesterol, HDL-cholesterol and total apoB in a sample of Mexican school-age children (6-16 years of age). *The British journal of nutrition*. 2015;114(5):788-795.
- 287. Steinmetz KA, Childs MT, Stimson C, et al. Effect of consumption of whole milk and skim milk on blood lipid profiles in healthy men. *The American journal of clinical nutrition*. 1994;59(3):612-618.
- 288. Astrup A, Dyerberg J, Elwood P, et al. The role of reducing intakes of saturated fat in the prevention of cardiovascular disease: where does the evidence stand in 2010? *The American journal of clinical nutrition*. 2011;93(4):684-688.
- 289. St-Onge MP, Farnworth ER, Jones PJ. Consumption of fermented and nonfermented dairy products: effects on cholesterol concentrations and metabolism. *The American journal of clinical nutrition*. 2000;71(3):674-681.
- 290. Hjerpsted J, Leedo E, Tholstrup T. Cheese intake in large amounts lowers LDLcholesterol concentrations compared with butter intake of equal fat content. *The American journal of clinical nutrition*. 2011;94(6):1479-1484.
- Benatar JR, Sidhu K, Stewart RA. Effects of high and low fat dairy food on cardiometabolic risk factors: a meta-analysis of randomized studies. *PloS one*. 2013;8(10):e76480.
- 292. Panagiotakos DB, Pitsavos CH, Zampelas AD, Chrysohoou CA, Stefanadis CI. Dairy products consumption is associated with decreased levels of inflammatory markers



related to cardiovascular disease in apparently healthy adults: the ATTICA study. *Journal of the American College of Nutrition*. 2010;29(4):357-364.

- 293. Høstmark AT HA, Tomten SE, Thelle DS, Mosdøl A. Serum HDL cholesterol was positively associated with cheese intake in the Oslo Health Study. *J Food Lipids*. 2009;16:89-102.
- 294. Tremblay A, Gilbert JA. Milk products, insulin resistance syndrome and type 2 diabetes. *Journal of the American College of Nutrition*. 2009;28 Suppl 1:91S-102S.
- 295. Autier P, Mullie P, Macacu A, et al. Effect of vitamin D supplementation on non-skeletal disorders: a systematic review of meta-analyses and randomised trials. *The lancet Diabetes & endocrinology*. 2017;5(12):986-1004.
- 296. Birken CS, Lebovic G, Anderson LN, et al. Association between Vitamin D and Circulating Lipids in Early Childhood. *PloS one*. 2015;10(7):e0131938.
- 297. Louie JC, Flood VM, Rangan AM, et al. Higher regular fat dairy consumption is associated with lower incidence of metabolic syndrome but not type 2 diabetes. *Nutrition, metabolism, and cardiovascular diseases : NMCD.* 2013;23(9):816-821.
- 298. Moore LL, Singer MR, Bradlee ML, et al. Intake of fruits, vegetables, and dairy products in early childhood and subsequent blood pressure change. *Epidemiology*. 2005;16(1):4-11.
- 299. Fallah ZK, E.; Motlagh, M.E.; Heshmat, R.; Ardalan, G.; Kelishadi, R. . Risk of obesity and elevated blood pressure in relation to the type of milk consumed by children
- and adolescents. J Curr Research in Science. 2016;4(2):153-160.
- 300. Fleischer Michaelsen KW, L.; Branca, F.; Robertson, A. *Feeding and Nutrition of Infants and Young Children*. Copenhagen, Denmark2000.
- 301. Nommsen LA, Lovelady CA, Heinig MJ, Lonnerdal B, Dewey KG. Determinants of energy, protein, lipid, and lactose concentrations in human milk during the first 12 mo of lactation: the DARLING Study. *The American journal of clinical nutrition*. 1991;53(2):457-465.
- 302. Andreas NJ, Kampmann B, Mehring Le-Doare K. Human breast milk: A review on its composition and bioactivity. *Early human development*. 2015;91(11):629-635.
- 303. Lonnerdal B, Woodhouse LR, Glazier C. Compartmentalization and quantitation of protein in human milk. *The Journal of nutrition*. 1987;117(8):1385-1395.
- 304. Canadian Pediatric Society. Feeding your baby in the first year. Canadian Pediatric Society. Caring for Kids Web site. <u>http://www.caringforkids.cps.ca/handouts/feeding_your_baby_in_the_first_year</u>. Published 2014. Accessed October 6, 2015.
- 305. American Academy of Pediatrics. Infant food and feeding. <u>https://www.aap.org/en-us/advocacy-and-policy/aap-health-initiatives/HALF-Implementation-Guide/Age-Specific-Content/Pages/Infant-Food-and-Feeding.aspx</u>. Published 2019. Accessed.
- 306. Porto AD, R. Cow's Milk Alternatives: Parent FAQs. <u>https://www.healthychildren.org/English/healthy-living/nutrition/Pages/Milk-Allergy-Foods-and-Ingredients-to-Avoid.aspx</u>. Published 2017. Accessed.
- 307. World Health Organization. *The optimal duration of exclusive breastfeeding: Report of an expert consultation*. Geneva, Switzerland: World Health Organization;2002.
- 308. Nicklas TA, Hayes D, American Dietetic A. Position of the American Dietetic Association: nutrition guidance for healthy children ages 2 to 11 years. *Journal of the American Dietetic Association*. 2008;108(6):1038-1044, 1046-1037.
- 309. Weidman WH. Cardiovascular risk modification in childhood: hyperlipidemia. *Mayo Clinic proceedings.* 1986;61(11):910-913.



- 310. Harcombe Z, Baker JS, DiNicolantonio JJ, Grace F, Davies B. Evidence from randomised controlled trials does not support current dietary fat guidelines: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Open Heart*. 2016;3(2):e000409.
- 311. Harcombe Z, Baker JS, Davies B. Evidence from prospective cohort studies does not support current dietary fat guidelines: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *British journal of sports medicine*. 2017;51(24):1743-1749.
- 312. Harcombe Z. Dietary fat guidelines have no evidence base: where next for public health nutritional advice? *British journal of sports medicine*. 2017;51(10):769-774.
- 313. Agriculture USDo. Dietary Guidelines for Americans, 2015-2020. 8th Edition ed. Washington, DC: U.S. Government Printing Office; 2015External. 2015.
- 314. Ross R, Glomset JA. The pathogenesis of atherosclerosis (first of two parts). *The New England journal of medicine*. 1976;295(7):369-377.
- 315. Frank GC, Berenson GS, Webber LS. Dietary studies and the relationship of diet to cardiovascular disease risk factor variables in 10-year-old children--The Bogalusa Heart Study. *The American journal of clinical nutrition*. 1978;31(2):328-340.
- 316. American Academy of Pediatrics Committee on Nutrition. Statement on Cholesterol. *Pediatrics*. 1992;90:469-473.
- 317. Kaplan RT, MT. Does a Reduced Fat Diet Cause Retardation in Child Growth?' *Preventive Med.* 1992;21:33-52.
- 318. Johnson RKW, M. Q. Decrease fat, increase calcium: a mixed message for school-aged children? Nutrition Recommendations Update Dietary Fat and Children. *American Journal of Health Studies*. 1997;13(4):174-179.
- 319. Michaelsen KF. Nutrition and growth during infancy. The Copenhagen Cohort Study. *Acta Paediatr Suppl.* 1997;420:1-36.
- 320. Agostoni C, Caroli M. Role of fats in the first two years of life as related to later development of NCDs. *Nutrition, metabolism, and cardiovascular diseases : NMCD*. 2012;22(10):775-780.
- 321. Lifshitz F, Moses N. Growth failure. A complication of dietary treatment of hypercholesterolemia. *American journal of diseases of children*. 1989;143(5):537-542.
- 322. Epstein LH, Wing RR, Koeske R, Andrasik F, Ossip DJ. Child and parent weight loss in family-based behavior modification programs. *Journal of consulting and clinical psychology*. 1981;49(5):674-685.
- 323. Kakinami L, Henderson M, Chiolero A, Cole TJ, Paradis G. Identifying the best body mass index metric to assess adiposity change in children. *Archives of disease in childhood*. 2014;99(11):1020-1024.
- 324. COSMED. Air Displacement Plethysmography (ADP). <u>http://www.cosmed.com/hires/marketing_literature/product_news/Product_News_Air_Displacement_EN_print.pdf</u>. Published 2011. Updated March 2011. Accessed November 5, 2015.
- 325. Deurenberg P, Yap M, van Staveren WA. Body mass index and percent body fat: a meta analysis among different ethnic groups. *International journal of obesity and related metabolic disorders : journal of the International Association for the Study of Obesity.* 1998;22(12):1164-1171.
- 326. Durnin JV, Rahaman MM. The assessment of the amount of fat in the human body from measurements of skinfold thickness. 1967. *The British journal of nutrition*. 2003;89(1):147-155.



- 327. Houtkooper LB, Lohman TG, Going SB, Howell WH. Why bioelectrical impedance analysis should be used for estimating adiposity. *The American journal of clinical nutrition*. 1996;64(3 Suppl):436S-448S.
- 328. Flegal KM, Ogden CL. Childhood obesity: are we all speaking the same language? *Advances in nutrition.* 2011;2(2):159S-166S.
- 329. Nash A, Secker D, Corey M, Dunn M, O'Connor DL. Field testing of the 2006 World Health Organization growth charts from birth to 2 years: assessment of hospital undernutrition and overnutrition rates and the usefulness of BMI. *JPEN Journal of parenteral and enteral nutrition*. 2008;32(2):145-153.
- 330. Furlong KR, Anderson LN, Kang H, et al. BMI-for-Age and Weight-for-Length in Children 0 to 2 Years. *Pediatrics*. 2016;138(1).
- 331. Dietitians of Canada CPS. A health professional's guide for using the new WHO growth charts. In: World Health Organization, ed2010.
- 332. Mei Z, Ogden CL, Flegal KM, Grummer-Strawn LM. Comparison of the prevalence of shortness, underweight, and overweight among US children aged 0 to 59 months by using the CDC 2000 and the WHO 2006 growth charts. *The Journal of pediatrics*. 2008;153(5):622-628.
- 333. Baird J, Fisher D, Lucas P, Kleijnen J, Roberts H, Law C. Being big or growing fast: systematic review of size and growth in infancy and later obesity. *Bmj*. 2005;331(7522):929.
- 334. Dietz WH, Story MT, Leviton LC. Issues and implications of screening, surveillance, and reporting of children's BMI. *Pediatrics*. 2009;124 Suppl 1:S98-101.
- 335. Daniels SR. The use of BMI in the clinical setting. *Pediatrics*. 2009;124 Suppl 1:S35-41.
- 336. Kok P, Seidell JC, Meinders AE. [The value and limitations of the body mass index (BMI) in the assessment of the health risks of overweight and obesity]. *Ned Tijdschr Geneeskd*. 2004;148(48):2379-2382.
- 337. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. Clinical Growth Charts. https://www.cdc.gov/growthcharts/clinical_charts.htm. Published 2017. Accessed2020.
- 338. Cole TJ, Bellizzi MC, Flegal KM, Dietz WH. Establishing a standard definition for child overweight and obesity worldwide: international survey. *Bmj.* 2000;320(7244):1240-1243.
- 339. Shields M, Tremblay MS. Canadian childhood obesity estimates based on WHO, IOTF and CDC cut-points. *International journal of pediatric obesity : IJPO : an official journal of the International Association for the Study of Obesity*. 2010;5(3):265-273.
- 340. de Onis M, Garza C, Onyango AW, Borghi E. Comparison of the WHO child growth standards and the CDC 2000 growth charts. *The Journal of nutrition*. 2007;137(1):144-148.
- 341. Dietitians of C, Canadian Paediatric S, College of Family Physicians of C, Community Health Nurses of C, Secker D. Promoting optimal monitoring of child growth in Canada: using the new WHO growth charts. *Canadian journal of dietetic practice and research : a publication of Dietitians of Canada = Revue canadienne de la pratique et de la recherche en dietetique : une publication des Dietetistes du Canada.* 2010;71(1):e1-3.
- 342. World Health Organization. World Health Organization releases new Child Growth Standards. <u>http://www.who.int/mediacentre/news/releases/2006/pr21/en/</u>. Published 2006. Updated April 27 2006. Accessed October 8, 2015.
- 343. World Health Organization. Social Determinants of Health. https://www.who.int/social_determinants/en/. Accessed2020.



- 344. World Health Organization. *WHO child growth standards: methods and development*. Geneva2006.
- 345. World Health Organization. Interpreting Growth Indicators. World Health Organization. Training Course on Child Growth Assessment Web site. <u>http://www.who.int/childgrowth/training/module_c_interpreting_indicators.pdf</u>. Published 2008. Accessed July 7 2015.
- 346. NCD Risk Factor Collaboration. Worldwide trends in body-mass index, underweight, overweight, and obesity from 1975 to 2016: a pooled analysis of 2416 population-based measurement studies in 128.9 million children, adolescents, and adults. *The Lancet*. 2017.
- 347. Information PHAoCCIfH. Obesity in Canada: a joint report from the Public Health Agency of Canada and the Canadian Institute for Health Information http://
- www.phac-aspc.gc.ca/hp-ps/hl-mvs/oic-oac/assets/pdf/oic-oac-eng.pdf. Accessed October 8, 2015.
- Rodd C, Sharma AK. Prevalence of overweight and obesity in Canadian children, 2004 to 2013: Impact of socioeconomic determinants. *Paediatrics & child health*. 2017;22(3):153-158.
- 349. Rodd C, Sharma AK. Recent trends in the prevalence of overweight and obesity among Canadian children. *CMAJ* : *Canadian Medical Association journal* = *journal de l'Association medicale canadienne*. 2016;188(13):E313-E320.
- 350. Kolahdooz FS, B; Corriveau, A; Sharma, S. Prevalence of overweight and obesity among indigenous populations in Canada: A systematic review and meta-analysis. *Critical Reviews in Food Science and Nutrition*. 2017;57(7).
- 351. Rolls BJ. The relationship between dietary energy density and energy intake. *Physiology* & *behavior*. 2009;97(5):609-615.
- 352. Livesey G. Metabolizable energy of macronutrients. *The American journal of clinical nutrition*. 1995;62(5 Suppl):1135S-1142S.
- 353. Reed GW, Hill JO. Measuring the thermic effect of food. *The American journal of clinical nutrition*. 1996;63(2):164-169.
- 354. Lissner L, Heitmann BL. Dietary fat and obesity: evidence from epidemiology. *European journal of clinical nutrition*. 1995;49(2):79-90.
- 355. Seidell JC. Dietary fat and obesity: an epidemiologic perspective. *The American journal of clinical nutrition*. 1998;67(3 Suppl):5468-550S.
- 356. Swinburn BA, Caterson I, Seidell JC, James WP. Diet, nutrition and the prevention of excess weight gain and obesity. *Public health nutrition*. 2004;7(1A):123-146.
- 357. Maffeis C, Talamini G, Tato L. Influence of diet, physical activity and parents' obesity on children's adiposity: a four-year longitudinal study. *International journal of obesity and related metabolic disorders : journal of the International Association for the Study of Obesity*. 1998;22(8):758-764.
- 358. Spear BA, Barlow SE, Ervin C, et al. Recommendations for treatment of child and adolescent overweight and obesity. *Pediatrics*. 2007;120 Suppl 4:S254-288.
- 359. Ebbeling CB, Pawlak DB, Ludwig DS. Childhood obesity: public-health crisis, common sense cure. *Lancet*. 2002;360(9331):473-482.
- 360. Patrick H, Nicklas TA. A review of family and social determinants of children's eating patterns and diet quality. *Journal of the American College of Nutrition*. 2005;24(2):83-92.
- 361. Whitaker RC, Pepe MS, Wright JA, Seidel KD, Dietz WH. Early adiposity rebound and the risk of adult obesity. *Pediatrics*. 1998;101(3):E5.



- 362. Giudici KV, Rolland-Cachera MF, Gusto G, et al. Body mass index growth trajectories associated with the different parameters of the metabolic syndrome at adulthood. *International journal of obesity.* 2017;41(10):1518-1525.
- 363. Griffiths M, Payne PR. Energy expenditure in small children of obese and non-obese parents. *Nature*. 1976;260(5553):698-700.
- 364. Roberts SB, Savage J, Coward WA, Chew B, Lucas A. Energy expenditure and intake in infants born to lean and overweight mothers. *The New England journal of medicine*. 1988;318(8):461-466.
- 365. Rolland-Cachera MF, Deheeger M, Pequignot F, Guilloud-Bataille M, Vinit F, Bellisle F. Adiposity and food intake in young children: the environmental challenge to individual susceptibility. *British medical journal*. 1988;296(6628):1037-1038.
- Bandini LG, Schoeller DA, Cyr HN, Dietz WH. Validity of reported energy intake in obese and nonobese adolescents. *The American journal of clinical nutrition*. 1990;52(3):421-425.
- 367. Davies PS. Diet composition and body mass index in pre-school children. *European journal of clinical nutrition*. 1997;51(7):443-448.
- 368. Maffeis C, Provera S, Filippi L, et al. Distribution of food intake as a risk factor for childhood obesity. *International journal of obesity and related metabolic disorders : journal of the International Association for the Study of Obesity*. 2000;24(1):75-80.
- 369. Boulton TJ, Magarey AM. Effects of differences in dietary fat on growth, energy and nutrient intake from infancy to eight years of age. *Acta paediatrica*. 1995;84(2):146-150.
- 370. Nicklas TA, Baranowski T, Cullen KW, Berenson G. Eating patterns, dietary quality and obesity. *Journal of the American College of Nutrition*. 2001;20(6):599-608.
- Naude CE, Visser ME, Nguyen KA, Durao S, Schoonees A. Effects of total fat intake on bodyweight in children. *The Cochrane database of systematic reviews*. 2018;2:CD012960.
- 372. Brown T, Moore TH, Hooper L, et al. Interventions for preventing obesity in children. *The Cochrane database of systematic reviews*. 2019;7:CD001871.
- 373. Moreno MA, Furtner F, Rivara FP. Advice for patients. Diets to prevent or treat obesity. *Archives of pediatrics & adolescent medicine*. 2011;165(6):580.
- 374. Zask A, Adams JK, Brooks LO, Hughes DF. Tooty Fruity Vegie: an obesity prevention intervention evaluation in Australian preschools. *Health promotion journal of Australia : official journal of Australian Association of Health Promotion Professionals.* 2012;23(1):10-15.
- 375. Alkon A, Crowley AA, Neelon SE, et al. Nutrition and physical activity randomized control trial in child care centers improves knowledge, policies, and children's body mass index. *BMC public health*. 2014;14:215.
- 376. Dietz WH, Gortmaker SL. Preventing obesity in children and adolescents. *Annu Rev Public Health.* 2001;22:337-353.
- 377. Wofford LG. Systematic review of childhood obesity prevention. *Journal of pediatric nursing*. 2008;23(1):5-19.
- 378. Vos MB, Welsh J. Childhood obesity: update on predisposing factors and prevention strategies. *Curr Gastroenterol Rep.* 2010;12(4):280-287.
- 379. Bleich SN, Segal J, Wu Y, Wilson R, Wang Y. Systematic review of community-based childhood obesity prevention studies. *Pediatrics*. 2013;132(1):e201-210.
- 380. McCrabb S, Lane C, Hall A, et al. Scaling-up evidence-based obesity interventions: A systematic review assessing intervention adaptations and effectiveness and quantifying



the scale-up penalty. *Obesity reviews : an official journal of the International Association for the Study of Obesity*. 2019;20(7):964-982.

- 381. Dougkas A, Reynolds CK, Givens ID, Elwood PC, Minihane AM. Associations between dairy consumption and body weight: a review of the evidence and underlying mechanisms. *Nutrition research reviews*. 2011;24(1):72-95.
- 382. Kang K, Sotunde OF, Weiler HA. Effects of Milk and Milk-Product Consumption on Growth among Children and Adolescents Aged 6-18 Years: A Meta-Analysis of Randomized Controlled Trials. *Advances in nutrition*. 2019;10(2):250-261.
- 383. Kelishadi R, Zemel MB, Hashemipour M, Hosseini M, Mohammadifard N, Poursafa P. Can a dairy-rich diet be effective in long-term weight control of young children? *Journal of the American College of Nutrition*. 2009;28(5):601-610.
- 384. St-Onge MP, Goree LL, Gower B. High-milk supplementation with healthy diet counseling does not affect weight loss but ameliorates insulin action compared with low-milk supplementation in overweight children. *The Journal of nutrition*. 2009;139(5):933-938.
- 385. Wrotniak BH, Georger L, Hill DL, Zemel BS, Stettler N. Association of dairy intake with weight change in adolescents undergoing obesity treatment. *Journal of public health*. 2019;41(2):338-345.
- 386. Abreu S, Santos R, Moreira C, et al. Association between dairy product intake and abdominal obesity in Azorean adolescents. *European journal of clinical nutrition*. 2012;66(7):830-835.
- 387. Fiorito LM, Ventura AK, Mitchell DC, Smiciklas-Wright H, Birch LL. Girls' dairy intake, energy intake, and weight status. *Journal of the American Dietetic Association*. 2006;106(11):1851-1855.
- 388. Keast DR, Hill Gallant KM, Albertson AM, Gugger CK, Holschuh NM. Associations between yogurt, dairy, calcium, and vitamin D intake and obesity among U.S. children aged 8-18 years: NHANES, 2005-2008. *Nutrients*. 2015;7(3):1577-1593.
- 389. Tanasescu M, Ferris AM, Himmelgreen DA, Rodriguez N, Perez-Escamilla R. Biobehavioral factors are associated with obesity in Puerto Rican children. *The Journal of nutrition*. 2000;130(7):1734-1742.
- 390. Karaolis-Danckert N, Gunther AL, Kroke A, Hornberg C, Buyken AE. How early dietary factors modify the effect of rapid weight gain in infancy on subsequent body-composition development in term children whose birth weight was appropriate for gestational age. *The American journal of clinical nutrition.* 2007;86(6):1700-1708.
- 391. Marques-Vidal P, Goncalves A, Dias CM. Milk intake is inversely related to obesity in men and in young women: data from the Portuguese Health Interview Survey 1998-1999. *International journal of obesity*. 2006;30(1):88-93.
- 392. Geng T, Qi L, Huang T. Effects of Dairy Products Consumption on Body Weight and Body Composition Among Adults: An Updated Meta-Analysis of 37 Randomized Control Trials. *Mol Nutr Food Res.* 2018;62(1).
- 393. Skinner JD, Bounds W, Carruth BR, Ziegler P. Longitudinal calcium intake is negatively related to children's body fat indexes. *Journal of the American Dietetic Association*. 2003;103(12):1626-1631.
- 394. Novotny R, Daida YG, Acharya S, Grove JS, Vogt TM. Dairy intake is associated with lower body fat and soda intake with greater weight in adolescent girls. *The Journal of nutrition*. 2004;134(8):1905-1909.
- 395. Moreira P, Padez C, Mourao I, Rosado V. Dietary calcium and body mass index in Portuguese children. *European journal of clinical nutrition*. 2005;59(7):861-867.



- 396. Shi H, Dirienzo D, Zemel MB. Effects of dietary calcium on adipocyte lipid metabolism and body weight regulation in energy-restricted aP2-agouti transgenic mice. *FASEB journal : official publication of the Federation of American Societies for Experimental Biology*. 2001;15(2):291-293.
- 397. Li P, Fan C, Lu Y, Qi K. Effects of calcium supplementation on body weight: a metaanalysis. *The American journal of clinical nutrition*. 2016;104(5):1263-1273.
- 398. Parikh SJ, Yanovski JA. Calcium intake and adiposity. *The American journal of clinical nutrition*. 2003;77(2):281-287.
- 399. Zemel MB, Thompson W, Milstead A, Morris K, Campbell P. Calcium and dairy acceleration of weight and fat loss during energy restriction in obese adults. *Obesity research*. 2004;12(4):582-590.
- 400. Morris KW, Y.; Kim, S.; Moustaid-Moussa, N. *Dietary and hormonal regulation of the mammalian fatty acid synthase gene*. Boca Raton, FL: CRC Press 2001.
- 401. Parikh CR, Klem P, Wong C, Yalavarthy R, Chan L. Obesity as an independent predictor of posttransplant diabetes mellitus. *Transplantation proceedings*. 2003;35(8):2922-2926.
- 402. Nesby-O'Dell S, Scanlon KS, Cogswell ME, et al. Hypovitaminosis D prevalence and determinants among African American and white women of reproductive age: third National Health and Nutrition Examination Survey, 1988-1994. *The American journal of clinical nutrition*. 2002;76(1):187-192.
- 403. Vimaleswaran KS, Berry DJ, Lu C, et al. Causal relationship between obesity and vitamin D status: bi-directional Mendelian randomization analysis of multiple cohorts. *PLoS medicine*. 2013;10(2):e1001383.
- 404. Wortsman J, Matsuoka LY, Chen TC, Lu Z, Holick MF. Decreased bioavailability of vitamin D in obesity. *The American journal of clinical nutrition*. 2000;72(3):690-693.
- 405. Ross AC, Manson JE, Abrams SA, et al. The 2011 Dietary Reference Intakes for Calcium and Vitamin D: what dietetics practitioners need to know. *Journal of the American Dietetic Association*. 2011;111(4):524-527.
- 406. Hernandez-Alvarez E, Perez-Barrios C, Blanco-Navarro I, et al. Association between 25-OH-vitamin D and C-reactive protein as a marker of inflammation and cardiovascular risk in clinical practice. *Ann Clin Biochem.* 2019;56(4):502-507.
- 407. Kamycheva E, Sundsfjord J, Jorde R. Serum parathyroid hormone level is associated with body mass index. The 5th Tromso study. *European journal of endocrinology / European Federation of Endocrine Societies*. 2004;151(2):167-172.
- 408. Mehrabani S, Salehi-Abargouei A, Asemi M, Mehrabani S, Feizi A, Safavi SM. Effect of Low-fat Milk Consumption Compared to Apple Juice and Water on the Energy Intake Among 10-12-Year-Old Obese Boys: A Three-way Cross-over Clinical Trial. *Int J Prev Med.* 2014;5(11):1405-1411.
- 409. Dove ER, Hodgson JM, Puddey IB, Beilin LJ, Lee YP, Mori TA. Skim milk compared with a fruit drink acutely reduces appetite and energy intake in overweight men and women. *The American journal of clinical nutrition*. 2009;90(1):70-75.
- 410. Almiron-Roig E, Drewnowski A. Hunger, thirst, and energy intakes following consumption of caloric beverages. *Physiology & behavior*. 2003;79(4-5):767-773.
- 411. Soenen S, Westerterp-Plantenga MS. No differences in satiety or energy intake after high-fructose corn syrup, sucrose, or milk preloads. *The American journal of clinical nutrition*. 2007;86(6):1586-1594.
- 412. Onvani S, Haghighatdoost F, Surkan PJ, Azadbakht L. Dairy products, satiety and food intake: A meta-analysis of clinical trials. *Clinical nutrition*. 2017;36(2):389-398.



- 413. Sousa GT, Lira FS, Rosa JC, et al. Dietary whey protein lessens several risk factors for metabolic diseases: a review. *Lipids Health Dis.* 2012;11:67.
- 414. Giezenaar C, Hutchison AT, Luscombe-Marsh ND, Chapman I, Horowitz M, Soenen S. Effect of Age on Blood Glucose and Plasma Insulin, Glucagon, Ghrelin, CCK, GIP, and GLP-1 Responses to Whey Protein Ingestion. *Nutrients*. 2017;10(1).
- 415. Layman DK, Walker DA. Potential importance of leucine in treatment of obesity and the metabolic syndrome. *The Journal of nutrition*. 2006;136(1 Suppl):319S-323S.
- 416. Ludwig DS. Dietary glycemic index and obesity. *The Journal of nutrition*. 2000;130(2S Suppl):280S-283S.
- 417. St-Onge MP, Claps N, Heshka S, Heymsfield SB, Kosteli A. Greater resting energy expenditure and lower respiratory quotient after 1 week of supplementation with milk relative to supplementation with a sugar-only beverage in children. *Metabolism: clinical and experimental.* 2007;56(12):1699-1707.
- 418. Marshall TA, Eichenberger Gilmore JM, Broffitt B, Stumbo PJ, Levy SM. Diet quality in young children is influenced by beverage consumption. *Journal of the American College of Nutrition*. 2005;24(1):65-75.
- 419. White MJA, S; Kay, M; Perrin, E; Skinner, A. Associations between milk fat content and obesity, 1999 to 2016

. Pediatric Obesity. 2020;e12612.

420. Trippe CT, C.; Johnson, P.; Giannarelli, L.; Betson, D. National- and State-Level Estimates of WIC Eligibility and

WIC Program Reach in 2016. VA, USA2019.

- 421. O'Sullivan TA, Schmidt KA, Kratz M. Whole-Fat or Reduced-Fat Dairy Product Intake, Adiposity, and Cardiometabolic Health in Children: A Systematic Review. *Advances in nutrition*. 2020.
- 422. Rosell M, Håkansson NN, Wolk A. Association between dairy food consumption and weight change over 9 y in 19 352 perimenopausal women. *The American journal of clinical nutrition*. 2006;84(6):1481-1488.
- 423. Trichia E, Luben R, Khaw KT, Wareham NJ, Imamura F, Forouhi NG. The associations of longitudinal changes in consumption of total and types of dairy products and markers of metabolic risk and adiposity: findings from the European Investigation into Cancer and Nutrition (EPIC)-Norfolk study, United Kingdom. *The American journal of clinical nutrition*. 2020.
- 424. Rajpathak SN, Rimm EB, Rosner B, Willett WC, Hu FB. Calcium and dairy intakes in relation to long-term weight gain in US men. *The American journal of clinical nutrition*. 2006;83(3):559-566.
- 425. Smedman AE, Gustafsson IB, Berglund LG, Vessby BO. Pentadecanoic acid in serum as a marker for intake of milk fat: relations between intake of milk fat and metabolic risk factors. *The American journal of clinical nutrition*. 1999;69(1):22-29.
- 426. Ness AR, Smith GD, Hart C. Milk, coronary heart disease and mortality. *Journal of Epidemiology and Community Health*. 2001;55(6):379-382.
- 427. Snijder MB, van der Heijden AA, van Dam RM, et al. Is higher dairy consumption associated with lower body weight and fewer metabolic disturbances? The Hoorn Study. *The American journal of clinical nutrition*. 2007;85(4):989-995.
- 428. Pereira MA, Jacobs DR, Jr., Van Horn L, Slattery ML, Kartashov AI, Ludwig DS. Dairy consumption, obesity, and the insulin resistance syndrome in young adults: the CARDIA Study. *Jama*. 2002;287(16):2081-2089.



- 429. Rice BH, Quann EE, Miller GD. Meeting and exceeding dairy recommendations: effects of dairy consumption on nutrient intakes and risk of chronic disease. *Nutrition reviews*. 2013;71(4):209-223.
- 430. La Berge AF. How the ideology of low fat conquered america. *J Hist Med Allied Sci.* 2008;63(2):139-177.
- 431. Liu S, Choi HK, Ford E, et al. A prospective study of dairy intake and the risk of type 2 diabetes in women. *Diabetes care*. 2006;29(7):1579-1584.
- 432. Margolis KL, Wei F, de Boer IH, et al. A diet high in low-fat dairy products lowers diabetes risk in postmenopausal women. *The Journal of nutrition*. 2011;141(11):1969-1974.
- 433. Sauer JN, RF; Gillespie, JM; Morrison-Paul, C.; Blayney, D.; Hallahan, C.; Latruffe, L. Determining the competitive edge: diversified dairy production systems in the United States and the European Union. Paper presented at: Agricultural & Applied Economics Association (AAEA) Annual Meeting2010; Denver, CO.
- 434. Leiber F, Kreuzer M, Nigg D, Wettstein HR, Scheeder MR. A study on the causes for the elevated n-3 fatty acids in cows' milk of alpine origin. *Lipids*. 2005;40(2):191-202.
- 435. Sharratt L. No to Bovine Growth Hormone: A Story of Resistance from Canada. In: Tokar B, ed. *Redesigning Life? The Worldwide Challenge to Genetic Engineering*. London, UK: Zed Books; 2001.
- 436. Barkema HW, von Keyserlingk MA, Kastelic JP, et al. Invited review: Changes in the dairy industry affecting dairy cattle health and welfare. *Journal of dairy science*. 2015;98(11):7426-7445.
- 437. Haug A, Hostmark AT, Harstad OM. Bovine milk in human nutrition--a review. *Lipids Health Dis.* 2007;6:25.
- 438. Samra RA, Wolever TM, Anderson GH. Enhanced food intake regulatory responses after a glucose drink in hyperinsulinemic men. *International journal of obesity*. 2007;31(8):1222-1231.
- 439. Marathe CS, Rayner CK, Jones KL, Horowitz M. Relationships between gastric emptying, postprandial glycemia, and incretin hormones. *Diabetes care*. 2013;36(5):1396-1405.
- 440. Schneeman BO, Burton-Freeman B, Davis P. Incorporating dairy foods into low and high fat diets increases the postprandial cholecystokinin response in men and women. *The Journal of nutrition*. 2003;133(12):4124-4128.
- 441. Naslund E, Bogefors J, Skogar S, et al. GLP-1 slows solid gastric emptying and inhibits insulin, glucagon, and PYY release in humans. *The American journal of physiology*. 1999;277(3):R910-916.
- 442. Brubaker PL, Anini Y. Direct and indirect mechanisms regulating secretion of glucagonlike peptide-1 and glucagon-like peptide-2. *Can J Physiol Pharmacol.* 2003;81(11):1005-1012.
- 443. Maersk M, Belza A, Holst JJ, et al. Satiety scores and satiety hormone response after sucrose-sweetened soft drink compared with isocaloric semi-skimmed milk and with non-caloric soft drink: a controlled trial. *European journal of clinical nutrition*. 2012;66(4):523-529.
- 444. Park HK, Ahima RS. Physiology of leptin: energy homeostasis, neuroendocrine function and metabolism. *Metabolism: clinical and experimental.* 2015;64(1):24-34.
- 445. Anini Y, Brubaker PL. Role of leptin in the regulation of glucagon-like peptide-1 secretion. *Diabetes.* 2003;52(2):252-259.



- 446. Ludwig DS. The glycemic index: physiological mechanisms relating to obesity, diabetes, and cardiovascular disease. *Jama*. 2002;287(18):2414-2423.
- 447. Green BP, Stevenson EJ, Rumbold PLS. Metabolic, endocrine and appetite-related responses to acute and daily milk snack consumption in healthy, adolescent males. *Appetite*. 2017;108:93-103.
- 448. Kavezade SA, M.; Asemi, M.; Salehi-Abargouei, A. The effects of whole milk compared to skim milk and apple juice consumption in breakfast on appetite and energy intake in obese children: a three-way randomized crossover clinical trial. *BMC Nutrition*. 2018;4:1-10.
- 449. Dulloo AG, Jacquet J, Seydoux J, Montani JP. The thrifty 'catch-up fat' phenotype: its impact on insulin sensitivity during growth trajectories to obesity and metabolic syndrome. *International journal of obesity*. 2006;30 Suppl 4:S23-35.
- 450. Weber M, Grote V, Closa-Monasterolo R, et al. Lower protein content in infant formula reduces BMI and obesity risk at school age: follow-up of a randomized trial. *The American journal of clinical nutrition*. 2014;99(5):1041-1051.
- 451. Rolland-Cachera MF, Deheeger M, Bellisle F, Sempe M, Guilloud-Bataille M, Patois E. Adiposity rebound in children: a simple indicator for predicting obesity. *The American journal of clinical nutrition*. 1984;39(1):129-135.
- 452. Williams S, Dickson N. Early growth, menarche, and adiposity rebound. *Lancet*. 2002;359(9306):580-581.
- 453. Rolland-Cachera MF, Deheeger M, Maillot M, Bellisle F. Early adiposity rebound: causes and consequences for obesity in children and adults. *International journal of obesity*. 2006;30 Suppl 4:S11-17.
- 454. Peneau S, Gonzalez-Carrascosa R, Gusto G, et al. Age at adiposity rebound: determinants and association with nutritional status and the metabolic syndrome at adulthood. *International journal of obesity*. 2016;40(7):1150-1156.
- 455. Rolland-Cachera MF, Deheeger M, Bellisle F. Early adiposity rebound is not associated with energy or fat intake in infancy. *Pediatrics*. 2001;108(1):218-219.
- 456. Daniels SR, Morrison JA, Sprecher DL, Khoury P, Kimball TR. Association of body fat distribution and cardiovascular risk factors in children and adolescents. *Circulation*. 1999;99(4):541-545.
- 457. Rolland-Cachera MF, Maillot M, Deheeger M, Souberbielle JC, Peneau S, Hercberg S. Association of nutrition in early life with body fat and serum leptin at adult age. *International journal of obesity*. 2013;37(8):1116-1122.
- 458. Park S, Blanck HM, Sherry B, Brener N, O'Toole T. Factors associated with sugarsweetened beverage intake among United States high school students. *The Journal of nutrition*. 2012;142(2):306-312.
- 459. Park S, Sherry B, Foti K, Blanck HM. Self-reported academic grades and other correlates of sugar-sweetened soda intake among US adolescents. *Journal of the Academy of Nutrition and Dietetics*. 2012;112(1):125-131.
- 460. Malik VS, Popkin BM, Bray GA, Despres JP, Hu FB. Sugar-sweetened beverages, obesity, type 2 diabetes mellitus, and cardiovascular disease risk. *Circulation*. 2010;121(11):1356-1364.
- 461. Dietz WH. Sugar-sweetened beverages, milk intake, and obesity in children and adolescents. *The Journal of pediatrics*. 2006;148(2):152-154.
- 462. von Philipsborn P, Stratil JM, Burns J, et al. Environmental interventions to reduce the consumption of sugar-sweetened beverages and their effects on health. *The Cochrane database of systematic reviews*. 2019;6:CD012292.


- 463. International Markets Bureau. American Eating Trends Report: Milk and Milk
- Alternatives. Ottawa: Agriculture and Agri-Food Canada;2012.
- 464. Ford CN, Ng SW, Popkin BM. Ten-year beverage intake trends among US preschool children: rapid declines between 2003 and 2010 but stagnancy in recent years. *Pediatr Obes*. 2016;11(1):47-53.
- 465. Kit BK, Fakhouri TH, Park S, Nielsen SJ, Ogden CL. Trends in sugar-sweetened beverage consumption among youth and adults in the United States: 1999-2010. *The American journal of clinical nutrition*. 2013;98(1):180-188.
- 466. Wang JS, L.; Light, K.; O'Loughlin, J.; Paradis, G.; Gray-Donald, K. Associations between added sugar (solid vs. liquid) intakes, diet quality, and adiposity indicators in Canadian children. *Applied physiology, nutrition, and metabolism = Physiologie appliquee, nutrition et metabolisme.* 2015;40:835-841.
- 467. Pereira Monteiro A. The possible role of sugar-sweetened beverages in obesity etiology: a review of the evidence. *International journal of obesity*. 2006;30(S3).

468. Anderson GH. Sugars-containing beverages and post-prandial satiety and food intake . *International journal of obesity*. 2006;30(S3).

- 469. Ebbeling CB, Feldman HA, Osganian SK, Chomitz VR, Ellenbogen SJ, Ludwig DS. Effects of decreasing sugar-sweetened beverage consumption on body weight in adolescents: a randomized, controlled pilot study. *Pediatrics*. 2006;117(3):673-680.
- 470. Subar AF, Krebs-Smith SM, Cook A, Kahle LL. Dietary sources of nutrients among US children, 1989–1991. *Pediatrics*. 1998;102(4):913-923.
- 471. Harnack L, Stang J, Story M. Soft drink consumption among US children and adolescents: nutritional consequences. *Journal of the American Dietetic Association*. 1999;99(4):436-441.
- 472. Newby PK, Tucker KL, Wolk A. Risk of overweight and obesity among semivegetarian, lactovegetarian, and vegan women. *The American journal of clinical nutrition*. 2005;81(6):1267-1274.
- 473. DeBoer MD, Scharf RJ, Demmer RT. Sugar-sweetened beverages and weight gain in 2to 5-year-old children. *Pediatrics*. 2013;132(3):413-420.
- 474. Mathias KC, Slining MM, Popkin BM. Foods and beverages associated with higher intake of sugar-sweetened beverages. *American journal of preventive medicine*. 2013;44(4):351-357.
- 475. Skinner JD, Carruth BR. A longitudinal study of children's juice intake and growth: the juice controversy revisited. *Journal of the American Dietetic Association*. 2001;101(4):432-437.
- 476. Lytle LA, Seifert S, Greenstein J, McGovern P. How do children's eating patterns and food choices change over time? Results from a cohort study. *Am J Health Promot.* 2000;14(4):222-228.
- 477. Lasater G, Piernas C, Popkin BM. Beverage patterns and trends among school-aged children in the US, 1989-2008. *Nutrition journal*. 2011;10:103.
- 478. Bleich SN, Vercammen KA, Koma JW, Li Z. Trends in Beverage Consumption Among Children and Adults, 2003-2014. *Obesity*. 2018;26(2):432-441.
- 479. Zheng M, Rangan A, Allman-Farinelli M, Rohde JF, Olsen NJ, Heitmann BL. Replacing sugary drinks with milk is inversely associated with weight gain among young obesity-predisposed children. *The British journal of nutrition*. 2015;114(9):1448-1455.
- 480. Albala C, Ebbeling CB, Cifuentes M, Lera L, Bustos N, Ludwig DS. Effects of replacing the habitual consumption of sugar-sweetened beverages with milk in Chilean children. *The American journal of clinical nutrition*. 2008;88(3):605-611.



- 481. Marshall TA, Curtis AM, Cavanaugh JE, Warren JJ, Levy SM. Child and Adolescent Sugar-Sweetened Beverage Intakes Are Longitudinally Associated with Higher Body Mass Index z Scores in a Birth Cohort Followed 17 Years. *Journal of the Academy of Nutrition and Dietetics*. 2019;119(3):425-434.
- 482. Liu XR, Deng ZY, Hu JN, et al. Erythrocyte membrane trans-fatty acid index is positively associated with a 10-year CHD risk probability. *The British journal of nutrition*. 2013;109(9):1695-1703.
- 483. Evans M, Geigerman C, Cook J, Curtis L, Kuebler B, McIntosh M. Conjugated linoleic acid suppresses triglyceride accumulation and induces apoptosis in 3T3-L1 preadipocytes. *Lipids*. 2000;35(8):899-910.
- 484. Dietitians of Canada. Food Sources of Vitamin D. <u>http://www.dietitians.ca/Your-Health/Nutrition-A-Z/Vitamins/Food-Sources-of-Vitamin-D.aspx</u>. Published 2014. Accessed September 18, 2015.
- 485. Calvo MS, Whiting SJ, Barton CN. Vitamin D fortification in the United States and Canada: current status and data needs. *The American journal of clinical nutrition*. 2004;80(6 Suppl):1710S-1716S.
- 486. Maguire JL, Lebovic G, Kandasamy S, et al. The relationship between cow's milk and stores of vitamin D and iron in early childhood. *Pediatrics*. 2013;131(1):e144-151.
- 487. Mulligan GB, Licata A. Taking vitamin D with the largest meal improves absorption and results in higher serum levels of 25-hydroxyvitamin D. *Journal of bone and mineral research : the official journal of the American Society for Bone and Mineral Research.* 2010;25(4):928-930.
- 488. Tangpricha V, Koutkia P, Rieke SM, Chen TC, Perez AA, Holick MF. Fortification of orange juice with vitamin D: a novel approach for enhancing vitamin D nutritional health. *The American journal of clinical nutrition.* 2003;77(6):1478-1483.
- 489. Greene-Finestone LS, Garriguet D, Brooks S, Langlois K, Whiting SJ. Overweight and obesity are associated with lower vitamin D status in Canadian children and adolescents. *Paediatrics & child health.* 2017;22(8):438-444.
- 490. Moore CE, Liu Y. Low serum 25-hydroxyvitamin D concentrations are associated with total adiposity of children in the United States: National Health and Examination Survey 2005 to 2006. *Nutrition research*. 2016;36(1):72-79.
- 491. Turer CL, H; Flores, G. Prevalence of Vitamin D Deficiency Among Overweight and Obese US Children. *Pediatrics*. 2012;131(1).
- 492. Sacheck J, Goodman E, Chui K, Chomitz V, Must A, Economos C. Vitamin D deficiency, adiposity, and cardiometabolic risk in urban schoolchildren. *The Journal of pediatrics*. 2011;159(6):945-950.
- 493. Iqbal AM, Dahl AR, Lteif A, Kumar S. Vitamin D Deficiency: A Potential Modifiable Risk Factor for Cardiovascular Disease in Children with Severe Obesity. *Children* (*Basel*). 2017;4(9).
- 494. Cediel G, Corvalan C, Lopez de Romana D, Mericq V, Uauy R. Prepubertal Adiposity, Vitamin D Status, and Insulin Resistance. *Pediatrics*. 2016;138(1).
- 495. Pehlivan I, Hatun S, Aydogan M, Babaoglu K, Gokalp AS. Maternal vitamin D deficiency and vitamin D supplementation in healthy infants. *The Turkish journal of pediatrics*. 2003;45(4):315-320.
- 496. Olmez D, Bober E, Buyukgebiz A, Cimrin D. The frequency of vitamin D insufficiency in healthy female adolescents. *Acta paediatrica*. 2006;95(10):1266-1269.



- 497. Voortman T, van den Hooven EH, Heijboer AC, Hofman A, Jaddoe VW, Franco OH. Vitamin D deficiency in school-age children is associated with sociodemographic and lifestyle factors. *The Journal of nutrition*. 2015;145(4):791-798.
- 498. Institute of Medicine. *WIC Food Packages: Time for a Change*. Washington, DC, USA2005.
- 499. Strategy for Patient Oriented Research. Strategy for Patient-Oriented Research Patient Engagement Framework. <u>http://www.cihr-irsc.gc.ca/e/48413.html a7</u>. Published 2019. Accessed.
- 500. Kim THM, Tavares E, Birken CS. Engaging parents to research childhood interventions aimed at preventing common health problems. *CMAJ* : *Canadian Medical Association journal = journal de l'Association medicale canadienne*. 2018;190(Suppl):S22-S23.
- 501. Canadian Institutes of Health Research. Capacity development framework. http://www.cihr-irsc.gc.ca/e/49307.html. Published 2016. Accessed.
- 502. IAP2 Spectrum of Public Participation. <u>http://c.ymcdn.com/sites/www.iap2.org/resource/resmgr/imported/IAP2</u> <u>Spectrum_vertical.pdf</u>. Published 2007. Accessed.
- 503. Minogue V, Girdlestone J. Building capacity for service user and carer involvement in research: the implications and impact of best research for best health. *Int J Health Care Qual Assur.* 2010;23(4):422-435.
- 504. Shen S, Doyle-Thomas KAR, Beesley L, et al. How and why should we engage parents as co-researchers in health research? A scoping review of current practices. *Health Expect.* 2017;20(4):543-554.
- 505. Brett J, Staniszewska S, Mockford C, et al. Mapping the impact of patient and public involvement on health and social care research: a systematic review. *Health Expect*. 2014;17(5):637-650.
- 506. Domecq JP, Prutsky G, Elraiyah T, et al. Patient engagement in research: a systematic review. *BMC health services research*. 2014;14:89.
- 507. Bishop AC, Elliott MJ, Cassidy C. Moving patient-oriented research forward: thoughts from the next generation of knowledge translation researchers. *Res Involv Engagem*. 2018;4:23.
- 508. Boivin A, L'Esperance A, Gauvin FP, et al. Patient and public engagement in research and health system decision making: A systematic review of evaluation tools. *Health Expect.* 2018;21(6):1075-1084.
- 509. Abelson JPR-PC. The Public and Patient Engagement Evaluation Tool. 2018.
- 510. Staniszewska S, Brett J, Simera I, et al. GRIPP2 reporting checklists: tools to improve reporting of patient and public involvement in research. *Res Involv Engagem*. 2017;3:13.
- 511. Oliver K, Kothari A, Mays N. The dark side of coproduction: do the costs outweigh the benefits for health research? *Health Res Policy Syst.* 2019;17(1):33.
- 512. Shippee ND, Domecq Garces JP, Prutsky Lopez GJ, et al. Patient and service user engagement in research: a systematic review and synthesized framework. *Health Expect*. 2015;18(5):1151-1166.
- 513. Satija A, Stampfer MJ, Rimm EB, Willett W, Hu FB. Perspective: Are Large, Simple Trials the Solution for Nutrition Research? *Advances in nutrition*. 2018;9(4):378-387.
- 514. Robinson L, Adair P, Coffey M, Harris R, Burnside G. Identifying the participant characteristics that predict recruitment and retention of participants to randomised controlled trials involving children: a systematic review. *Trials.* 2016;17(1):294.



- 515. Relton C, Torgerson D, O'Cathain A, Nicholl J. Rethinking pragmatic randomised controlled trials: introducing the "cohort multiple randomised controlled trial" design. *Bmj.* 2010;340:c1066.
- 516. Vickers AJ, Young-Afat DA, Ehdaie B, Kim SY. Just-in-time consent: The ethical case for an alternative to traditional informed consent in randomized trials comparing an experimental intervention with usual care. *Clin Trials*. 2018;15(1):3-8.
- 517. Relton CT, K.; Nicholl, J.; Uher, R. Review of an innovative approach to practical trials: the 'cohort multiple RCT' design. *Trials*. 2015;16(Suppl 2):114.
- 518. van der Velden JM, Verkooijen HM, Young-Afat DA, et al. The cohort multiple randomized controlled trial design: a valid and efficient alternative to pragmatic trials? *International journal of epidemiology*. 2017;46(1):96-102.
- 519. Wendler D. Innovative approaches to informed consent for randomized clinical trials: Identifying the ethical challenges. *Clin Trials*. 2018;15(1):17-20.
- 520. Tricoci P, Allen JM, Kramer JM, Califf RM, Smith SC, Jr. Scientific evidence underlying the ACC/AHA clinical practice guidelines. *Jama*. 2009;301(8):831-841.
- 521. Institute of Medicine. Initial National Priorities for Comparative Effectiveness Research. http://nationalacademies.org/hmd/reports/2009/comparativeeffectivenessresearchprioritie s.aspx. Published 2009. Accessed2019.
- 522. Dang A, Kaur K. Comparative effectiveness research and its utility in In-clinic practice. *Perspect Clin Res.* 2016;7(1):9-14.
- 523. Lele C. Comparative effectiveness research. Perspect Clin Res. 2011;2(2):48.
- 524. Loudon K, Treweek S, Sullivan F, Donnan P, Thorpe KE, Zwarenstein M. The PRECIS-2 tool: designing trials that are fit for purpose. *Bmj*. 2015;350:h2147.
- 525. Jenkinson C, Coulter A, Bruster S. The Picker Patient Experience Questionnaire: development and validation using data from in-patient surveys in five countries. *International Journal for Quality in Health Care.* 2002;14(5):353-358.
- 526. Patsopoulos NA. A pragmatic view on pragmatic trials. *Dialogues Clin Neurosci*. 2011;13(2):217-224.
- 527. Giffin RB, Woodcock J. Comparative effectiveness research: who will do the studies? *Health affairs*. 2010;29(11):2075-2081.
- 528. Truog RD, Robinson W, Randolph A, Morris A. Is informed consent always necessary for randomized, controlled trials? *The New England journal of medicine*. 1999;340(10):804-807.
- 529. Kim SY, Miller FG. Informed consent for pragmatic trials--the integrated consent model. *The New England journal of medicine*. 2014;370(8):769-772.
- 530. Kalkman S, van Thiel G, Zuidgeest MGP, et al. Series: Pragmatic trials and real world evidence: Paper 4. Informed consent. *Journal of clinical epidemiology*. 2017;89:181-187.
- 531. National Health Service HRA. *Applying a proportionate approach to the process of seeking consent.* 2017.
- 532. Pletcher MJ, Lo B, Grady D. Informed consent in randomized quality improvement trials: a critical barrier for learning health systems. *JAMA internal medicine*. 2014;174(5):668-670.
- 533. [The Helsinki Declaration of the World Medical Association (WMA). Ethical principles of medical research involving human subjects]. *Pol Merkur Lekarski*. 2014;36(215):298-301.
- 534. Faden RR, Beauchamp TL, Kass NE. Informed consent, comparative effectiveness, and learning health care. *The New England journal of medicine*. 2014;370(8):766-768.
- 535. Ploug T, Holm S. Informed consent and routinisation. *J Med Ethics*. 2013;39(4):214-218.



- 536. Roberts I, Prieto-Merino D, Shakur H, Chalmers I, Nicholl J. Effect of consent rituals on mortality in emergency care research. *Lancet*. 2011;377(9771):1071-1072.
- 537. Ross S, Grant A, Counsell C, Gillespie W, Russell I, Prescott R. Barriers to participation in randomised controlled trials: a systematic review. *Journal of clinical epidemiology*. 1999;52(12):1143-1156.
- 538. Cho MK, Magnus D, Constantine M, et al. Attitudes Toward Risk and Informed Consent for Research on Medical Practices: A Cross-sectional Survey. *Annals of internal medicine*. 2015;162(10):690-696.
- 539. Nayak RK, Wendler D, Miller FG, Kim SY. Pragmatic Randomized Trials Without Standard Informed Consent?: A National Survey. *Annals of internal medicine*. 2015;163(5):356-364.
- 540. Dickert NW, Wendler D, Devireddy CM, et al. Understanding preferences regarding consent for pragmatic trials in acute care. *Clin Trials*. 2018;15(6):567-578.
- 541. Dal-Re R, Carcas AJ, Carne X. Who is willing to participate in low-risk pragmatic clinical trials without consent? *European journal of clinical pharmacology*. 2017;73(12):1557-1563.
- 542. Dal-Re R, Carcas AJ, Carne X, Wendler D. Patients' beliefs regarding informed consent for low-risk pragmatic trials. *BMC Med Res Methodol*. 2017;17(1):145.
- 543. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. Childhood Obesity Facts. http://www.cdc.gov/healthyschools/obesity/facts.htm. Published 2015. Accessed September 18, 2015.
- 544. Rourke L, Godwin M, Rourke J, Pearce S, Bean J. The Rourke Baby Record Infant/Child Maintenance Guide: do doctors use it, do they find it useful, and does using it improve their well-baby visit records? *BMC Fam Pract.* 2009;10:28.
- 545. Danyliw AD, Vatanparast H, Nikpartow N, Whiting SJ. Beverage patterns among Canadian children and relationship to overweight and obesity. *Applied physiology, nutrition, and metabolism = Physiologie appliquee, nutrition et metabolisme.* 2012;37(5):900-906.
- 546. Services MoCaY. Student Nutrition Program Nutrition Guidelines. 2016.
- 547. Association AH. *Policy Position Statement on School Nutrition* Washington DC.
- 548. Lucas PJ, Patterson E, Sacks G, Billich N, Evans CEL. Preschool and School Meal Policies: An Overview of What We Know about Regulation, Implementation, and Impact on Diet in the UK, Sweden, and Australia. *Nutrients*. 2017;9(7).
- 549. Bentley J. Trends in U.S. Per Capita Consumption of Dairy Products, 1970-2012. 2014.
- 550. Moher D, Liberati A, Tetzlaff J, Altman DG, Group P. Preferred reporting items for systematic reviews and meta-analyses: the PRISMA statement. *Int J Surg.* 2010;8(5):336-341.
- 551. Promotion NCfCDPaH. Body mass index-for-age percentiles. In: National Center for Health Statistics; 2000.
- 552. Sambunjak DC, M; Watts, C. Module 4: Selecting studies and collecting data. In: Cochrane Interactive Learning: Conducting an intervention review. <u>https://training.cochrane.org/interactivelearning/module-4-selecting-studies-and-collecting-data</u>. Published 2017. Accessed.
- 553. Covidence software platform [computer program]. Melbourne: Alfred Health; 2013.
- 554. Wells GAS, B.; O'Connell, D.; Peterson, J.; Welch, V.,;et al. . The Newcastle-Ottawa Scale (NOS) for assessing the quality of nonrandomised studies in meta-analyses. http://www.ohri.ca/programs/clinical_epidemiology/oxford.asp. Published 2011.



- 555. Hartung J, Knapp G. A refined method for the meta-analysis of controlled clinical trials with binary outcome. *Statistics in medicine*. 2001;20(24):3875-3889.
- 556. Higgins JP, Thompson SG. Quantifying heterogeneity in a meta-analysis. *Statistics in medicine*. 2002;21(11):1539-1558.
- 557. Interventions CHfSRo. 10.4.3.1 Recommendations on testing for funnel plot asymmetry. 2011.
- 558. Thompson SG, Higgins JP. How should meta-regression analyses be undertaken and interpreted? *Statistics in medicine*. 2002;21(11):1559-1573.
- 559. *R: A language and environment for statistical computing* [computer program]. Vienna, Austria2018.
- 560. Package 'metafor' [computer program]. Version 2.1-02019.
- 561. DeBoer MD, Agard HE, Scharf RJ. Milk intake, height and body mass index in preschool children. *Archives of disease in childhood*. 2015;100(5):460-465.
- 562. Dodd AH, Briefel R, Cabili C, Wilson A, Crepinsek MK. Disparities in consumption of sugar-sweetened and other beverages by race/ethnicity and obesity status among United States schoolchildren. *Journal of nutrition education and behavior*. 2013;45(3):240-249.
- 563. Scharf RJD, R. T.; DeBoer M. D. Longitudinal evaluation of milk type consumed and weight status in preschoolers. *Archives of disease in childhood*. 2013;98:335-340.
- 564. Charvet A, Huffman FG. Beverage Intake and Its Effect on Body Weight Status among WIC Preschool-Age Children. *Journal of obesity*. 2019;2019:3032457.
- 565. Wosje KS, Specker BL, Giddens J. No differences in growth or body composition from age 12 to 24 months between toddlers consuming 2% milk and toddlers consuming whole milk. *Journal of the American Dietetic Association*. 2001;101(1):53-56.
- 566. Huh SY, Rifas-Shiman SL, Rich-Edwards JW, Taveras EM, Gillman MW. Prospective association between milk intake and adiposity in preschool-aged children. *Journal of the American Dietetic Association*. 2010;110(4):563-570.
- 567. Bigornia SJ, LaValley MP, Moore LL, et al. Dairy intakes at age 10 years do not adversely affect risk of excess adiposity at 13 years. *The Journal of nutrition*. 2014;144(7):1081-1090.
- 568. Tovar A, Chui K, Hyatt RR, et al. Healthy-lifestyle behaviors associated with overweight and obesity in US rural children. *BMC Pediatr*. 2012;12:102.
- 569. Nilsen BB, Yngve A, Monteagudo C, Tellstrom R, Scander H, Werner B. Reported habitual intake of breakfast and selected foods in relation to overweight status among seven- to nine-year-old Swedish children. *Scand J Public Health.* 2017;45(8):886-894.
- 570. Nelson JA, Chiasson MA, Ford V. Childhood overweight in a New York City WIC population. *American journal of public health.* 2004;94(3):458-462.
- 571. Acharya K, Feese M, Franklin F, Kabagambe EK. Body mass index and dietary intake among Head Start children and caregivers. *Journal of the American Dietetic Association*. 2011;111(9):1314-1321.
- 572. Eriksson SS, B. Food choice is reflected in serum markers and anthropometric measures in healthy 8-yr-olds. *Eur J Clin Nutr Met.* 2010;5:e117-e124.
- 573. Barbiero SM, Pellanda LC, Cesa CC, Campagnolo P, Beltrami F, Abrantes CC. Overweight, obesity and other risk factors for IHD in Brazilian schoolchildren. *Public health nutrition*. 2009;12(5):710-715.
- 574. O'Connor TM, Yang SJ, Nicklas TA. Beverage intake among preschool children and its effect on weight status. *Pediatrics*. 2006;118(4):e1010-1018.



- 575. Milla Tobarra MM-V, V.; Garcia, N.; Garcia-Prieto, J.; Arias-Palencia, N.; Garcia-Hermoso, A. The relationship between beverage intake and weight status in children: the Cuenca study. *Nutricion hospitalaria*. 2014;30(4):818-824.
- 576. Papandreou D, Andreou E, Heraclides A, Rousso I. Is beverage intake related to overweight and obesity in school children? *Hippokratia*. 2013;17(1):42-46.
- 577. Ruxton CH, O'Sullivan KR, Kirk TR, Belton NR, Holmes MA. The contribution of breakfast to the diets of a sample of 136 primary-schoolchildren in Edinburgh. *The British journal of nutrition*. 1996;75(3):419-431.
- 578. Schroeder HM, M.; Ribas, L.; Funtikova, A.; Gomez, S.; Fito, M.; Aranceta, J.; Serra-Majem, L. . Caloric beverage drinking patterns are differentially associated
- with diet quality and adiposity among Spanish girls and boys. *European journal of pediatrics*. 2014;173:1169-1177.
- 579. Gaylis JL, S.; Kviatkovsky, S.; DeHamer, R.; Young Hong, M. Relationships between physical activity, food choices, gender and BMI in Southern Californian teenagers. *International Journal of Adolescent Medicine and Health*. 2017.
- 580. Dubois L, Diasparra M, Bogl LH, et al. Dietary Intake at 9 Years and Subsequent Body Mass Index in Adolescent Boys and Girls: A Study of Monozygotic Twin Pairs. *Twin Res Hum Genet.* 2016;19(1):47-59.
- 581. Mead E, Brown T, Rees K, et al. Diet, physical activity and behavioural interventions for the treatment of overweight or obese children from the age of 6 to 11 years. *The Cochrane database of systematic reviews*. 2017;6:CD012651.
- 582. Keller A, Heitmann BL, Olsen N. Sugar-sweetened beverages, vascular risk factors and events: a systematic literature review. *Public health nutrition*. 2015;18(7):1145-1154.
- 583. Aziz AA, G.H. *Functional dairy products*. Vol 2. Cambridge England: Woodhead Publishing; 2002.
- 584. Brassard D, Tessier-Grenier M, Allaire J, et al. Comparison of the impact of SFAs from cheese and butter on cardiometabolic risk factors: a randomized controlled trial. *The American journal of clinical nutrition*. 2017;105(4):800-809.
- 585. Chen M, Li Y, Sun Q, et al. Dairy fat and risk of cardiovascular disease in 3 cohorts of US adults. *The American journal of clinical nutrition*. 2016;104(5):1209-1217.
- 586. Psaty BM, Koepsell TD, Lin D, et al. Assessment and control for confounding by indication in observational studies. *Journal of the American Geriatrics Society*. 1999;47(6):749-754.
- 587. Organization WH. Child growth standards. In. *BMI-for-age*. Geneva2006.
- 588. Bisogni CA, Connors M, Devine CM, Sobal J. Who we are and how we eat: a qualitative study of identities in food choice. *Journal of nutrition education and behavior*. 2002;34(3):128-139.
- 589. Rahi JS, Manaras I, Barr K. Information sources and their use by parents of children with ophthalmic disorders. *Investigative ophthalmology & visual science*. 2003;44(6):2457-2460.
- 590. Criss S, Woo Baidal JA, Goldman RE, Perkins M, Cunningham C, Taveras EM. The Role of Health Information Sources in Decision-Making Among Hispanic Mothers During Their Children's First 1000 Days of Life. *Matern Child Health J*. 2015;19(11):2536-2543.
- 591. Harcombe Z, Baker JS, Cooper SM, et al. Evidence from randomised controlled trials did not support the introduction of dietary fat guidelines in 1977 and 1983: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Open Heart*. 2015;2(1):e000196.



- 592. Smith AD, Emmett PM, Newby PK, Northstone K. A comparison of dietary patterns derived by cluster and principal components analysis in a UK cohort of children. *European journal of clinical nutrition*. 2011;65(10):1102-1109.
- 593. Service NH. What to feed young children. <u>https://www.nhs.uk/conditions/pregnancy-and-baby/understanding-food-groups/</u>. Published 2016. Accessed.
- 594. Guyatt GH, Oxman AD, Vist GE, et al. GRADE: an emerging consensus on rating quality of evidence and strength of recommendations. *Bmj*. 2008;336(7650):924-926.
- 595. Carsley S, Borkhoff CM, Maguire JL, et al. Cohort Profile: The Applied Research Group for Kids (TARGet Kids!). *International journal of epidemiology*. 2014.
- 596. Julious S. Sample size of 12 per group rule of thumb for a pilot study. *Pharm Stats*. 2005;4:287-291.
- 597. Braun VC, V. Using thematic analysis in psychology. *Qual Res Psyc.* 2006;3(2):77-101.
- 598. NVivo qualitative data analysis Software [computer program]. Version 102014.
- 599. Falk LW, Sobal J, Bisogni CA, Connors M, Devine CM. Managing healthy eating: definitions, classifications, and strategies. *Health Educ Behav.* 2001;28(4):425-439.
- 600. Calnan M. Food and health: a comparison of beliefs and practices in middle-class and working-class households. London: Tavistock/Routledge; 1990.
- 601. Povey R, Conner M, Sparks P, James R, Shepherd R. Interpretations of healthy and unhealthy eating, and implications for dietary change. *Health education research*. 1998;13(2):171-183.
- 602. Santich B. Good for you: beliefs about food and their relation to eating habits. *Aus J Nutrition and Dietetics*. 2002;51:68-73.
- 603. Paquette MC. Perceptions of healthy eating: state of knowledge and research gaps. *Canadian journal of public health = Revue canadienne de sante publique.* 2005;96 Suppl 3:S15-19, S16-21.
- 604. Lupton D, Chapman, S. 'A healthy lifestyle might be the death of you': discourses on diet, cholesterol control and heart disease in the press and among the lay public. *Soc Health Illness*. 1995;17(4):477-494.
- 605. Worsley A. Nutrition knowledge and food consumption: can nutrition knowledge change food behaviour? *Asia Pacific journal of clinical nutrition*. 2002;11 Suppl 3:S579-585.
- 606. Hart KH, Herriot A, Bishop JA, Truby H. Promoting healthy diet and exercise patterns amongst primary school children: a qualitative investigation of parental perspectives. *Journal of human nutrition and dietetics : the official journal of the British Dietetic Association.* 2003;16(2):89-96.
- 607. Roberts KCS, M.; de Groh, M.; Aziz, A.; Gilbert, J. . Overweight and obesity in children and adolescents: Results from the 2009 to 2011 Canadian Health Measures Survey. <u>http://www.statcan.gc.ca/pub/82-003-x/2012003/article/11706-eng.htm</u>. Published 2012. Updated Sept 19. Accessed May 1, 2015.
- 608. Topcu S, Orhon FS, Tayfun M, Ucakturk SA, Demirel F. Anxiety, depression and selfesteem levels in obese children: a case-control study. *Journal of pediatric endocrinology* & metabolism : JPEM. 2016;29(3):357-361.
- 609. Goodman E, Whitaker RC. A prospective study of the role of depression in the development and persistence of adolescent obesity. *Pediatrics*. 2002;110(3):497-504.
- 610. Bancej C, Jayabalasingham B, Wall RW, et al. Evidence Brief Trends and projections of obesity among Canadians. *Health promotion and chronic disease prevention in Canada*. 2015;35(7):109-112.



- 611. Public Health Agency of Canada. *Actions taken and future directions 2011: curbing childhood obesity: a federal, provincial and territorial framework for action to promote healthy weights.* Ottawa, ON2011.
- 612. Healthy Eating Research. Healthy Beverage Consumption in Early Childhood. 2019.
- 613. Vanderhout SM, Aglipay M, Torabi N, et al. Whole milk compared with reduced-fat milk and childhood overweight: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *The American journal of clinical nutrition*. 2019;111(2):266-279.
- 614. Statistics Canada. *Canadian Community Health Survey annual component (CCHS)*. Ottawa: Statistics Canada;2013.
- 615. WHO Multicentre Growth Reference Study Group. WHO Child Growth Standards based on length/height, weight and age. *Acta Paediatr Suppl.* 2006;450:76-85.
- 616. Satkunam M, Anderson LN, Carsley S, et al. Severe obesity in children 17 to 24 months of age: a cross-sectional study of TARGet Kids! and Better Outcomes Registry & Network (BORN) Ontario. *Canadian journal of public health = Revue canadienne de sante publique*. 2018;109(4):489-497.
- 617. Carsley S, Pope EI, Anderson LN, et al. Temporal trends in severe obesity prevalence in children and youth from primary care electronic medical records in Ontario: a repeated cross-sectional study. *CMAJ Open.* 2019;7(2):E351-E359.
- 618. Eny KM, Chen S, Anderson LN, et al. Breastfeeding duration, maternal body mass index, and birth weight are associated with differences in body mass index growth trajectories in early childhood. *The American journal of clinical nutrition*. 2018;107(4):584-592.
- 619. *mice Package for R* [computer program]. 2019.
- 620. O'Brien R. A Caution Regarding Rules of Thumb for Variance Inflation Factors. *Quality* & *Quantity* 2007;41:673-690.
- 621. Package 'geepack' [computer program]. Version 1.2-12016.
- 622. *multgee: GEE Solver for Correlated Nominal or Ordinal Multinomial Responses* [computer program]. Version 1.6.02017.
- 623. Package 'nlme' [computer program]. Version 3.1-1412019.
- 624. *Package 'lme4'* [computer program]. Version 1.1-122019.
- 625. R Core Team. R: A language and environment for statistical computing. R Foundation for Statistical Computing. <u>http://www.r-project.org/</u>. Published 2014. Accessed2020.
- 626. Niinikoski H, Viikari J, Ronnemaa T, et al. Regulation of growth of 7- to 36-month-old children by energy and fat intake in the prospective, randomized STRIP baby trial. *Pediatrics*. 1997;100(5):810-816.
- 627. Eckstein KC, Mikhail LM, Ariza AJ, et al. Parents' perceptions of their child's weight and health. *Pediatrics*. 2006;117(3):681-690.
- 628. Carnell S, Edwards C, Croker H, Boniface D, Wardle J. Parental perceptions of overweight in 3-5 y olds. *International journal of obesity*. 2005;29(4):353-355.
- 629. American Academy of Pediatrics. *Nutrition Tools*.
- 630. Physicians; AAoF. SORT: The Strength-of-Recommendation Taxonomy. http://www.aafp.org/dam/AAFP/documents/journals/afp/sortdef07.pdf. Accessed.
- 631. JL VSAMTNJPdCBBCOCDTKM. Whole vs. reduced fat milk and childhood overweight: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *American Journal of Clinical Nutrition*. 2019.
- 632. Au N. The health care cost implications of overweight and obesity during childhood. *Health services research*. 2012;47(2):655-676.
- 633. Jamieson EC, Farquharson J, Logan RW, et al. Infant cerebellar gray and white matter fatty acids in relation to age and diet. *Lipids*. 1999;34(10):1065-1071.



- 634. Vanderhout SM, Juando-Prats C, Birken CS, Thorpe KE, Maguire JL. A qualitative study to understand parent and physician perspectives about cow's milk fat for children. *Public health nutrition*. 2019:1-8.
- 635. Squires J, Bricker D, Potter L. Revision of a parent-completed development screening tool: Ages and Stages Questionnaires. *J Pediatr Psychol.* 1997;22(3):313-328.
- 636. Chan A-W, Tetzlaff JM, Altman DG, et al. SPIRIT 2013 statement: defining standard protocol items for clinical trials. *Annals of internal medicine*. 2013;158(3):200-207.
- 637. Altman DG, Schulz KF, Moher D, et al. The revised CONSORT statement for reporting randomized trials: explanation and elaboration. *Annals of internal medicine*. 2001;134(8):663-694.
- 638. Carsley S, Borkhoff CM, Maguire JL, et al. Cohort profile: the applied research group for kids (TARGet Kids!). *International journal of epidemiology*. 2014;44(3):776-788.
- 639. StatsCan. Canadian Community Health Survey. <u>http://www.statcan.gc.ca/concepts/health-sante/content-contenu-eng.htm</u>. Published 2004. Accessed April 1, 2009.
- 640. James J, Thomas P, Kerr D. Preventing childhood obesity: two year follow-up results from the Christchurch obesity prevention programme in schools (CHOPPS). *Bmj*. 2007;335(7623):762.
- 641. Taylor RW, McAuley KA, Barbezat W, Farmer VL, Williams SM, Mann JI. Two-year follow-up of an obesity prevention initiative in children: the APPLE project. *The American journal of clinical nutrition*. 2008;88(5):1371-1377.
- 642. Rolland-Cachera MF, Deheeger M, Guilloud-Bataille M, Avons P, Patois E, Sempe M. Tracking the development of adiposity from one month of age to adulthood. *Ann Hum Biol.* 1987;14(3):219-229.
- 643. Peneau S, Giudici KV, Gusto G, et al. Growth Trajectories of Body Mass Index during Childhood: Associated Factors and Health Outcome at Adulthood. *The Journal of pediatrics*. 2017;186:64-71 e61.
- 644. CFDCA P. Third National Health and Nutrition Examination (NHANES III). *Anthropometric Procedures Video*. 2003.
- 645. De Onis M, Garza C, Victora C. The WHO Multicentre Growth Reference Study: strategy for developing a new international growth reference. Paper presented at: Forum of nutrition2003.
- 646. Cook S, Weitzman M, Auinger P, Nguyen M, Dietz WH. Prevalence of a metabolic syndrome phenotype in adolescents: findings from the third National Health and Nutrition Examination Survey, 1988-1994. *Arch Pediatr Adolesc Med.* 2003;157(8):821-827.
- 647. Bassali R, Waller JL, Gower B, Allison J, Davis CL. Utility of waist circumference percentile for risk evaluation in obese children. *International journal of pediatric obesity* : *IJPO : an official journal of the International Association for the Study of Obesity*. 2010;5(1):97-101.
- 648. Maffeis C, Grezzani A, Pietrobelli A, Provera S, Tato L. Does waist circumference predict fat gain in children? *International journal of obesity and related metabolic disorders : journal of the International Association for the Study of Obesity.* 2001;25(7):978-983.
- 649. Sharma AK, Metzger DL, Daymont C, Hadjiyannakis S, Rodd CJ. LMS tables for waistcircumference and waist-height ratio Z-scores in children aged 5-19 y in NHANES III: association with cardio-metabolic risks. *Pediatr Res.* 2015;78(6):723-729.



- 650. Shields M, Tremblay MS. Canadian childhood obesity estimates based on WHO, IOTF and CDC cut-points. *International Journal of Pediatric Obesity*. 2010;5(3):265-273.
- 651. Sun SS, Grave GD, Siervogel RM, Pickoff AA, Arslanian SS, Daniels SR. Systolic blood pressure in childhood predicts hypertension and metabolic syndrome later in life. *Pediatrics*. 2007;119(2):237-246.
- 652. Chen X, Wang Y. Tracking of blood pressure from childhood to adulthood. *Circulation*. 2008;117(25):3171-3180.
- 653. Webber LS, Srinivasan SR, Wattigney WA, Berenson GS. Tracking of serum lipids and lipoproteins from childhood to adulthood: the Bogalusa Heart Study. *American journal of epidemiology*. 1991;133(9):884-899.
- 654. Morrison JA, Glueck CJ, Horn PS, Schreiber GB, Wang P. Pre-teen insulin resistance predicts weight gain, impaired fasting glucose, and type 2 diabetes at age 18–19 y: a 10-y prospective study of black and white girls. *The American journal of clinical nutrition*. 2008;88(3):778-788.
- 655. Expert Panel on Integrated Guidelines for Cardiovascular H, Risk Reduction in C, Adolescents, National Heart L, Blood I. Expert panel on integrated guidelines for cardiovascular health and risk reduction in children and adolescents: summary report. *Pediatrics.* 2011;128 Suppl 5:S213-256.
- 656. Maunsell Z, Wright DJ, Rainbow SJ. Routine isotope-dilution liquid chromatographytandem mass spectrometry assay for simultaneous measurement of the 25-hydroxy metabolites of vitamins D2 and D3. *Clinical chemistry*. 2005;51(9):1683-1690.
- 657. Carter GD, Carter R, Jones J, Berry J. How accurate are assays for 25-hydroxyvitamin D? Data from the international vitamin D external quality assessment scheme. *Clinical chemistry*. 2004;50(11):2195-2197.
- 658. Janus M, Offord DR. Development and psychometric properties of the Early Development Instrument (EDI): A measure of children's school readiness. *Canadian Journal of Behavioural Science/Revue canadienne des sciences du comportement*. 2007;39(1):1.
- 659. Santos R, Brownell M, Ekuma O, Mayer T, Soodeen R-A. THE EARLY DEVELOPMENT INSTRUMENT (EDI) IN MANITOBA. 2012.
- 660. Pearce A, Scalzi D, Lynch J, Smithers LG. Do thin, overweight and obese children have poorer development than their healthy-weight peers at the start of school? Findings from a South Australian data linkage study. *Early childhood research quarterly*. 2016;35:85-94.
- 661. Subar AF, Kirkpatrick SI, Mittl B, et al. The Automated Self-Administered 24-hour dietary recall (ASA24): a resource for researchers, clinicians, and educators from the National Cancer Institute. *Journal of the Academy of Nutrition and Dietetics*. 2012;112(8):1134-1137.
- 662. Pavarin-De Luca AK, S.; Forbes, L.; Haines, J. A Validation Study for Preschool Aged Children using Parental Proxy Reporting. In: University of Guelph; 2017.
- 663. Moshfegh AJ, Rhodes DG, Baer DJ, et al. The US Department of Agriculture Automated Multiple-Pass Method reduces bias in the collection of energy intakes. *The American journal of clinical nutrition*. 2008;88(2):324-332.
- 664. Ford AL, Hunt LP, Cooper A, Shield JP. What reduction in BMI SDS is required in obese adolescents to improve body composition and cardiometabolic health? *Archives of disease in childhood.* 2010;95(4):256-261.
- 665. Reinehr T, Andler W. Changes in the atherogenic risk factor profile according to degree of weight loss. *Archives of disease in childhood*. 2004;89(5):419-422.



- 666. Aglipay M, Birken CS, Parkin PC, et al. Effect of High-Dose vs Standard-Dose Wintertime Vitamin D Supplementation on Viral Upper Respiratory Tract Infections in Young Healthy Children. *Jama*. 2017;318(3):245-254.
- 667. Chan AW, Tetzlaff JM, Gotzsche PC, et al. SPIRIT 2013 explanation and elaboration: guidance for protocols of clinical trials. *Bmj.* 2013;346:e7586.
- 668. Harris PAT, R.; Thielke, R.; Payne, J.; Gonzalez, N.; Conde. J. G. . Research electronic data capture (REDCap) A metadata-driven methodology and workflow process for providing translational research informatics support, *J Biomed Inform*. 2009;42(2):377-381.
- 669. Fisher LD, DO; Herson, J; Frankowski, RK; Hearron, MS; Peace, KE. *Intention to treat in clinical trials. Statistical issues in drug research and development.* New York: Marcel Dekker; 1990.
- 670. Maguire JL, Birken CS, Loeb MB, et al. DO IT Trial: vitamin D Outcomes and Interventions in Toddlers - a TARGet Kids! randomized controlled trial. *BMC Pediatr*. 2014;14:37.
- 671. Lavigne M, Birken CS, Maguire JL, Straus S, Laupacis A. Priority setting in paediatric preventive care research. *Archives of Disease in Childhood*. 2017:archdischild-2016-3122841.
- 672. Fatima Y, Doi SA, Mamun AA. Sleep quality and obesity in young subjects: a metaanalysis. *Obesity reviews : an official journal of the International Association for the Study of Obesity*. 2016;17(11):1154-1166.
- 673. Anderson SE, Cohen P, Naumova EN, Jacques PF, Must A. Adolescent obesity and risk for subsequent major depressive disorder and anxiety disorder: prospective evidence. *Psychosomatic Medicine*. 2007;69(8):740-747.
- 674. Datar A, Sturm R, Magnabosco JL. Childhood overweight and academic performance: national study of kindergartners and first-graders. *Obesity*. 2004;12(1):58-68.
- 675. Herva A, Laitinen J, Miettunen J, et al. Obesity and depression: results from the longitudinal Northern Finland 1966 Birth Cohort Study. *International journal of obesity*. 2006;30(3):520-527.
- 676. Lumeng JC, Forrest P, Appugliese DP, Kaciroti N, Corwyn RF, Bradley RH. Weight status as a predictor of being bullied in third through sixth grades. *Pediatrics*. 2010;125(6):e1301-e1307.
- 677. Daniels S. Complications of obesity in children and adolescents. *International journal of obesity*. 2009;33:S60-S65.
- 678. Lumey L, Stein AD, Kahn HS, et al. Cohort Profile: The Dutch Hunger Winter Families Study. *International Journal of Epidemiology*. 2007;36(6):1196-1204.
- 679. Natale JE, Lebet R, Joseph JG, et al. Racial and ethnic disparities in parental refusal of consent in a large, multisite pediatric critical care clinical trial. *The Journal of pediatrics*. 2017;184:204-208. e201.
- Joseph PD, Craig JC, Tong A, Caldwell PH. Researchers', regulators', and sponsors' views on pediatric clinical trials: a multinational study. *Pediatrics*. 2016;138(4):e20161171.
- 681. Curran JA, Bishop A, Chorney J, MacEachern L, Mackay R. Partnering with parents to advance child health research. *Healthc Manage Forum.* 2018;31(2):45-50.
- 682. Relton C, Torgerson D, O'Cathain A, Nicholl J. Rethinking pragmatic randomised controlled trials: introducing the "cohort multiple randomised controlled trial" design. *Bmj.* 2010;340:c1066.



- 683. Vanderhout SM, Juando-Prats C, Birken CS, Thorpe KE, Maguire JL. A qualitative study to understand parent and physician perspectives about cow's milk fat for children. *Public health nutrition*. 2019;22(16):3017-3024.
- 684. Statistics Canada. Canadian Community Health Survey Annual Component (CCHS). Government of Canada, . <u>http://www23.statcan.gc.ca/imdb/p2SV.pl?Function=getSurvey&SDDS=3226</u>. Published 2014. Updated July 30, 2014. Accessed March 28, 2015.
- 685. Kirkpatrick SI, Subar AF, Douglass D, et al. Performance of the Automated Self-Administered 24-hour Recall relative to a measure of true intakes and to an intervieweradministered 24-h recall. *The American journal of clinical nutrition*. 2014;100(1):233-240.
- 686. Kit BKC, M. D.; Ogden, C. L. *Low-fat milk consumption among children and adolescents in the United States, 2007-2008.* Centers for Disease Control and Prevention;2011.
- 687. Prattala RS, Groth MV, Oltersdorf US, Roos GM, Sekula W, Tuomainen HM. Use of butter and cheese in 10 European countries: a case of contrasting educational differences. *European journal of public health*. 2003;13(2):124-132.
- 688. Sanchez-Villegas A, Martinez JA, Prattala R, et al. A systematic review of socioeconomic differences in food habits in Europe: consumption of cheese and milk. *European journal of clinical nutrition*. 2003;57(8):917-929.
- 689. Trapp CB, G.; Gorin, A.; Wiley, J.; Hernandez, D.; Crowell, R.; Grant, A.; Beaulieu, A.; Cloutier, M. The Relationship between Dietary Patterns, Body Mass Index Percentile, and Household Food Security in Young Urban Children. *Childhood obesity*. 2015;11(2).
- 690. Laitinen S, Rasanen L, Viikari J, Akerblom HK. Diet of Finnish children in relation to the family's socio-economic status. *Scand J Soc Med.* 1995;23(2):88-94.
- 691. Dennison BA, Erb TA, Jenkins PL. Predictors of dietary milk fat intake by preschool children. *Preventive medicine*. 2001;33(6):536-542.
- 692. Healthy Eating Research. Healthy Beverage Consumption

in Early Childhood. 2019.

- 693. Gander K. SHOULD KIDS DRINK WHOLE FAT MILK? STUDY OFFERS NEW ANSWER. *Newsweek*2019.
- 694. Bakalar N. Whole milk may be better when it comes to children's weight. *New York Times*2020.
- 695. Hu FB. Dietary pattern analysis: a new direction in nutritional epidemiology. *Curr Opin Lipidol*. 2002;13(1):3-9.
- 696. Blumberg J, Heaney RP, Huncharek M, et al. Evidence-based criteria in the nutritional context. *Nutrition reviews*. 2010;68(8):478-484.
- 697. Klassen TP, Hartling L, Craig JC, Offringa M. Children are not just small adults: the urgent need for high-quality trial evidence in children. *PLoS medicine*. 2008;5(8):e172.
- 698. Lemyre BJ, JP; Doucette, S; Dunn, MS; Louis, D; Monterrosa, L; Mukerji, A; Schmölzer, GM; Shah, P; Singh, B' Wong, J; Lacaze-Masmonteil, T; Offringa, M. A call for a streamlined ethics review process for multijurisdictional, child health research studies. *Paediatrics & child health*. 2019;pxz160.
- 699. National institutes of Health Research. INVOLVE. invo.org.uk. Published 2019. Accessed2019.
- 700. Bate J, Ranasinghe N, Ling R, Preston J, Nightingale R, Denegri S. Public and patient involvement in paediatric research. *Archives of disease in childhood Education and practice edition*. 2016;101(3):158-161.



- 701. Smith J, Pike I, Brussoni M, et al. Mixed methods study exploring parent engagement in child health research in British Columbia. *BMJ open*. 2019;9(5):e025404.
- 702. Dougkas A, Barr S, Reddy S, Summerbell CD. A critical review of the role of milk and other dairy products in the development of obesity in children and adolescents. *Nutrition research reviews*. 2019;32(1):106-127.
- 703. Griebler U, Bruckmuller MU, Kien C, et al. Health effects of cow's milk consumption in infants up to 3 years of age: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Public health nutrition*. 2016;19(2):293-307.
- 704. Huang TT, McCrory MA. Dairy intake, obesity, and metabolic health in children and adolescents: knowledge and gaps. *Nutrition reviews*. 2005;63(3):71-80.
- 705. Louie JC, Flood VM, Hector DJ, Rangan AM, Gill TP. Dairy consumption and overweight and obesity: a systematic review of prospective cohort studies. *Obesity reviews : an official journal of the International Association for the Study of Obesity.* 2011;12(7):e582-592.
- 706. Lu L, Xun P, Wan Y, He K, Cai W. Long-term association between dairy consumption and risk of childhood obesity: a systematic review and meta-analysis of prospective cohort studies. *European journal of clinical nutrition*. 2016;70(4):414-423.

